Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology 1341 Cell Biology and Translational Medicine

Kursad Turksen Editor

Cell Biology and Translational Medicine, Volume 13

Stem Cells in Development and Disease



Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology

Cell Biology and Translational Medicine

Volume 1341

Series Editor

Kursad Turksen (emeritus), Ottawa Hospital Research Institute, Ottawa, ON, Canada

Editorial Board

Pascal Pineau, Institut Pasteur, Paris, France Daisuke Sugiyama, Kyushu University, Fukuoka, Japan Jeffrey M. Gimble, Louisiana State University, Baton Rouge, LA, USA Pablo Menendez, Josep Carreras Leukaemia Research Institut, Barcelona, Spain Cesar V. Borlongan, University of South Florida Health, Tampa, FL, USA Essam M. Abdelalim, Diabetes Research Institute, Doha, Qatar Aaron W. James, Johns Hopkins Hospital, Baltimore, MD, USA Srikala Raghavan, Institute for Stem Cell Science and Regenerative Medicine, Bengaluru, Karnataka, India Tiziana A. L. Brevini, University of Milan, Milan, Italy Murat Y. Elcin, Ankara University, Ankara, Turkey Mario Tiberi, Ottawa Hospital, Ottawa, ON, Canada Nagwa El-Badri, Zewail City of Science and Technology, Giza, Egypt Panos Kouklis, University of Ioannina, Mpizani, Greece Benjamin Levi, The University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center, Dallas, TX, USA

Cell Biology and Translational Medicine aims to publish articles that integrate the current advances in Cell Biology research with the latest developments in Translational Medicine. It is the latest subseries in the highly successful Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology book series and provides a publication vehicle for articles focusing on new developments, methods and research, as well as opinions and principles. The Series will cover both basic and applied research of the cell and its organelles' structural and functional roles, physiology, signalling, cell stress, cell-cell communications, and its applications to the diagnosis and therapy of disease.

Individual volumes may include topics covering any aspect of life sciences and biomedicine e.g. cell biology, translational medicine, stem cell research, biochemistry, biophysics, regenerative medicine, immunology, molecular biology, and genetics. However, manuscripts will be selected on the basis of their contribution and advancement of our understanding of cell biology and its advancement in translational medicine. Each volume will focus on a specific topic as selected by the Editor. All submitted manuscripts shall be reviewed by the Editor provided they are related to the theme of the volume. Accepted articles will be published online no later than two months following acceptance.

More information about this subseries at http://www.springer.com/series/15838

Kursad Turksen Editor

Cell Biology and Translational Medicine, Volume 13

Stem Cells in Development and Disease



Editor Kursad Turksen *(emeritus)* Ottawa Hospital Research Institute Ottawa, ON, Canada

ISSN 0065-2598 ISSN 2214-8019 (electronic) Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology ISSN 2522-090X ISSN 2522-0918 (electronic) Cell Biology and Translational Medicine ISBN 978-3-030-79057-8 ISBN 978-3-030-79058-5 (eBook) https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-79058-5

 ${\rm (}{\rm \bigcirc}$ The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are solely and exclusively licensed by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed. The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use. The publisher, the authors, and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this hools are helived to be true and escure to a the date of publication.

this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, expressed or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Nature Switzerland AG The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland

Preface

This next volume in the cell biology and translational medicine series continues to address the topic of stem cells in both normal and pathological situations. The volume includes such topics as the use of decellularized extracellular matrix in tissue transplantation, scaffolds for tissue engineering. It also includes new insights into animal models, exosomes in the context of their role not only in lineage progression in normal development and aging but also in what goes awry that leads to disease states.

I remain very grateful to Gonzalo Cordova, the Associate Editor of the series and wish to acknowledge his continued support.

I would also like to acknowledge and thank Mariska van der Stigchel, Assistant Editor, for her outstanding efforts in helping to bring this volume to the production stages.

A special thank you goes to Shanthi Ramamoorthy and Rathika Ramkumar for their outstanding efforts in the production of this volume.

Finally, sincere thanks to the contributors not only for their support of the series, but also for their willingness to share their insights and all their efforts to capture both the advances and the remaining obstacles in their areas of research. I trust readers will find their contributions as interesting and helpful as I have.

Ottawa, ON, Canada

Kursad Turksen

Contents

Conventional and Emerging Markers in Stem Cell Isolation	1
Chavali Kavyasudha, Joel P. Joseph, Rama Jayaraj, Aruthra Arumugam Pillai, and Arikketh Devi	L
Therapeutic Potential of Adipose Stem Cells15Rachel A. Sabol, Annie C. Bowles, Alexandra Côté, Rachel Wise,15Nicholas Pashos, and Bruce A. Bunnell15	5
Decellularized Extracellular Matrix as a Potent NaturalBiomaterial for Regenerative Medicine27Amin Ebrahimi Sadrabadi, Payam Baei, Samaneh Hosseini,27and Mohamadreza Baghaban Eslaminejad27	7
Stem Cell Based Exosomes: Are They Effective in Disease 45 or Health? 45 Meriç Bilgiç Küçükgüven and Betül Çelebi-Saltik 45	5
Interests of Exosomes in Bone and Periodontal Regeneration:A Systematic Review67Pierre-Yves Gegout, Céline Stutz, Jessica Olson, Fareeha Batool,67Catherine Petit, Henri Tenenbaum, Nadia Benkirane-Jessel,and Olivier Huck	7
The Design and Application of an Appropriate Parkinson'sDisease Animal Model in Regenerative Medicine89Bagher Larijani, Parisa Goodarzi, Moloud Payab,89Akram Tayanloo-Beik, Masoumeh Sarvari, Mahdi Gholami,89Kambiz Gilany, Ensieh Nasli-Esfahani, Mehrnoosh Yarahmadi,89Firoozeh Ghaderi, and Babak Arjmand80	•
Cell Therapy Targets for Autism Spectrum Disorders:Hopes, Challenges and Future Directions107Bagher Larijani, Najmeh Foroughi Heravani,107Sepideh Alavi-Moghadam, Parisa Goodarzi,107Mostafa Rezaei-Tavirani, Moloud Payab, Mahdi Gholami,Farideh Razi, and Babak Arjmand	7

Regenerative Medicine Perspectives in Polycystic	
Ovary Syndrome	125
Babak Arjmand, Setareh Alaei, Najmeh Foroughi Heravani,	
Sepideh Alavi-Moghadam, Moloud Payab, Mahbube Ebrahimpour,	
Hamid Reza Aghayan, Parisa Goodarzi, and Bagher Larijani	
Opportunities and Challenges in Stem Cell Aging	143
Bagher Larijani, Najmeh Foroughi-Heravani, Setareh Alaei,	
Mostafa Rezaei-Tavirani, Sepideh Alavi-Moghadam,	
Moloud Payab, Parisa Goodarzi, Akram Tayanloo-Beik,	
Hamid Reza Aghayan, and Babak Arjmand	
Role of Tumor Specific niche in Colon Cancer Progression	
and Emerging Therapies by Targeting Tumor	
Microenvironment	177
Antara Banerjee, Yashna Chabria, Rajesh Kanna N. R., Janani Gopi,	
Praveen Rowlo, Xiao-Feng Sun, and Surajit Pathak	
Index	193



Conventional and Emerging Markers in Stem Cell Isolation and Characterization

Chavali Kavyasudha, Joel P. Joseph, Rama Jayaraj, Aruthra Arumugam Pillai, and Arikketh Devi

Abstract

Stem cells have emerged as a promising source of cell-based therapy in regenerative medicine with several stem cell-based products currently in clinical trials. Despite the immense therapeutic potential, their isolation from some of the emerging sources and their characterization has been naïve owing to the lack of standard markers for the same. Some biomarkers have now been well established for the isolation and characterization of stem cells. However, there are emerging markers that can be used in addition to these conventional markers or independent of them to establish the identity of the stem cells. In this review, an attempt has been made to describe a few conventionally used markers and emerging markers for the identification, isolation and characterization of stem cells from various niches across the three germ layer origins.

Keywords		
Conventional markers · Emerging markers ·		
Epidermal SCs markers · MSC markers · NSC		
markers · Stem cell markers		
C. Kavyasudha, J. P. Joseph, A. A. Pillai, and A. Devi (🖂)		
Department of Genetic Engineering, SRM Institute of		

D Science and Technology, Kattankulathur, Chennai, Tamil Nadu, India e-mail: adevipradeep@gmail.com

R. Jayaraj

College of Health and Human Sciences, Charles Darwin University, Darwin, NT, Australia

Abbreviations

ALCAM	Activated Leucocyte-Cell		
	Adhesion Molecule		
ALP	Alkaline Phosphatase		
ALPP	Alkaline Phosphatase Protein		
AMP	Adenosine MonoPhosphate		
bFGF	basic Fibroblast Growth Factor		
Bmi1	B-cell specific Moloney murine		
	leukemia virus integration site 1		
BMP	Bone Morphogenic Protein		
CAMK2N1	Calcium/Calmodulin dependant		
	protein Kinase II Inhibitor 1		
CBC	Cycling Crypt Base Columnar		
CFU – GEMM	Colony Forming Unit -		
	Granulocytes, Erythrocytes,		
	Macrophages, Megakaryocytes		
CFU – S	Spleen Colony Forming Unit		
CFU assay	Colony Forming Unit assay		
CKB	Creatine Kinase B Type		
CNS	Central Nervous System		
CoL1A1	Collagen Type 1 alpha 1		
COL8A1	Collagen Type VIII Alpha 1		
CPCs	Cardiac progenitor cells		
CRYaB	Crystalline – aB		
CRYAB	Crystalline alpha B		
CSCs	Cardiac Stem cells		
DKK1	Dickkopf WNT signaling path-		
	way inhibitor 1		
erbB2	Erb-B2 Receptor Tyrosine		
	Kinase 2		

C. Kavyasudha et al.

FGFR4	Fibroblast Growth Factor		
	Receptor – 4		
Flk1	Fetal Liver Kinase 1		
Gata5	GATA binding protein 5		
GPI	Glycosyl – phosphatidylinositol		
hBMSCs	Human Bone Marrow Stem		
1121112 03	Cells		
HFR_2	Human Enidermal Growth		
TILIC 2	Factor Recentor 2		
HMG	High Mobility Group		
Hony	Homeodomain only protein		
порх	Homeodomain only protein		
LIDD CELL	Homo Sapiens		
HPP – CFU	High Proliferative Potential		
ICOT	Colony Forming Cell		
ISCI	International Society for Cellu-		
	lar Therapy		
Isl1	Islet 1		
Kdr	Kinase Insert Domain		
	Receptor		
Lgr5	Leucine Rich Repeat		
	containing G Protein-Coupled		
	Receptor 5		
Lrig1	Leucine Rich Repeats and		
	Immunoglobulin-Like		
	Domains Protein 1		
MAP 2	Microtubule associated protein 2		
MAPK	Mitogen Activated Protein		
	Kinase pathway		
MCAM	Melanoma Cell Adhesion		
	Molecule		
MDR1	Multi Drug Resistant gene 1		
MSCs	Mesenchymal Stem Cells		
Mvocd	Mvocardin		
NeuN	Neuronal Nuclei		
NK cells	Natural Killer cells		
NSCs	Neural Stem Cells		
OCN	Osteo Calcin		
PNS	Osico Calcin Perinheral Nervous System		
POU family	Pit-Oct-Unc family		
PSA-NCAM	Poly-sialvlated Neuronal Cell		
10/11/0/10/	Adhesion Molecule		
PUNY2	Runt_related Transcription		
KUNA2	Factor 2		
SD 10	Factor 2 Slaaping Deputy Transmission		
30-10	Steeping Beauty Transposon		
C112	System 10		
5H3	Src – nomology 3		
55EA-1	Stage Specific Embryonic		
	Antigens – I		

STRO – 1	Stromal Cell Surface marker	
TA	Transiently Amplifying	
Tert	Telomerase Reverse Transcriptase	
TGF – β R	Transforming Growth Factor	
complex	Beta Receptor Complex	
TPO	Thyroid Peroxidase	

Introduction

1

Stem cells are undifferentiated cells that have the ability to self-renew and the potential to terminally differentiate into cells of one or more lineages (Kafienah et al. 2006). Although stem cells isolated from the inner cell mass of the blastocyst have the potential to differentiate into many cell types barring the trophoblast (Thomson et al. 1998), the technical complexities and ethical concerns associated with this source has led scientific fraternity across the globe to look for alternative sources of stem cells (Freed 2002).

Bone marrow derived mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) were the first stem cells which were widely used for transplantation, identified and isolated as a source of multipotent adult stem cells. These cells had the capacity to differentiate into cell lineages like adipocytes, chondrocytes, and osteocytes (Friedenstein 1966). With bone marrow being established as an eminent source of adult stem cells, additional sources of mesenchymal stem cells were identified in the later years from 2004 till 2012 (Joannides et al. 2004; Laino et al. 2005; Yen et al. 2005; Meng et al. 2007; Haranova et al. 2011; Hassiotou et al. 2012; Lee et al. 2015; Macrin et al. 2017) and were compared against bone marrow as the gold standard (Baksh et al. 2007; Xie et al. 2012; Kao et al. 2015).

At the initial stages of stem cell research, the identity and the potency of the stem cells were determined by means of *in vivo* colony forming assays like spleen colony forming assay (CFU-S) and *in vitro* assays like colony-forming unit (CFU) assay, burst-forming unit erythroid (BFU-E) assay, granulocyte, erythroid, megakaryocyte, Colony Forming Unit – Granulocyte, Erythrocyte, Macrophage, Megakaryocyte (CFU-GEMM) assay, CFU



Fig. 1 A flow chart depicting the stem cell markers for characterizing stem cells that are precursors to cells of different lineages

granulocyte-macrophage (CFU-GM) assay and high proliferative potential colony forming cell (HPP-CFU) assay (Moore 1991). These stem cells possess ability to differentiate into multiple cell lineages by including growth factors and cytokines (Pittenger et al. 2004; Dominici et al. 2006; Muller et al. 2007). For characterising these stem cells, refined methods were reported in which the predominant one being the identification of markers expressed by stem cells (Dominici et al. 2006; Phinney and Prockop 2007; Ka et al. 2014).

The characterization of stem cells based on the presence of markers requires affirmation of their conformation to the standards of both the positive and the negative markers (Moore 1991). Positive markers are those proteins that are expected to be expressed on a particular stem cell population (Christensen and Weissman 2001; Potten et al. 2003), whereas negative markers refer to those proteins that are expected to be absent or present in very low levels in a particular stem cell population (Osawa et al. 1996). For instance, nestin positive cells i.e., the expression of nestin on cell surface is representative of neural stem cells (NSCs) (Cregan et al. 2007) suggesting that nestin is a postive marker for NSCs. Similarly, cells that do not express CD34 marker have been categorized as mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs),

suggesting CD34 to be a negative marker for MSCs (Pittenger et al. 1999). A combination of these positive and negative markers have been standardized for the characterization of stem cell population of various niches (Moore 1991; Amoh et al. 2005). For instance, the minimum accepted standard for characterization of stem cells as MSCs is the coexpression of the markers CD73, CD90, CD105 (Dominici et al. 2006; Phinney and Prockop 2007; Ka et al. 2014).

Of the different types of markers, CD markers were the initial markers identified and used to characterize different cell types and later several newly identified proteins have emerged as stem cell markers that are representative of specific stem cell populations (Barker et al. 2007). This review describes a few conventional and emerging markers that have been reported for use in the identification, isolation and characterization of stem cells from sources arising from any of the three germ layers. (Fig. 1)

2 Conventional Markers

Conventional markers in this review refer to the genes and their proteins used by the scientists for identification and isolation of stem cells. As stem cells are functionally defined, these conventional markers must be linked with the cell's function. In general, these conventional markers are of two types: cell surface markers and intracellular markers. Conventional markers, as selected by the authors, comprise of those stem cell markers that have been reported before the year 2000 and have been largely accepted as a standard for the characterization of stem cells of a particular niche. Markers of stem cells from various niches that cover all the three germ layers have been reported.

2.1 Neural Stem Cell (NSC) Markers

Neural stem cells constitute a pool of stem cells, present in the brain, having the ability to differentiate into neurons. NSCs, which are ectodermal in origin, are the potential source of stem cells used for replacing degenerated neurons in neurodegenerative diseases. Initially, when biomarker based characterization had not surfaced, the standard method used to isolate NSCs was to dissect out a part from any region of Central Nervous System (CNS) containing a dividing cell population and expose the cells to a dose of mitogens on a matrix (Gage 2000). However, with the identification of specified cell-surface markers and intracellular markers the method of identification and isolation of NSCs have transformed for the better. One of the earlier established markers for the characterization of neural stem cells was Nestin, a class VI intermediate filament transiently protein expressed in NSCs with downregulation during differentiation (Lendahl et al. 1990). Furthermore. Nestin endows the stem cells with survival and self-renewal capacities (Park et al. 2010) and has been considered as a predominant marker not only for NSCs but also in other cells of Central Nervous System (CNS) and Peripheral Nervous System (PNS) (Lendahl et al. 1990; Clarke et al. 1994), glioma cells (Sugawara et al. 2002) and muscle cells (Zimmerman et al. 1994). For these reasons, Nestin has been considered as a poor biomarker that cannot be used as a unique marker for the characterization of NSCs (Kornblum and Geschwind 2001). Also, CD133 or Prominin-1 is another cell-surface marker expressed in a variety

of brain cells and is associated with brain tumors. It is also found expressed on the surface of NSCs and thus has been widely used to isolate NSCs from brain (Corti et al. 2007). This is due to its involvement in the mechanisms influencing cell polarity, juxtacrine comunications and migration (Zhang et al. 2008).

Recent reports showed that neuronal marker – Neuron specific class III beta-tubulin (Tuj1) was used for the identification of neural stem cells and they were stained with Microtubule associated protein 2 (MAP 2) and Neuronal Nuclei (NeuN) markers that were specific for mature neurons (Pan et al. 2018). There are also other neural markers including neurofilament and β -tubulin III used for the neural stem cell identification (Wu et al. 2013). Though there are reports showing the specific markers for identification of neural stem cells, CD-15 – a stage specific embryonic antigen-1 (Pruszak et al. 2009) and CD24 were also used as markers of NSCs (Yuan et al. 2011; Kim et al. 2015).

2.2 Epidermal Stem Cell Markers

Another major type of stem cells of the ectodermal origin is the epidermal stem cells. Although the identification of epidermal stem cells using molecular markers is not very promising, few markers have been found to be expressed on these cells facilitating the identification and isolation of these stem cells. β 1 integrin, which confers adhesiveness to the epidermal cells, is essential for keratinocytes to maintain their stemness through the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathway (Zhu et al. 1999). Additionally, α 6 integrin expression is also considered as a marker due to its association with the anchorage and long-term proliferative capacity of the basal cells (Li et al. 1998).

P63 is another traditional marker, which is a transcription factor belonging to the same family that includes p53 and p73 genes, reported to be necessary for the regenerative potential of epithelial cells (McKeon et al. 1999). It has been reported to be abundantly expressed by the epidermal clonal population of stem cells and

there is a downregulation in their transiently amplifying (TA) clones. This can distinguish these stem cells from their TA progeny in the squamous stratified epithelia (Pellegrini et al. 2001; Senoo et al. 2007).

Keratin 19, Keratin 15 (Janes et al. 2002) and β catenin (Zhu and Watt 1999) are other intracellular proteins associated with epidermal stem cell characterization, but these cannot be used in isolation for characterization.

2.3 Mesenchymal Stem Cell (MSC) Markers

When MSCs derived from bone marrow emerged as a novel source of stem cells, laboratories across the world developed methods to isolate and expand the MSCs. However, the lack of universally accepted standards to define this cell population caused much ambiguity and made the comparison of data from various laboratories difficult. This issue was addressed by the Mesenchymal and Tissue Stem Cell Committee of the International Society for Cellular Therapy (ISCT), which set forth some criteria to identify MSCs. Besides the plastic adherence property and multilineage differentiation potential of MSCs, the differential expression of specific surface antigens was also advocated. (Dominici et al. 2006). The presence and the absence of some of these positive markers and negative markers are conventionally considered to be the minimum standard to identify the cells as MSCs.

CD73, also known as ecto-5'-nucleotidase is a glycosyl-phosphatidylinositol (GPI) linked cell surface enzyme that serves to convert Adenosine MonoPhosphate (AMP) to adenosine and is predominantly used as a marker for lymphocyte differentiation (Resta et al. 1998; Colgan et al. 2006). This was first identified by Pittenger et al., on mesenchymal stem cell population isolated from bone marrow as SRC Homology 3 (SH3) (Pittenger 1999). Later on, immunoprecipitation studies using SH3 antibody revealed that SH3 was an epitope present on CD73 (Barry et al. 2001). CD73 is reported to have various functions including its involvement in

BM stromal interactions (Barry et al. 2001). Also, along with CD29, it is known to modulate the migratory capacity of MSCs by reducing the migration, thus, enabling the cells to get entrapped at a fracture site to fulfill their regenerative functions (Ode et al. 2011). Furthermore, CD73 expression is acquired by natural killer (NK) cells upon its interaction with MSCs and these CD73-positive NK cells can regulate NK cell activation in either autocrine or paracrine manner (Chatterjee et al. 2014).

CD105, also known as endoglin, is a type I membrane glycoprotein and is a component of transforming growth factor receptor (TGF- β R) complex. It is known to play a role in cardiovascular development (Sanz-Rodriguez et al. 2004), angiogenesis (Duff et al. 2003) and also cancer (O'Connor et al. 2007). It was first identified on MSCs, similar to CD73, as Src Homologue 2 (SH2)-a component of the receptor complex of transforming growth factor – beta (TGF- β) involving in cell proliferation, differentiation and migration (Pittenger 1999) which was later recognized as an epitope of CD105 (endoglin) (Barry et al. 1999). Besides MSC population, it is also a marker for hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells (Pierelli et al. 2001).

CD90 (**Cluster of Differentiation 90**), also known as Thy1 (cell surface antigen), is a Glycosylphosphatidylinositol (GPI) – linked cell surface protein belonging to the Ig superfamily and originally discovered as a thymocyte antigen. It is speculated to play roles in cell-cell and cell-matrix interactions (Rege 2006) and adherence of CD34-positive hematopoietic cells (Craig et al. 1993). CD90 expression has been identified in varied cell populations like hematopoietic stem cells (Craig et al. 1993), fibroblasts and endothelial cells (Saalbach et al. 1999).

Stromal Cell Surface Marker (**STRO-1**), the murine IgM monoclonal antibody produced from an immunization with a population of human CD34+ bone marrow cells, was found to identify a cell surface antigen expressed by stromal elements in human bone marrow (Simmons and Torok-Storb 1991). A STRO-1 positive enriched subset of marrow cells was reported to be capable of differentiating into multiple mesenchymal lineages including hematopoiesis-supportive stromal cells with a vascular smooth muscle-like phenotype, adipocytes, osteoblasts and chondrocytes (Gronthos et al. 1994; Liu et al. 1999; Dennis et al. 2002).

3 Emerging Markers

With the popularization of characterization based on protein markers expressed on the cell surface and/or found in the intracellular space, several proteins have been recently tested for their use as markers for stemness. The emerging markers that have been reported post 2000 as markers for stemness of cells from various niches that cover all the three germ layers have been discussed here. Some of these markers include those that have been repurposed in the sense that the markers that have been established in one source are also being used as marker for stem cells from a different niche.

3.1 Neural Stem Cell (NSC) Markers

Neural stem cells (NSCs) are unique cells endowed with self-renewing, multipotent potential, responsible for the generation of main phenotypes of the nervous system. (De Filippis and Binda 2012)

Although conventional markers like prominin-1 (CD133) and nestin have been widely used for isolation of human NSCs, it was found that the integrin subunits $\alpha \delta$ and $\beta 1$ are highly expressed by human neural precursors and make suitable markers for the prospective isolation of NSCs (Hall et al. 2006).

The Pit-Oct-Unc (POU) family of transcription factors SRY-box transcription factor 1 (SOX1) and SOX2, the plasma membrane proteins Fibroblast Growth Factor Receptor -4 (FGFR4) and Stage Specific Embryonic Antigens -1 (SSEA-1) also have emerged as NSC markers in the recent times, all of which are highly expressed in the multipotent NSCs (Cai et al. 2002) (Capela and Temple 2002). **SOX1**, which is expressed exclusively in the CNS, is suggested to function as one of the earliest markers for neural fate decision of embryonic stem cells and marks the proliferating progenitors residing in the neural tube (Muñoz et al. 2012). The proliferation of stem cells that are positive for **SOX2**, an High Mobility Group (HMG) box transcription factor (Graham et al. 2003; Ellis et al. 2005), is reported to generate neural precursors along with cells identical to themselves (Suh et al. 2007). Graham et al., associated the inhibition of this gene with delamination of cells from the ventricular zone and exit from cell cycle (Graham et al. 2003), thus stating the importance of SOX2 in maintaining progenitor identity.

Furthermore. Musashi. Nestin and Nucleostemin also have been identified as NSC markers that are especially useful in their isolation (Cai et al. 2003b). Musashi1 is an evolutionarily conserved RNA-binding protein that is important for cell fate determination, maintenance of the stem-cell state and differentiation, found to be localized to the neuron cell bodies (perikarya) of CNS stem-like cells and non-oligodendroglial progenitor cells (Kaneko et al. 2000). Besides the nervous system, it is a known marker for intestinal stem cells (Potten et al. 2003). Nucleostemin is a nucleolar protein that is found predominantly associated with the proliferation of rat neural and embryonic stem cells and is emerging as a proliferative marker for human neural stem cells. It has also been reported that NS is necessary for the proliferative activity of both normal and cancerous cell lines (Kavyasudha et al. 2018).

Poly-sialylated Neuronal Cell Adhesion Molecule (PSA-NCAM) is another emerging marker of neuronal development and synaptogenesis that is expressed not only during the prenatal life but also adulthood (Quartu et al. 2008), and it is reported to be important for synaptic-plasticity (Muller et al. 1996) and also contributes to the early development of adult neurogenesis (Seki 2002).

Other membrane markers for mature neural cell types, such as O4 for oligodendrocytes and CD44 for astrocytes, can also be used to separate NSCs from more mature mixed populations. There are also reports showing successful isolation of multipotent NSCs using a negative selection strategy, in which cells not expressing epitopes commonly expressed in lineagerestricted cells. These negative selection markers include CD271, CD44 and CD184 (Cai et al. 2003b; Yuan et al. 2011) (Vishwakarma et al. 2014).

3.2 Epidermal Markers

Stem cells (SCs) residing in the epidermis and hair follicles not only ensure the maintenance of adult skin homeostasis and hair regeneration, but they also participate in the repair of the epidermis after injuries (Blanpain and Fuchs 2006).

Like other adult stem cells, those that reside in the skin are critical in tissue homeostasis and wound healing. Epidermal stem cells, multipotent skin stem cells thought to reside within the hair follicle, are reported to be generally quiescent but could also be stimulated to proliferate and differentiate into the specialized cells that compose a hair follicle, thus facilitating in regenerative wound healing. Epidermal stem cells have been characterized *in vitro* for skin graft purposes and are known to express Integrin alpha 6/CD49f and the general stem cell marker, CD34 (Blanpain and Fuchs 2006, 2009).

Although markers like Tumour protein (p63), Keratin 19 (K19), β -catenin and $\alpha 6$ integrin have been suggested as putative epidermal stem cell markers, $\beta 1$ integrin has emerged as the most promising epidermal marker that has been especially useful in the isolation of subpopulation of keratinocytes that are rich in stemness (Watt 1998; Reiisi et al. 2016).

However, researchers are on the lookout to identify additional stem cell markers for the isolation of skin or epidermal stem cells to obtain greater target specificity than at present. (Watt 1998)

MTS24 is an another cell-surface marker that identifies uncharacterized population of hair follicle keratinocytes located between the bulge and the sebaceous glands. MTS24 reactivity is first detected in the early stages of hair follicle development, and is increased during hair growth. MTS24-positive keratinocytes are distinct from the epidermal stem cells located in the bulge. Results suggest that the MTS24-positive keratinocytes represent an important new committed progenitor or stem cell compartment within the hair follicle (Nijhof et al. 2006).

3.3 Cardiac Stem Cell Markers

Cardiac stem cells, that track its origin to the mesodermal lineage, are thought to be a quiescent, heart-resident population of stem cells that can reenter the cell cycle following injuries such as acute myocardial infarction. Cardiac stem cells have self-renewal capabilities in vitro and the ability to differentiate in vivo into all three major cardiac cell types viz., cardiomyocytes, vascular smooth muscle cells and endothelial cells. For these reasons, considerable efforts have been made to identify specific markers of stem cells with cardiomyogenic potential (Beltrami et al. 2003; Cai et al. 2003a; Passier et al. 2008; Segers and Lee 2008; Laflamme and Murry 2011). Among the various markers employed to identify resident CSCs, c-kit has played a prominent role (Torella et al. 2006; Anversa et al. 2013). Some of the emerging markers for the cardiac stem cell population include c-kit/CD117, Multi Drug Resistant gene 1 (MDR1), and Spinocerebellar ataxia type 1 (Sca-1) cells (Urbanek et al. 2003). In vitro identification of a class of human c-kitpositive cardiac cells that possess the fundamental properties of stem cells - self-renewal, clonogenicity and multipotency - has been reported (Bearzi et al. 2007). Sca-1/Ly6-negative, (Lineage-negative) (Lin-), Sca-1-positive subset of cell population is found to display a mesenchymal profile, characterized by a limited ability to generate cardiomyocytes in vitro and in vivo, even after injury. Although, in other organs, expression is mainly observed Sca-1 on mesoderm-derived cells and not restricted to stem/progenitor cell populations, CPCs (Cardiac progenitor cells) have been isolated based on the expression of surface markers including Sca-1 and c-Kit suggesting the role of Sca-1 as an emerging CSC marker (Valente et al. 2014). Sca-1 has been suspected to be an essential component in the promotion of CSC proliferation and survival,

resulting in direct facilitation of early engraftment, with a possible indirect effect exerted on late cardiovascular differentiation after CSC transplantation (Tateishi et al. 2007). Markers for the embryonic stem cell derived cardiac progenitor cell population were found to initially express genetic markers representing all the three lineages viz., cardiomyocytes, vascular smooth muscle cells and endothelial cells, which included markers like c-kit, Fetal Liver Kinase 1 (Flk1) (also known as Kinase Insert Domain Receptor (kdr) and Homeodomain factor (Nkx2.5), but not brachyury, and were subsequently found to express Islet-1 (Isl1). Other cardiac proteins that are expressed along with Nkx2.5 include Myocardin (Myocd), Bone Morphogenic Protein (BMP2/4) and GATA binding protein 5 (Gata5) (Qsfdvstps et al. 2008).

FLK-1 (Fetal Liver Kinase 1), also known as Kinase Insert Domain Receptor (Kdr), an flt-related receptor tyrosine kinase is an early marker for endothelial precursors. The expression of FLK1, an early marker of lateral mesoderm, where cardio genesis occurs, aids to characterize and isolate cardiac stem/progenitor cells. Reports have confirmed that FLK1, especially FLK1 + CD31-, Cadherin-, is a feasible marker for detecting cardiac stem/progenitor cells (Iida et al. 2005).

NKX2.5, a homeobox transcription factor required for ventricular cardiogenic differentiation, is one of the factors reported to be expressed in developing embryonic cardiac regions and could be used to delineate CPCs (Lints et al. 1993; Raffin et al. 2000). It is one of the transcription factors of the heart primordium that is known to be expressed most strongly in cardiomyocytes of the heart tube during early cardiac development (Lyons et al. 1995) and is recognized as an early marker for cardiac cell differentiation (Lints et al. 1993; Jamali et al. 2001). Experiments suggesting the close correlation between the expression of the Nkx2.5 and FLK1 genes have been reported, implying the plausibility of the two proteins as markers in the detection cardiac stem/ progenitor cells (Iida et al. 2005).

Islet1 (Isl1) is a LIM homeodomain protein expressed in distinct subdomains of the heart and

in diverse cardiovascular lineages, and has been reported to have a critical role in cardiac progenitors of the second heart field (Sun et al. 2007). Isl1 expression and lineage tracing of Isl1expressing progenitors have demonstrated that Isl1 is a marker for a distinct population of undifferentiated cardiac progenitors that give rise to the cardiac segments that were found to be missing in Isl1 mutants. The prominence of Isl1 in cardio-genesis has confirmed its position as a marker for undifferentiated cardiac progenitor state (Cai et al. 2003a).

3.4 Osteoprogenitor Markers

Another important stem cell niche of the mesodermal origin is the bone. Certain genes that have served as predominant osteoprogenitor markers include Transforming Growth Factor β (TGFβ), Bone Morphogenic Protein 2 (BMP-2), and basic Fibroblast Growth Factor (bFGF) or gremlin 1. Alkaline Phosphatase Protein (ALPP), Melanoma Cell Adhesion Molecule (MCAM), collagen I, collagen II, Runt-related Transcription Factor 2 (RUNX2), decorin, Thyroid Peroxidase (TPO) are also used (Worthley et al. 2015). Putative osteoprogenitor marker genes include Calcium/Calmodulin dependant protein Kinase II Inhibitor 1 (CAMK2N1), Collagen Type VIII Alpha 1 (COL8A1), Creatine Kinase B Type (CKB), Crystalline alpha B (CRYAB), and Dickkopf WNT signaling pathway inhibitor 1 (DKK1), which are expressed at high levels in osteogenic cells (Ng et al. 2008).

Although multiple relevant markers like Alkaline Phosphatase (ALP), Runt-related Transcription Factor 2 (RUNX2) and Osteo Calcin (OCN) were known, no single surface marker or panel of markers was distinctly known to identify the osteoprogenitor stem cell population until 2014 (Phillips et al. 2014) (Guo et al. 2015). The surface markers CD10 and CD92 have been reported to demonstrate significantly increased expression in hBMSCs differentiated towards the osteogenic and adipogenic lineages along with a slight increase in CD10 expression correlated with chondrogenic differentiation suggesting the use of these proteins as markers for osteogenic stem cells identification (Granéli et al. 2014).

Crystalline – aB (CRYaB), an intracellular protein and a small heat shock protein belonging to the alpha family, which is composed of two gene products alpha-A (acidic) and alpha-B (basic) proteins, is also a potential novel osteogenic marker (Granéli et al. 2014). The gene expression of CRYaB has been shown to be significantly regulated in the early stages of the chondrogenic differentiation of the ATDC-5 chondroprogenitor cell line (Chang et al. 2013; Granéli et al. 2014).

Collagen Type 1 alpha 1 (CoL1A1) is another protein known to be an early marker of osteoprogenitor cells whose maximum expression level was reported at day 21 of differentiation in adult mouse (Jikkoa et al. 1999).

Cell surface markers like activated leucocytecell adhesion molecule (ALCAM), similar to Sleeping Beauty Transposon system 10 (SB-10), (Torella et al. 2006) and STRO-1 (Urbanek et al. 2003; Bearzi et al. 2007) also have been identified to be useful in detecting the earliest stages of the osteoblast lineage in bone marrow stromal cell (MSC) cultures (Kalajzic et al. 2002).

3.5 Mesenchymal Stem Cell (MSC) Markers

MSCs derived from Bone Marrow (BM-MSCs) are postnatal stem cells capable of self-renewing and differentiating into osteoblasts, chondrocytes, adipocytes and neural cells that express a panel of key conventional markers such as CD10, CD13, CD29, CD73, CD90, CD105, CD271, CD146, Oct4, STRO-1, and SSEA4 and emerging markers include CD140b, Human Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor 2 (HER-2)/Erb-B2 Receptor Tyrosine Kinase 2 (erbB2) (CD340), and frizzled-9 (CD349) (Urbanek et al. 2003).

3.6 Intestinal Stem Cell Markers

The intestinal epithelium is the most rapidly selfrenewing tissue in adult mammals. (Barker et al. 2007). The G-protein coupled receptor Leucine Rich Repeat containing G Protein-Coupled Receptor 5 (Lgr5) and polycomb group protein B-cell specific Moloney murine leukemia virus integration site 1 (Bmi1) are two recently described molecular markers of self-renewing and multipotent adult stem cell populations residing in the crypt of the small intestine, capable of supporting regeneration of the intestinal epithelium. (Yan et al. 2012).

An important stem cell niche of the endodermal origin includes the stem cells in the intestinal crypts that are currently defined by the cycling crypt base columnar (CBC) cells and quiescent '+4' cells (Muñoz et al. 2012; Yan et al. 2012).

Lgr5 (Leucine rich repeat containing receptor) is an emerging intestinal stem cell marker that is being used to identify multipotent stem cells in the intestine (Muñoz et al. 2012).

Additionally, stem cells of the small intestinal crypt – the quiescent/'+4' cell have been reported to be negative for B-cell specific Moloney murine leukemia virus integration site 1 (Bmi1), Telome-rase Reverse Transcriptase (Tert), Homeodomain only protein Homo Sapiens (Hopx) and Leucine Rich Repeats and Immunoglobulin-Like Domains Protein 1 (Lrig1) implying their use as negative stem cell markers for intestinal stem cells (Montgomery et al. 2011; Lin and Scott 2012; Powell et al. 2013; Takeda et al. 2013).

4 Conclusion

Recent stem cell biology research from across the world is focusing on identifying novel sources of stem cells and isolation and identification of the stem cells from these sources. This research has been driven by the immense therapeutic potential that stem cells hold for several degenerative ailments. Although there are several conventional markers that facilitate the isolation of stem cells from different niches, newer sources have posed newer challenges in this process. For this reason, standardization of markers to identify and characterize stem cells that are being isolated from emerging sources has become indispensable. In this regard, several reports have suggested various new markers that enable the isolation of stem cells from various sources. Newer markers are being identified and standardized across the world. With the identification of each new marker, the naivety of the stem cell population is being cleared, paving way for the revelation of a better perspective about the newly identified cell population. This facilitates us to avoid misidentification and misrepresentation of cell populations. Furthermore, some of the conventional marker expressions overlap in several cell populations. For all these reasons, it is important to identify innovative markers that are specific to various stem cell niches, thus aiding easier identification and isolation of adult stem cells while being distinctive about different cell populations.

Conflict of Interest The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- Amoh Y, Li L, Katsuoka K et al (2005) Mutipotent nestinpositive, keratin-negaive hair-follicle bulge stem cells can form neurons. Proc Natl Acad Sci 102:5530–5534
- Anversa P, Kajstura J, Rota M, Leri A (2013) Regenerating new heart with stem cells. J Clin Invest 123:62–70. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI63068
- Baksh D, Yao R, Tuan RS (2007) Comparison of proliferative and multilineage differentiation potential of human Mesenchymal stem cells derived from umbilical cord and bone marrow AND. Stem Cells 25:1384–1392. https://doi.org/10.1634/stemcells. 2006-0709
- Barker N, van Es JH, Kuipers J et al (2007) Identification of stem cells in small intestine and colon by marker gene Lgr5. Nature 449:1003–1007. https://doi.org/10. 1038/nature06196
- Barry FP, Boynton RE, Haynesworth S et al (1999) The monoclonal antibody SH-2, raised against human Mesenchymal stem cells, recognizes an epitope on Endoglin (CD105). Biochem Biophys Res Commun 265:134–139. https://doi.org/10.1006/bbrc.1999.1620
- Barry F, Boynton R, Murphy M, Zaia J (2001) The SH-3 and SH-4 antibodies recognize distinct epitopes on CD73 from human Mesenchymal stem cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 289:519–524. https://doi.org/ 10.1006/bbrc.2001.6013
- Bearzi C, Rota M, Hosoda T et al (2007) Human cardiac stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104:14068–14073. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas. 0706760104

- Beltrami AP, Barlucchi L, Torella D et al (2003) Adult cardiac stem cells are multipotent and support myocardial regeneration. Cell 114:763–776. https:// doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(03)00687-1
- Blanpain C, Fuchs E (2006) Epidermal stem cells of the skin. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 22:339–373. https://doi. org/10.1146/annurev.cellbio.22.010305.104357
- Blanpain C, Fuchs E (2009) NIH public access. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 10:207–217. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nrm2636.Epidermal
- Cai J, Wu Y, Mirua T et al (2002) Properties of a fetal multipotent neural stem cell (NEP cell). Dev Biol 251:221–240. https://doi.org/10.1006/dbio.2002.0828
- Cai CL, Liang X, Shi Y et al (2003a) Isl1 identifies a cardiac progenitor population that proliferates prior to differentiation and contributes a majority of cells to the heart. Dev Cell 5:877–889. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S1534-5807(03)00363-0
- Cai J, Limke TL, Ginis I, Rao MS (2003b) Identifying and tracking neural stem cells. Blood Cells Mol Dis 31:18–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1079-9796(03) 00130-X
- Capela A, Temple S (2002) LeX/ssea-1 is expressed by adult mouse CNS stem cells, identifying them as nonependymal. Neuron 35:865–875. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/S0896-6273(02)00835-8
- Chang CB, Han SA, Kim EM et al (2013) Chondrogenic potentials of human synovium-derived cells sorted by specific surface markers. Osteoarthr Cartil 21:190–199. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joca.2012.10.005
- Chatterjee D, Tufa DM, Baehre H et al (2014) Natural killer cells acquire CD73 expression upon exposure to mesenchymal stem cells. Blood 123:594–595
- Christensen JL, Weissman IL (2001) Flk-2 is a marker in hematopoietic stem cell differentiation: a simple method to isolate long-term stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98:14541–14546
- Clarke SR, Shetty AK, Bradley JL, Turner DA (1994) Reactive astrocytes express the embryonic intermediate neurofilament nestin. Neuroreport 5:1885–1888
- Colgan SP, Eltzschig HK, Eckle T, Thompson LF (2006) Physiological roles for ecto-5'-nucleotidase (CD73). Purinergic Signal 2:351–360. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11302-005-5302-5
- Corti S, Nizzardo M, Nardini M et al (2007) Isolation and characterization of murine neural stem/progenitor cells based on Prominin-1 expression. Exp Neurol 205:547–562. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.expneurol. 2007.03.021
- Craig W, Kay R, Cutler RL, Lansdorp PM (1993) Expression of Thy-1 on human hematopoietic progenitor cells. J Exp Med 177:1331–1342
- Cregan MD, Fan Y, Appelbee A et al (2007) Identification of nestin-positive putative mammary stem cells in human breastmilk. Cell Tissue Res:129–136. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s00441-007-0390-x
- De Filippis L, Binda E (2012) Concise review: selfrenewal in the central nervous system: neural stem cells from embryo to adult. Stem Cells Transl Med 1:298–308. https://doi.org/10.5966/sctm.2011-0045

- Dennis JE, Carbillet J-P, Caplan AI, Charbord P (2002) The STRO-1+ marrow cell population is multipotential. Cells Tissues Organs 170:73–82. https://doi.org/ 10.1159/000046182
- Dominici M, Le Blanc K, Mueller I et al (2006) Minimal criteria for defining multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells. The International Society for Cellular Therapy position statement. Cytotherapy 8:315–317. https:// doi.org/10.1080/14653240600855905
- Duff SE, Li C, Garland JM, Kumar S (2003) CD105 is important for angiogenesis: evidence and potential applications. FASEB J 17:984–992. https://doi.org/ 10.1096/fj.02-0634rev
- Ellis P, Fagan BM, Magness ST et al (2005) SOX2, a persistent marker for multipotential neural stem cells derived from embryonic stem cells, the embryo or the adult. Dev Neurosci 26:148–165. https://doi.org/10. 1159/000082134
- Freed CR (2002) Will embryonic stem cells be a useful source of dopamine neurons for transplant into patients with Parkinson's disease? Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99:1755–1757
- Friedenstein BAJ (1966) Osteogenesis in transplants of bone marrow cells. J Embryol Exp Morpholog 16 (3):381–390
- Gage FH (2000) Mammalian neural stem cells. Science (80-) 287:1433–1438. https://doi.org/10.1126/science. 287.5457.1433
- Graham V, Khudyakov J, Ellis P et al (2003) SOX2 functions to maintain neural progenitor identity. Neuron 39:749–765. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0896-6273(03)00497-5
- Granéli C, Thorfve A, Ruetschi U et al (2014) Novel markers of osteogenic and adipogenic differentiation of human bone marrow stromal cells identified using a quantitative proteomics approach. Stem Cell Res 12:153–165. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scr.2013.09.009
- Gronthos S, Graves SE, Ohta S, Simmons PJ (1994) The STRO-1+ fraction of adult human bone marrow contains the osteogenic precursors. Blood 84:4164–4173. https://doi.org/papers://82E9EA27-E255-4A82-9E40-6DAC45A310F4/Paper/p274
- Guo J, Weng J, Rong Q et al (2015) Investigation of multipotent postnatal stem cells from human maxillary sinus membrane. Sci Rep 5:11660. https://doi.org/10. 1038/srep11660
- Hall PE, Lathia JD, Miller NGA et al (2006) Integrins are markers of human neural stem cells. Stem Cells 24:2078–2084. https://doi.org/10.1634/stemcells. 2005-0595
- Haranova D, Tothova T, Sarissky M, Rosocha J (2011) Isolation and characterization of synovial mesenchymal stem. Folia Biol 57:119–124. https://doi.org/ FB2011A0018 [pii]
- Hassiotou F, Beltran A, Chetwynd E, Stuebe AM, Twigger A-J, Metzger P, Trengove N, Lai CT, Filgueira L, Blancafort P, Hartmann PE (2012) Breastmilk is a novel source of stem cells with multilineage differentiation potential. Stem Cells 30:2164–2174. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.1188

- Iida M, Heike T, Yoshimoto M et al (2005) Identification of cardiac stem cells with FLK1, CD31, and VE-cadherin expression during embryonic stem cell differentiation. FASEB J 19:371–378. https://doi.org/ 10.1096/fj.04-1998com
- Jamali M, Rogerson PJ, Wilton S, Skerjanc IS (2001) Nkx2-5 activity is essential for Cardiomyogenesis. J Biol Chem 276:42252–42258. https://doi.org/10.1074/ jbc.M107814200
- Janes SM, Lowell S, Hutter C (2002) Epidermal stem cells. J Pathol 197:479–491. https://doi.org/10.1002/ path.1156
- Jikko A, Harris SE, Chen D et al (1999) Collagen integrin receptors regulate early osteoblast differentiation induced by BMP-2. J Bone Miner Res 14:1075–1083. https://doi.org/10.1359/jbmr.1999.14. 7.1075
- Joannides A, Gaughwin P, Schwiening C, Majed H (2004) Efficient generation of neural precursors from adult human skin: astrocytes promote neurogenesis from skin-derived stem cells. Lancet 364:172–178
- Ka L, Kong H, Cell S et al (2014) Concise review: the surface markers and identity of human Mesenchymal stem cells. Stem Cells 32:1408–1419
- Kafienah W, Mistry S, Williams C, Hollander AP (2006) Nucleostemin is a marker of proliferating stromal stem cells in adult human bone marrow. Stem Cells 24:1113–1120. https://doi.org/10.1634/stemcells. 2005-0416
- Kalajzic I, Kalajzic Z, Kaliterna M et al (2002) Use of type I collagen green fluorescent protein transgenes to identify subpopulations of cells at different stages of the osteoblast lineage. J Bone Miner Res 17:15–25. https:// doi.org/10.1359/jbmr.2002.17.1.15
- Kaneko Y, Sakakibara S, Imai T et al (2000) Musashi1: an evolutionally conserved marker for CNS progenitor cells including neural stem cells. Dev Neurosci 22:139–153. https://doi.org/10.1159/000017435
- Kavyasudha C, Joel PJ, Devi A (2018) Differential expression of nucleostemin in the cytoplasm and nuclei of normal and cancerous cell lines. Turkish J Biol 42:250–258. https://doi.org/10.3906/biy-1712-10
- Kao S, Shyu J, Wang H et al (2015) Comparisons of differentiation potential in human Mesenchymal stem cells from Wharton' s jelly, bone marrow, and pancreatic tissues. Stem Cells Int 2015:1–10. https://doi.org/ 10.1155/2015/306158
- Kim BJ, Lee YA, Kim KJ, et al (2015) Effects of paracrine factors on CD24 expression and neural differentiation of male germline stem cells. Int J Mol Med 36:255– 262. https://doi.org/10.3892/ijmm.2015.2208
- Kornblum HI, Geschwind DH (2001) Molecular markers in CNS stem cell research: hitting a moving target. Nat Rev Neurosci 2:3–6
- Laflamme MA, Murry CE (2011) Heart regeneration. Nature 473:326–335. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nature10147
- Laino G, Aquino R, Graziano A et al (2005) A new population of human adult dental pulp stem cells: a useful source of living autologous fibrous bone tissue

(LAB). J Bone Miner Res 20:1394–1402. https://doi. org/10.1359/JBMR.050325

- Lee OK, Kuo TK, Chen W et al (2015) Isolation of multipotent mesenchymal stem cells from umbilical cord. Blood 103:1669–1676. https://doi.org/10.1182/ blood-2003-05-1670.Supported
- Lendahl U, Zimmerman LB, McKay RD (1990) CNS stem cells express a new class of intermediate filament protein. Cell 60:585–595. https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(90)90662-X
- Li A, Simmons PJ, Kaur P (1998) Identification and isolation of candidate human keratinocyte stem cells based on cell surface phenotype. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95:3902–3907
- Lin GG, Scott JG (2012) NIH public. Access 100:130–134. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pestbp.2011. 02.012.Investigations
- Lints TJ, Parsons LM, Hartley L et al (1993) Nkx-2.5: a novel murine homeobox gene expressed in early heart progenitor cells and their myogenic descendants. Development 119:419–431
- Liu P, Oyajobi BO, Russell RG, Scutt A (1999) Regulation of osteogenic differentiation of human bone marrow stromal cells: interaction between transforming growth factor-beta and 1,25(OH)(2) vitamin D (3) in vitro. Calcif Tissue Int 65:173–180
- Lyons I, Parsons LM, Hartley L et al (1995) Myogenic and morphogenetic defects in the heart tubes of murine embryos lacking the homeo box gene Nkx2-5. Genes Dev 9:1654–1666. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.9.13. 1654
- Macrin D, Joseph JP, Pillai AA, Devi A (2017) Eminent sources of adult Mesenchymal stem cells and their therapeutic imminence. Stem Cell Rev Rep 13:1–16. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12015-017-9759-8
- McKeon F, Yang A, Schweitzer R et al (1999) p63 is essential for regenerative proliferation in limb, craniofacial and epithelial development. Nature 398:714–718. https://doi.org/10.1038/19539
- Meng X, Ichim TE, Zhong J et al (2007) Endometrial regenerative cells: a novel stem cell population. J Transl Med 5:57. https://doi.org/10.1186/1479-5876-5-57
- Montgomery RK, Carlone DL, Richmond CA et al (2011) Mouse telomerase reverse transcriptase (mTert) expression marks slowly cycling intestinal stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108:179–184. https://doi. org/10.1073/pnas.1013004108
- Moore MAS (1991) Clinical implications of positive and negative hematopoietic stem cell regulators. J Am Soc Hematol 78:1–20
- Muller D, Wang C, Skibo G et al (1996) PSA–NCAM is required for activity-induced synaptic plasticity. Neuron 17:413–422. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0896-6273(00)80174-9
- Muller L, Jones R, Hunt A et al (2007) Concise review: mesenchymal stem cells: their phenotype, differentiation capacity, immunological features, and potential for homing. Stem Cells 25:2739–2749. https://doi. org/10.1634/stemcells.2007-0197

- Muñoz J, Stange DE, Schepers AG et al (2012) The Lgr5 intestinal stem cell signature: robust expression of proposed quiescent "+4" cell markers. EMBO J 31:3079–3091. https://doi.org/10.1038/emboj.2012. 166
- Ng F, Boucher S, Koh S et al (2008) PDGF, TGF-beta, and FGF signaling is important for differentiation and growth of mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs): transcriptional profiling can identify markers and signaling pathways important in differentiation of MSCs into adipogenic, chondrogenic, and osteogenic lineages. Blood 112:295–307. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2007-07-103697
- Nijhof JGW, Braun KM, Giangreco A et al (2006) The cell-surface marker MTS24 identifies a novel population of follicular keratinocytes with characteristics of progenitor cells. Development 133:3027–3037. https:// doi.org/10.1242/dev.02443
- O'Connor JC, Farach-Carson MC, Schneider CJ, Carson DD (2007) Coculture with prostate cancer cells alters Endoglin expression and attenuates transforming growth factor- β Signaling in reactive bone marrow stromal cells. Mol Cancer Res 5:585–603
- Ode A, Kurtz A, Schmidt-Bleek K et al (2011) CD73 and CD29 concurrently mediate the mechanically induced decrease of migratory capacity of mesenchymal stromal cells. Fac Built Environ Eng Inst Heal Biomed Innov 22:26–42
- Osawa M, Hanada K, Hamada H, Nakauchi H (1996) Long-term lymphohematopoietic reconstitution by a single CD34-low/negative hematopoietic stem cell. Science (80-) 273:242–245
- Pan JP, Hu Y, Wang JH et al (2018) Methyl 3,4-dihydroxybenzoate induces neural stem cells to differentiate into cholinergic neurons in vitro. Front Cell Neurosci 12:1–13. https://doi.org/10.3389/fncel. 2018.00478
- Park D, Xiang AP, Mao FF et al (2010) Nestin is required for the proper self-renewal of neural stem cells. Stem Cells 28:2162–2171. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.541
- Passier R, van Laake LW, Mummery CL (2008) Stemcell-based therapy and lessons from the heart. Nature 453:322–329. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature07040
- Pellegrini G, Dellambra E, Golisano O et al (2001) p63 identifies keratinocyte stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98:3156–3161. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas. 061032098
- Phillips MD, Kuznetsov SA, Cherman N et al (2014) Directed differentiation of human induced pluripotent stem cells toward bone and cartilage: in vitro versus in vivo assays. Stem Cells Transl Med 3:867–878. https://doi.org/10.5966/sctm.2013-0154
- Phinney DG, Prockop DJ (2007) Concise review: mesenchymal stem/multipotent stromal cells: the state of Transdifferentiation and modes of tissue repair-current views. Stem Cells 25:2896–2902. https://doi.org/10. 1634/stemcells.2007-0637
- Pierelli L, Bonanno G, Rutella S et al (2001) CD105 (Endoglin) expression on hematopoietic stem/

progenitor cells. Leuk Lymphoma 42:1195–1206. https://doi.org/10.3109/10428190109097744

- Pittenger MF (1999) Multilineage potential of adult human mesenchymal stem cells. Science (80-) 284:143–147. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.284.5411.143
- Pittenger MF, Mackay AM, Beck SC et al (1999) Multilineage potential of adult human Mesenchymal stem cells. Sciene 284:143–147. https://doi.org/10. 1126/science.284.5411.143
- Pittenger MF, Martin BJ, Pittenger MF, Martin BJ (2004) Mesenchymal stem cells and their potential as cardiac therapeutics. Circ Res 95:9–20. https://doi.org/10. 1161/01.RES.0000135902.99383.6f
- Potten CS, Booth C, Tudor GL et al (2003) Identification of a putative intestinal stem cell and early lineage marker; musashi-1. Differentiation 7:28–41
- Powell AE, Wang Y, Li Y et al (2013) The pan-ErbB negative regulator, Lrig1, is an intestinal stem cell marker that functions as a tumor suppressor Anne. NIH Public Access. Cell 149:146–158. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.cell.2012.02.042.The
- Pruszak J, Ludwig W, Blak A, et al (2009) CD15, CD24, and CD29 define a surface biomarker code for neural lineage differentiation of stem cells. Stem Cells 27:2928–2940. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.211
- Qsfdvstps DD, Christoforou N, Miller RA et al (2008) Jefoujgjdbujpo Pg Opwfm Dbsejbd Hfoft. 118. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI33942DS1
- Quartu M, Serra M, Boi M et al (2008) Polysialylatedneural cell adhesion molecule (PSA-NCAM) in the human trigeminal ganglion and brainstem at prenatal and adult ages. BMC Neurosci 9:108. https://doi.org/ 10.1186/1471-2202-9-108
- Raffin M, Leong LM, Rones MS et al (2000) Subdivision of the cardiac Nkx2.5 expression domain into myogenic and nonmyogenic compartments. Dev Biol 218:326–340. https://doi.org/10.1006/dbio.1999.9579
- Rege TA (2006) Thy-1 as a regulator of cell-cell and cellmatrix interactions in axon regeneration, apoptosis, adhesion, migration, cancer, and fibrosis. FASEB J 20:1045–1054. https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.05-5460rev
- Reiisi S, Esmaeili F, Shirazi A (2016) Isolation, culture and identification of epidermal stem cells from newborn mouse skin Published by: Society for In Vitro Biology Linked references are available on JSTOR for this article: Isolation, culture and identification of epidermal stem cells from newborn mouse skin. In Vitro Cell Dev Biol Anim 46:54–59. https://doi.org/10.1007/ sll626-009-9245-y
- Resta R, Yamashita Y, Thompson LF (1998) Ecto-enzyme and signaling functions of lymphocyte CD73. Immunol Rev 161:95–109
- Saalbach A, Wetzig T, Haustein UF, Anderegg U (1999) Detection of human soluble Thy-1 in serum by ELISA. Fibroblasts and activated endothelial cells are a possible source of soluble Thy-1 in serum. Cell Tissue Res 298:307–315
- Sanz-Rodriguez F, Guerrero-Esteo M, Botella L-M et al (2004) Endoglin regulates cytoskeletal organization

through binding to ZRP-1, a member of the Lim family of proteins. J Biol Chem 279:32858–32868. https:// doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M400843200

- Segers VF, Lee RT (2008) Stem-cell therapy for cardiac disease. Nature 451:937–942. https://doi.org/ nature06800 [pii]\r10.1038/nature06800
- Seki T (2002) Hippocampal adult neurogenesis occurs in a microenvironment provided by PSA-NCAMexpressing immature neurons. J Neurosci Res 69:772–783. https://doi.org/10.1002/jnr.10366
- Senoo M, Pinto F, Crum CP, McKeon F (2007) p63 is essential for the proliferative potential of stem cells in stratified epithelia. Cell 129:523–536. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.cell.2007.02.045
- Simmons PJ, Torok-Storb B (1991) Identification of stromal Cell precursors in human bone marrow by a novel monoclonal antibody, STRO-1. Blood 78:55–62
- Sugawara K, Kurihara H, Negishi M et al (2002) Nestin as a marker for proliferative endothelium in gliomas. Lab Investig 82:–345. https://doi.org/10.1038/ labinvest3780428, https://doi.org/10.1038/labinvest. 3780428. Publ online 01 March 2002
- Suh H, Consiglio A, Ray J et al (2007) In vivo fate analysis reveals the multipotent and self-renewal capacities of Sox2+ neural stem cells in the adult hippocampus. Cell Stem Cell 1:515–528. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem. 2007.09.002
- Sun Y, Liang X, Najafi N et al (2007) Islet 1 is expressed in distinct cardiovascular lineages, including pacemaker and coronary vascular cells. Dev Biol 304:286–296. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ydbio.2006. 12.048
- Takeda N, Jain R, Leboeuf MR et al (2013) Interconversion between intestinal stem cell populations in distinct niches. Science 334:1420–1424. https://doi.org/10. 1126/science.1213214.Inter-conversion
- Tateishi K, Ashihara E, Takehara N et al (2007) Clonally amplified cardiac stem cells are regulated by Sca-1 signaling for efficient cardiovascular regeneration. J Cell Sci 120:1791–1800. https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs. 006122
- Thomson JA, Itskovitz-eldor J, Shapiro SS et al (1998) Embryonic stem cell lines derived from human blastocysts. Science 282:1145–1148. https://doi.org/ 10.1126/science.282.5391.1145
- Torella D, Ellison GM, Méndez-Ferrer S et al (2006) Resident human cardiac stem cells: role in cardiac cellular homeostasis and potential for myocardial regeneration. Nat Clin Pract Cardiovasc Med 3(Suppl 1):S8–S13. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncpcardio0409
- Urbanek K, Quaini F, Tasca G et al (2003) Intense myocyte formation from cardiac stem cells in human cardiac hypertrophy. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100:10440–10445. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas. 1832855100
- Valente M, Nascimento DS, Cumano A, Pinto-do-Ó P (2014) Sca-1+ cardiac progenitor cells and heartmaking: a critical synopsis. Stem Cells Dev 23:2263–2273. https://doi.org/10.1089/scd.2014.0197

- Vishwakarma SK, Bardia A, Tiwari SK et al (2014) Current concept in neural regeneration research: NSCs isolation, characterization and transplantation in various neurodegenerative diseases and stroke: a review. J Adv Res 5:277–294. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jare. 2013.04.005
- Watt FM (1998) Epidermal stem cells: markers, patterning and the control of stem cell fate. Philos Trans R Soc Lond Ser B Biol Sci 353:831–837. https://doi.org/10. 1098/rstb.1998.0247
- Worthley DL, Churchill M, Compton JT et al (2015) Gremlin 1 identifies a skeletal stem cell with bone, cartilage, and reticular stromal potential. Cell 160:269–284. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2014.11. 042
- Wu J, Pan Z, Cheng M et al (2013) Ginsenoside Rg1 facilitates neural differentiation of mouse embryonic stem cells via GR-dependent signaling pathway. Neurochem Int 62:92–102. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. neuint.2012.09.016
- Xie X, Wang Y, Zhao C et al (2012) Comparative evaluation of MSCs from bone marrow and adipose tissue seeded in PRP-derived scaffold for cartilage regeneration. Biomaterials 33:7008–7018. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.biomaterials.2012.06.058
- Yan K, Chia L, Li X (2012) The intestinal stem cell markers Bmi1 and Lgr5 identify two functionally distinct populations. PNAS 109:466–471. https://doi.org/

10.1073/pnas.1118857109/-/DCSupplemental.www.pnas.org/cgi/doi/10.1073/pnas.1118857109

- Yen BL, Huang H, Chien C et al (2005) Isolation of multipotent cells from human term placenta. Stem Cells 23:3–9. https://doi.org/10.1634/stemcells.2004
- Yuan SH, Martin J, Elia J, et al (2011) Cell-surface marker signatures for the Isolation of neural stem cells, glia and neurons derived from human pluripotent stem cells. PLoS One 6. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0017540
- Zhang M, Song T, Yang L et al (2008) Nestin and CD133: valuable stem cell-specific markers for determining clinical outcome of glioma patients. J Exp Clin Cancer Res 27:85. https://doi.org/10.1186/1756-9966-27-85
- Zhu AJ, Watt FM (1999) Beta-catenin signalling modulates proliferative potential of human epidermal keratinocytes independently of intercellular adhesion. Development 126:2285–2298
- Zhu AJ, Haase I, Watt FM (1999) Signaling via beta1 integrins and mitogen-activated protein kinase determines human epidermal stem cell fate in vitro. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96:6728–6733. https://doi. org/10.1073/PNAS.96.12.6728
- Zimmerman L, Lendahl U, Cunningham M et al (1994) Independent regulatory elements in the nestin gene direct transgene expression to neural stem cells or muscle precursors. Neuron 12:11–24. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/0896-6273(94)90148-1

Adv Exp Med Biol - Cell Biology and Translational Medicine (2021) 13: 15–25 https://doi.org/10.1007/5584_2018_248 © Springer International Publishing AG, part of Springer Nature 2018 Published online: 27 July 2018



Therapeutic Potential of Adipose Stem Cells

Rachel A. Sabol, Annie C. Bowles, Alexandra Côté, Rachel Wise, Nicholas Pashos, and Bruce A. Bunnell

Abstract

Adipose stem cells (ASCs) have gained attention in the fields of stem cells regenerative medicine due to their multifaceted therapeutic capabilities. Promising preclinical evidence of

R. A. Sabol

Physician Scientist Program, Tulane University School of Medicine, New Orleans, LA, USA

A. C. Bowles and A. Côté Center for Stem Cell Research and Regenerative Medicine, Tulane University, New Orleans, LA, USA

Department of Cell and Molecular Biology, Tulane University, New Orleans, LA, USA

R. Wise

Center for Stem Cell Research and Regenerative Medicine, Tulane University, New Orleans, LA, USA

Tulane Brain Institute, Neuroscience Program, Tulane University, New Orleans, LA, USA

N. Pashos

Center for Stem Cell Research and Regenerative Medicine, Tulane University, New Orleans, LA, USA

Bioinnovation PhD Program, Tulane University, New Orleans, LA, USA

B. A. Bunnell (🖂)

Center for Stem Cell Research and Regenerative Medicine, Tulane University, New Orleans, LA, USA

Department of Pharmacology, Tulane University, New Orleans, LA, USA

Division of Regenerative Medicine, Tulane National Primate Research Center, Covington, LA, USA e-mail: bbunnell@tulane.edu ASCs has supported the substantial interest in the use of these cells as therapy for human disease. ASCs are an adult stem cell resident in adipose tissue with the potential to differentiation along mesenchymal lineages. They also are known to be recruited to sites of inflammation where they exhibit strong immunomodulatory capabilities to promote wound healing and regeneration. ASCs can be isolated from adipose tissue at a relatively high yield compared to their mesenchymal cell counterparts: bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells (BM-MSCs). Like BM-MSCs, ASCs are easily culture expanded and have a reduced immunogenicity or are perhaps immune privileged, making them attractive options for cellular therapy. Additionally, the heterogeneous cellular product obtained after digestion of adipose tissue, called the stromal vascular fraction (SVF), contains ASCs and several populations of stromal and immune cells. Both the SVF and culture expanded ASCs have the potential to be therapeutic in various diseases. This review will focus on the preclinical and clinical evidence of SVF and ASCs, which make them potential candidates for therapy in regenerative medicine and inflammatory disease processes.

Center for Stem Cell Research and Regenerative Medicine, Tulane University, New Orleans, LA, USA

Keywords

Adipose stem cells · Mesenchymal stem cells · Regenerative medicine · Stem cell therapy · Stromal vascular fraction

Abbreviations

AD	Alzheimers disease		
ALS	Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis		
APP	Amyloid precursor protein		
ASCs	Adipose stem cells		
Αβ	Amyloid-beta		
BM-	Bone marrow-derived mesenchymal		
MSCs	stem cells		
BrdU	Bromodeoxyuridine		
CNS	Central nervous system		
EAE	Experimental autoimmune		
	encephalomyelitis		
GM-	Granulocyes-macrophage colony		
CSF	stimulating factor		
IHD	Ischemic heart disease		
LVEF	Left ventricular ejection fraction		
MI	Myocardial infarctions		
MS	Multiple sclerosis		
MWM	Morris water maze		
PD	Parkinson's disease		
PLGA	poly(lactic-co-glycolic) acid		
PVA	Poly(vinyl alcohol)		
RA	Rheumatoid arthritis		
SNpc	Substantia nigra pars compacta		
SVF	Stromal vascular fraction		
T1DM	Type 1 diabetes mellitus		
Th	CD4 ⁺ helper T		
Tregs	regulatory T cells		
WT	Wall thickness		
ALS	Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis		

1 Introduction

Stem cells are capable of asymmetric cell division promoting self-renewal and multi-lineage differentiation potential (Verfaillie 2002). Due to the controversy over the use of embryonic stem cells, recent interest has grown surrounding the potential of adult stem cells. Adult stem cells have been identified in most adult organs and tissues including bone, cartilage, skeletal muscle and adipose tissue (Gage 2000; Reyes and Verfaillie 2001; Jankowski et al. 2002; Gimble and Guilak 2003; Herrera et al. 2006; Barker et al. 2007). Although adult stem cells have a lesser capacity for selfrenewal and differentiation than embryonic stem cells, there is a rapidly growing body of evidence that suggests that the therapeutic potential of adult stem cells is much more significant than was once thought.

Adipose tissue serves as a reservoir for mesenchymal stem cells, which we will refer to as adipose stem cells (ASCs) in this review. Adipose tissue is a multifaceted organ with many functions including endocrine functions with the secretion of various adipokines, structural and lipid storage functions and an immunology function as there are many immune cells and immunomodulatory cells, namely ASCs, resident in adipose tissue. ASCs can differentiate into mature cells of the adipogenic, osteogenic, chondrogenic, and myogenic lineages (Gimble et al. 2007). Adipose tissue is harvested and enzymatically digested to isolate the stromal vascular fraction (SVF). SVF is composed of many cell types: ASCs (15-30%), endothelial cells (10-20%), pericytes (3-5%), and immune cells (25-45%) (Bourin et al. 2013; Lee et al. 2013). After SVF isolation, the heterogeneous cell composition can be cultured, and the plastic adherence capacity of ASCs allows for the acquisition of homogenous populations of ASCs. Human ASCs can be phenotypically identified as CD45⁻CD235a⁻CD31⁻CD34⁺ and cultured ASCs can be phenotypically identified as CD13⁺ CD73⁺CD90⁺CD105⁺CD31⁻CD45⁻CD235a⁻ (Bourin et al. 2013). ASCs do not express human leukocyte antigens including HLA-DR molecules and co-stimulatory molecules that are important for immune recognition of "self" versus "nonself" that would trigger significant immune responses, making ASCs potential candidates for not only autologous therapy but possibly allogeneic therapy (Gimble et al. 2007; DelaRosa et al. 2012).

Adipose tissue confers an advantage because stem cell yield from is 100–500 times higher per tissue volume than from bone marrow rendering ASCs a more attractive candidate for therapeutic use (D'Andrea et al. 2008; Zhang et al. 2013). Harvesting adipose via liposuction can yield large quantities of fat tissue with minimal risk to the patient. This procedure is very commonly performed, but the removed adipose tissue/ lipoaspirate is discarded as medical waste (DelaRosa et al. 2012; Zhang et al. 2013). The American Society of Plastic Surgeons 2015 annual report registered a total of 222,051 liposuction procedures in 2015 alone https:// plasticsurgery.org 2017. Thus, there is a vast number of potential ASCs going to waste.

Many reasons that make ASCs such an attractive cell type for regenerative medicine applications are: their multipotent potential for regenerative uses; ease of isolation; plentiful source; either autologous or allogeneic use; and their innate ability induce angiogenic traits. ASCs have been demonstrated to mediate robust antiinflammatory and immunomodulatory effects, which have led to various preclinical studies and clinical trials to investigate therapeutic efficacy. Tissue inflammation activates ASCs to produce anti-inflammatory cytokines and angiogenic factors (Zuk et al. 2001; Gimble et al. 2007; Bourin et al. 2013). The immunomodulatory function of ASCs results in an environment where ongoing inflammation is minimized, and a regenerative environment is promoted to restore homeostasis. regenerative The and antiinflammatory potential of these cells have led to studies using these stem cells across various disciplines, examples of which are covered in this chapter.

2 ASCs in Regenerative Medicine

2.1 ASCs as Therapy for Cardiac Disease

ASCs are multipotent and retain the ability to differentiation into mesodermal tissues. The potential to regenerate cardiomyocytes with ASCs has drawn substantial research attention due to the increasing incidence of myocardial infarctions (MI) and the poor prognosis associated with scar tissue formation in the myocardium post-MI (Nian et al. 2004; Gnecchi et al. 2008; Segers and Lee 2008; Aguirre et al. 2013; Le and Chong 2016).

Ischemic heart disease (IHD) is the leading cause of death worldwide. Much of the burden of IHD is due to the inability of the cardiac tissue to regenerate after cardiac events. Instead, infarctions lead to an inflammatory response, which ultimately results in necrosis of the infarct zone, rendering the region unable to participate in electrical conduction or cardiac muscle contraction. Currently, there are no effective ways to regenerate cardiac muscle tissue. ASCs have been studied for their ability to regenerate cardiac tissue and/or improve cardiac function in multiple model systems. The first study to demonstrate mesenchymal stem cells' ability to differentiate into cardiomyocytes by Rangappa et al. used rabbit ASCs (Rangappa et al. 2003). Another group demonstrated differentiation of human ASCs after exposure to rat cardiomyocyte proteins (Gaustad et al. 2004). These studies examined structural functional capacities and of cardiomyocytes to characterize differentiation; however, no in vivo experiments were preformed.

Valina et al. used a porcine model to show that intracoronary administration of autologous ASCs 15 min after reperfusion improved various cardiac functions post-infarction (Valina et al. 2007). The results showed significantly greater capillary density in the infarct border zone, wall thickness (WT) and left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF), all in the ASC-treated group compared to the control 30 days post-procedure. A rat model was also used to assess the benefits of ASCs in the setting of chronic heart failure. The ASC-treated group showed a significantly improved LVEF and reduced infarct area (Mazo et al. 2008).

A Phase 1/2 clinical trial has also investigated the safety of SVF in patients with post-MI IHD. A total of 28 patients participated in the study. After noticing similar results as in the aforementioned studies (significantly increased LVEF and increased WT) and better patient performance in the 6-min walk test at the 3-, 6- and 12-month follow up compared to baseline (before cell transplantation), with no significant adverse effects, the authors concluded that the intramyocardial injection of 30 million cells was safe and efficacious (Comella et al. 2016). Despite a limited number of patients tracked at the various time points and lack of a control group, these results provide some support that SVF may benefit patients with decreased ventricular performance due to MI-induced scarred cardiac tissue.

2.2 ASCs and Biomaterials

ASCs represent a cell source that has the potential to transform the field of tissue engineering and regenerative medicine. Seeding biomaterials, like poly(lactic-co-glycolic) acid (PLGA), Poly(vinyl alcohol) PVA, decellularized extracellular matrix or chitosan with ASCs has been used to assist in healing and regeneration of muscle, cartilage, functional fat tissue, tendon, and bone (D'Andrea et al. 2008; Dufrane et al. 2015; Vaicik et al. 2015; Choi et al. 2016; Bjorninen et al. 2017; Dufrane 2017; Farnebo et al. 2017).

Once implanted, one of the most important considerations for any tissue engineering product is the supply of nutrients to the scaffold and removal of cellular waste from the scaffold, either through transport through the biomaterials via diffusion and/or by encouraging neovascularization within the tissues. In the field of tissue engineering a major roadblock is blood vessel formation, especially for thick or dense materials. Substantial research is required to overcome these barriers by utilizing the innate proangiogenic traits of ASCs to induce blood vessel formation to supply engineered tissues with the necessary route for nutrients and waste transport.

2.2.1 ASC and Biomaterials for Angiogenesis

Harnessing and enhancing the angiogenic traits of ASC using biomaterials is of interest to the regenerative medicine field. It was demonstrated that the ASC encapsulated in larger PLGA spheroids were found to upregulate angiogenic growth factors and adipogenesis in vitro, and allowing of the scaffolds to recapitulate significant vascular ingrowth in vivo in a nude mouse model (Zhang et al. 2017). Similarly, other groups have also been working towards capitalizing on the angiogenic and/or adipogenic capabilities of ASC in tissue engineering application (Vaicik et al. 2015; Miyamoto et al. 2017). ASC have also been encapsulated in thermosensitive hydrogels, like chitosan/ gelatin mixtures, to create an injectable for therapeutic angiogenesis for ischemic materials by allowing for more prolonged survival of dissociated ASC (Cheng et al. 2017). Utilizing materials like these with pre-seeded ASC, it has been found to increase angiogenic growth factor concentration in the growth media in vitro, allowing for a more considerable amount of tubule formation in the hydrogel when co-cultured encapsulated with endothelial cells. Data from in vivo studies demonstrate higher densities of capillaries were found when applying the encapsulated ASCs in a chick embryo chorioallantoic membrane assay (Cheng et al. 2017). Like adipose tissue, other soft tissue applications have benefitted from ASCs. Choi et al. used an elastin-like polypeptide matrix with ASCs where the hydrogel would coagulate in the wound site. This is beneficial because it could mold to any wound shape, enabled retention of the ASCs at the wound site to promote regeneration, and activated wound clotting to promote faster regeneration (Choi et al. 2016). Conductive biomaterials were used with ASCs to help stimulate vascular smooth muscle repair. These scaffolds with stimulation improved ASC viability and differentiation towards smooth muscles cells improving their utility in vascular tissue engineering applications. Electrical stimulation systems may be a means to enhance differentiation for tissue engineering applications (Bjorninen al. 2017). Alternatively, et decellularized porcine small intestinal submucosa with human ASCs have been shown to be an effective biological scaffold for hernia repair in rat models. Treating the scaffold with fibronectin before ASC seeding improved ASC attachment and histology demonstrated the presence of the stem cells in the scaffold up to 1 month post-op (Klinger et al. 2016). The retention of stem cells in these living scaffolds makes them attractive candidates for long-term sustainable regenerative therapies.

3 ASCs as Immunomodulators

3.1 ASCs as Therapy for Autoimmune Diseases

Lymphocytes are integral cells of the immune system. More specifically, CD4⁺ helper T (Th) cells can be divided into subsets that distinguish the effector cells, Th1, and Th2 cells, and the regulatory T cells (Tregs) that maintain the balance between autoimmunity and immune tolerance, respectively. These effector T cells play a critical role in promoting autoimmune diseases, especially Th1 cells, which have been further delineated to include Th17 cells. Secreted pro-inflammatory cytokines by Th1 and Th17 cells perpetuate antigen-specific responses. During autoimmunity, Th1 and Th17 aberrantly recognize self-antigens and drive an immune response that propagates a cascade of pathologic events (Skapenko et al. 2005; Gonzalez et al. 2009; Zhou et al. 2011).

The immunomodulatory capacities of ASCs have been investigated to regulate the Th1/ Th2 balance and promote Tregs to restore immune tolerance in autoimmune diseases. ASCs secrete anti-inflammatory cytokine interleukin-10 (IL-10) that enhances Tregs' activity, which responds by further secreting and amplifying IL-10 signaling (Chaudhry et al. 2011; Park et al. 2015). Tregs and associated IL-10 attenuate the activities of Th1 and Th17, which, in turn, reduce the recruitment of additional pro-inflammatory immune cells to sites of pathology (Skapenko et al. 2005; Chaudhry et al. 2011). These anti-inflammatory and immunomodulatory effects of ASCs have been demonstrated in several preclinical models of autoimmune diseases.

3.1.1 Multiple Sclerosis

Multiple sclerosis (MS) is an autoimmune disease against integral components of the central

nervous system (CNS) that leads to neurodegeneration and inflammation. Using the murine experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) model of MS, ASCs have demonstrated attenuation of disease that leads to comprehensive improvements. Treatment with ASC before the onset of EAE led to amelioration of the disease course by robust immunomodulation that countered Th1-mediated pathology. Collectively, infusion of ASCs resulted in reductions in tissue damage, and cellular infiltrates and preservation of myelin in the CNS, which ameliorated symptoms of this disease (Constantin et al. 2009; Riordan et al. 2009; Semon et al. 2013, 2014).

3.1.2 Rheumatoid Arthritis

Another common autoimmune disease, rheumatoid arthritis (RA), is characterized Th1-mediated tissue damage and inflammation within joints. Th17 cells have also been correlated with the production of granulocyte-macrophagecolony stimulating factor (GM-CSF) that leads to the recruitment and subsequent infiltration of cells causing an inflammatory milieu and tissue damage (De Bari 2015; Lopez-Santalla et al. 2015). Using a mouse model of RA, treatment with ASCs diminished this pathogenic signaling while increased the Tregs. The production of IL-10 and generation of antigen-specific Tregs was attributed to treatment with ASC, which suggests re-establishment of immune tolerance. These studies demonstrate the immunomodulatory potency that attenuated pathogenic processes and countered autoimmunity that led to reduced incidence and severity of experimental arthritis (Constantin et al. 2009; Gonzalez et al. 2009; Zhou et al. 2011; Lopez-Santalla et al. 2015).

3.1.3 Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus

Type 1 diabetes mellitus (T1DM) is caused by autoimmune destruction of insulin-producing cells of the pancreas that results in hyperglycemia and abnormal glucose metabolism due to insulin deficiency (Lin et al. 2015). In a preclinical model of T1DM, intravenous administration of ASCs reportedly reduced fasting blood glucose levels, increased expression of insulin protein, and suppressed islet injury (Li et al. 2012). Another interesting approach using ASCs for treatment of T1DM led to promising results. ASCs were transduced to express insulin and subsequently transplanted into the pancreas of T1DM animals. By harnessing the anti-inflammatory effects and the production of insulin, treatment with transduced ASCs lowered blood glucose levels and decreased glucose tolerance while improving the overall appearance of the animals (Lin et al. 2009).

3.2 ASCs in Neurodegenerative Diseases

Neurodegenerative diseases involve several pathophysiological mechanisms beyond the loss of neurons that determine the course and severity of illness, including neuroinflammation, mitochondrial dysfunction, and protein aggregation. While the brain is thought to be immune privileged there are several cell types that mediate debris clearance and regulate the environment of the CNS. Microglia are tissue-resident macrophages, and whether polarized to the classical pro-inflammatory or alternative antiinflammatory activation states, can fight against or contribute to the hallmarks of neurodegenerative pathology. ASCs have been gaining attention as therapeutic candidates due to their ability to secrete neurotrophic and immunomodulatory mediators, restore mitochondrial function, promote neurogenesis, modulate glial activation states, enhance protein clearance, and fight neuroinflammation in neurodegenerative pathologies. The following section will summarize recent findings on the efficacy of ASCs in treating three distinct neurodegenerative diseases: Alzheimer's disease, Parkinson's disease, and Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis (ALS).

3.2.1 Alzheimer's Disease

Alzheimer's disease (AD), the most common cause of dementia amongst the aging population, is characterized by amyloid-beta (A β) plaques and neurofibrillary tangles, limbic system neurodegeneration, and progressive cognitive

decline (Tanzi 2013). Using a mouse model of familial early-onset AD, ASCs were tested for their preventive and therapeutic effects by administering therapy at preand postsymptomatic time points. Both groups showed improved performance on the Morris Water Maze (MWM) task, a significant reduction in A β plaque formation in the cortex, and reduced protein levels of AB and amyloid precursor protein (APP) with enhanced levels of $A\beta$ -degrading enzymes (Kim et al. 2012). In another AD mouse model, ASC treatment led to increased secretion of anti-inflammatory cytokines, enhanced expression of A β -degrading enzymes, and improved performance on learning and memory tasks (Ma et al. 2013). Additionally, mice showed increased brain levels of the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10, which polarizes microglia towards the alternative activation phenotype, and several angiogenic and neurotrophic factors (Kim et al. 2012; Ma et al. 2013; Hu et al. 2015).

Other studies demonstrated that ASCs might attenuate symptoms of AD by promoting neurogenesis. Intracerebral injection of ASCs gave rise to significantly higher numbers of newly generated bromodeoxyuridine (BrdU)positive cells than vehicle-treated controls in both the dentate gyrus and subventricular zone, some of which differentiated into mature neurons (Yan et al. 2014). One proposed mechanism for this enhanced neurogenesis is the leptin secreted from ASCs, as this hormone alone has been shown to promote neurogenesis and reduce neurodegeneration in an AD mouse model (Perez-Gonzalez et al. 2011). Together, these studies highlight the capacity of ASCs to promote enhanced clearance of harmful protein aggregates, stimulate neurogenesis, and modulate the neuroinflammatory environment by secreting immunomodulatory cytokines in Alzheimer's disease models.

3.2.2 Parkinson's Disease

Parkinson's disease (PD) is the second most common cause of neurodegeneration and is characterized by progressive dopaminergic neuronal loss in the substantia nigra pars compacta (SNpc) and progressively worsening motor symptoms. ASCs have been investigated in PD animal models to determine if and how they may attenuate neurodegenerative damage. In a rat model of PD, ASCs injected directly into the SNpc exerted neuroprotective effects via enhanced secretion of soluble growth factors (McCoy et al. 2008). Additionally, ASC treated rats had significantly decreased numbers of activated microglia in the lesioned brain areas compared to untreated controls, suggesting that these soluble factors are also impacting the neuroinflammatory aspects of PD (McCoy et al. 2008). ASCs also enhanced both acute and longterm neurogenesis in rat models of PD, which correlated with amplified secretion of antiinflammatory cytokines and brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) (Schwerk et al. 2015). Despite this observed benefit, ASCs were unable to protect dopaminergic neurons from acute damage, and the newly created neurons are not able to functionally replace lost dopaminergic neurons (Schwerk et al. 2015). However, in a mouse model of PD long-term dopaminergic cell survival was significantly higher with ASC treatment (Choi et al. 2015).

3.2.3 Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis

Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) is a debilitating neurodegenerative disease characterized by the rapid and progressive loss of upper and lower motor neurons, muscle wasting, and death for most patients within 5 years of diagnosis (Rowland 2001). In recent years ASC therapies have been investigated in animal models for their potential benefit in ALS, with some successes. In ALS mouse models, both single and repeated daily injections of ASCs resulted in preserved motor neuron survival, delayed disease progression, and fewer reactive astrocytes in the spinal cord that can contribute to neuronal cell death (Marconi et al. 2013; Fontanilla et al. 2015). Similar results were seen when ASCs were given before symptom onset, suggesting ASCs may have preventive capability (Kim et al. 2014). The injected ASCs persisted in the CNS in their undifferentiated state, indicating that the therapeutic benefit resulted from soluble factors secreted by the transplanted cells rather than engraftment and differentiation (Kim et al. 2014). Several lines of evidence further support the notion that ASCs exert their beneficial effects secretion of paracrine factors. via ASCs co-cultured with ALS mouse astrocytes demonstrates increased production of angiogenic and neurotrophic factors, upregulation of a critical suppressor of glutamate excitotoxicity and inhibition of apoptotic signals (Rothstein et al. 1995; Rossi et al. 2008; Gu et al. 2010). When neural stem cells from ALS mice are co-cultured with ASC-derived exosomes, small vesicles secreted from the cells, aberrant protein aggregation was suppressed while imbalanced mitochondrial protein levels were restored (Lee et al. 2016).

4 Clinical Applications of ASCs

4.1 Clinical Trials

To report on completed and ongoing clinical trials studying the utility of ASCs in the treatment of human disease, information was collected from the database http://clinicaltrails.gov/ 2017. The parameters of this search included studies using "adipose stem cells" and/or "stromal vascular fraction" that were ongoing or completed and excluded trials that had been withdrawn, were terminated, were not yet recruiting, or had unknown status. The details of the clinical studies were evaluated to include reports of using the stromal/stem progenitors from adipose tissue and/or SVF, excluding duplicates and studies of other mesenchymal stem cells, i.e., BM-MSCs. To date, there have been 165 clinical trials involving ASCs and/or SVF in the treatment of human disease. These studies have taken place in various fields with most of the trials focused orthopedic applications (n = 39) followed by autoimmune disorders (n = 26). Figure 1 details the areas in which ASCs are administered as a potential therapy in clinical trials found from the search. These clinical trials are conducted around the world with the majority taking place in the United States (n = 54) followed by South Korea (n = 25) and Spain (n = 21).



Fig. 1 Clinical trials utilizing ASC or SVF. The distribution of medical areas in which clinical trials utilizing ASC or SVF have been or are being conducted with the highest occurrence of trials in orthopedics

5 Future Directions

There has been growing evidence in vitro and in vivo suggesting the potential role of ASCs as therapy for numerous disease processes. ASCs constitute a seemingly attractive option for clinical treatment. Adipose tissue is abundant and readily procured with minimal risk to patients. ASCs obtained through lipoaspirate are easily expanded. Additionally, these stem cells are immune privileged, meaning allogeneic cells could potentially be used for cellular therapy (though autologous cells are preferred). While a large number of studies exist, more preclinical and clinical evidence is needed to determine if ASCs will meet the expectations of their utility to treat diseases with limited/inadequate current therapeutic options. In the continued work with these cells, it will be essential to study the appropriate timing of treatment in various diseases, the optimal method of delivery whether it be local or systemic, as well as the number of stem cells needed for therapeutic efficacy. The field has come a long way, and there is evidence supporting the use of ASCs and SVF in the clinic.

However, it is essential to address these gaps as we move forward to harness the full potential of ASC therapy.

References

- Aguirre A, Sancho-Martinez I, Izpisua Belmonte JC (2013) Reprogramming toward heart regeneration: stem cells and beyond. Cell Stem Cell 12(3):275–284
- Barker N, van Es JH, Kuipers J, Kujala P, van den Born M, Cozijnsen M, Haegebarth A, Korving J, Begthel H, Peters PJ, Clevers H (2007) Identification of stem cells in small intestine and colon by marker gene Lgr5. Nature 449(7165):1003–1007
- Bjorninen M, Gilmore K, Pelto J, Seppanen-Kaijansinkko-R, Kellomaki M, Miettinen S, Wallace G, Grijpma D, Haimi S (2017) Electrically stimulated adipose stem cells on Polypyrrole-coated scaffolds for smooth muscle tissue engineering. Ann Biomed Eng 45 (4):1015–1026
- Bourin P, Bunnell BA, Casteilla L, Dominici M, Katz AJ, March KL, Redl H, Rubin JP, Yoshimura K, Gimble JM (2013) Stromal cells from the adipose tissuederived stromal vascular fraction and culture expanded adipose tissue-derived stromal/stem cells: a joint statement of the International Federation for Adipose Therapeutics and Science (IFATS) and the International Society for Cellular Therapy (ISCT). Cytotherapy 15 (6):641–648

- Chaudhry A, Samstein RM, Treuting P, Liang Y, Pils MC, Heinrich JM, Jack RS, Wunderlich FT, Bruning JC, Muller W, Rudensky AY (2011) Interleukin-10 signaling in regulatory T cells is required for suppression of Th17 cell-mediated inflammation. Immunity 34 (4):566–578
- Cheng NC, Lin WJ, Ling TY, Young TH (2017) Sustained release of adipose-derived stem cells by thermosensitive chitosan/gelatin hydrogel for therapeutic angiogenesis. Acta Biomater 51:258–267
- Choi HS, Kim HJ, Oh JH, Park HG, Ra JC, Chang KA, Suh YH (2015) Therapeutic potentials of human adipose-derived stem cells on the mouse model of Parkinson's disease. Neurobiol Aging 36 (10):2885–2892
- Choi SK, Park JK, Kim JH, Lee KM, Kim E, Jeong KS, Jeon WB (2016) Integrin-binding elastin-like polypeptide as an in situ gelling delivery matrix enhances the therapeutic efficacy of adipose stem cells in healing full-thickness cutaneous wounds. J Control Release 237:89–100
- Comella K, Parcero J, Bansal H, Perez J, Lopez J, Agrawal A, Ichim T (2016) Effects of the intramyocardial implantation of stromal vascular fraction in patients with chronic ischemic cardiomyopathy. J Transl Med 14(1):158
- Constantin G, Marconi S, Rossi B, Angiari S, Calderan L, Anghileri E, Gini B, Bach SD, Martinello M, Bifari F, Galie M, Turano E, Budui S, Sbarbati A, Krampera M, Bonetti B (2009) Adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells ameliorate chronic experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Stem Cells 27(10):2624–2635
- D'Andrea F, De Francesco F, Ferraro GA, Desiderio V, Tirino V, De Rosa A, Papaccio G (2008) Large-scale production of human adipose tissue from stem cells: a new tool for regenerative medicine and tissue banking. Tissue Eng Part C Methods 14(3):233–242
- De Bari C (2015) Are mesenchymal stem cells in rheumatoid arthritis the good or bad guys? Arthritis Res Ther 17:113
- DelaRosa O, Sanchez-Correa B, Morgado S, Ramirez C, del Rio B, Menta R, Lombardo E, Tarazona R, Casado JG (2012) Human adipose-derived stem cells impair natural killer cell function and exhibit low susceptibility to natural killer-mediated lysis. Stem Cells Dev 21 (8):1333–1343
- Dufrane D (2017) Impact of age on human adipose stem cells for bone tissue engineering. Cell Transplant 26:1496–1504
- Dufrane D, Docquier PL, Delloye C, Poirel HA, Andre W, Aouassar N (2015) Scaffold-free three-dimensional graft from autologous adipose-derived stem cells for large bone defect reconstruction: clinical proof of concept. Medicine (Baltimore) 94(50):e2220
- Farnebo S, Farnebo L, Kim M, Woon C, Pham H, Chang J (2017) Optimized repopulation of tendon hydrogel: synergistic effects of growth factor combinations and adipose-derived stem cells. Hand (NY) 12(1):68–77

- Fontanilla CV, Gu H, Liu Q, Zhu TZ, Zhou C, Johnstone BH, March KL, Pascuzzi RM, Farlow MR, Du Y (2015) Adipose-derived stem cell conditioned media extends survival time of a mouse model of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Sci Rep 5:16953
- Gage FH (2000) Mammalian neural stem cells. Science 287(5457):1433–1438
- Gaustad KG, Boquest AC, Anderson BE, Gerdes AM, Collas P (2004) Differentiation of human adipose tissue stem cells using extracts of rat cardiomyocytes. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 314(2):420–427
- Gimble J, Guilak F (2003) Adipose-derived adult stem cells: isolation, characterization, and differentiation potential. Cytotherapy 5(5):362–369
- Gimble JM, Katz AJ, Bunnell BA (2007) Adipose-derived stem cells for regenerative medicine. Circ Res 100 (9):1249–1260
- Gnecchi M, Zhang Z, Ni A, Dzau VJ (2008) Paracrine mechanisms in adult stem cell signaling and therapy. Circ Res 103(11):1204–1219
- Gonzalez MA, Gonzalez-Rey E, Rico L, Buscher D, Delgado M (2009) Adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells alleviate experimental colitis by inhibiting inflammatory and autoimmune responses. Gastroenterology 136(3):978–989
- Gu R, Hou X, Pang R, Li L, Chen F, Geng J, Xu Y, Zhang C (2010) Human adipose-derived stem cells enhance the glutamate uptake function of GLT1 in SOD1 (G93A)-bearing astrocytes. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 393(3):481–486
- Herrera MB, Bruno S, Buttiglieri S, Tetta C, Gatti S, Deregibus MC, Bussolati B, Camussi G (2006) Isolation and characterization of a stem cell population from adult human liver. Stem Cells 24(12):2840–2850
- Retrieved January 15, 2017, from https://clinicaltrials.gov/
- (2017) "Plastic Sugery statistics." Retrieved January 12, 2017, from https://www.plasticsurgery.org/news/ plastic-surgery-statistics
- Hu X, Leak RK, Shi Y, Suenaga J, Gao Y, Zheng P, Chen J (2015) Microglial and macrophage polarization-new prospects for brain repair. Nat Rev Neurol 11(1):56–64
- Jankowski RJ, Deasy BM, Huard J (2002) Muscle-derived stem cells. Gene Ther 9(10):642–647
- Kim S, Chang KA, Kim J, Park HG, Ra JC, Kim HS, Suh YH (2012) The preventive and therapeutic effects of intravenous human adipose-derived stem cells in Alzheimer's disease mice. PLoS One 7(9):e45757
- Kim KS, Lee HJ, An J, Kim YB, Ra JC, Lim I, Kim SU (2014) Transplantation of human adipose tissuederived stem cells delays clinical onset and prolongs life span in ALS mouse model. Cell Transplant 23 (12):1585–1597
- Klinger A, Kawata M, Villalobos M, Jones RB, Pike S, Wu N, Chang S, Zhang P, DiMuzio P, Vernengo J, Benvenuto P, Goldfarb RD, Hunter K, Liu Y, Carpenter JP, Tulenko TN (2016) Living scaffolds: surgical repair using scaffolds seeded with human adiposederived stem cells. Hernia 20(1):161–170

- Le T, Chong J (2016) Cardiac progenitor cells for heart repair. Cell Death Discov 2:16052
- Lee MJ, Wu Y, Fried SK (2013) Adipose tissue heterogeneity: implication of depot differences in adipose tissue for obesity complications. Mol Asp Med 34(1):1–11
- Lee M, Ban JJ, Kim KY, Jeon GS, Im W, Sung JJ, Kim M (2016) Adipose-derived stem cell exosomes alleviate pathology of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis in vitro. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 479(3):434–439
- Li YY, Liu HH, Chen HL, Li YP (2012) Adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells ameliorate STZ-induced pancreas damage in type 1 diabetes. Biomed Mater Eng 22 (1–3):97–103
- Lin G, Wang G, Liu G, Yang LJ, Chang LJ, Lue TF, Lin CS (2009) Treatment of type 1 diabetes with adipose tissue-derived stem cells expressing pancreatic duodenal homeobox 1. Stem Cells Dev 18(10):1399–1406
- Lin HP, Chan TM, Fu RH, Chuu CP, Chiu SC, Tseng YH, Liu SP, Lai KC, Shih MC, Lin ZS, Chen HS, Yeh DC, Lin SZ (2015) Applicability of adipose-derived stem cells in type 1 diabetes mellitus. Cell Transplant 24 (3):521–532
- Lopez-Santalla M, Mancheno-Corvo P, Menta R, Lopez-Belmonte J, DelaRosa O, Bueren JA, Dalemans W, Lombardo E, Garin MI (2015) Human adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells modulate experimental autoimmune arthritis by modifying early adaptive T cell responses. Stem Cells 33(12):3493–3503
- Ma T, Gong K, Ao Q, Yan Y, Song B, Huang H, Zhang X, Gong Y (2013) Intracerebral transplantation of adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells alternatively activates microglia and ameliorates neuropathological deficits in Alzheimer's disease mice. Cell Transplant 22 (Suppl 1):S113–S126
- Marconi S, Bonaconsa M, Scambi I, Squintani GM, Rui W, Turano E, Ungaro D, D'Agostino S, Barbieri F, Angiari S, Farinazzo A, Constantin G, Del Carro U, Bonetti B, Mariotti R (2013) Systemic treatment with adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells ameliorates clinical and pathological features in the amyotrophic lateral sclerosis murine model. Neuroscience 248:333–343
- Mazo M, Planat-Benard V, Abizanda G, Pelacho B, Leobon B, Gavira JJ, Penuelas I, Cemborain A, Penicaud L, Laharrague P, Joffre C, Boisson M, Ecay M, Collantes M, Barba J, Casteilla L, Prosper F (2008) Transplantation of adipose derived stromal cells is associated with functional improvement in a rat model of chronic myocardial infarction. Eur J Heart Fail 10(5):454–462
- McCoy MK, Martinez TN, Ruhn KA, Wrage PC, Keefer EW, Botterman BR, Tansey KE, Tansey MG (2008) Autologous transplants of adipose-derived adult stromal (ADAS) cells afford dopaminergic neuroprotection in a model of Parkinson's disease. Exp Neurol 210(1):14–29
- Miyamoto Y, Ikeuchi M, Noguchi H, Yagi T, Hayashi S (2017) Enhanced Adipogenic differentiation of human adipose-derived stem cells in an in vitro

microenvironment: the preparation of adipose-like microtissues using a three-dimensional culture. Cell Med 9(1–2):35–44

- Nian M, Lee P, Khaper N, Liu P (2004) Inflammatory cytokines and postmyocardial infarction remodeling. Circ Res 94(12):1543–1553
- Park MJ, Kwok SK, Lee SH, Kim EK, Park SH, Cho ML (2015) Adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells induce expansion of interleukin-10-producing regulatory B cells and ameliorate autoimmunity in a murine model of systemic lupus erythematosus. Cell Transplant 24(11):2367–2377
- Perez-Gonzalez R, Antequera D, Vargas T, Spuch C, Bolos M, Carro E (2011) Leptin induces proliferation of neuronal progenitors and neuroprotection in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. J Alzheimers Dis 24(Suppl 2):17–25
- Rangappa S, Entwistle JW, Wechsler AS, Kresh JY (2003) Cardiomyocyte-mediated contact programs human mesenchymal stem cells to express cardiogenic phenotype. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 126(1):124–132
- Reyes M, Verfaillie CM (2001) Characterization of multipotent adult progenitor cells, a subpopulation of mesenchymal stem cells. Ann N Y Acad Sci 938:231–233 discussion 233–235
- Riordan NH, Ichim TE, Min WP, Wang H, Solano F, Lara F, Alfaro M, Rodriguez JP, Harman RJ, Patel AN, Murphy MP, Lee RR, Minev B (2009) Non-expanded adipose stromal vascular fraction cell therapy for multiple sclerosis. J Transl Med 7:29
- Rossi D, Brambilla L, Valori CF, Roncoroni C, Crugnola A, Yokota T, Bredesen DE, Volterra A (2008) Focal degeneration of astrocytes in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Cell Death Differ 15 (11):1691–1700
- Rothstein JD, Van Kammen M, Levey AI, Martin LJ, Kuncl RW (1995) Selective loss of glial glutamate transporter GLT-1 in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Ann Neurol 38(1):73–84
- Rowland LP (2001) How amyotrophic lateral sclerosis got its name: the clinical-pathologic genius of Jean-Martin Charcot. Arch Neurol 58(3):512–515
- Schwerk A, Altschuler J, Roch M, Gossen M, Winter C, Berg J, Kurtz A, Steiner B (2015) Human adiposederived mesenchymal stromal cells increase endogenous neurogenesis in the rat subventricular zone acutely after 6-hydroxydopamine lesioning. Cytotherapy 17(2):199–214
- Segers VF, Lee RT (2008) Stem-cell therapy for cardiac disease. Nature 451(7181):937–942
- Semon JA, Zhang X, Pandey AC, Alandete SM, Maness C, Zhang S, Scruggs BA, Strong AL, Sharkey SA, Beuttler MM, Gimble JM, Bunnell BA (2013) Administration of murine stromal vascular fraction ameliorates chronic experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Stem Cells Transl Med 2(10):789–796
- Semon JA, Maness C, Zhang X, Sharkey SA, Beuttler MM, Shah FS, Pandey AC, Gimble JM, Zhang S, Scruggs BA, Strong AL, Strong TA, Bunnell BA

(2014) Comparison of human adult stem cells from adipose tissue and bone marrow in the treatment of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Stem Cell Res Ther 5(1):2

- Skapenko A, Leipe J, Lipsky PE, Schulze-Koops H (2005) The role of the T cell in autoimmune inflammation. Arthritis Res Ther 7(Suppl 2):S4–S14
- Tanzi RE (2013) A brief history of Alzheimer's disease gene discovery. J Alzheimers Dis 33(Suppl 1):S5–S13
- Vaicik MK, Morse M, Blagajcevic A, Rios J, Larson J, Yang F, Cohen RN, Papavasiliou G, Brey EM (2015) Hydrogel-based engineering of beige adipose tissue. J Mater Chem B Mater Biol Med 3(40):7903–7911
- Valina C, Pinkernell K, Song YH, Bai X, Sadat S, Campeau RJ, Le Jemtel TH, Alt E (2007) Intracoronary administration of autologous adipose tissue-derived stem cells improves left ventricular function, perfusion, and remodelling after acute myocardial infarction. Eur Heart J 28(21):2667–2677
- Verfaillie C (2002) Adult stem cells: assessing the case for pluripotency. Trends Cell Biol 12(11):502–508
- Yan Y, Ma T, Gong K, Ao Q, Zhang X, Gong Y (2014) Adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cell transplantation promotes adult neurogenesis in the brains of

Alzheimer's disease mice. Neural Regen Res 9 (8):798–805

- Zhang S, Danchuk SD, Imhof KM, Semon JA, Scruggs BA, Bonvillain RW, Strong AL, Gimble JM, Betancourt AM, Sullivan DE, Bunnell BA (2013) Comparison of the therapeutic effects of human and mouse adipose-derived stem cells in a murine model of lipopolysaccharide-induced acute lung injury. Stem Cell Res Ther 4(1):13
- Zhang K, Song L, Wang J, Yan S, Li G, Cui L, Yin J (2017) Strategy for constructing vascularized adipose units in poly(l-glutamic acid) hydrogel porous scaffold through inducing in-situ formation of ASCs spheroids. Acta Biomater 51:246–257
- Zhou B, Yuan J, Zhou Y, Ghawji M Jr, Deng YP, Lee AJ, Lee AJ, Nair U, Kang AH, Brand DD, Yoo TJ (2011) Administering human adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells to prevent and treat experimental arthritis. Clin Immunol 141(3):328–337
- Zuk PA, Zhu M, Mizuno H, Huang J, Futrell JW, Katz AJ, Benhaim P, Lorenz HP, Hedrick MH (2001) Multilineage cells from human adipose tissue: implications for cell-based therapies. Tissue Eng 7 (2):211–228



Decellularized Extracellular Matrix as a Potent Natural Biomaterial for Regenerative Medicine

Amin Ebrahimi Sadrabadi, Payam Baei, Samaneh Hosseini, and Mohamadreza Baghaban Eslaminejad

Abstract

Decellularization technique is a favorable method used to fabricate natural and tissuelike scaffolds. This technique is important because of its remarkable ability to perfectly mimic the natural extracellular matrix (ECM). ECM-based scaffolds/hydrogels provide structural support for cell differentiation and maturation. Therefore, novel natural-based bioinks, ECM-based hydrogels, and particulate forms of the ECM provide promising strategies for whole organ regeneration. Despite its efficacious characteristics, removal of residual

A. Ebrahimi Sadrabadi and M. Baghaban

Eslaminejad (🖂)

P. Baei

S. Hosseini (🖂)

detergent and the presence of various protocols make this technique challenging for scientists and regenerative medicine-related programs. This chapter reviews the most effective physical, chemical, and enzymatic protocols used to remove the cellular components and their challenges. We discuss the applications of decellularized ECM (dECM) in tissue engineering and regenerative medicine with an emphasis on hard tissues.

Keywords

Bioink · Decellularization · Decellularized ECM · ECM mimicry · Tissue engineering

Abbreviations

AF	Annulus fibrosus	
ASCs	Adipose stem cells	
BdECM	Bladder decellularized ECM	
BMSCs	Bone marrow MSCs	
CECM	Cardiac muscle ECM	
CHAPS	3-[(3-cholamidopropyl)	
	dimethylammonio]-1-propane	
	sulfonate	
dDP-ECM	Decellularized dental pulp ECM	
dECM	Decellularized ECM	
DVN	Decellularized vascular network	
ECM	Extracellular matrix	

Authors Amin Ebrahimi Sadrabadi and Payam Baei have equally contributed to this chapter.

Department of Stem Cells and Developmental Biology, Cell Science Research Center, Royan Institute for Stem Cell Biology and Technology, ACECR, Tehran, Iran e-mail: eslami@royaninstitute.org

Department of Cell Engineering, Cell Science Research Center, Royan Institute for Stem Cell Biology and Technology, ACECR, Tehran, Iran

Department of Stem Cells and Developmental Biology, Cell Science Research Center, Royan Institute for Stem Cell Biology and Technology, ACECR, Tehran, Iran

Department of Cell Engineering, Cell Science Research Center, Royan Institute for Stem Cell Biology and Technology, ACECR, Tehran, Iran e-mail: hosseini.samaneh@royaninstitute.org

FPSCs	Fat pad-derived stem cells		
GAGs	Glycosaminoglycans		
hMSCs	Human mesenchymal stem cells		
NTIRE	Non-thermal irreversible		
	electroporation		
PAA	Peracetic acid		
PDCs	Periosteum-derived cells		
PLGA	Poly (lactic-co-glycolic acid)		
PRP	Platelet-rich plasma		
SDC	Sodium deoxycholate		
SDS	Sodium dodecyl sult	fate	
sECM	skeletal muscle ECM	1	
ToF-	Time of flight secondary ion mass		
SIMS	spectroscopy		
TX-100	Triton X-100		
UBM	Urinary bladder matrix		
WdECM	Wharton's jelly dEC	CM	

1 Introduction

The extracellular matrix (ECM) provides structural support and controls cellular behavior. Although the major components of the ECM are conserved among various tissues, each tissue ECM contains several specific and unique compositions. Therefore, mimicking the biological and structural arrangements of each ECM provides an appropriate network to generate related organs and overcome tissue donor leakage. An excellent scaffold for engineered tissue would be natural ECM derived from the target tissue. However, it is difficult to accurately mimic native ECM because of the versatility in functions, multiple compositions, and dynamic nature of native ECM. Tissue engineering is a promising strategy for development of artificial organs and tissue regeneration, which has used decellularization to create tissue-like scaffolds. The decellularization process used to isolate the ECM of a tissue is a desirable procedure for fabrication of natural and tissue-like scaffolds.

Thus far, decellularization has been used to derive scaffolds from the skin (Brouki Milan et al. 2019), fat (Morissette Martin et al. 2018), pericardium, heart (Sesli et al. 2018), skeletal muscle (Naik et al. 2019), and liver (Willemse et al.

2020) tissues for both in vivo and in vitro experiments. These scaffolds have assisted with regeneration or formation of site-appropriate tissues when used as biomaterials in vivo. In some cases, the tissue-specific effects of these scaffolds were observed on cellular behaviors (Fernandez-Perez and Ahearne 2019). Recently, hydrogels that originated from decellularized tissues have emerged as an ideal network to provide a local reservoir of growth factors, and structural and biochemical cues for cellular regrowth. Hydrogels are injectable biomaterials that enable on-demand personalized three-dimensional (3D) scaffold fabrication with 3D-bioprinting and bio-plotting. Various organ-derived decellularized ECM (dECM) bioinks have been created from different tissues such as muscles, cartilage, the heart, liver, skin, and adipose tissue, as the most biomimetic bioinks; however, they suffer from limitations attributed to decellularization (Dzobo et al. 2019). Here, we describe the chemical, physical, and enzymatic treatments used to generate ECM that has the highest similarity to native ECM, with a major focus on hard tissues. We discuss how researchers could balance removal of potentially immunogenic components and maintain indispensable ECM components that are necessary for proper cell function. In addition, we review recent advances using dECM in tissue engineering and regenerative medicine.

2 Natural Extracellular Matrix (ECM), a Naïve Version of ECM Versus Decellularized ECM (dECM)

The ECM composition of each tissue and organ are determined by its resident cells, which are distinct in number and nature. The ECM is comprised of various molecules that have specific structural and biological properties which determine the final fate of the cells. These molecules consist of various structural and functional proteins, glycoproteins, and glycosaminoglycans (GAGs) organized in a unique ultrastructure. Collagen, especially type I, a variety of proteoglycans (e.g., decorin), GAGs (e.g., heparin, heparan sulfate, chondroitin sulfate, and hyaluronic acid), and adhesion molecules (e.g., fibronectin) are some of the ECM molecules (Dzamba and Desimone 2018). Matrix molecules fill the spaces between cells and their junctions provide 3D structural support for the surrounding cells. These tissue-specific networks modulate cell migration, biomechanical force transmission, and mechanical behaviors of tissues (Jansen et al. 2017).

The ECM plays a crucial function in fetal development and determination of stem/progenitor cell fate, and influences cellular shape, survival, and proliferation. The physical features of the ECM such as topography, insolubility, rigidity, and porosity originate from its matrix composition and determines the mechanical behavior of each tissue. More precisely, integrin and the direction of collagen fibers, particularly in anchorage-dependent cells, modulate intra- and extracellular signals (Aiyelabegan and Sadroddiny 2017).

This unique and natural microenvironment has attracted the attention of researchers who aim to fill the present gap in biomaterial science. Specific ECM-based substrates that consist of unique ECM elements have been used in a wide range of preclinical and clinical applications (Hinderer et al. 2016; Masaeli et al. 2017; Giobbe et al. 2019). The ECM has been extracted from various tissues, including the skin, heart valves, nerves, blood vessels, skeletal muscles, ligaments, tendons, urinary bladder, submucosa of the small intestine (Stapleton et al.), and liver (Hoshiba et al. 2016). Nature, orientation, and the quantity of matrix molecules differ from tissue to tissue and are the fundamental factors used to specify the scaffold.

Given the complexity of the ECM, it is almost impossible to completely mimic this unique 3D structure. Therefore, decellularization is an alternative approach to obtain ECM from natural tissues. The aim of decellularization is to maximize removal of cellular components while minimizing loss and damage to the ECM (Xing et al. 2015). The decrease in immunogenicity of decellularized tissues makes them suitable for allogenic use. dECM is a natural scaffold that provides mechanical, structural, biological, and biochemical cues for cell proliferation, adhesion, migration, and differentiation. Both biocompatibility and a natural structure, as inherent features of dECM, represent off-the-shelf biomaterials that have favorably mimicked the extracellular niche (Gao et al. 2017). Although dECM preserves native bioactive proteins and molecules, scientists are looking for a permanent dECM that has broad applications in multiple tissues and solve the problem of inaccessibility, complexity, compactness or laxity that is present in some tissues. For example, Wharton's jelly ECM has been used as a permanent dECM for articular cartilage regeneration. Wharton's jelly dECM (WdECM) is an ideal candidate due to the type and levels of some of the chondrogenic growth factors such as IGF-I and TGF- β . Research results have indicated that WdECM has a unique function and performance compared with cartilage tissue (Xiao et al. 2017). Since skeletal muscle ECM (sECM) is similar to cardiac muscle ECM (cECM) in terms of structure and mechanical properties, the use of decellularizedsECM as a scaffold has been suggested for myocardial tissue engineering. Cell adhesion, proliferation, and cardiac differentiation potency were compared between the decellularized-cECM and decellularized-sECM. Upregulation of cardiac-specific markers α-MHC, MLC2v, and ANP at day 16 confirmed the higher cardiac differentiation potency of sECM. sECM is superior to cECM because it can be easily harvested, which enables a replacement for cECMs with low immunogenicity and excellent biocompatibility (Hong et al. 2018). These features of dECM make it a naïve scaffold that can be functionalized with different moieties and has the potential to be implanted as a permanent ECM in various tissues.

3 Versatility of Decellularization Protocols

The main goal of decellularization protocols is to eliminate most cellular ingredients in order to
reduce immunological responses and preserve physiochemical properties of the ECM. Various parameters, such as tissue thickness, density, and cellularity can be effective in selection of an appropriate decellularization protocol. The decellularization procedure may affect the composition and ultrastructure of ECM biomolecules, and these alterations adjust the cell behaviors during recellularization. It is highly desirable to minimize the deterioration of the ECM during decellularization and preserve an acceptable balance between cellular elimination and retention of ECM components.

Traditionally, the processes of decellularization can be categorized into physical, chemical, and enzymatic methods. It is essential to select a proper method or the correct chemicals to decellularize a distinct tissue to attain perfect decellularization and preserve an intact ECM. The type and the rigidity of the tissue or organ has tremendous impact on the decellularization outcome. It is challenging to obtain dECM from hard tissues, such as bones and biphasic tissues (osteochondral tissues).

The detailed process and methods described in the literature combine several of these major techniques to improve the efficacy of decellularization and simultaneously reduce undesirable effects on the ECM ultrastructure. An overview of some commonly used chemical, enzymatic, and physical agents, including their efficiency in the decellularization process and preservation of extracellular tissue components is provided (Fig. 1).

3.1 The Efficiency of Physical Methods for Decellularization

Some studies have evaluated the use of physical methods for decellularization rather than chemical agents, which have adverse effects. Hung et al. combined freeze-drying and sonication during the defreezing process to remove cellular components from larynx tissue. The drying was performed to eliminate ice produced during the freezing process and assist with sonication treatment after freezing. The main advantage of this method was the propensity of tissue to absorb fluids during rehydration after freeze-drying. Moreover, this technique might be used to promote the infusion of other decellularization reagents such as detergents and enzyme solutions (Hung et al. 2013). Multiple freeze-thaw cycles have also been used to decellularize tissues (Burk et al. 2013). Although freeze-thaw cycles make negligible disruptions in the ECM structure and the mechanical properties of tissues, they are insufficient for complete cell removal. It has been suggested that this procedure can be modified by the addition of other chemical or enzymatic decellularization protocols (Hung et al. 2013).

Sonication, mechanical agitation, direct pressure, and non-thermal irreversible electroporation (NTIRE) are other physical methods used for tissue decellularization. These methods have been simultaneously employed with enzymatic or chemical treatments to accelerate cell lysis and removal of cellular debris.

3.2 The Efficiency of Chemical Methods for Decellularization

Different types of chemical agents that used for decellularization include detergents (ionic, nonionic, or zwitterionic), acids, and bases. These agents generally lyse and disrupt the cell membranes, resulting in removal of cells and genetic materials.

White et al. used time of flight secondary ion mass spectroscopy (ToF-SIMS) to analyze detergent-based decellularization. The increased sensitivity of ToF-SIMS enabled them to assess the differences in the composition of porcine urinary bladder matrix (UBM) following treatment with sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS), Triton X-100 (TX-100), sodium deoxycholate (SDC), peracetic acid (PAA), and 3-[(3-cholamidopropyl) dimethylammonio]-1-propane sulfonate (CHAPS). Scaffolds treated with TX-100 and SDC preserved the complex fiber network of native UBM samples; however, treatment with CHAPS, SDS, and PAA changed collagen fiber organization. ToF-SIMS analysis found residual detergent pieces in the UBM scaffolds treated



Hard Tissues

Fig. 1 Schematic representation of decellularization approaches and application of decellularized matrixbased materials for hard tissue engineering. Decellularization approaches can be classified into three categories: Physical with inefficient decellularization, chemical or enzymatic with effective decellularization

with SDC, SDS, and TX-100. Particularly, more intense deprotonated molecular ions were recorded in UBM samples treated with either SDC or TX-100 in comparison with the other detergent treatments. Samples treated with SDS exhibited the highest molecular ion intensity, which was concentration-dependent. CHAPS detergent was not detected due to its neutral charge, and might have been eliminated by washing. Furthermore, this zwitterionic detergent is highly susceptible to fragmentation. This study indicated the capability of ToF-SIMS to find cellular nuclei and membrane segments in biological scaffolds. ToF-SIMS analysis showed the existence of choline, phosphocholine, and glycerophosphocholine ions, which are crucial for the structural integrity of cell membranes in

along with ECM disruption and combinational approaches which lead to effective decellularization and ECM retention. Decellularized tissues can be manipulated to create various types of engineered scaffolds such as injectable hydrogels or bio-printed constructs

native, PAA, and CHAPS treated UBM. Higher intensities of phosphate groups, the main feature of cell nuclei, were observed in in the PAA and CHAPS treated UBM in comparison with TX-100, SDC, and SDS treated samples. Although the intensity of the phosphocholine in UBM treated with PAA was identical with the native sample, the phosphate group was less intense in this group when compared with native tissue. This finding showed that PAA was more efficient in elimination of cell nuclear components than cell membrane ingredients. The presence of phosphate and phosphocholine ions, which are indicative of cellular remnants, criteria efficient provides the for an decellularization process. Particularly, UBM samples treated with PAA or CHAPS did not completely remove the cellular components as demonstrated by the presence of residual cellular components. Treatments with 1% SDS or SDC were the most effective for complete decellularization due to the high efficiency of these ionic detergents. However, decreased intensities of phosphate and phosphocholine ions showed that treatment with 0.1% SDS and non-ionic TX-100 were not as efficient as the higher concentration ionic detergents (White et al. 2017).

Chen et al. developed a novel, cost-effective, easily reproducible decellularization process based on acid treatments for porcine menisci tissue. This method was developed to avoid any surfactant treatment or enzymatic digestion. The researchers used different concentrations of acetic acid, formic acid, and PAA within a 2-12 h incubation time. The results indicated that acetic acid treatment for 2 h caused a significant reduction in collagen content (Chen et al. 2015a). Dong et al. previously demonstrated that decellularization of bovine pericardium with acetic acid resulted in severe destruction of collagen and, therefore, reduced tissue strength despite retention of the majority of the GAG (Dong et al. 2009). Treatment with PAA for 2 h showed a small effect on decellularization of the menisci, while 15% PAA treatment for 10 h resulted in reductions of DNA (4.68%), collagen (44.98%), and GAG (19.04%). PAA was unable to infiltrate throughout the menisci within a short period of time due to the dense architecture of the tissue. However, prolonged processing with PAA led to deterioration of the ECM.

Treatment with formic acid for 2 h resulted in efficient menisci decellularization but preserved a substantial portion of the ECM. Formic acid induced swelling in the menisci and exposed the embedded chondrocytes because of its high capability for infiltration through the dense meniscal structure. The amount of DNA within the dry menisci tissue was 37.20 ng/mg after 2 h treatment with formic acid. In this study, formic acid treatment was introduced as an economical, efficient. and convenient procedure for decellularization of meniscus tissue. This acellular scaffold promoted the chondrocyte phenotype and chondrogenic differentiation of human mesenchymal stem cells (hMSCs) (Chen et al. 2015a, b).

Although chemical approaches are more efficient than physical treatment in decellularization, their function mainly depends on maintenance of the ECM structure, which is critical for repair of targeted tissue.

3.3 Combined Chemical and Physical Methods for Decellularization

Physical methods facilitate tissue decellularization but they are insufficient for complete decellularization, especially in tissues that have complicated structures. Chemical and enzymatic treatments are more effective in removing cellular components such as nuclear residues and cytoplasmic proteins from dense tissues. On the other hand, these treatments may damage the main components of the ECM (collagen, GAGs, and growth factors). Therefore, a combination of decellularization methods have been used to develop an acellular scaffold to reconstruct target tissues (Woods and Gratzer 2005; Faulk et al. 2014).

Farag et al. used static and perfusion systems to assess different protocols for the decellularization of human periodontal ligament cell sheets. They utilized an electrospun polycaprolactone membrane to reinforce the cell sheet during decellularization. Assessments of various protocols showed that treatment with ammonium hydroxide, TX-100, and DNase resulted in effective DNA removal, preserved the integrity of the ECM, and retained growth factors (Farag et al. 2018). Researchers have reported the benefits of the perfusion technique in terms of economics, practicality, and less complicated features, all of which could be important for future commercialization. Therefore, the nature of the chemicals, detergents, and enzymes used during the decellularization determine the maintenance and integrity of the ECM ultrastructure.

The combination of freeze-thaw cycles with chemical reagents has been extensively used to enhance the efficiency of the decellularization process for hard tissues. Burk et al. evaluated the decellularization of equine superficial and deep digital flexor tendons after treatment by repeated cycles of freeze-thawing and two chemical detergents, TX-100 and SDS. Four different protocols that included TX-100 and SDS treatment alone and the combination of freeze-thaw cycles with either TX-100 or SDS were evaluated. The results demonstrated that the freeze-thaw cycles could improve the efficiency of the decellularization process. However freezethaw cycles alone could not adequately remove DNA. The combination of freeze-thaw cycles with detergent led to increased cell and DNA removal compared to the groups that were only treated by detergent. Freeze-thaw cycles combined with TX-100 facilitated cell distribution into the scaffold (Burk et al. 2013). In a similar study, Youngstrom et al. developed a protocol based on the combination of treatment with 2% SDS freeze/thaw detergent, а cycle, trypsinization, DNase-I digestion, and ethanol sterilization to remove cellular components from equine flexor digitorum superficialis tendons. The authors reported that their protocol efficiently removed cellular components and also preserved the biochemical composition, ultrastructure, and mechanical properties of the decellularized tissue (Youngstrom et al. 2013).

Lu et al. compared seven methods for decellularization of ECM derived from a 3D cell culture. These researchers cultured human bone marrow MSCs in PLGA (poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid)) templates for 5 days to allow the ECM to deposit around the PLGA substrate. After construction of a cell-ECM-PLGA complex, they removed the cellular components. dECM scaffolds were prepared after treatment with seven decellularization methods: freeze-thaw cycling; ammonium hydroxide; osmotic shock; combined freeze-thaw cycling with either ammonium hydroxide or osmotic shock; detergent (TX-100) extraction; and detergent extraction with osmotic shock (Lu et al. 2012). A comparison of these methods showed that combined freeze-thaw cycling with ammonium hydroxide and detergent extraction along with osmotic shock (treatment with 1.5 M KCl) efficiently removed the cellular components. These two methods preserved the gross appearance and microstructure of the ECM and induced mild host responses following subcutaneous implantation in mice. Freeze-thaw cycling alone was ineffective for cell removal even after ten cycles. Ammonium hydroxide alone could not properly decellularize the scaffold because of the dense architecture of the 3D matrix that prevented its infiltration into the scaffolds. However, the combination of freeze-thaw cycling with ammonium hydroxide resulted in efficient removal of the cellular components. In agreement with these results, freeze-thaw cycling combined with detergent (SDS) and nuclease (DNase and RNase) treatment led to optimal decellularization of porcine meniscus (Stapleton et al. 2008). Although TX-100 and osmotic shock (1.5 M KCl) alone did not successfully remove the cellular components, the combination of these methods efficiently decellularized the scaffold.

A similar study was conducted to optimize the decellularization process for ECM generated by MC3T3-E1 pre-osteoblast cells. dECM obtained via three freeze-thaw cycles and treatment by TX-100 provided a suitable niche for proliferation and stemness preservation of bone marrow MSCs (BMSCs). The decellularization procedure almost entirely eliminated the DNA; however, both the architecture and protein distribution of the ECM were properly retained without loss of bioactivities in the BMSCs culture. The results demonstrated a positive effect of TX-100 for permeabilization of the cell membrane and assisted in efficacious cell disruption induced by the freeze-thaw cycles. The dECM had minimum DNA content with high integrity as evidenced by morphology, protein content, and distribution analysis, which resulted in biological function of the BMSCs. The complex protein profile of dECM was analyzed by mass spectrometry. Proteomic analysis has identified a total of 178 proteins that participate in numerous cellular activities and signaling pathways. For example, three ECM proteins (Wnt2, Wnt5a, and Wnt6) were recognized in the dECM. These ECM proteins might play crucial roles in signaling pathways that adjust the stem cell pluripotency (Li et al. 2019).

The results of these studies show that physical and chemical approaches can be combined to complement each other for efficient tissue decellularization. Although physical methods are moderate approaches that retain the ultrastructure of tissues, they fail to completely remove the immunogenic component of these tissues. On the other hand, decreased concentrations of chemical agents alone may not remove all cellular remnants. Thus, the combination of the two approaches in a multistep procedure can yield a synergistic effect for proper decellularization.

3.4 Combination of Chemical and Enzymatic Methods for Decellularization

Chemical approaches, with the assistance of enzymatic treatments can efficiently eliminate undesirable cellular and genetic constituents of the ECM. In order to achieve a convenient decellularization protocol for porcine annulus fibrosus (AF) (Kajbafzadeh et al.) tissue, Xu et al. investigated three different agents for the decellularization process. TX-100, as a non-ionic detergent, SDS, an anionic detergent, and trypsin, an enzymatic agent, were used to decellularize the AF tissue (Xu et al. 2014). This tissue is a multilamellar fibrocartilaginous structure mainly composed of collagen and proteoglycans. In this tissue, proteoglycan-rich matrix encompasses the collagen fibers in an orderly arrangement (Hickey and Hukins 1980). All three agents effectively decellularized the tissue and retained collagen. However, trypsin caused detachment of the matrix proteins from proteoglycans and led to a reduction in GAG content. Trypsin slightly deteriorated the concentric lamellar structure. SDS is an anionic detergent with a negatively charged head-group that can change the native conformation of proteins by disrupting interactions. No non-covalent significant differences were detected in mechanical properties of ultimate stress, elastic modulus, and toughness between the TX-100, trypsin, and

control treatments; however, these parameters were lower in the SDS-treated group than the control group. The mechanical properties of specimens treated with SDS were lower than natural tissue due to the destructive effect of SDS, which disturbed the structure of the collagen fibers. Among these three agents, TX-100 effectively preserved the major ECM components, concentric lamellar structure, and tensile mechanical properties of the decellularized tissue. The proper biocompatibility of TX-100 makes it a promising candidate for efficient decellularization of AF tissue.

In order to decellularize porcine articular car-Luo et al. developed tilage grafts, а decellularization protocol that consisted of several chemical reagents, including SDS and nucleases. The decellularized cartilage explants were seeded with human infrapatellar fat pad-derived stem cells (FPSCs) and cultured in chondrogenic medium under static or dynamic conditions for 10 days. For decellularization, the researchers first applied a hypotonic buffer that contained Tris-HCl, EDTA, KCl, MgCl₂, and dithiotheritol (DTT), followed by two additional treatment cycles with a hypotonic buffer supplemented with 0.5% SDS. The presence of KCl, MgCl₂, and DTT improved the solubility of the cell membrane proteins and antigens in the decellularization solution and accelerated their removal. Then, hyaluronidase treatment was performed to eliminate hyaluronic acid and proteoglycan trapped within the cartilage ECM. According to Luo et al., this treatment eliminated DNA and subsequently repopulated the scaffold. The researchers believed that this treatment could be used to develop a more porous decellularized matrix. Subsequently, the cartilage disks were incubated in hypotonic buffer that contained DNase I and RNase A (25 U/ml), and subsequently treated with 0.5 M NaOH to digest small collagen fibers and increase the porosity of the decellularized matrix. This protocol significantly reduced the DNA content of the cartilage tissues and resulted in a substantial decrease in sulfated glycosaminoglycan (sGAG). The reduction in sGAG contents associated with the use of hyaluronidase enzyme in the decellularization

procedure led to a significant decrease in the equilibrium modulus of the tissue (Luo et al. 2016).

A similar study was performed by Kheir et al. A decellularization protocol that included freeze/ thaw cycles, repetitive treatment with hypotonic Tris buffer and 0.1% SDS, along with nuclease treatment and disinfection with PAA was developed. This protocol removed about 99% of DNA from cartilage tissue within 6 days (Kheir et al. 2011). In agreement with these results, Elder et al. developed a protocol that contained 2% SDS with a short incubation period (8 h), which resulted in only a 40% reduction in DNA content of the cartilage tissue (Elder et al. 2010). In these studies, both the collagen content and tissue organization were properly retained. However, SDS treatment in the absence of hyaluronidase caused significant reduction of sGAG in articular cartilage. Subsequently, removal of sGAG from the articular cartilage led to a substantial reduction in the mechanical properties of the tissue. Therefore, it is essential to develop a protocol that can efficiently decellularize cartilage tissue.

3.5 The Combination of Physical, Chemical, and Enzymatic Methods for Decellularization

A decellularization protocol that combines chemical, physical, and enzymatic treatments is an ideal option for cellular removal and ECM retention. Whitlock et al. decellularized human Achilles tendons after freeze-drying, followed by treatment with hypotonic aqueous solutions, trypsin digestion, and processing with the combination of an oxidizing agent (PAA) and a detergent (TX-100). This protocol effectively removed infectious viral material and produced a decellularized, architecturally modified, cytocompatible scaffold that could promote cell infiltration in vivo, yet retain tensile properties similar to native tissue. The oxidative and enzymatic treatments were effective for increasing porosity and removing infectious particles and donor cellular material during scaffold production, and eventually led to increased cell infiltration in vivo (Whitlock et al. 2012).

In an attempt to develop a biologic scaffold using a rabbit decellularized periosteum (D-periosteum) for bone tissue engineering, Chen et al. combined physical, chemical, and enzymatic treatments. For physical processing, multiple freeze-thaw cycles were performed, which led to efficient lysis of periosteum-derived cells (PDCs) and minimal disruption of the physicomechanical properties of the ECM, along with modification in diffusion of decellularization solutions throughout the tissue and the elimination of cellular components.

In order to solubilize the cell membrane, they used two chemical detergents (TX-100 [nonionic] and SDS [ionic]). Although SDS was more efficient than TX-100 for cell elimination, it was more destructive to the ECM ultrastructure. In order to diminish undesirable immunological responses, DNase I was used to completely eliminate the DNA fragments. The decellularized tissue had a higher swelling ratio in comparison to native tissue because of the increased porosity that was created by the removal of cells and movement of the solution within the tissues. The increase in swelling ratio might improve cell infiltration through the scaffold.

PDCs could adhere, proliferate, and infiltrate into the D-periosteum in vitro. The host response to the D-periosteum scaffold was evaluated by subcutaneous implantation in rabbits during 28 days. D-periosteum did not represent an intense immunogenic response; rather, there was low-grade inflammation, scarce scaffold degradation, and thin fibrous encapsulation. These results demonstrated that D-periosteum could be a biocompatible scaffold for bone tissue engineering (Chen et al. 2015b).

4 Challenges Faced by Emerging Decellularization Technique

The advantages and disadvantages of several procedures currently used in the decellularization process were previously discussed.

Notably, most of the decellularization agents and protocols cannot completely preserve the native 3D architecture of the ECM and might result in changes in its composition, arrangement, biological activity, and mechanical properties. Therefore, creating optimal protocols to minimize these undesirable effects and keep native ECM for clinical use is a major challenge of the decellularization process.

The ultimate goal of each decellularization protocol is to eliminate all cellular substances without negatively affecting the composition, mechanical integrity, and biological activity of the remnants of the ECM and successfully extract an *intact version of the ECM*. It is critical to obtain pure and intact ECM from the desired organs to achieve complete regeneration (DeQuach et al. 2010; Frantz et al. 2010). However, nearly all approaches have resulted in damaged ECM organization or arrangement (Rana et al. 2017; Somuncu 2019).

Effectiveness, efficiency, and safety of decellularization depends on the quality of cell/ antigen removal and preservation of structural proteins. Extraction of the ECM from entire mammalian tissues needs several processing steps, which strongly alter the ECM structure and subsequently impact the host response. Each step changes the architecture and integrity of the dECM and affects the mechanical and biological properties of the extracted ECM. Despite the various protocols that have been used to fully decellularize the dermis, urinary bladder, skeletal muscle, and adipose tissue, no protocol has fully eliminated all of the cellular components and antigens, and preserved the most crucial components (GAGs and collagens) of the ECM. Nevertheless, these protocoles does not encompass any organs and tissues. For example, there are a limited protocols for decellularization of hard and dense tissues like bones, cartilage, and teeth. This limitation is particularly noted for the tendon-bone interface. Four different tissues with different matrix densities such as bone, calcified fibrocartilage, fibrocartilage, and tendon are located in a small zone (1 mm) of the tendonbone interface. This feature is a major obstacle for efficient cell removal. Therefore, specific tissue

characteristics, matrix density, cell density, and type of detergent must be considered to achieve the most effective method. A few protocols have been developed for tendon-bone interface decellularization. Bronstein et al. used a specified protocol that could roughly preserve the biomechanical properties of the flexor tendon-bone interface. The combination of physical (ultrasonication) and chemical (PAA, EDTA, and SDS) treatment resulted in a decellularized multi-tissue scaffold (Bronstein et al. 2013). Xu et al. estimated the various physical procedures and chemical treatments to create an effective, time-saving, and repetitive protocol to decellularize whole fibrocartilage enthesis ECM. DNA analysis and biochemical characterization of the resultant ECM confirmed that the matrix structure and biomechanical features were maintained. This suggested protocol could decellularize bone, tendon, and its interface region (Xu et al. 2017).

The removal of detergent from decellularized tissues is another issue that affects the functionality of prepared cell-free ECM in clinical settings. Detergents are amphipathic molecules composed of a hydrophilic head group and a hydrophobic chain. These characteristics enable them to emulate, destruct, and insert themselves into cell membranes. The penetration rate and lysis capability of detergents differ, and consequently make it difficult to exclude the residual surfactant from decellularized tissues and cells (Daugs et al. 2017). The remaining detergents that have high penetration capability infiltrate through the cell membrane and disrupt the basement membrane complex in decellularized tissues. This might denature the native ECM structure and negatively affect the cell-ECM scaffold interaction (Faulk et al. 2014). To address this issue, Farrokhi et al. compared the effectiveness of a detergent-free method with a detergent-based method. The results indicated that the detergent-free methods because of their effectiveness, safety and minimal disruption to native ECM would be excellent alternatives and prevail over detergent-based challenges (Farrokhi et al. 2018). Aside from detergent-based protocols, enzyme-based methods have a disruptive effect on the ECM and basement membrane component. Enzymes trapped in the ECM network substantially reduce the ECM content of elastin and GAGs over time and may diminish recellularization (Kim et al. 2016; Naso and Gandaglia 2018). Accordingly, there is a need to develop methods that concurrently accelerate both the decellularization and recellularization processes.

5 Potential Opportunities and Possibilities

Despite limitations and weaknesses, numerous organs such as the lungs, esophagus, urinary bladder, kidneys, cornea, and trachea, as well as heart valves and blood vessels have been successfully regenerated by using dECM. In the next section, we discuss advances attributed to the decellularization technique.

5.1 Extracellular Matrix (ECM)-Based Bioink

The regeneration of complex solid organs such as the heart, liver, or kidneys is faced with various difficulties due to the lack of suitable materials that can mimic the 3D structure of tissues. dECM is one of the promising materials that can generate complicated tissues. Researchers have the capability to prepare gel-like shear-thinning bioink from these cell-free ECM. The combination of bioprinting technology and the dECM bioink is an optimistic approach to generate on-demand tissue-like scaffolds. ECM hydrogels are composed of functional, structural, and signaling molecules such as collagen, laminin, fibronectin, GAGs, and growth factors that can be preserved in dECM. Therefore, organ-derived bioinks provide a biomaterial that exhibit the highest degree of similarity to native tissue (Chameettachal et al. 2019).

dECM of the skin (Ahn et al. 2017), urinary bladder, small intestine (Choudhury et al. 2018), heart (Jang et al. 2016), cartilage (Pati et al. 2014), and muscle (Choi et al. 2016) have been successfully bioprinted. Unlike soft tissues, which are easily decellularized and solubilized to form bioink, preparation of solubilized bioink from hard tissues faces distinct challenges. Among the hard tissues, cartilage dECM has been bioprinted. Pati and colleagues have decellularized porcine hyaline cartilage and solubilized the obtained dECM. Preservation of type II collagen and GAGs in dECM directed MSCs into chondrocyte lineage (Pati et al. 2014). The major challenge in hard tissue derived-ECM bioinks that restricts application of the hard tissue decellularized bioink is the complete maintenance of dECM.

Regardless, dECM has distinct advantages. The presence of collagen and fibronectin in dECM makes the gelation process more responsive to temperature alterations and triggers the formation of a crosslinked network. This feature leads to the crosslinking of bioink without the presence of a crosslinker. Moreover, the concentration of collagen and other fibrous molecules in dECM-derived bioink, due to their physical interaction and meshwork nature, could directly enhance bioink printability (Wang et al. 2017; Osidak et al. 2019). Ahn et al. have introduced a novel heating system based on this dECM bioink feature. An intrinsic characteristic of skin-derived dECM led to the construction of an integrated scaffold that had improved fidelity and maintained cell viability (Ahn et al. 2017).

5.2 Particulate Form of the Extracellular Matrix (ECM)

The application of powder-like biomaterial and biodegradable material has been proven in various tissues (Choi et al. 2009). Different biomaterials in the form of particles, powders, and granules have been successfully used as fillers, stabilizers, leaching agents, and bioactive factors to accelerate tissue regeneration (Sheikh et al. 2015; Iulian Antoniac et al. 2017). Recently, decellularized tissue-derived particles and powders have captured more attention due to their ease of access, high efficiency, and reservoir of signaling cues, bioactive peptides, and matrix metalloproteinases (Brown and Badylak 2014; Blaudez et al. 2019). ECM powders and particles can be packed, sprayed, or solubilized, and minimally invasive techniques can be used to efficiently deliver them to irregular defects. ECM powder can be used to optimize synthetic substances that have poor biocompatibility in 3D bioprinting (Edgar et al. 2018). Bioactivity, accessibility, higher efficiency, and lower invasive intervention are distinct features of ECM powders.

The powder-like demineralized bone matrix has widely been used in periodontal and orthopedic regeneration to take advantage of the distinct capability of the bone matrix (Maddox et al. 2000: Tsai et al. 2002). Nevertheless, disadvantages include the lack of osteogenicity and osteoconductivity, and residual cellular debris make dECM powder-like materials a better alternative matrix for hard tissue regeneration (Sawkins et al. 2013). The results from a number of investigations have confirmed the remarkable capability of the powder and particulate forms of the ECM in various tissues. Penolazi and co-workers used powder and a purified form of urinary bladder dECM (BdECM) to evaluate its capability to induce osteogenic differentiation of Wharton's Jelly derived mesenchymal stem cells (WMSCs). BdECM could successfully maintain cell morphology and viability, and induce typical osteoblastic markers (Penolazzi et al. 2012). Soucy et al. have suggested that particulate ECM can be a biological substitute to improve cardiac function and increase cell proliferation when injected into left ventricular assist devices (Soucy et al. 2015). Human adipose tissues that contain adipose stem cells (ASCs) have increased application in stem cell delivery. Choi et al. reported that ECM powder-derived adipose tissue is an ideal carrier for adipose tissue engineering. The findings of an in vivo study that used cellseeded ECM powder showed excellent tissue regeneration without any necrosis or fibrous tissue after 8 weeks (Choi et al. 2009). Maintenance of the avascularity feature of tissues such as cornea and cartilage is necessary to avoid de-differentiation of stem cells into unwanted lineages. Choi et al. have utilized chondrocytederived ECM powder to investigate its angiogenic inhibitory effect on rabbit cornea. The

anti-angiogenic properties of chondrocytederived ECM are allocated to type II collagenderived N-terminal propeptide (PIIBNP), chondroitin sulfate, and GAGs components. Both in vivo and in vitro analysis confirmed that chondrocyte-derived ECM efficiently hindered neovascularization (Choi et al. 2014). These data confirmed that ECM powder could highly support a 3D stem cell culture and maintain specific characteristics of the desired tissue.

The particulate form of dECM offers a promising approach that can be used in hard tissue engineering and regenerative medicine. Particulate meniscal ECM has been utilized to overcome its inadequate intrinsic regeneration capacity. Mobini et al. reported a novel and effective method for decellularization and micronization of the meniscus. The resultant powder-like meniscus was combined with platelet-rich plasma (PRP) and analyzed ex vivo in a canine model. A long-term culture confirmed both cellular infiltration and proliferation of the dECM+PRP scaffold, which suggested that the micronized meniscus ECM could be a novel candidate treatment for fullthickness meniscal defects (Monibi et al. 2016). Zahiri and co-workers have reported that cartilage decellularized nanoparticles could be an adequate biomolecule delivery system in chondrogenesis. Their results indicated that cartilage dECM nanoparticles clearly improved chondrogenic differentiation of human chondrocytes (Zahiri et al. 2018).

These studies confirmed the efficacy of decellularization and highlighted that the powder-like ECM preserved the inherent features of ECM. Ease of extraction, increased accessibility, and reproducibility make the particulate form of dECM more applicable for commercial and clinical use compared to its solubilized form. Regardless of the final product, there are no standard guidelines and processes for powder fabrication and treatments. The application of this promising scaffold is limited by the lack of a standardized protocol. Therefore, developing this protocol for each tissue would offer the same ECM compositions after processing and enable decellularization to be used in the clinical setting.

5.3 Mimicking the Vascular System

Complete regeneration of tissues and organs is restricted because of the lack of vascularization. Various techniques and investigations have attempted to generate vascularized constructs (Huling et al. 2016; Datta et al. 2017; Kant and Coulombe 2018; Esser et al. 2019). Utilization and stimulation of pre-existing vascular networks render the most beneficial strategy to recapitulate the vascular pattern and trigger the angiogenesis process (Rancy et al. 2019). Vascularized grafts and implants have the advantages of presenting the vasculature bed and are under consideration, especially in bone tissue engineering (Jiang et al. 2018). The most promising result that has used the vascularized bed was achieved by seeding endothelial cells directly into decellularized scaffolds, which took advantage of the channels that remained from the pre-existing vascular network (Pellegata et al. 2018). Therefore, decellularization offers a simple solution for the vascularization issue.

An intact vascular network is more important for whole organ decellularization. In order to maintain the vascular network, two prominent components of the ECM, laminin and fibronectin, must be preserved. Laminin and fibronectin both play critical roles in cell adhesion and differentiation (Schwarzbauer 1991; Li et al. 2002; Kajbafzadeh et al. 2019). In order to have an intact vascular bed, it is crucial to tightly control the decellularization method. For instance, the utilization of an ionic detergent destroys the ECM ultrastructure. A decrease in GAG alters the viscoelastic features of the ECM scaffold, which is a significant factor in decellularized vein functionality (Cheng et al. 2019).

It is a challenge to maintain the decellularized vascular network (DVN) and prevent clotting or clogging of the implanted DVN. Re-endothelialization of the DVN before the implantation process by seeding endothelial cells on the vessel wall is a promising technique (Zambon et al. 2018). The vascular corrosion casting method has been refined in an attempt to examine both the morphology and architecture of

recellularized blood vessels and capillaries (Bagetti Filho et al. 2008). Creation of a method to preserve increased ECM components (mainly collagen and GAGs) could allow a more intact DVN (Lin et al. 2018). Despite the difficulties, DVN offers a reliable vascular bed to facilitate the recellularization of targeted tissue, especially in highly vascularized organs.

Regeneration of hard and dynamic tissues like dentin and bone are highly dependent on the vascular network due to their cell turnover. Unlike bone, dentin is avascular and nutrition for odontoblasts is provided by blood vessels located in pulp tissue (Florencio-Silva et al. 2015; Bedran-Russo et al. 2017). The dental pulp, which is a highly vascularized connective tissue in the center of the tooth, regulates the dentin-pulp complex through the dentinal tubules. Typical therapeutic approaches to cure infected dentin lead to elicit pulp tissue, expansion of apical periodontitis, and eventual tooth loss.

Decellularized dental pulp ECM (dDP-ECM) can extend the therapeutic strategy of tooth regeneration by providing an intact vascularized scaffold. An in vivo study on a canine root canal confirmed both the feasibility and superiority of dDP-ECM in tooth regeneration (Alqahtani et al. 2018). Another study has shown regeneration of the pulp vascular network by xenograft dDP-ECM. The expression of matrix proteins like collagen-IV and laminin, which play a leading role in blood vessel formation, were substantially upregulated (Hu et al. 2017). These findings have shown the clinical use of dECM for tissue regeneration.

6 Conclusion and Outlooks

dECM is a biocompatible and versatile scaffold that includes essential components such as structural proteins and GAGs; hence, it regulates cell behaviors and tissue regeneration. Numerous studies have demonstrated the biological advantages of dECM biomaterials for tissue engineering. Decellularization could reduce the immunogenicity of allogenic or xenogeneic tissues by removing the cellular components. It may be useful in tissue remodeling because of improvements in cell invasion and repopulation following removal of cellular debris. Different parameters such as tissue thickness, density, and cellularity could influence the efficiency of decellularization protocols.

Given the advantages of dECM biomaterials in tissue engineering applications, tremendous developments have been made in the past few decades in pre-clinical and clinical applications. However, numerous challenges remain. One of the most important steps following cell removal is proper recellularization of the dECM by using both the appropriate cell type and an efficient method. It is important to note that all changes of the ECM scaffolds may influence the cell behaviors during recellularization. On the other hand, currently, there is no defined mechanism for the interaction of ECM with cells and in the in vivo microenvironments. Further studies in this area would be of benefit. Furthermore, more attention should be paid to the immunological responses of dECM biomaterials in vivo. It may be necessary to optimize and improve the current decellularization protocols to achieve more biocompatible and functional scaffolds for tissue regeneration. Recent technologies that include the development of bioprinting could provide suitable microenvironments for cell growth and tissue regeneration, which would be physically and biologically optimized. Thus, a promising future exists for dECM biomaterials in the field of tissue engineering and regenerative medicine.

References

- Ahn G, Min KH, Kim C, Lee JS, Kang D, Won JY, Cho DW, Kim JY, Jin S, Yun WS, Shim JH (2017) Precise stacking of decellularized extracellular matrix based 3D cell-laden constructs by a 3D cell printing system equipped with heating modules. Sci Rep 7:8624
- Aiyelabegan HT, Sadroddiny E (2017) Fundamentals of protein and cell interactions in biomaterials. Biomed Pharmacother = Biomedecine & pharmacotherapie 88:956–970
- Alqahtani Q, Zaky SH, Patil A, Beniash E, Ray H, Sfeir C (2018) Decellularized swine dental pulp tissue for regenerative root canal therapy. J Dent Res 97:1460–1467

- Bagetti Filho HJ, Pereira-Sampaio MA, Favorito LA, Sampaio FJ (2008) Pig kidney: anatomical relationships between the renal venous arrangement and the kidney collecting system. J Urol 179:1627–1630
- Bedran-Russo A, Leme-Kraus AA, Vidal CMP, Teixeira EC (2017) An overview of dental adhesive systems and the dynamic tooth-adhesive interface. Dent Clin N Am 61:713–731
- Blaudez F, Ivanovski S, Hamlet S, Vaquette C (2019) An overview of decellularisation techniques of native tissues and tissue engineered products for bone, ligament and tendon regeneration. Methods 171:28–40
- Bronstein JA, Woon CY, Farnebo S, Behn AW, Schmitt T, Pham H, Castillo AB, Chang J (2013) Physicochemical decellularization of composite flexor tendon-bone interface grafts. Plast Reconstr Surg 132:94–102
- Brouki Milan P, Pazouki A, Joghataei MT, Mozafari M, Amini N, Kargozar S, Amoupour M, Latifi N, Samadikuchaksaraei A (2019) Decellularization and preservation of human skin: a platform for tissue engineering and reconstructive surgery. Methods 171:62–67
- Brown BN, Badylak SF (2014) Extracellular matrix as an inductive scaffold for functional tissue reconstruction. Transl Res 163:268–285
- Burk J, Erbe I, Berner D, Kacza J, Kasper C, Pfeiffer B, Winter K, Brehm W (2013) Freeze-thaw cycles enhance decellularization of large tendons. Tissue Eng Part C Methods 20:276–284
- Chameettachal S, Sasikumar S, Sethi S, Sriya Y, Pati F (2019) Tissue/organ-derived bioink formulation for 3D bioprinting. J 3D Print Med 3:39–54
- Chen Y-C, Chen R-N, Jhan H-J, Liu D-Z, Ho H-O, Mao Y, Kohn J, Sheu M-T (2015a) Development and characterization of acellular extracellular matrix scaffolds from porcine menisci for use in cartilage tissue engineering. Tissue Eng Part C Methods 21:971–986
- Chen K, Lin X, Zhang Q, Ni J, Li J, Xiao J, Wang Y, Ye Y, Chen L, Jin K (2015b) Decellularized periosteum as a potential biologic scaffold for bone tissue engineering. Acta Biomater 19:46–55
- Cheng J, Wang C, Gu Y (2019) Combination of freezethaw with detergents: a promising approach to the decellularization of porcine carotid arteries. Biomed Mater Eng 30:191–205
- Choi JS, Yang HJ, Kim BS, Kim JD, Kim JY, Yoo B, Park K, Lee HY, Cho YW (2009) Human extracellular matrix (ECM) powders for injectable cell delivery and adipose tissue engineering. J Control Release 139:2–7
- Choi BH, Choi KH, Lee HS, Song BR, Park SR, Yang JW, Min BH (2014) Inhibition of blood vessel formation by a chondrocyte-derived extracellular matrix. Biomaterials 35:5711–5720
- Choi YJ, Kim TG, Jeong J, Yi HG, Park JW, Hwang W, Cho DW (2016) 3D cell printing of functional skeletal muscle constructs using skeletal muscle-derived bioink. Adv Healthc Mater 5:2636–2645

- Choudhury D, Tun HW, Wang T, Naing MW (2018) Organ-derived decellularized extracellular matrix: a game changer for bioink manufacturing? Trends Biotechnol 36:787–805
- Datta P, Ayan B, Ozbolat IT (2017) Bioprinting for vascular and vascularized tissue biofabrication. Acta Biomater 51:1–20
- Daugs A, Hutzler B, Meinke M, Schmitz C, Lehmann N, Markhoff A, Bloch O (2017) Detergent-based decellularization of bovine carotid arteries for vascular tissue engineering. Ann Biomed Eng 45:2683–2692
- Dequach JA, Mezzano V, Miglani A, Lange S, Keller GM, Sheikh F, Christman KL (2010) Simple and high yielding method for preparing tissue specific extracellular matrix coatings for cell culture. PLoS One 5:e13039
- Dong X, Wei X, Yi W, Gu C, Kang X, Liu Y, Li Q, Yi D (2009) RGD-modified acellular bovine pericardium as a bioprosthetic scaffold for tissue engineering. J Mater Sci Mater Med 20:2327–2336
- Dzamba BJ, Desimone DW (2018) Extracellular matrix (ECM) and the sculpting of embryonic tissues. Curr Top Dev Biol 130:245–274
- Dzobo K, Motaung K, Adesida A (2019) Recent trends in decellularized extracellular matrix bioinks for 3D printing: an updated review. Int J Mol Sci 20:pii: E4628
- Edgar L, Altamimi A, Garcia Sanchez M, Tamburrinia R, Asthana A, Gazia C, Orlando G (2018) Utility of extracellular matrix powders in tissue engineering. Organogenesis 14:172–186
- Elder BD, Kim DH, Athanasiou KA (2010) Developing an articular cartilage decellularization process toward facet joint cartilage replacement. Neurosurgery 66:722–727
- Esser TU, Roshanbinfar K, Engel FB (2019) Promoting vascularization for tissue engineering constructs: current strategies focusing on HIF-regulating scaffolds. Expert Opin Biol Ther 19:105–118
- Farag A, Hashimi SM, Vaquette C, Volpato FZ, Hutmacher DW, Ivanovski S (2018) Assessment of static and perfusion methods for decellularization of PCL membrane-supported periodontal ligament cell sheet constructs. Arch Oral Biol 88:67–76
- Farrokhi A, Pakyari M, Nabai L, Pourghadiri A, Hartwell R, Jalili R, Ghahary A (2018) Evaluation of detergent-free and detergent-based methods for decellularization of murine skin. Tissue Eng Part A 24:955–967
- Faulk DM, Carruthers CA, Warner HJ, Kramer CR, Reing JE, Zhang L, D'amore A, Badylak SF (2014) The effect of detergents on the basement membrane complex of a biologic scaffold material. Acta Biomater 10:183–193
- Fernandez-Perez J, Ahearne M (2019) The impact of decellularization methods on extracellular matrix derived hydrogels. Sci Rep 9:14933
- Florencio-Silva R, Sasso GR, Sasso-Cerri E, Simoes MJ, Cerri PS (2015) Biology of bone tissue: structure, function, and factors that influence bone cells. Biomed Res Int 2015:421746

- Frantz C, Stewart KM, Weaver VM (2010) The extracellular matrix at a glance. J Cell Sci 123:4195–4200
- Gao LP, Du MJ, Lv JJ, Schmull S, Huang RT, Li J (2017) Use of human aortic extracellular matrix as a scaffold for construction of a patient-specific tissue engineered vascular patch. Biomed Mater 12:065006
- Giobbe GG, Crowley C, Luni C, Campinoti S, Khedr M, Kretzschmar K, De Santis MM, Zambaiti E, Michielin F, Meran L, Hu Q, Van Son G, Urbani L, Manfredi A, Giomo M, Eaton S, Cacchiarelli D, Li VSW, Clevers H, Bonfanti P, Elvassore N, De Coppi P (2019) Extracellular matrix hydrogel derived from decellularized tissues enables endodermal organoid culture. Nat Commun 10:5658
- Hickey D, Hukins D (1980) Relation between the structure of the annulus fibrosus and the function and failure of the intervertebral disc. Spine 5:106–116
- Hinderer S, Layland SL, Schenke-Layland K (2016) ECM and ECM-like materials – biomaterials for applications in regenerative medicine and cancer therapy. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 97:260–269
- Hong X, Yuan Y, Sun X, Zhou M, Guo G, Zhang Q, Hescheler J, Xi J (2018) Skeletal extracellular matrix supports cardiac differentiation of embryonic stem cells: a potential scaffold for engineered cardiac tissue. Cell Physiol Biochem 45:319–331
- Hoshiba T, Chen G, Endo C, Maruyama H, Wakui M, Nemoto E, Kawazoe N, Tanaka M (2016) Decellularized extracellular matrix as an in vitro model to study the comprehensive roles of the ECM in stem cell differentiation. Stem Cells Int 2016:6397820
- Hu L, Gao Z, Xu J, Zhu Z, Fan Z, Zhang C, Wang J, Wang S (2017) Decellularized swine dental pulp as a bioscaffold for pulp regeneration. Biomed Res Int 2017:9342714
- Huling J, Ko IK, Atala A, Yoo JJ (2016) Fabrication of biomimetic vascular scaffolds for 3D tissue constructs using vascular corrosion casts. Acta Biomater 32:190–197
- Hung S-H, Su C-H, Lee F-P, Tseng H (2013) Larynx decellularization: combining freeze-drying and sonication as an effective method. J Voice 27:289–294
- Iulian, Antoniac LD, Csaki I, Mates IM, Vranceanu D (2017) Potential of the magnesium powder as filler for biomedical composites. Biomater Tissue Technol 1:1–5
- Jang J, Kim TG, Kim BS, Kim SW, Kwon SM, Cho DW (2016) Tailoring mechanical properties of decellularized extracellular matrix bioink by vitamin B2-induced photo-crosslinking. Acta Biomater 33:88–95
- Jansen KA, Atherton P, Ballestrem C (2017) Mechanotransduction at the cell-matrix interface. Semin Cell Dev Biol 71:75–83
- Jiang L, Zhang W, Wei L, Zhou Q, Yang G, Qian N, Tang Y, Gao Y, Jiang X (2018) Early effects of parathyroid hormone on vascularized bone regeneration and implant osseointegration in aged rats. Biomaterials 179:15–28

- Kajbafzadeh AM, Khorramirouz R, Nabavizadeh B, Ladi Seyedian SS, Akbarzadeh A, Heidari R, Masoumi A, Azizi B, Seyed Hossein Beigi R (2019) Whole organ sheep kidney tissue engineering and in vivo transplantation: effects of perfusion-based decellularization on vascular integrity. Mater Sci Eng C Mater Biol Appl 98:392–400
- Kant RJ, Coulombe KLK (2018) Integrated approaches to spatiotemporally directing angiogenesis in host and engineered tissues. Acta Biomater 69:42–62
- Kheir E, Stapleton T, Shaw D, Jin Z, Fisher J, Ingham E (2011) Development and characterization of an acellular porcine cartilage bone matrix for use in tissue engineering. J Biomed Mater Res A 99:283–294
- Kim JK, Koh YD, Kim JO, Seo DH (2016) Development of a decellularization method to produce nerve allografts using less invasive detergents and hyper/ hypotonic solutions. J Plast Reconstr Aesthet Surg 69:1690–1696
- Li S, Harrison D, Carbonetto S, Fassler R, Smyth N, Edgar D, Yurchenco PD (2002) Matrix assembly, regulation, and survival functions of laminin and its receptors in embryonic stem cell differentiation. J Cell Biol 157:1279–1290
- Li M, Zhang T, Jiang J, Mao Y, Zhang A, Zhao J (2019) ECM coating modification generated by optimized decellularization process improves functional behavior of BMSCs. Mater Sci Eng C 105:110039
- Lin CH, Kao YC, Ma H, Tsay RY (2018) An investigation on the correlation between the mechanical property change and the alterations in composition and microstructure of a porcine vascular tissue underwent trypsin-based decellularization treatment. J Mech Behav Biomed Mater 86:199–207
- Lu H, Hoshiba T, Kawazoe N, Chen G (2012) Comparison of decellularization techniques for preparation of extracellular matrix scaffolds derived from threedimensional cell culture. J Biomed Mater Res A 100:2507–2516
- Luo L, Eswaramoorthy R, Mulhall KJ, Kelly DJ (2016) Decellularization of porcine articular cartilage explants and their subsequent repopulation with human chondroprogenitor cells. J Mech Behav Biomed Mater 55:21–31
- Maddox E, Zhan M, Mundy GR, Drohan WN, AWHB (2000) Optimizing human demineralized bone matrix for clinical application. Tissue Eng 6:441–448
- Masaeli E, Karamali F, Loghmani S, Eslaminejad MB, Nasr-Esfahani MH (2017) Bio-engineered electrospun nanofibrous membranes using cartilage extracellular matrix particles. J Mater Chem B 5:765–776
- Monibi FA, Bozynski CC, Kuroki K, Stoker AM, Pfeiffer FM, Sherman SL, Cook JL (2016) Development of a micronized meniscus extracellular matrix scaffold for potential augmentation of meniscal repair and regeneration. Tissue Eng Part C Methods 22:1059–1070
- Morissette Martin P, Shridhar A, Yu C, Brown C, Flynn LE (2018) Decellularized adipose tissue scaffolds for

soft tissue regeneration and adipose-derived stem/stromal cell delivery. Methods Mol Biol 1773:53–71

- Naik A, Griffin M, Szarko M, Butler PE (2019) Optimizing the decellularization process of an upper limb skeletal muscle; implications for muscle tissue engineering. Artif Organs 44:178–183
- Naso F, Gandaglia A (2018) Different approaches to heart valve decellularization: a comprehensive overview of the past 30 years. Xenotransplantation 25:e12354
- Osidak EO, Karalkin PA, Osidak MS, Parfenov VA, Sivogrivov DE, Pereira F, Gryadunova AA, Koudan EV, Khesuani YD, Capital Ka CVA, Belousov SI, Krasheninnikov SV, Grigoriev TE, Chvalun SN, Bulanova EA, Mironov VA, Domogatsky SP (2019) Viscoll collagen solution as a novel bioink for direct 3D bioprinting. J Mater Sci Mater Med 30:31
- Pati F, Jang J, Ha DH, Won Kim S, Rhie JW, Shim JH, Kim DH, Cho DW (2014) Printing three-dimensional tissue analogues with decellularized extracellular matrix bioink. Nat Commun 5:3935
- Pellegata AF, Tedeschi AM, De Coppi P (2018) Whole organ tissue vascularization: engineering the tree to develop the fruits. Front Bioeng Biotechnol 6:56
- Penolazzi L, Mazzitelli S, Vecchiatini R, Torreggiani E, Lambertini E, Johnson S, Badylak SF, Piva R, Nastruzzi C (2012) Human mesenchymal stem cells seeded on extracellular matrix-scaffold: viability and osteogenic potential. J Cell Physiol 227:857–866
- Rana D, Zreiqat H, Benkirane-Jessel N, Ramakrishna S, Ramalingam M (2017) Development of decellularized scaffolds for stem cell-driven tissue engineering. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 11:942–965
- Rancy SK, Schmidle G, Wolfe SW (2019) Does anyone need a vascularized graft? Hand Clin 35:323–344
- Sawkins MJ, Bowen W, Dhadda P, Markides H, Sidney LE, Taylor AJ, Rose FR, Badylak SF, Shakesheff KM, White LJ (2013) Hydrogels derived from demineralized and decellularized bone extracellular matrix. Acta Biomater 9:7865–7873
- Schwarzbauer JE (1991) Fibronectin: from gene to protein. Curr Opin Cell Biol 3:786–791
- Sesli M, Akbay E, Onur MA (2018) Decellularization of rat adipose tissue, diaphragm, and heart: a comparison of two decellularization methods. Turk J Biol = Turk biyoloji dergisi 42:537–547
- Sheikh Z, Najeeb S, Khurshid Z, Verma V, Rashid H, Glogauer M (2015) Biodegradable materials for bone repair and tissue engineering applications. Materials 8:5744–5794
- Somuncu OS (2019) Decellularization concept in regenerative medicine. Adv Exp Med Biol 1212:71–85
- Soucy KG, Smith EF, Monreal G, Rokosh G, Keller BB, Yuan F, Matheny RG, Fallon AM, Lewis BC, Sherwood LC, Sobieski MA, Giridharan GA, Koenig SC, Slaughter MS (2015) Feasibility study of particulate extracellular matrix (P-ECM) and left ventricular assist device (HVAD) therapy in chronic ischemic heart failure bovine model. ASAIO J 61:161–169

- Stapleton TW, Ingram J, Katta J, Knight R, Korossis S, Fisher J, Ingham E (2008) Development and characterization of an acellular porcine medial meniscus for use in tissue engineering. Tissue Eng A 14:505–518
- Tsai CH, Chou MY, Jonas M, Tien YT, Chi EY (2002) A composite graft material containing bone particles and collagen in osteoinduction in mouse. J Biomed Mater Res 63:65–70
- Wang X, Ao Q, Tian X, Fan J, Tong H, Hou W, Bai S (2017) Gelatin-based hydrogels for organ 3D bioprinting. Polymers 9:401
- White LJ, Taylor AJ, Faulk DM, Keane TJ, Saldin LT, Reing JE, Swinehart IT, Turner NJ, Ratner BD, Badylak SF (2017) The impact of detergents on the tissue decellularization process: a ToF-SIMS study. Acta Biomater 50:207–219
- Whitlock PW, Seyler TM, Parks GD, Ornelles DA, Smith TL, Van Dyke ME, Poehling GG (2012) A novel process for optimizing musculoskeletal allograft tissue to improve safety, ultrastructural properties, and cell infiltration. JBJS 94:1458–1467
- Willemse J, Verstegen MMA, Vermeulen A, Schurink IJ, Roest HP, Van Der Laan LJW, De Jonge J (2020) Fast, robust and effective decellularization of whole human livers using mild detergents and pressure controlled perfusion. Mater Sci Eng C Mater Biol Appl 108:110200
- Woods T, Gratzer PF (2005) Effectiveness of three extraction techniques in the development of a decellularized bone–anterior cruciate ligament–bone graft. Biomaterials 26:7339–7349
- Xiao T, Guo W, Chen M, Hao C, Gao S, Huang J, Yuan Z, Zhang Y, Wang M, Li P, Peng J, Wang A, Wang Y,

Sui X, Zhang L, Xu W, Lu S, Yin H, Yang J, Liu S, Guo Q (2017) Fabrication and in vitro study of tissueengineered cartilage scaffold derived from Wharton's jelly extracellular matrix. Biomed Res Int 2017:5839071

- Xing Q, Yates K, Tahtinen M, Shearier E, Qian Z, Zhao F (2015) Decellularization of fibroblast cell sheets for natural extracellular matrix scaffold preparation. Tissue Eng Part C Methods 21:77–87
- Xu H, Xu B, Yang Q, Li X, Ma X, Xia Q, Zhang Y, Zhang C, Wu Y, Zhang Y (2014) Comparison of decellularization protocols for preparing a decellularized porcine annulus fibrosus scaffold. PLoS One 9:e86723
- Xu K, Kuntz LA, Foehr P, Kuempel K, Wagner A, Tuebel J, Deimling CV, Burgkart RH (2017) Efficient decellularization for tissue engineering of the tendonbone interface with preservation of biomechanics. PLoS One 12:e0171577
- Youngstrom DW, Barrett JG, Jose RR, Kaplan DL (2013) Functional characterization of detergent-decellularized equine tendon extracellular matrix for tissue engineering applications. PLoS One 8:e64151
- Zahiri S, Masaeli E, Poorazizi E, Nasr-Esfahani MH (2018) Chondrogenic response in presence of cartilage extracellular matrix nanoparticles. J Biomed Mater Res Part A 106:2463–2471
- Zambon JP, Ko IK, Abolbashari M, Huling J, Clouse C, Kim TH, Smith C, Atala A, Yoo JJ (2018) Comparative analysis of two porcine kidney decellularization methods for maintenance of functional vascular architectures. Acta Biomater 75:226–234



Stem Cell Based Exosomes: Are They Effective in Disease or Health?

Meriç Bilgiç Küçükgüven 💿 and Betül Çelebi-Saltik 💿

Abstract

Exosomes are nano-sized vesicles involved in intercellular communication via delivery of molecules including lipids, nucleic acids, proteins, or other cellular components to distant or neighboring sites. Their ability to pass biological barriers, stability in physiological fluids without degradation, and distinctive affinity to target cells make exosomes very remarkable therapeutic vehicles. Virus-based approaches are some of the most widely used gene therapy methods; however, there are many issues need to be clarified such as high immunogenicity. Using of the exosomes procures the functional transfer of their cargo with minimal intervention from the immune

B. Çelebi-Saltik (🖂)

Center for Stem Cell Research and Development, Hacettepe University, Ankara, Turkey e-mail: betul.celebi@hacettepe.edu.tr system and it has been reported to be secure and well-tolerated. When the regenerative medicine is taken into consideration, stem cell-based approaches have been aimed to utilize but the general efficacy and safety profile of stem cell therapy has still not been enlightened. At this point, stem cell-derived exosomes exhibit a way to procure cell-free regenerative medicine with their unique characteristics. Exosomes are considered as appropriate and highly stable biological nanovectors taking part in a wide variety of healthy and pathological processes for advanced targeted therapies. However, there are still crucial obstacles to achieve efficient isolation of large amount of specific and pure exosomes. Thus, large-scale exosome production under good manufacturing practice is required. The purpose of this review is to focus on stem cellbased exosomes for gene delivery and to introduce synthetic exosome-mimics as a potential alternative in the field of targeted gene therapies. Further, we aim to highlight the biobanking and large-scale manufacturing methods of exosomes.

Keywords

 $\begin{array}{l} Biobanking \cdot Exosome \ mimics \cdot Exosomes \cdot \\ Gene \ delivery \cdot Manufacturing \cdot Stem \ cells \end{array}$

M. B. Küçükgüven

Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, Hacettepe University Faculty of Dentistry, Ankara, Turkey

Department of Stem Cell Sciences, Hacettepe University Graduate School of Health Sciences, Ankara, Turkey

Center for Stem Cell Research and Development, Hacettepe University, Ankara, Turkey

Department of Stem Cell Sciences, Hacettepe University Graduate School of Health Sciences, Ankara, Turkey

Abbreviations

AAV	Adeno-associated virus					
ALIX	Apoptosis linked gene 2-interacting					
	protein X					
AV	Adenovirus vector					
BBB	Blood brain barrier					
CSC	Cancer stem cell					
dsDNA	double-stranded DNA					
ECM	Extracellular matrix					
EGF	Epidermal growth factor					
EGFR	Epidermal growth receptor					
EMT	Epithelial-mesenchymal transition					
ESC	Embryonic stem cell					
ESCRT	Endosomal Sorting Complex					
	Required for Transport					
EV	Extracellular vesicle					
exo-AAV	exosomes-enveloped viral vector					
FBS	Fetal bovine serum					
GFP	Green fluorescent protein					
GMP	Good manufacturing practice					
HIF-1α	hypoxia-inducible factor-1α					
HSC	Hematopoietic stem cell					
iPSC	Induced pluripotent stem cell					
MSC	Mesenchymal stem cell					
MTX	Methotrexate					
MV	Micro-vesicle					
NK Cell	Natural killer cell					
PLGA	Poly Lactic-co-Glycolic Acid					
ssDNA	single-stranded DNA					
TGF-β	Transforming growth factor beta					
Th	T helper					
TRAIL	Tumor Necrosis Factor-Related					
	Apoptosis-Inducing Ligand					
TSG101	Tumor susceptibility gene 101 protein					

1 Introduction

Exosomes are one sub-population of extracellular vesicles (EVs) released from a majority of cell types in the organism and isolated from a wide number of body fluids such as semen, urine, breast milk, saliva, amniotic fluid, sputum, and cerebrospinal fluid (Ela et al. 2013). EVs are classified into three subsets based on their morphology and cellular origin; namely, exosomes,

micro-vesicles (MVs), and apoptotic bodies. Exosomes are nano-sized membrane vesicles (30-100 nm in diameter), which originate from the endosomal pathway and released to the extracellular space by a process of exocytosis (Fig. 1) (Ratajczak and Ratajczak 2017; Colombo et al. 2014). In addition to their specific morphology, protein and lipid compounds in their structures are used in the determination of exosomes. Owing to their endosomal origin, each exosome harbors membrane transport and fusion proteins (Rab GTPases, Annexins, flotillin, Endosomal Sorting Complex Required for Transport (ESCRT) 0, I, II and III.), heat shock proteins (Hsc70, Hsp90), tetraspannins (CD9, CD63, CD81, CD82), proteins take part in multivesicular body biogenesis (Apoptosis linked gene 2-interacting protein X (ALIX), Tumor susceptibility gene 101 protein (TSG101)), as well as phospholipases and lipidrelated proteins (Subra et al. 2010; Conde-Vancells et al. 2008). In spite of utilizing these proteins as positive markers, there is wide variety among exosomes released from different sources. Apart from these well-known membraneassociated proteins, over 4400 various proteins have been defined in relation with exosomes, probably serving as cargo for intercellular communication (Mathivanan and Simpson 2009). Besides proteins, exosomes are covered by phospholipid bilayer and they contain abundant certain raft-related lipids such as ceramide. cholesterol, other sphingolipids, and phospoglycerides with long and saturated fattyacyl chains (Trajkovic et al. 2008; Skotland et al. 2017; Raposo and Stoorvogel 2013). This lipid composition is in charge of their unique rigidity. The importance for ceramide in budding of exosome vesicles into multivesicular bodies has been shown (Trajkovic et al. 2008). It has been recently reported that exosomes have saccharide groups on their outer surface and these groups are enriched in α -2.6 sialic acid, mannose, polylactosamine, and complex N-linked glycans (Batista et al. 2011). Furthermore, metabolic enzymes, growth factors and cytokines are also detected inside exosomes. Besides the aforementioned structures, exosomes also harbor different variants of nucleic acids such as mRNAs



Fig. 1 Schematic presentation of stem cell-derived exosomes biogenesis and secretion. Exosomes are formed as ILVs by budding into early endosomes and MVBs. Many molecules take part in the formation of ILVs, such as lipids (such as ceramide), the ESCRT system and tetraspanins. MVBs can be fusion with lysosomes or fusion with the plasma membrane. Many Rab proteins have been indicated to participate in the transfer of MVBs to the plasma membrane and in exosome secretion.

and miRNAs (mi-214, mi-29a) (Waldenstrom and Ronquist 2014).

As each exosome has a particular cargo which is related to the parental cell, exosomes retain the molecular signature of the cell origin. They broadly express protein and RNA factors distinctive to their originating cell. For example, MHC class-II molecules, CD80 and CD86 are expressed by exosomes released from dendritic cells (Robbins and Morelli 2014). Additionally, the expression profiles of exosomes have been exploited to elucidate the situations of the parental cell, changing in relation with a pathogenic condition. It has been shown that tumor and healthy cells secreted various populations of exosomes. For instance, exosomes secreted by papillary thyroid tumors overexpress miR-146b

Moreover, SNAREs probably have a role in fusion of these MVBs with the plasma membrane. Other types of secreted vesicles bud directly from the plasma membrane, and are frequently called microvesicles. Abbreviations: *ILV* Intraluminal vesicle, *MVB* Multivesicular body, *ESCRT* Endosomal sorting complex required for transport, *SNARE* Soluble N-ethylmaleimide-sensitive factor attachment protein receptor

and miR-155 (Lee et al. 2015a, b). Therefore, exosomes have become a burgeoning area as a potential prognostic and diagnostic indicator for diseases ranging from cancers to neurodegenerative disorders. Formerly, it was considered that exosomes just released the undesirable or toxic materials for the cell (De Toro et al. 2015). On the other hand, today those vesicles are thought as natural signaling carriers and they are considered to have a crucial role for the intercellular neighboring and remote communication (Shahabipour et al. 2017). The capability of cross biological barriers including the cytoplasmic membrane and blood brain barrier is the one of the most beneficial properties of exosomes (Ha et al. 2016). This situation enables us to transport specific therapies to targeted cell types or distant sites

M. B. Küçükgüven and B. Çelebi-Saltik

such as central nervous system. Besides their role in cellular crosstalk, they are involved in the transport of small molecules between cells, which usually regulate a wide range of functions associated with immunity. Exosomes have been implicated as important structures in the development of organs or in some diseases, such as cardiovascular pathologies (Sancho-Albero et al. 2020). Owing to their critical role in the cellular cross-talk, exosomes are also fundamental for the interactions among tumor cells and their niche and therefore they participate in cancer development stages, such as evasion of the immune system, development of tumor niches, supporting of angiogenesis and proliferation of tumor cells (Kahlert and Kalluri 2013). There has been a growing attention towards exosomes rather than synthetic delivery systems which have critical drawbacks, such as increasing the blood circulation time, evading the immune system (Raemdonck et al. 2014; O'Loughlin et al. 2012). As exosomes are inherently exist in body fluids, they are stable in the physiological environment. Moreover, they are less immunogenic and detrimental in comparison to its synthetic options and due to their membrane lipids and proteins, they can provide cargo to certain targeted cells. Lastly, they can be kept for extended periods. All these mentioned significant features make exosomes convenient, ideal and feasible biological nano-vectors to deliver nucleic acids, proteins, drugs, or nanoparticles.

In this review, we will focus on stem cellderived exosomes as a therapeutic carrier and cutting-edge combinations of genetic materials, viruses and engineered tools together with exosomes in the field of targeted gene therapies. Moreover, biobanking and manufacturing methods of exosomes will be emphasized in the present review.

2 Gene Delivery Systems

Gene therapy is the unprecedented method that utilizes the gene to hamper or ameliorate any diseases. The way of gene therapy may enable clinicians to treat a disease by inserting a gene into a specific cell instead of performing surgery or using drugs. During the history of gene therapy, there are some important milestones (Fig. 2). The gene delivery systems are formed by three components: gene expression system that modulates the function of a gene in the targeted cell, a gene that codes a certain therapeutic protein, and a gene delivery system that regulates the delivery of the gene expression to particular location (Han et al. 2000). The efficient gene delivery system needs the foreign genetic material to remain stable in the host cells (Mali 2013).

To date, several gene therapy delivery methods have been developed: viral vector gene delivery systems and non-viral vector gene delivery systems (gene delivery systems based on cationic polymers, gene delivery systems based on polysaccharides, gene delivery systems based on poly(L-lysine), and gene delivery systems based on poly(ethylenimine)s). Currently, viral vectors, adenoviral vectors, retroviruses, such as lentiviruses, adeno-associated viruses (AAVs), poxviruses, are the primary carriers of nucleic acids used in gene therapy approaches to the certain sites, particularly in vivo (Table 1). But there are some drawbacks regarding virus-based vectors such as high immunogenicity and some organ related limitations. Using liposomes or polymer-based vectors to provide a wide hydrophilic lumen for the packaging of the virus has been presented in the literature. But high cytotoxicity of this approach and its difficulty make it unpreferable (Wang et al. 2019). Initially, adenovirus vectors (AVs) were a promising way regarding therapeutically in gene delivery in vivo with high efficiency due to their high transduction effectivity and absence of integration into the host genome (Wold and Toth 2013). But many issues still need to be enlightened to obtain better long-term patient results. The high host immune response still causes a serious concern; indeed, changeable expression of receptor proteins on target cells and an elevated prevalence of anti-AV vector immunity in the humans have been noted during preclinical and clinical researches (Atasheva and Shayakhmetov 2016; Gregory et al. 2011). Moreover, the inclination of AV vectors to be hijacked in the liver after systemic



Fig. 2 Some crucial milestones of gene therapy

implementation hinders effective transgene transduction, giving rise to hepatotoxicity and death (Shayakhmetov et al. 2004). So far, although AVs continue being improved for various clinical administrations, including vaccine efforts, anticancer therapeutics, and neurological diseases, several researchers have concentrated toward the improvement of emerging viral vectors that would combine low genotoxic impacts and potential clinical immunogenicity with highly influential deliveries. Currently, AAV vectors are the most frequently used viral vectors at gene therapy (Wright 2008; Drouin and Agbandje-McKenna 2013). AAV vectors surround a linear singlestranded DNA (ssDNA) genome of roughly 4.7 kilobases (kb); moreover, these vectors harbor two open reading frames coding the structural Cap (capsid) and nonstructural Rep (replication) proteins, which are interchanged with exogenous DNA of choice. When they are delivered, the ssDNA genome is turned into double-stranded DNA (dsDNA) by the host cell. This stage is conducted by two cis-acting nucleotide inverted terminal repeats having 145 nucleotides in length, permitting the integration, packaging, and replication of the viral genome (Buning and Srivastava 2019). A new generation of recombinant AAV, which is lack of viral DNA, has lately

been engineered able to traverse the cell membrane, where they could eventually deliver their cargos into the nucleus of a target cell (Penaud-Budloo et al. 2018). To date, AAVs have been applied for the treatments of hereditary blindness and spinal muscular atrophy (Gene therapy's next installment 2019; Bainbridge et al. 2015). Other clinical trials are continuing to evaluate the AAV for other disorders; but like AV vectors, it has been reported that symptoms of autoimmune response were encountered (Vandamme et al. 2017; Clement and Grieger 2016). Furthermore, their limited genome packaging capacity (~4.5 kb) is the other primary hindrance (Chamberlain et al. 2016).

Previous studies of the potential use of retroviruses for gene therapy began in the 1980s. Retroviral vectors were first implemented to treat monogenic diseases caused by a defect in a specific gene (Blaese et al. 1995; Bordignon et al. 1995). The crucial property of retroviruses is that they contain a preferential area for genome integration. Adverse effects of gene therapy caused by insertional mutagenesis were named "genotoxicity". Lentiviruses are much better vectors for gene therapy regarding genotoxicity. One of their advantages is the absence of preferential integration site (Cattoglio et al. 2010).

Transgene delivery method Adenoviral vectors	Size of inserted transgene, kb Up to 30	Time of transgene expression Short (days)	Preferred way of administration Subcutaneous, intramural, local	Immunogenicity High	Safety Low; systematic administration can lead to a systemic inflammatory response, lethal	Main field of application Vaccines, oncolytic viruses
Lentiviruses	Up to 10	Life-long	<i>Ex vivo</i> transduction of stem cells	Low	Acceptable in case of lethal diseases; risk of insertional oncogenesis	Correction of inherited genetic defects, mainly of hematopoietic system
Retroviruses	Up to 10	Life-long	<i>Ex vivo</i> transduction of stem cells	Low	Unacceptably low; high risk of insertional oncogenesis	
Adeno- associated viruses	Up to 4	Long (months, years maybe life-long)	Intramuscular	Low	High	Correction of inherited genetic defects, first therapy of polyetiological diseases
Poxviruses	Up to 20	Short (days)	Subcutaneous, local	High	Relatively high, tested on hundreds of thousands of people during the vaccination program; when using nonmodified vaccinia virus severe side effects are possible	Vaccines, oncolytic viruses
RNA viruses	Up to 2	Short (days)	Subcutaneous, intramural, local	Medium	Not enough data for the estimation; depends on each vector	Oncolytic viruses, niche applications
Plasmids	Up to 10	Short (days, weeks)	Gene gun, liposomes	Low	High	Vaccines
RNA	Up to 10	Short (days)	Gene gun, liposomes	Low	High	Therapy of polyetiological diseases

Table 1 Primary delivery methods of gene therapy products

Experimental data reported that lentiviral vectors stimulated oncogenesis considerably less frequently than retroviral vectors (Montini et al. 2006).

The investigations on exosomes are ongoing to reach valuable information in terms of their intrinsic features in controlling complex intracellular pathways (Sharma et al. 2019; Agarwal et al. 2020). Counter to AAV vectors, using of the exosomes procures the functional transfer of their cargo with minimal intervention from the immune system and it has been proven to be secure and well-tolerated (Vlassov et al. 2012). A crucial side to emphasize consists of the status of exosomes to mediate the propagation of disease related proteins participate in neurodegenerative disorders (Lim and Lee 2017). Due to their unique functions, exosomes provide improved transfection competence in gene therapy (Firquet et al. 2015). When those reasons are taken into consideration, the advantages and novelty of the combination of viral carrier ways together with exosomes are remarkable (van der Grein et al. 2018; Yao et al. 2018). Viruses are able to participate in the exosomes biogenesis pathway and integrate its viral RNA genome, miRNAs, mRNAs and proteins. After the unification, biologically active viral components would be delivered by those exosomes-enveloped viral vectors (exo-AAVs or vexosomes) from infected cells to the distant unaffected cells (Longatti 2015). Exo-AAV can also be designed to exhibit targeting peptides on their surfaces to allow improved deliveries to the target areas. In the literature, it has been shown that exo-AAVs have displayed an enhancement of transduction profiles in various AAV serotype in vitro and in vivo conditions (Frank 2010; Hudry et al. 2018). It has been noted that an improvement of the transgene expression originating from two different AAV serotypes (AAV6 and AAV 9) encapsulated with exosomes limited mostly to oligodendrocytes and neurons (Orefice et al. 2019). Clinical researches have explained that the trigger of neurodegenerative disorders could appear in a focus of genetically altered cells and spread from one site of the central nervous system to another (Frank 2010). There is a remarkable point in terms of optimizing the exo-AAV as an effective therapeutic gene delivery. The perpetual expansion of engineered optical fiber-based endoscopes allowed real-time visualization to track the exo-AAV spread into the brain, indicating it more widespread in the opposite hemisphere than conventional AAVs following intracerebral injections (Orefice et al. 2019). This study emphasizes the potential of utilizing exo-AAVs for gene delivery, especially to address the hardship of diffusion restrictions related with large fragments of DNA to arrive central nervous system cells distant from the intervention site. Encapsulated viral carriers with exosomes also propose notable benefits, both in decreasing the number of injections necessary for achieving spreading into a desirable brain area and delivering the optimal dose required to obtain the target concentration. All these mentioned properties make this type of EVs a promising delivery approach *in vivo*. Although, miRNAs and siRNAs, so called small RNAs, have been successfully loaded into EVs for various delivery implementations, the possible using of various vesicles based on their content, size, biogenesis, and secretion pathway to load and transfer foreign DNA is still relatively unclarified (Zhang et al. 2020; Zhao et al. 2020).

3 Stem Cells and Their Exosomes

Stem cells, which have the ability of self-renewal and can differentiate into any cell type, are undifferentiated cells of the human body. Asymmetric stem cells division is resulting in two unequal daughter cells: a committed progenitor and one new stem cell can enable stem cells to self-renew and create cellular diversity while maintaining a steady number of stem cells, therefore undesirable depletion or overgrowth of the stem cell population can be precluded and it helps maintain tissue homeostasis (Aguilar-Gallardo and Simon 2013). Stem cells are present in both adult cells and embryos. There are numerous steps of specialization. Totipotent stem cells, which have the highest differentiation potency, are able to form the whole organism. Zygote exemplifies totipotent stem cell regarding its characteristics. Pluripotent stem cells create all germ layers without extraembryonic structures. The pluripotency is a duration, commencing from entirely pluripotent cells such as embryonic stem cells (ESCs) and induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSC) and ending up with less potent cells - multi-, oligo- or unipotent cells. Multipotent stem cells or adult stem cells have a more limited differentiation scope, but they are able to specialize in separate cells of specific cell lineages (Zakrzewski et al. 2019). Additionally, stem cells can be categorized into five subgroups based on their origin: ESCs, adult stem cells such as mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) and hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs), fetal stem cells, iPSCs and cancer stem cells (CSCs) (Kolios and Moodley 2013). CSCs are described as a small subgroup of cancer cells that form a population of self-sustaining cells with the specific ability to give rise to the heterogeneous lineages of cancer cells involving the tumor. These cells must demonstrate three major features including having a strong potential to generate the tumor from a limited number of cells, showing self-renewal *in-vivo* and having a differentiation capacity to cause heterogeneous progenitors (Chen 2009).

CSC-derived exosomes impact tumor microenvironment. Indeed, CSC-released exosomes are able to regulate cross-talk among other malignant cells or modify healthy surrounding cells to support immune tumor escape, tumor growth and metastasis. Many studies reported that CSC-derived exosomes have a crucial impact on tumor progression (Lindoso et al. 2017). EVs derived by CSCs may enable to create a convenient microenvironment for cancer development locally and to support distant metastatic niche formation. It has been shown that cancer exosomes play an important role in induction of chemo-resistance, vascularization, tumor remodeling of extracellular matrix (ECM), and epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) with an improved migration, invasion, and metastasis (Corcoran et al. 2012; Chen et al. 2014; Sung et al. 2015). Moreover, EVs also take part in the intercellular communication between cancer cells and niche cells, like fibroblasts, that release EVs to provide invasiveness and chemo-resistance to cancer cells (Santi et al. 2015). Exosomemediated exRNA and protein transfers have been defined and used as diagnostic markers. Especially, miRNA-mediated responses have been comprehensively studied. It has been shown that miRNAs in exosomes derived from lung cancer (miR-100-5p), breast cancer (miR-100, miR-222, miR30a, miR-17), and ovarian cancer (miR-21) induce chemo-resistance (Richards et al. 2017; Yeung et al. 2016). It has been discussed that cancer EVs may support the angiogenesis by stimulating the pro-angiogenic miRNAs like miR-155, miR-210, and miR-494 which are regulated by the hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF)-1 α (Zhou et al. 2018). Recently, it has been shown that the formation of a pre-metastatic niche is supported by oncogenic miRNAs which has been transferred from cancer cells exosomes (Costa-Silva et al. 2015). Interestingly, exosomes which are released by CSCs, contribute to the tumor immune-escape response by the activation of tumor-related suppressor myeloid cells, macrophages, and the suppression of natural killer (NK) cell activity (Ludwig et al. 2017; Chow et al. 2014; Chalmin et al. 2010). It has been also reported by many researchers that cancer EVs play an immunosuppressive role in T cells by expressing Programmed Death Ligand-1, TGF- β , the Fas ligand, and the Tumor Necrosis Factor-Related Apoptosis-Inducing Ligand (TRAIL) (Chen et al. 2018; Yen et al. 2017; Abusamra et al. 2005).

As other stem cells, HSCs are able to generate EVs including MVs and exosomes. It has been reported that among the cargo molecules of HSCs-released exosomes many miRNAs and anti-apoptotic and pro-angiogenic proteins are offered to be the mediators of heart regeneration, frequently via neovascularization (Seeger et al. 2013). However, the definitive evidence of the cardioprotective effects of exosomes and MVs derived from HSCs is still unclear in the literature. Besides, EVs generated in HSC-derived cells, particularly endothelial progenitor cells and dendritic cells, have been demonstrated to procure direct cardioprotective influences in cardiovascular diseases (Vasa et al. 2001; Liu et al. 2016). It has been shown that malign HSCs are able to run away from the immune system by various mechanisms such as, impairment in lymphocyte T-reg, downregulating target antigens on their surface and excretion of immunosuppressive substances (Vinay et al. 2015). TGF- β 1 is one of the major cytokines which alleviate the function of immune cells such as lymphocyte T cytotoxic and helper (Kehrl et al. 2014; Kulkarni et al. 1993). Recently, it has been demonstrated that leukemic exosomes have an immunosuppressive impact that damage the function of immune system cells. The study conducted by Szczepanski et al. revealed that higher levels of TGF-β1 have

been indicated in acute myeloid leukemia patient exosomes, thus expression of NKG2D on NK cells is decreased and anti-leukemic features of NK cells are interfered (Szczepanski et al. 2011). Another study has highlighted that lymphoma and leukemia cells secrete malignant exosomes with high amounts of NKG2D ligands which inhibit the anti-leukemic features of NK cells (Xiao et al. 2012). Additionally, exosomes in chronic myelogenous leukemia patients harbor TGF- β 1 which restrain the proliferation and function of many immune cells. Exosomal TGF- β 1 in patients with malignant solid tumors are able to alleviate the function of lymphocyte T cytotoxic (Clayton et al. 2007).

MSCs, which are stromal cells, possess multipotent capacity to self-renewal and show multilineage differentiation. MSCs are frequently applied as a source of cellular therapy owing to their powerful immunosuppressive and regenerative impacts (Galipeau and Sensebe 2018). It has been formerly offered that MSCs display their therapeutic influence by migrating to areas of engrafting, injury, and interacting with other cells following infusion. Recently several in vivo researches showed that the therapeutic benefit of MSCs is mostly conducted by the paracrine secretion of a wide list of cytokines, chemokines, and growth factors (Wang et al. 2015). However, these pathways are not determined completely and still under research. In spite of their useful impacts, MSCs have therapeutic various drawbacks including ectopic tissue formation, immune reactions by the host, infusional toxicities given rise by the large cells physically trapped in the lung vasculature, and some concerns in terms of safety profile of the cells regarding tumor formation (Fennema et al. 2018; Jeong et al. 2011).

Recently, it has been demonstrated that MSCs secrete many EVs, including exosomes and MVs which may behave as paracrine mediators among MSCs and target cells (Mendt et al. 2018). It has been also reported that MSC-derived exosomes can replicate MSCs biologically and may serve as an alternative to entire cell therapy (Bagno et al. 2018; Lou et al. 2017). The utilization of exosomes may provide significant benefits over

their cellular counterparts owing to lower immunogenicity, a higher safety profile, and the inadequacy to directly generate tumors (Liew et al. 2017). In comparison with the relatively extensive MSCs (30-60 um in diameter), nanosized exosomes, are able to migrate effectively to the target site after infusion without getting trapped in the lung microvasculature (Borger et al. 2017). Likewise, exosomes secreted from other cells, MSC-derived exosomes take part in cellular cross-talk and carry proteins, microRNA and mRNA into desired cells (Heldring et al. 2015). So far, more than 850 unprecedented gene structures and 150 miRNAs have been defined in MSC-secreted exosomes (Lai et al. 2012). In the literature, it has been indicated that the function and phenotype of MSC-released exosomes may be different depending on the source of MSCs (Borger et al. 2017). There are explicit discrepancies in tRNA species between MSC-secreted exosomes isolated from human adipose tissue and bone marrow regarding the differentiation condition of MSCs (Baglio et al. 2015). Furthermore, the source of MSCs has been demonstrated to affect the biological influences of MSC-derived exosomes (Borger et al. 2017). Human MSCs derived from bone marrow, endometrium and adipose tissues have been compared in a rat model of myocardial infarction. The outcomes confirmed the highest cardio-protection by endometrial MSCs relative to adipose and bone marrow derived MSCs (Wang et al. 2017). These data offer that innate variations of MSC-secreted exosomes owing to their original source may have a key role in their clinical influence. Along with their intrinsic features, MSC-derived exosomes are convenient vectors to carry and deliver drugs, therapeutic genes, RNA, or enzymes to targeted areas. It has been shown that MSC-derived exosomes are able to preserve their cargo towards degradation and enable their intracellular uptake by endocytosis (Bagno et al. 2018). Lately, it has been demonstrated that exosomes display intrinsic homing abilities similar to their parental cell type. Thus, MSC-derived exosomes may reflect an optimum delivery system to regulate processes in certain target cells. Furthermore, similar to

their parental cells, the outer surface of exosomes could be altered or modified in order to improve cell-free based treatment approaches (Yang et al. 2018).

Although MSC-derived exosomes have been reported in pre-clinical studies to be secure, the clinical use of MSC-derived exosomes is limited. There is a challenge to transfer MSC-derived exosome-based therapies from the preclinical works to the clinical practice. Obtaining of the optimal MSC culture conditions and protocols for exosome generation, isolation and storage are some primary issues to be addressed (Squillaro et al. 2016). It has been reported that MSC-derived exosomes effectually suppress autoimmunity and hamper the onset of the disease in designed mouse models with type 1 diabetes and experimental autoimmune uveoretinitis (Ezquer et al. 2012; Zhao et al. 2012). Outcomes showed that MSC-derived exosomes restrain development of T helper 1 (Th1) and Th17 cells improving the balance among Th1 and Th2 immunological responses. The clinical trial conducted by Nassar et al. revealed that MSC-derived exosomes enhanced urinary albumin creatinine ratio and eGFRs, as well as remarkable decreases in creatinine and blood urea nitrogen at 1 year in patients with chronic kidney disease. Additionally, the patients displayed a remarkable soar in plasma levels of IL-10 and TGF- β with persistent substantial decreases in TNF- α (Nassar et al. 2016). In another ongoing clinical trial is assessing the security and efficiency of exosomes obtained from cord tissue derived MSCs to support healing of refractory and wide macular holes in the eye. Previous preclinical research reported that systemic implementation of MSCs decreased the inflammatory response and restricted the damage in a laser-injured retina model by regulation of the intraocular microenvironment in a paracrine attitude (Jiang et al. 2014). The experimental study indicated that transplantation of both MSCs and/or their exosomes decreased retinal injury and blocked apoptosis caused by laser injury partly by the downregulation of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1) (Yu et al. 2016). These outcomes offer that MSCs and MSC-secreted exosomes may enhance the vision function following refractory macular hole surgeries. Lastly, it has been revealed that MSC-derived exosomes loaded with miR-124 supported neurovascular healing following stroke, cured brain injury, and hindered postischemic immunosuppression in mice (Yang et al. 2017). As a result, clinical implementation of MSC-derived exosomes is a promising approach to treat many diseases.

3.1 Exosomes or Stem Cells?

In recent years, regenerative medicine has aimed to utilize human stem cells to cure tissue damages. The use of MSCs, ESCs, and iPSCs has a promising way regarding differentiation and proliferation to heal human tissue. Stem cells release various molecules including cytokines, growth factors, and EVs, in a paracrine way that lead to their therapeutic impacts (Thery 2011). However, these pathways are not elucidated entirely and still under research. In spite of their useful therapeutic impacts, stem cell based treatments have various drawbacks including ectopic tissue formation, immune reactions by the host, infusional toxicities given rise by the large cells physically trapped in the lung vasculature, and some concerns in terms of safety profile of the cells regarding tumor formation (Fennema et al. 2018; Jeong et al. 2011). The idea back in the early 2000s was that adult stem cells (MSCs) or progenitor cells may be administered to patients with diseases or damaged sites in order to treat them. It has been considered that by injecting stem cells into the body, these cells would replace the patient's unhealthy cells. But the general efficacy and safety profile of stem cell therapy has still not be enlightened (Marks et al. 2017). Although it looks like there are some benefits, cellular therapy for clinical regenerative applications has approval issues (Cuende et al. 2018). Today, only the use of blood-forming stem cells for patients with particular blood production diseases has received Food and Drug Administration approval in the clinical practice.

Exosomes harbor umpteen various types of products and this feature makes them extremely encouraging in the field of regenerative medicine. Their bilayer lipid membranes have certain marker proteins that describe them particularly to specific cells. Therefore, exosomes have a crucial impact on cell-to-cell communication (De Jong et al. 2014). A broad diversity of molecules can be carried via exosomes, such as RNA, specific proteins, and miRNA. Moreover, many studies reported that horizontal transfer of protein and mRNA take place by exosomal machinery and the genetic data delivered successfully translated into the convenient proteins (Ratajczak et al. 2006; Neviani and Fabbri 2015). It has been shown that endothelial progenitor cells-released MVs are able to protect the kidney from ischemic conditions by packaging miRNA which is accountable for stimulating regenerative pathways in the kidney (Cantaluppi et al. 2012). These studies demonstrate the power of exosomes in regenerative interventions.

In spite of many shortcomings in terms of manufacturing exosomes, recently there are promise in clinical many benefits and applications. Due to their stability in physiological conditions such as pH or temperature, and multidimensional packaging. exosomes are appropriate candidates for therapeutic medicine and stem cell-derived exosomes exhibit a way to procure cell-free regenerative medicine. Their specific and unique markers, such as tetraspanins, flotillin, ALIX, enable exosomes with a cell specific manner to uptake and unload their cargo. This distinctive affinity to target cell makes exosomes very potent carriers to deliver miRNA, drugs, protein, nanoparticles, and so forth in the body fluids without being degraded. Moreover, exosomes are less immunogenic and toxic compared to synthetic delivery vectors. Additionally, they are able to pass through the blood brain barrier (BBB) and reach certain areas. Despite further required evidence, some authors reported that exosomes may pass through the BBB via active endocytosis mechanisms (Thery 2011; Druzhkova and Yakovlev 2018). Further, peripheral EVs may lead to alterations in BBB's features by interaction with the barrier. A recent study showed that zebrafish neurons-derived

exosomes are able to control BBB integrity via miR-132 (Zhao and Zlokovic 2017).

Up to date, 91 ongoing and completed clinical trials present about exosome-based are applications. Three primary sources, namely MSCs, dendritic cells, and patient-derived tumor cells, of getting exosomes, are subjected to clinical trials. As a diagnostic and prognostic marker for many cancer types such as oropharyngeal cancer, sarcoma, and clear cell renal cell carcinoma, exosomes are promising tools. Moreover, their therapeutic impacts on various diseases are remarkable. Immature dendritic cell-derived exosomes have been utilized for non-small cell lung cancer and melanoma, for which the outcomes of reliance are similar, however in case of non-small lung cancer, MAGE-specific T-cell responses have been defined (Morse et al. 2005). To improve T-cell stimulation, dendritic cell maturation method has been laid out for non-small cell lung cancer patients.

Due to tumor antigens, such as carcinoembryonic antigen, could be derived from a patient with cancer, ascites-derived exosomes from patients were obtained. Welltolerance and safety in phase I trial have been revealed, and a tumor-related antitumor cytotoxic T lymphocyte response has been detected in the ascites-derived exosomes plus granulocytemacrophage colony-stimulating factor group (Dai et al. 2008). In addition to carrying tumor antigen, exosomes harboring chemo drug or siRNA have been utilized in the cancer treatment. There are two clinical trials (NCT02657460 and NCT01854866) applying chemo drug for the treatment of malignant pleural effusion. Methotrexate (MTX) and cisplatin has been used respectively as the anticancer drugs. The survival ratio has been found higher when MTX has been applied. KraG12D siRNA has been used as another anticancer drug type to treat patients with metastatic pancreas cancer (NCT03608631).

Consequently, exosomes are proper and highly stable biological nano-vectors taking part in a wide scope of healthy and pathological processes, for advanced targeted therapies.

4 Synthetic Exosome-Mimics

Pure populations of exosome could be obtained from exosome-releasing cells but these exosomes have oncogenic and immunogenic potential. Furthermore, EVs have complicated roles in health and disease conditions, including delivery of pathogens and disease-related proteins between cells, which are still not enlightened entirely (Saa et al. 2014). Lastly, there is a limitedness regarding the number of naturally secreted exosomes. These issues are the major obstacles for translation of naturally secreted exosomes to the clinic applications. Artificial exosome-mimics may help to overcome these limitations. Synthetic lipid vesicles or liposomes which have a spherical phospholipid bilayer pattern approximately 100 nm in diameter, can act as a primitive structure for engineered exosomes (Kooijmans et al. 2012). Liposomes could be loaded with exosome related constituents and therapeutic molecules such as nucleic acids, recombinant proteins, and synthetic drugs (Malam et al. 2009). The lipid content of liposomes can be modified. Phosphatidylserine which improves the stability of exosomes and regulate dendritic cell maturation, is one of the proper substances to imitate naturally occurring exosomes (Chen et al. 2004). Along phosphatidylserine, cholesterol with may improve cation-induced fusion (Shavnin et al. 1988). Therapeutics based on liposomes and nanoparticles have been approved for clinical practice (Fenske and Cullis 2008). A great number of engineered exosome-mimics can be produced through two methods: cell extrusion or nanoparticles polymer coated with cell membranes. Firstly, exosome-mimetic nanovesicles are fabricated via extruding cells method. Differently from liposomes, these nanovesicles loaded with doxorubicin have been targeted to tumors and displayed anti-tumor impacts like exosomes in vivo (Jang et al. 2013). Moreover, green fluorescent protein (GFP)silencing siRNA loaded into monocyte-secreted nanovesicles by electroporation could be caught by endothelial cells and ultimately knocked down GFP (Lunavat et al. 2016). Nanovesicles

produced by extruding fibroblasts transfected with shRNA could also be utilized as a vector to deliver functionally active miRNAs to targeted cell groups. The other group exploited multiple microchannels to break down murine ESCs into membrane-bound nanovesicles with a size of 60–120 nm in diameter (Jo et al. 2014a). These nanovesicles could be included in fibroblasts to deliver endogenous proteins and RNAs of stem cells to fibroblasts. Additionally, the same researchers improved a device that can produce large-scale nanovesicles utilizing centrifugal force in order to extrude cells through 10 um and 5 um filters (Jo et al. 2014b).

Lately, cell-membrane coated nanoparticles have been a burgeoning area regarding drug delivery with benefits of stability, immunecompatibility and targeting ability (Cao et al. 2016). Anti-tumor drug sTRAIL has been delivered by MSC membrane-produced nanoparticles to tumor site and inhibited tumor development in vivo, while sTRAIL with liposome did not have any anti-tumor impact (Furman et al. 2013). Cancer cell membrane-cloaked nanoparticles displayed homotypic targeting to pathological tissue with immune-compatibility, thus may behave as a possible vector for antitumor therapeutic delivery (Fang et al. 2014). Recently, it has been reported that cell membrane-coated Poly Lactic-co-Glycolic Acid (PLGA) microparticles may have protective impacts and serve as exosome-mimics for drug therapy in myocardial infarction (Tang et al. 2017).

5 Banking of Exosomes

Biobanks can be described as establishments where high-quality biospecimens are obtained, processed, and conserved by long-term storage for future researches of clinical applications (Shaw et al. 2014). The emerge of patient or disease specific therapies requires high-quality human biospecimens with proper clinical interpretation, particularly in complicated diseases such as cancer, cardiovascular, neurodegenerative, and metabolic changes in which sample heterogeneity and patient-related responses usually complicate the development of sensitivity therapeutic interventions (Natasha et al. 2014). In the burgeoning area of EVs studies, exosomes have been defined as a prognostic biomarker, diagnostic tool, drug vectors, and therapeutic targets (Vader et al. 2014; Lai et al. 2013; Properzi et al. 2013). But there is a lack of consensus on isolation procedures and meticulous criteria to characterize exosomes. When biobanking of exosomes is taking into consideration, some questions in terms of isolation, characterization and storage of exosomes need to be addressed and then biobanking of exosomes may take part in this growing area. The possibility of storing exosomes in biobanks can provide a beneficial way for several clinical interventions as well as for research aims.

5.1 Exosome Isolation and Characterization Methods

Different protocols have been defined to isolate and enrich exosomes from supernatants and some body fluids (Muller et al. 2014; Zlotogorski-Hurvitz et al. 2015). Mostly, centrifugation of the body fluid or the cell culture supernatant at 2000 g in order to eliminate the dead cells is effective and then centrifugation at 10,000 g to eliminate non-exosomal vesicles like MVs and the cellular debris has been reported. Later, a 200 nm filter, which segregates all larger particles of size over 200 nm, is used to pass through the supernatant involving exosomes. This step is continued by any well-accepted separation methods like immune-affinity sorting utilizing antibodies to the exosomal surface markers; ultracentrifugation at 100,000 g; size exclusion chromatography; isopycnic centrifugation; ultrafiltration of polymer-based precipitation (Abramowicz et al. 2016). Ultracentrifugation approach is the most commonly used method and proper for isolation of large volumes of the sample at low cost (Greening et al. 2015). Density gradient centrifugation utilizes a gradient medium like iodixanol or sucrose to segregate vesicles relying on their floatation densities. This

technique is thought as a 'gold standard' approach for isolation of exosomes and combination of these two methods is indicated to provide high-grade quality exosomal samples for proteomic analysis (Abramowicz et al. 2016). Size exclusion chromatography provides high purity outputs with minimal protein contamination, but insufficient sample yield and sparseness of the final sample are the drawbacks of this method (Lobb et al. 2015). The simplest method to isolate exosome is the polymer-based precipitation technique in which exosomes are incubated with polymers such as polyethylene glycol followed at low-speed centrifugation. The mentioned method provides an adequate throughput of exosomes but possible contamination of non-exosomal particles jeopardizes the purity of sample (Zlotogorski-Hurvitz et al. 2015). The most specific way to isolate exosomes and even subgroups of exosomes is immuno-affinity separation. A diversity of platforms such as ELISA plates, microfluidic devices, modified chromatography columns, and immune beads have been improved to catch exosomes by targeting their surface biomarkers (Greening et al. 2015; Li et al. 2017).

Various properties for the characterization of exosomes have been suggested based on their contents or physical features. As exosomes cannot be detected via conventional microscopic approaches, electron microscopy techniques including scanning electron microscopy, whole mount electron microscopy, transmission electron microscopy, and electron tomography are utilized (Peterson et al. 2015; Fertig et al. 2014; Gyorgy et al. 2011). In comparison with conventional methods, electron microscopy techniques are more formidable and laborious. Alternatively, particle tracking analysis may be used but this morphological analysis does not procure functional data of the isolated exosome-fraction (Mehdiani et al. 2015). Along with CD9, CD63, and CD81, tetraspanin markers, other markers such as TSG 101, Annexins, of exosome content have been proposed as functional markers (Peterson et al. 2015; Taylor and Shah 2015). But currently there is no consensus regarding functional specific markers. Typically, functionality is assessed by measuring exosome binding,

delivery, and release of their cargo to targeted cells. Fluorescently labeling exosomes via internal fusion proteins or via tracking dyes are achieved through live tracking, flow cytometry, or other types of fluorescence-based imaging methods. Notedly, the PKH67 uptake dye assay was applied to display the capacity of exosomes obtained from the plasma samples and preserved at -20 °C for over 30 days in order to fuse with LIM 1215 colorectal cancer cells (Kalra et al. 2013). ELISA-based techniques and Acetyl-CoA cholinesterase colorimetric methods are utilized for total protein measurements. However, these approaches measure overall functions which harbor contribution from various EV types. Therefore, the outcomes regarding function are estimated roughly (Savina et al. 2002; Gupta and Knowlton 2007).

5.2 Exosomes Storage Conditions

So far, ideal conditions for isolating or storing exosomes are not defined strictly. There is no explicit data in terms of influence of anticoagulants in the obtaining and storage of exosomes, neither optimal storage period, temperature, thawing conditions, freezing-thaw cycles, or other storage factors have been assessed in detailed. It was reported that when exosomes were stored at -80 °C, there was an advantage regarding the stability of exosomes in comparison with other degrees (Kalra et al. 2013). However, this outcome may vary for exosomes obtained from various sources and /or specific isolation methods. Moreover, the kind of lipid content of exosomes (Llorente et al. 2013; Record et al. 2014), which is source-dependent as well, is anticipated to play a role in ideal cryopreservation procedures, soaring an additional hardship for biobanking of exosomes.

6 Manufacturing Exosomes

Paracrine-like activity of exosomes and their usage as a shuttle of nucleic acid or proteins in the therapeutic interventions make a demand in the large-scale manufacturing of purified exosomes (El Harane et al. 2018; Zhang et al. 2015). There are still remarkable obstacles to the effective and potent isolation of wide quantities of specific and pure exosomes due to the lack of understanding of the relationship among exosome functions and characteristics. Therefore, exosome production under good manufacturing practice (GMP) are required. Generally, current exosome isolation and purification methods has proven to be challenging and isolation of a specific subpopulation of exosomes is even more grueling (Cvjetkovic et al. 2014; Witwer et al. 2013). No centrifugation approach provides a great number of highly purified EVs or distinct exosomes from other subtypes of EVs. Moreover, it is hard to distinguish among various types of exosomes via centrifugation methods. Besides, microfluidic techniques are considered very efficient on exosome isolation and analysis. But the drawback of this method is insufficient capacity for largescale manufacturing aims (Thery et al. 2006).

Several cultured cells will release exosomes utilizing standard cell culture media and T-flasks. As yield of cells, the production of exosomes is related to the ability to generate wide quantities of cells in ways that do not change distinct cell attitude and properties (Isasi et al. 2016). The possibility for alterations in cellular characteristics in the course of technical transfer such as equipment change and scale-up, should be taken into consideration. The consequences of alterations in culture environmental parameters such as mass transfer, pH gradient, and hydrodynamic force, upon the exosome product are not entirely found out (Brindley et al. 2011). In scaling up, some primary lines display more decreased proliferative capacity, restricted ultimate culture dimension, duration, amount of generating masses or reproducibility (Chen et al. 2011a). Serum-free medium are usually not recommended because several of the cultured cells for exosome investigations are anchoragedependent and to some degree serum supplementation are necessary. Further proteomic analysis revealed that the serum-free exosomes harbor different component levels in comparison with fetal bovine serum (FBS) exosomes. Whereas stressrelated proteins and reactive oxygen species were found in serum-free exosomes, FBS exosomes

exhibited higher levels of RNA-processing proteins. The serum-free media seems to induce alterations in the composition and function of the exosomes (Li et al. 2015). However, there is a concern regarding use of FBS: contamination of bovine exosomes. In order to hinder this situation, exosome-depleted versions of FBS may be utilized.

Stem cells secrete many crucial growth factors and stem cell conditioned medium is usually essential for effective stem cell culture *in vitro*. The lack of source for wide volumes of conditioned medium for exosome manufacturing from stem cells is another formidable factor. Accordingly, the possibilities for generating large number of stem cell-conditioned medium with which to support significant scale-up investigations on exosome manufacturing are limited (Colao et al. 2018). Moreover, it also reported that the expression of distinct exogenous proteins in cultured cells may affect the properties and type of exosomes (Whitford and Guterstam 2019).

Currently, state of art approaches, which improve culture surface area, such as hollowreactors. culture in fixed-bed fiber or microcarriers in stirred-tank reactors have been focused on (Panchalingam et al. 2015). Along with large-scale cell production demands, it is mandatory to regulate environmental parameters such as pH, temperature, and cell's phenotype (Chen et al. 2011b). Large-scale mass exosome manufacturing is achieved in such formats like using many of large flasks, wide fixed-bed bioreactors, multiple stacked array multilayer culture flasks, stirred-tank bioreactors employing microcarriers or continuous production in perfusion reactors (Colao et al. 2018). These modern approaches exist for improvement of mass manufacturing and a clinically-related exosome production format.

Owing to the poor ability of in vitro exosome production, the present scale-up of standard batch-mode manufacturing could harbor hundreds of flasks or a remarkable investment in the more complicated and more costly multilayer flask systems. Drawbacks of these methods include the cost of culture expansion prior to the main production stage or the extra cost and timing of beginning of the production phase in serummodified or serum-adjusted medium. Secondly, stirred-tank bioreactor cultures using microcarriers have been defined that there are not too many difficulties associated with this upstream production method. There are several scale factors and fundamental environmental conditions differentiating impeller-based bioreactor culture and small-scale flask culture. Gas mass transfer differences, cell-to-microcarrier binding, and the hydrodynamic forces created in agitation and sparging are some of the factors that cause concerns regarding production efficiency and culture progression (Chen et al. 2011b). Thirdly, perfusion-based production systems may overcome some of these concerns and hamper the additional processes and restrictions related to microcarriers. These approaches can not only promote culture over a prolonged period but also can concentrate exosomes in a membrane separated compartment, facilitating feeding and harvest. The cell containing side of the perfusion apparatus also promotes the sorting of growth factors, permitting a severe decrease in additional serum, factors or conditioned medium (Wen et al. 2011). For even larger mass production, many porous 3D scaffolds and fiber-based packed and fixed-bed bioreactors are now available (Habibi et al. 2020). Hollow-fiber perfusion bioreactors have been utilized in cell culture for years and their use in mass manufacturing of exosomes have been reported (Watson et al. 2016). These reactors are able to support wide quantities of cells at high densities in perpetual culture mode without splitting the cells and maintain larger secreted products such as exosomes.

Several various productions platforms and modes exist and they are laid out to produce different types of exosomes for investigations and clinical applications. Standard exosome isolation, characterization techniques have not been established entirely. Further tailoring and standardization for specific exosome subgroups, within the larger-scale exosome production, is required. As mediators of crosstalk among cells, EVs can be exploited for therapeutic and diagnostic goals. Whereas naturally secreted exosomes may have beneficial impacts on definite diseases, targeted exosomes loaded with therapeutic molecules may make outcomes optimal. Biological molecules, such as recombinant proteins, siRNA and miRNA, are hard to be delivered intracellularly without the use of a carrier. EV obtaining and characterization methods have become more common in clinical implementations. But the complicated structure, the changeable composition and oncogenic, immunogenic potential of exosomes may restrict their applications. A potential alternative is the advancement of exosome mimetics which may improve stability, targeting, immunogenicity, and uptake. Taken together, with the improvement of gene delivery tools, the ongoing advancement of exosomebased carrier methods will thrive the targeted gene treatments as accessible therapies for grueling diseases in the future. Bioproduction of exosomes for preclinical tests, diagnostic and therapeutic purposes continue to be discovered. Further standardized and potent approaches regarding large-scale manufacturing of exosomes under GMP and storage conditions are required to transfer exosomes to the clinical practice.

Acknowledgments We thank to Hacettepe University.

- **Declarations Funding:** This work did not receive any specific grant from funding agencies.
- **Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare no conflict of interest, financial or otherwise.
- Availability of data and material: Not applicable
- Code availability: Not applicable.
- Authors' contributions: All authors have made substantial contributions to the study.
- Ethics approval: Not applicable.
- Consent for participate: Not applicable.
- Consent for Publication: Not applicable.

References

- Abramowicz A, Widlak P, Pietrowska M (2016) Proteomic analysis of exosomal cargo: the challenge of high purity vesicle isolation. Mol BioSyst 12 (5):1407–1419
- Abusamra AJ, Zhong ZH, Zheng XF et al (2005) Tumor exosomes expressing Fas ligand mediate CD8(+) T-cell apoptosis. Blood Cell Mol Dis 35(2):169–173
- Agarwal S, Agarwal V, Agarwal M, Singh M (2020) Exosomes: structure, biogenesis, types and application in diagnosis and gene and Drug delivery. Curr Gene Ther 20(3):195–206
- Aguilar-Gallardo C, Simon C (2013) Cells, stem cells, and cancer stem cells. Semin Reprod Med 31(1):5–13
- Atasheva S, Shayakhmetov DM (2016) Adenovirus sensing by the immune system. Curr Opin Virol 21:109–113
- Baglio SR, Rooijers K, Koppers-Lalic D et al (2015) Human bone marrow- and adipose-mesenchymal stem cells secrete exosomes enriched in distinctive miRNA and tRNA species. Stem Cell Res Ther 6:127
- Bagno L, Hatzistergos KE, Balkan W, Hare JM (2018) Mesenchymal stem cell-based therapy for cardiovascular disease: progress and challenges. Mol Ther 26 (7):1610–1623
- Bainbridge JWB, Mehat MS, Sundaram V et al (2015) Long-term effect of gene therapy on Leber's congenital Amaurosis. N Engl J Med 372(20):1887–1897
- Batista BS, Eng WS, Pilobello KT, Hendricks-Munoz KD, Mahal LK (2011) Identification of a conserved glycan signature for microvesicles. J Proteome Res 10 (10):4624–4633
- Blaese RM, Culver KW, Miller AD et al (1995) T lymphocyte-directed gene therapy for ADA- SCID: initial trial results after 4 years. Science 270 (5235):475–480
- Bordignon C, Notarangelo LD, Nobili N et al (1995) Gene therapy in peripheral blood lymphocytes and bone marrow for ADA- immunodeficient patients. Science 270(5235):470–475
- Borger V, Bremer M, Ferrer-Tur R et al (2017) Mesenchymal stem/stromal cell-derived extracellular vesicles and their potential as novel immunomodulatory therapeutic agents. Int J Mol Sci 18(7):1450
- Brindley D, Moorthy K, Lee JH, Mason C, Kim HW, Wall I (2011) Bioprocess forces and their impact on cell behavior: implications for bone regeneration therapy. J Tissue Eng 2011:620247
- Buning H, Srivastava A (2019) Capsid modifications for targeting and improving the efficacy of AAV vectors. Mol Ther Methods Clin Dev 12:248–265
- Cantaluppi V, Gatti S, Medica D et al (2012) Microvesicles derived from endothelial progenitor cells protect the kidney from ischemia-reperfusion injury by microRNA-dependent reprogramming of resident renal cells. Kidney Int 82(4):412–427

- Cao HQ, Dan ZL, He XY et al (2016) Liposomes coated with isolated macrophage membrane can target lung metastasis of breast Cancer. ACS Nano 10 (8):7738–7748
- Cattoglio C, Pellin D, Rizzi E et al (2010) High-definition mapping of retroviral integration sites identifies active regulatory elements in human multipotent hematopoietic progenitors. Blood 116(25):5507–5517
- Chalmin F, Ladoire S, Mignot G et al (2010) Membraneassociated Hsp72 from tumor-derived exosomes mediates STAT3-dependent immunosuppressive function of mouse and human myeloid-derived suppressor cells. J Clin Invest 120(2):457–471
- Chamberlain K, Riyad JM, Weber T (2016) Expressing transgenes that exceed the packaging capacity of adeno-associated virus capsids. Hum Gene Ther Methods 27(1):1–12
- Chen ZG (2009) The cancer stem cell concept in progression of head and neck cancer. J Oncol 2009:894064
- Chen X, Doffek K, Sugg SL, Shilyansky J (2004) Phosphatidylserine regulates the maturation of human dendritic cells. J Immunol 173(5):2985–2994
- Chen TS, Arslan F, Yin Y et al (2011a) Enabling a robust scalable manufacturing process for therapeutic exosomes through oncogenic immortalization of human ESC-derived MSCs. J Transl Med 9:47
- Chen AK, Chen X, Choo AB, Reuveny S, Oh SK (2011b) Critical microcarrier properties affecting the expansion of undifferentiated human embryonic stem cells. Stem Cell Res 7(2):97–111
- Chen WX, Liu XM, Lv MM et al (2014) Exosomes from drug-resistant breast cancer cells transmit chemoresistance by a horizontal transfer of microRNAs. PLoS One 9(4):e95240
- Chen G, Huang AC, Zhang W et al (2018) Exosomal PD-L1 contributes to immunosuppression and is associated with anti-PD-1 response. Nature 560 (7718):382–386
- Chow A, Zhou W, Liu L et al (2014) Macrophage immunomodulation by breast cancer-derived exosomes requires toll-like receptor 2-mediated activation of NF-kappaB. Sci Rep 4:5750
- Clayton A, Mitchell JP, Court J, Mason MD, Tabi Z (2007) Human tumor-derived exosomes selectively impair lymphocyte responses to interleukin-2. Cancer Res 67(15):7458–7466
- Clement N, Grieger JC (2016) Manufacturing of recombinant adeno-associated viral vectors for clinical trials. Mol Ther Methods Clin Dev 3:16002
- Colao IL, Corteling R, Bracewell D, Wall I (2018) Manufacturing exosomes: a promising therapeutic platform. Trends Mol Med 24(3):242–256
- Colombo M, Raposo G, Thery C (2014) Biogenesis, secretion, and intercellular interactions of exosomes and other extracellular vesicles. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 30:255–289
- Conde-Vancells J, Rodriguez-Suarez E, Embade N et al (2008) Characterization and comprehensive proteome

profiling of exosomes secreted by hepatocytes. J Proteome Res 7(12):5157–5166

- Corcoran C, Rani S, O'Brien K et al (2012) Docetaxelresistance in prostate cancer: evaluating associated phenotypic changes and potential for resistance transfer via exosomes. PLoS One 7(12):e50999
- Costa-Silva B, Aiello NM, Ocean AJ et al (2015) Pancreatic cancer exosomes initiate pre-metastatic niche formation in the liver. Nat Cell Biol 17(6):816
- Cuende N, Rasko JEJ, Koh MBC, Dominici M, Ikonomou L (2018) Cell, tissue and gene products with marketing authorization in 2018 worldwide. Cytotherapy 20 (11):1401–1413
- Cvjetkovic A, Lotvall J, Lasser C (2014) The influence of rotor type and centrifugation time on the yield and purity of extracellular vesicles. J Extracell Vesicles 3:24858
- Dai S, Wei D, Wu Z et al (2008) Phase I clinical trial of autologous ascites-derived exosomes combined with GM-CSF for colorectal cancer. Mol Ther 16(4):782–790
- De Jong OG, Van Balkom BW, Schiffelers RM, Bouten CV, Verhaar MC (2014) Extracellular vesicles: potential roles in regenerative medicine. Front Immunol 5:608
- De Toro J, Herschlik L, Waldner C, Mongini C (2015) Emerging roles of exosomes in normal and pathological conditions: new insights for diagnosis and therapeutic applications. Front Immunol 6:203
- Drouin LM, Agbandje-McKenna M (2013) Adenoassociated virus structural biology as a tool in vector development. Futur Virol 8(12):1183–1199
- Druzhkova TA, Yakovlev AA (2018) Exosome drug delivery through the blood-brain barrier: experimental approaches and potential applications. Neurochem J 12 (3):195–204
- El Harane N, Kervadec A, Bellamy V et al (2018) Acellular therapeutic approach for heart failure: in vitro production of extracellular vesicles from human cardiovascular progenitors. Eur Heart J 39 (20):1835–1847
- Ela S, Mager I, Breakefield XO, Wood MJ (2013) Extracellular vesicles: biology and emerging therapeutic opportunities. Nat Rev Drug Discov 12(5):347–357
- Ezquer F, Ezquer M, Contador D, Ricca M, Simon V, Conget P (2012) The antidiabetic effect of mesenchymal stem cells is unrelated to their transdifferentiation potential but to their capability to restore Th1/Th2 balance and to modify the pancreatic microenvironment. Stem Cells 30(8):1664–1674
- Fang RH, Hu CMJ, Luk BT et al (2014) Cancer cell membrane-coated nanoparticles for anticancer vaccination and drug delivery. Nano Lett 14(4):2181–2188
- Fennema EM, Tchang LAH, Yuan H et al (2018) Ectopic bone formation by aggregated mesenchymal stem cells from bone marrow and adipose tissue: a comparative study. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 12(1):e150–e1e8
- Fenske DB, Cullis PR (2008) Liposomal nanomedicines. Expert Opin Drug Deliv 5(1):25–44

- Fertig ET, Gherghiceanu M, Popescu LM (2014) Extracellular vesicles release by cardiac telocytes: electron microscopy and electron tomography. J Cell Mol Med 18(10):1938–1943
- Firquet S, Beaujard S, Lobert PE et al (2015) Survival of enveloped and non-enveloped viruses on inanimate surfaces. Microbes Environ 30(2):140–144
- Frank SA (2010) Somatic evolutionary genomics: mutations during development cause highly variable genetic mosaicism with risk of cancer and neurodegeneration. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107:1725–1730
- Furman NET, Lupu-Haber Y, Bronshtein T et al (2013) Reconstructed stem cell Nanoghosts: a natural tumor targeting platform. Nano Lett 13(7):3248–3255
- Galipeau J, Sensebe L (2018) Mesenchymal stromal cells: clinical challenges and therapeutic opportunities. Cell Stem Cell 22(6):824–833
- Gene therapy's next installment (2019) Nat Biotechnol 37(7):697. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41587-019-0194-z
- Greening DW, Xu R, Ji H, Tauro BJ, Simpson RJ (2015) A protocol for exosome isolation and characterization: evaluation of ultracentrifugation, density-gradient separation, and immunoaffinity capture methods. Methods Mol Biol 1295:179–209
- Gregory SM, Nazir SA, Metcalf JP (2011) Implications of the innate immune response to adenovirus and adenoviral vectors. Future Virol 6(3):357–374
- Gupta S, Knowlton AA (2007) HSP60 trafficking in adult cardiac myocytes: role of the exosomal pathway. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 292(6):H3052–H30H6
- Gyorgy B, Modos K, Pallinger E et al (2011) Detection and isolation of cell-derived microparticles are compromised by protein complexes resulting from shared biophysical parameters. Blood 117(4):e39–e48
- Ha D, Yang NN, Nadithe V (2016) Exosomes as therapeutic drug carriers and delivery vehicles across biological membranes: current perspectives and future challenges. Acta Pharm Sin B 6(4):287–296
- Habibi R, He V, Ghavamian S et al (2020) Exosome trapping and enrichment using a sound wave activated nano-sieve (SWANS). Lab Chip 20(19):3633–3643
- Han S, Mahato RI, Sung YK, Kim SW (2000) Development of biomaterials for gene therapy. Mol Ther 2 (4):302–317
- Heldring N, Mager I, Wood MJA, Le Blanc K, Andaloussi SEL (2015) Therapeutic potential of multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells and their extracellular vesicles. Hum Gene Ther 26(8):506–517
- Hudry E, Andres-Mateos E, Lerner EP et al (2018) Efficient gene transfer to the central nervous system by single-stranded Anc80L65. Mol Ther Methods Clin Dev 10:197–209
- Isasi R, Rahimzadeh V, Charlebois K (2016) Uncertainty and innovation: understanding the role of cell-based manufacturing facilities in shaping regulatory and commercialization environments. Appl Transl Genomics 11:27–39
- Jang SC, Kim OY, Yoon CM et al (2013) Bioinspired exosome-mimetic nanovesicles for targeted delivery

of chemotherapeutics to malignant tumors. ACS Nano 7(9):7698–7710

- Jeong JO, Han JW, Kim JM et al (2011) Malignant tumor formation after transplantation of short-term cultured bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells in experimental myocardial infarction and diabetic neuropathy. Circ Res 108(11):1340–1347
- Jiang Y, Zhang Y, Zhang L, Wang M, Zhang X, Li X (2014) Therapeutic effect of bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells on laser-induced retinal injury in mice. Int J Mol Sci 15(6):9372–9385
- Jo W, Jeong D, Kim J et al (2014a) Microfluidic fabrication of cell-derived nanovesicles as endogenous RNA carriers. Lab Chip 14(7):1261–1269
- Jo W, Kim J, Yoon J et al (2014b) Large-scale generation of cell-derived nanovesicles. Nanoscale 6 (20):12056–12064
- Kahlert C, Kalluri R (2013) Exosomes in tumor microenvironment influence cancer progression and metastasis. J Mol Med 91(4):431–437
- Kalra H, Adda CG, Liem M et al (2013) Comparative proteomics evaluation of plasma exosome isolation techniques and assessment of the stability of exosomes in normal human blood plasma. Proteomics 13 (22):3354–3364
- Kehrl JH, Wakefield LM, Roberts AB et al (2014) Production of transforming growth factor beta by human T lymphocytes and its potential role in the regulation of T cell growth (Reprinted from The Journal of Experimental Medicine, 163:1037–1050, 1986). J Immunol 192(7):2939–2952
- Kolios G, Moodley Y (2013) Introduction to stem cells and regenerative medicine. Respiration 85(1):3–10
- Kooijmans SA, Vader P, van Dommelen SM, van Solinge WW, Schiffelers RM (2012) Exosome mimetics: a novel class of drug delivery systems. Int J Nanomedicine 7:1525–1541
- Kulkarni AB, Geiser A, Francis N et al (1993) Transforming growth-factor-beta-1 null mutation in mice causes excessive inflammatory response and early death. Clin Res 41(2):A213
- Lai RC, Tan SS, Teh BJ et al (2012) Proteolytic potential of the MSC exosome proteome: implications for an exosome-mediated delivery of therapeutic proteasome. Int J Proteomics 2012:971907
- Lai RC, Yeo RWY, Tan KH, Lim SK (2013) Exosomes for drug delivery – a novel application for the mesenchymal stem cell. Biotechnol Adv 31(5):543–551
- Lee JC, Zhao JT, Gundara J, Serpell J, Bach LA, Sidhu S (2015a) Papillary thyroid cancer-derived exosomes contain miRNA-146b and miRNA-222. J Surg Res 196(1):39–48
- Lee YS, Lim YS, Lee JC et al (2015b) Differential expression levels of plasma-derived miR-146b and miR-155 in papillary thyroid cancer. Oral Oncol 51(1):77–83
- Li J, Lee Y, Johansson HJ et al (2015) Serum-free culture alters the quantity and protein composition of neuroblastoma-derived extracellular vesicles. J Extracell Vesicles 4:26883

- Li P, Kaslan M, Lee SH, Yao J, Gao Z (2017) Progress in exosome isolation techniques. Theranostics 7 (3):789–804
- Liew LC, Katsuda T, Gailhouste L, Nakagama H, Ochiya T (2017) Mesenchymal stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles: a glimmer of hope in treating Alzheimer's disease. Int Immunol 29(1):11–19
- Lim YJ, Lee SJ (2017) Are exosomes the vehicle for protein aggregate propagation in neurodegenerative diseases? Acta Neuropathol Commun 5(1):64
- Lindoso RS, Collino F, Vieyra A (2017) Extracellular vesicles as regulators of tumor fate: crosstalk among cancer stem cells, tumor cells and mesenchymal stem cells. Stem Cell Investig 4:75
- Liu H, Gao W, Yuan J et al (2016) Exosomes derived from dendritic cells improve cardiac function via activation of CD4(+) T lymphocytes after myocardial infarction. J Mol Cell Cardiol 91:123–133
- Llorente A, Skotland T, Sylvanne T et al (2013) Molecular lipidomics of exosomes released by PC-3 prostate cancer cells. Biochim Biophys Acta 1831(7):1302–1309
- Lobb RJ, Becker M, Wen SW et al (2015) Optimized exosome isolation protocol for cell culture supernatant and human plasma. J Extracell Vesicles 4:27031
- Longatti A (2015) The dual role of exosomes in hepatitis a and C virus transmission and viral immune activation. Viruses-Basel 7(12):6707–6715
- Lou GH, Chen Z, Zheng M, Liu YN (2017) Mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomes as a new therapeutic strategy for liver diseases. Exp Mol Med 49:e346
- Ludwig S, Floros T, Theodoraki MN et al (2017) Suppression of lymphocyte functions by plasma exosomes correlates with disease activity in patients with head and neck Cancer. Clin Cancer Res 23(16):4843–4854
- Lunavat TR, Jang SC, Nilsson L et al (2016) RNAi delivery by exosome-mimetic nanovesicles – implications for targeting c-Myc in cancer. Biomaterials 102:231–238
- Malam Y, Loizidou M, Seifalian AM (2009) Liposomes and nanoparticles: nanosized vehicles for drug delivery in cancer. Trends Pharmacol Sci 30(11):592–599
- Mali S (2013) Delivery systems for gene therapy. Indian J Hum Genet 19(1):3–8
- Marks PW, Witten CM, Califf RM (2017) Clarifying stem-cell therapy's benefits and risks. N Engl J Med 376(11):1007–1009
- Mathivanan S, Simpson RJ (2009) ExoCarta: a compendium of exosomal proteins and RNA. Proteomics 9 (21):4997–5000
- Mehdiani A, Maier A, Pinto A, Barth M, Akhyari P, Lichtenberg A (2015) An innovative method for exosome quantification and size measurement. J Vis Exp 95:50974
- Mendt M, Kamerkar S, Sugimoto H et al (2018) Generation and testing of clinical-grade exosomes for pancreatic cancer. JCI Insight 3(8):e99263
- Montini E, Cesana D, Schmidt M et al (2006) Hematopoietic stem cell gene transfer in a tumorprone mouse model uncovers low genotoxicity of

lentiviral vector integration. Nat Biotechnol 24 (6):687–696

- Morse MA, Garst J, Osada T et al (2005) A phase I study of dexosome immunotherapy in patients with advanced non-small cell lung cancer. J Transl Med 3:9
- Muller L, Hong CS, Stolz DB, Watkins SC, Whiteside TL (2014) Isolation of biologically-active exosomes from human plasma. J Immunol Methods 411:55–65
- Nassar W, El-Ansary M, Sabry D et al (2016) Umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells derived extracellular vesicles can safely ameliorate the progression of chronic kidney diseases. Biomater Res 20:21
- Natasha G, Gundogan B, Tan A et al (2014) Exosomes as immunotheranostic nanoparticles. Clin Ther 36 (6):820–829
- Neviani P, Fabbri M (2015) Exosomic microRNAs in the tumor microenvironment. Front Med (Lausanne) 2:47
- O'Loughlin AJ, Woffindale CA, Wood MJ (2012) Exosomes and the emerging field of exosome-based gene therapy. Curr Gene Ther 12(4):262–274
- Orefice NS, Souchet B, Braudeau J et al (2019) Real-time monitoring of exosome enveloped-MV spreading by endomicroscopy approach: a new tool for gene delivery in the brain. Mol Ther Methods Clin Dev 14:237–251
- Panchalingam KM, Jung S, Rosenberg L, Behie LA (2015) Bioprocessing strategies for the large-scale production of human mesenchymal stem cells: a review. Stem Cell Res Ther 6:225
- Penaud-Budloo M, Francois A, Clement N, Ayuso E (2018) Pharmacology of recombinant adenoassociated virus production. Mol Ther Methods Clin Dev 8:166–180
- Peterson MF, Otoc N, Sethi JK, Gupta A, Antes TJ (2015) Integrated systems for exosome investigation. Methods 87:31–45
- Properzi F, Logozzi M, Fais S (2013) Exosomes: the future of biomarkers in medicine. Biomark Med 7 (5):769–778
- Raemdonck K, Braeckmans K, Demeester J, De Smedt SC (2014) Merging the best of both worlds: hybrid lipidenveloped matrix nanocomposites in drug delivery. Chem Soc Rev 43(1):444–472
- Raposo G, Stoorvogel W (2013) Extracellular vesicles: exosomes, microvesicles, and friends. J Cell Biol 200 (4):373–383
- Ratajczak MZ, Ratajczak J (2017) Extracellular microvesicles as game changers in better understanding the complexity of cellular interactions-from bench to clinical applications. Am J Med Sci 354(5):449–452
- Ratajczak J, Miekus K, Kucia M et al (2006) Embryonic stem cell-derived microvesicles reprogram hematopoietic progenitors: evidence for horizontal transfer of mRNA and protein delivery. Leukemia 20 (5):847–856
- Record M, Carayon K, Poirot M, Silvente-Poirot S (2014) Exosomes as new vesicular lipid transporters involved in cell-cell communication and various pathophysiologies. BBA-Mol Cell Biol L 1841(1):108–120

- Richards KE, Zeleniak AE, Fishel ML, Wu J, Littlepage LE, Hill R (2017) Cancer-associated fibroblast exosomes regulate survival and proliferation of pancreatic cancer cells. Oncogene 36(13):1770–1778
- Robbins PD, Morelli AE (2014) Regulation of immune responses by extracellular vesicles. Nat Rev Immunol 14(3):195–208
- Saa P, Yakovleva O, de Castro J et al (2014) First demonstration of transmissible spongiform encephalopathyassociated prion protein (PrPTSE) in extracellular vesicles from plasma of mice infected with mouseadapted variant Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease by in vitro amplification. J Biol Chem 289(42):29247–29260
- Sancho-Albero M, Medel-Martinez A, Martin-Duque P (2020) Use of exosomes as vectors to carry advanced therapies. RSC Adv 10(40):23975–23987
- Santi A, Caselli A, Ranaldi F et al (2015) Cancer associated fibroblasts transfer lipids and proteins to cancer cells through cargo vesicles supporting tumor growth. BBA-Mol Cell Res 1853(12):3211–3223
- Savina A, Vidal M, Colombo MI (2002) The exosome pathway in K562 cells is regulated by Rab11. J Cell Sci 115(12):2505–2515
- Seeger FH, Zeiher AM, Dimmeler S (2013) MicroRNAs in stem cell function and regenerative therapy of the heart. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 33 (8):1739–1746
- Shahabipour F, Barati N, Johnston TP, Derosa G, Maffioli P, Sahebkar A (2017) Exosomes: Nanoparticulate tools for RNA interference and drug delivery. J Cell Physiol 232(7):1660–1668
- Sharma P, Mesci P, Carromeu C et al (2019) Exosomes regulate neurogenesis and circuit assembly. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 116(32):16086–16094
- Shavnin SA, Pedroso de Lima MC, Fedor J, Wood P, Bentz J, Duzgunes N (1988) Cholesterol affects divalent cation-induced fusion and isothermal phase transitions of phospholipid membranes. Biochim Biophys Acta 946(2):405–416
- Shaw DM, Elger BS, Colledge F (2014) What is a biobank? Differing definitions among biobank stakeholders. Clin Genet 85(3):223–227
- Shayakhmetov DM, Li ZY, Ni SH, Lieber A (2004) Analysis of adenovirus sequestration in the liver, transduction of hepatic cells, and innate toxicity after injection of fiber-modified vectors. J Virol 78(10):5368–5381
- Skotland T, Sandvig K, Llorente A (2017) Lipids in exosomes: current knowledge and the way forward. Prog Lipid Res 66:30–41
- Squillaro T, Peluso G, Galderisi U (2016) Clinical trials with mesenchymal stem cells: an update. Cell Transplant 25(5):829–848
- Subra C, Grand D, Laulagnier K et al (2010) Exosomes account for vesicle-mediated transcellular transport of activatable phospholipases and prostaglandins. J Lipid Res 51(8):2105–2120
- Sung BH, Ketova T, Hoshino D, Zijlstra A, Weaver AM (2015) Directional cell movement through tissues is controlled by exosome secretion. Nat Commun 6:7164

- Szczepanski MJ, Szajnik M, Welsh A, Whiteside TL, Boyiadzis M (2011) Blast-derived microvesicles in sera from patients with acute myeloid leukemia suppress natural killer cell function via membraneassociated transforming growth factor-beta1. Haematologica 96(9):1302–1309
- Tang JA, Shen DL, Caranasos TG et al (2017) Therapeutic microparticles functionalized with biomimetic cardiac stem cell membranes and secretome. Nat Commun 8:13724
- Taylor DD, Shah S (2015) Methods of isolating extracellular vesicles impact down-stream analyses of their cargoes. Methods 87:3–10
- Thery C (2011) Exosomes: secreted vesicles and intercellular communications. F1000 Biol Rep 3:15
- Thery C, Amigorena S, Raposo G, Clayton A (2006) Isolation and characterization of exosomes from cell culture supernatants and biological fluids. Curr Protoc Cell Biol Chapter 3:Unit 3 22
- Trajkovic K, Hsu C, Chiantia S et al (2008) Ceramide triggers budding of exosome vesicles into multivesicular endosomes. Science 319(5867):1244–1247
- Vader P, Breakefield XO, Wood MJA (2014) Extracellular vesicles: emerging targets for cancer therapy. Trends Mol Med 20(7):385–393
- van der Grein SG, Defourny KAY, Slot EFJ, Nolte-'t Hoen ENM (2018) Intricate relationships between naked viruses and extracellular vesicles in the crosstalk between pathogen and host. Semin Immunopathol 40 (5):491–504
- Vandamme C, Adjali O, Mingozzi F (2017) Unraveling the complex story of immune responses to AAV vectors trial after trial. Hum Gene Ther 28 (11):1061–1074
- Vasa M, Fichtlscherer S, Adler K et al (2001) Increase in circulating endothelial progenitor cells by statin therapy in patients with stable coronary artery disease. Circulation 103(24):2885–2890
- Vinay DS, Ryan EP, Pawelec G et al (2015) Immune evasion in cancer: mechanistic basis and therapeutic strategies. Semin Cancer Biol 35:S185–SS98
- Vlassov AV, Magdaleno S, Setterquist R, Conrad R (2012) Exosomes: current knowledge of their composition, biological functions, and diagnostic and therapeutic potentials. BBA-Gen Subjects 1820(7):940–948
- Waldenstrom A, Ronquist G (2014) Role of exosomes in myocardial remodeling. Circ Res 114(2):315–324
- Wang Z, Wang Y, Wang Z et al (2015) Engineered mesenchymal stem cells with enhanced tropism and paracrine secretion of cytokines and growth factors to treat traumatic brain injury. Stem Cells 33(2):456–467
- Wang K, Jiang Z, Webster KA et al (2017) Enhanced cardioprotection by human endometrium mesenchymal stem cells driven by Exosomal MicroRNA-21. Stem Cell Transl Med 6(1):209–222
- Wang Y, Huang H, Zou H et al (2019) Liposome encapsulation of oncolytic virus M1 to reduce immunogenicity and immune clearance in vivo. Mol Pharm 16 (2):779–785

- Watson DC, Bayik D, Srivatsan A et al (2016) Efficient production and enhanced tumor delivery of engineered extracellular vesicles. Biomaterials 105:195–205
- Wen YT, Chang YC, Lin LC, Liao PC (2011) Collection of in vivo-like liver cell secretome with alternative sample enrichment method using a hollow fiber bioreactor culture system combined with tangential flow filtration for secretomics analysis. Anal Chim Acta 684(1–2):72–79
- Whitford W, Guterstam P (2019) Exosome manufacturing status. Future Med Chem 11(10):1225–1236
- Witwer KW, Buzas EI, Bemis LT et al (2013) Standardization of sample collection, isolation and analysis methods in extracellular vesicle research. J Extracell Vesicles 2(1):20360
- Wold WSM, Toth K (2013) Adenovirus vectors for gene therapy, vaccination and Cancer gene therapy. Curr Gene Ther 13(6):421–433
- Wright JF (2008) Manufacturing and characterizing AAV-based vectors for use in clinical studies. Gene Ther 15(11):840–848
- Xiao D, Ohlendorf J, Chen Y et al (2012) Identifying mRNA, microRNA and protein profiles of melanoma exosomes. PLoS One 7(10):e46874
- Yang JL, Zhang XF, Chen XJ, Wang L, Yang GD (2017) Exosome mediated delivery of miR-124 promotes neurogenesis after ischemia. Mol Ther Nucleic Acids 7:278–287
- Yang Y, Hong Y, Cho E, Kim GB, Kim IS (2018) Extracellular vesicles as a platform for membrane-associated therapeutic protein delivery. J Extracell Vesicles 7 (1):1440131
- Yao ZL, Qiao YS, Li XF et al (2018) Exosomes exploit the virus entry machinery and pathway to transmit alpha interferon-induced antiviral activity. J Virol 92(24): e01578
- Yen EY, Miaw SC, Yu JS, Lai IR (2017) Exosomal TGF-beta is correlated with lymphatic metastasis of gastric cancers. Am J Cancer Res 7(11):2199–2208

- Yeung CLA, Co NN, Tsuruga T et al (2016) Exosomal transfer of stroma-derived miR21 confers paclitaxel resistance in ovarian cancer cells through targeting APAF1. Nat Commun 7:11150
- Yu B, Shao H, Su C et al (2016) Exosomes derived from MSCs ameliorate retinal laser injury partially by inhibition of MCP-1. Sci Rep 6:34562
- Zakrzewski W, Dobrzynski M, Szymonowicz M, Rybak Z (2019) Stem cells: past, present, and future. Stem Cell Res Ther 10(1):68
- Zhang J, Guan J, Niu X et al (2015) Exosomes released from human induced pluripotent stem cells-derived MSCs facilitate cutaneous wound healing by promoting collagen synthesis and angiogenesis. J Transl Med 13:49
- Zhang D, Lee H, Jin Y (2020) Delivery of functional small RNAs via extracellular vesicles in vitro and in vivo. Methods Mol Biol 2115:107–117
- Zhao Z, Zlokovic BV (2017) Remote control of BBB: a tale of exosomes and microRNA. Cell Res 27 (7):849–850
- Zhao Y, Jiang ZS, Zhao TB et al (2012) Reversal of type 1 diabetes via islet beta cell regeneration following immune modulation by cord blood-derived multipotent stem cells. BMC Med 10:3
- Zhao L, Gu C, Gan Y, Shao L, Chen H, Zhu H (2020) Exosome-mediated siRNA delivery to suppress postoperative breast cancer metastasis. J Control Release 318:1–15
- Zhou X, Yan T, Huang C et al (2018) Melanoma cellsecreted exosomal miR-155-5p induce proangiogenic switch of cancer-associated fibroblasts via SOCS1/ JAK2/STAT3 signaling pathway. J Exp Clin Cancer Res 37(1):242
- Zlotogorski-Hurvitz A, Dayan D, Chaushu G et al (2015) Human saliva-derived exosomes: comparing methods of isolation. J Histochem Cytochem 63(3):181–189

Adv Exp Med Biol - Cell Biology and Translational Medicine (2021) 13: 67–87 https://doi.org/10.1007/5584_2020_593 © Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020 Published online: 7 November 2020



Interests of Exosomes in Bone and Periodontal Regeneration: A Systematic Review

Pierre-Yves Gegout, Céline Stutz, Jessica Olson, Fareeha Batool, Catherine Petit, Henri Tenenbaum, Nadia Benkirane-Jessel, and Olivier Huck

Abstract

Periodontitis is an infectious inflammatory disease characterized by clinical attachment loss and tooth supporting tissue destruction. As exosomes demonstrated pro-regenerative ability, their use in periodontal treatment has been suggested. The aim of this systematic review is

P.-Y. Gegout, C. Petit, and O. Huck (X)

to gather and summarize the most recent data regarding exosomes to determine their potential impact in bone and periodontal regeneration. Electronic databases (Pubmed, Web of Science) were searched up to February 2020. Studies assessing the impact of exosomes administration in experimental bone and periodontal defects have been identified according to PRISMA guidelines. Among the 183 identified articles, 16 met the inclusion criteria and were included in this systematic review. Experimental bone defects were mainly surgically induced with a dental bur or distraction tools. All studies considered bone healing after exosomes administration as the primary outcome. Results showed that mesenchymal stem cells derived exosomes administration promoted bone healing and neovascularization. Nevertheless, a doseeffect relationship was observed. Exosomes administration appears to promote significantly the bone healing and periodontal regeneration. However, only a limited number of studies have been carried out so far and the optimized protocols in this context need to be evaluated.

INSERM, UMR 1260 'Osteoarticular and Dental Regenerative Nanomedicine', Faculté de Médecine, Fédération de Médecine Translationnelle de Strasbourg (FMTS), Strasbourg, France

Periodontology, Dental Faculty, University of Strasbourg, Strasbourg, France

Pôle de Médecine et de Chirurgie Bucco-Dentaires, Hôpitaux Universitaires de Strasbourg, Strasbourg, France e-mail: o.huck@unistra.fr

C. Stutz, F. Batool, and N. Benkirane-Jessel INSERM, UMR 1260 'Osteoarticular and Dental Regenerative Nanomedicine', Faculté de Médecine, Fédération de Médecine Translationnelle de Strasbourg (FMTS), Strasbourg, France

J. Olson

Department of Biology and Marine Biology, University of North Carolina Wilmington, Wilmington, NC, USA

H. Tenenbaum

INSERM, UMR 1260 'Osteoarticular and Dental Regenerative Nanomedicine', Faculté de Médecine, Fédération de Médecine Translationnelle de Strasbourg (FMTS), Strasbourg, France

Periodontology, Dental Faculty, University of Strasbourg, Strasbourg, France
Bone healing · Cell-free · Exosomes · Periodontal regeneration · Periodontitis · Wound healing

Abbreviations

APSC	Apical papilla stem cell
BMC	Bone marrow cell
BMMSC	Bone marrow mesenchymal stem cell
DFSC	Dental follicle stem cell
DMOG	Dimethyloxaloyglycine
DPSC	Dental pulp stem cell
EMD	Enamel matrix derivative
EPC	Endothelial progenitor cell
Exos	Exosomes
GMSC	Gingiva-derived stem cell
GTR	Guided tissue regeneration
HA	Hydroxyapatite
hASC	Human adipose mesenchymal stem cell
hBSC	Human bone stem cell
hiPSC	Mesenchymal stem cells derived
	from human induced pluripotent stem cell
hiPS-	Human induced pluripotent stem
MSC	cell-derived mesenchymal stem cell
hMSC	Human mesenchymal stem cell
HSP	Heat shock protein
hucMSC	Hypoxic mesenchymal stem cell
	from human umbilic cord
HUVEC	Human umbilical vein endothelial cell
Micro-	Micro-computed tomography
CT	
MSC	Mesenchymal stem cell
MVBs	Multivesicular bodies
PBS	Phosphate-buffered saline
PC	Periosteum-derived cell
PDGF	Platelet derived growth factor
PDL	Periodontal ligament
PDLSC	Periodontal ligament stem cell
PLGA	Poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid)
PSC	Perivascular stem cell

SHED	Stem cell from human exfoliated
	deciduous teeth
SMC	Sinus mucosa cell
TLR	Toll-like receptor
uMSC	Umbilical cord mesenchymal stem
	cell
β-TCP	Tricalcium phosphate β

1 Introduction

Periodontitis is an infectious inflammatory disease caused by oral dysbiosis that affects 50% of adults and is more prevalent in men (Kinane et al. 2017; Eke et al. 2015). Periodontitis leads to the destruction of tooth supporting periodontal structures such as alveolar bone, periodontal ligament and cementum (Kinane et al. 2017). This disease is considered the sixth most widespread disease in the world and is the leading cause of tooth loss. Global economic burden owing to high grade periodontitis alone has been estimated to be 54 billion USD each year (Tonetti et al. 2017).

Periodontal treatment mainly consists of non-surgical scaling and root planing or surgical approach in severe cases with adjuvant therapy such as antibiotics, antiseptics or other therapeutics to optimize the treatment outcomes (Graziani et al. 2017). However, in most of the cases, only a repair of the degraded tissue is achieved resulting in the appearance of a long junctional epithelium, consequently, compromising an ad integrum regeneration (Caton et al. 2018) (Fig. 1). In the last decade, periodontal surgery has not seen much evolution in terms of techniques and materials used. According to the type of defect and the amount of remaining bone walls, different regenerative procedures with several types of biomaterials such as enamel matrix derivative (EMD), bone graft materials or membranes have been proposed (Cortellini and Tonetti 2015). Indeed, EMD induces and promotes periodontal regeneration in intrabony containing, deep and narrow defects (Cortellini and Tonetti 2015) which is 2.46 times more likely to achieve a clinical attachment level (CAL) gain greater



Fig. 1 Periodontal destruction associated with periodontitis. Current therapeutic strategies including scaling and root planing will lead to tissue repair through the establishment of a long junctional epithelium. Use of guided tissue

regeneration (GTR) and specific bioactive materials will induce an *ad integrum* regeneration of the periodontium

than 3 mm in periodontal lesions of 22° than in periodontal lesions of 36° (Tsitoura et al. 2004). In the absence of bone walls or in wide defects, autologous or heterologous bone graft can provide space provision and blood clot stability. The bone graft acts as a scaffold while enhancing osteo-conductivity and osteo-inductivity (Trombelli and Farina 2008; Rosen et al. 2000). At long term, the results of such therapeutic strategies are stable over the years provided the patients have a rigorous follow-up (Nygaard-Østby et al. 2010; Sculean et al. 2006; Pretzl et al. 2009; Petit et al. 2019).

Despite the success of these methods, innovative periodontal regenerative techniques are still under development and the use of stems cells and

growth factors has been suggested in order to stimulate host regenerative potential. Indeed, 22 studies concerning periodontal regeneration induced by stem cells were identified in a recent systematic review (Tassi et al. 2017). Such studies demonstrated that the use of mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) may provide beneficial effect in the context of periodontal regeneration. Notably, several MSCs harvested in oral cavity have been tested for their pro-regenerative properties with interesting results. It includes dental pulp stem cells (DPSCs), periodontal ligament stem cells (PDLSCs), gingiva-derived stem cells (GMSCs), stem cells from human exfoliated decidual stem cells (SHED), dental follicle stem cells (DFSCs) and apical papilla stem cells (APSCs)(Yang et al.

2020). Nevertheless, other strategies have been proposed comprising the use of growth factors aiming to activate the healing process. Earlier, Nevins et al., showed an induction of periodontal regeneration by Platelet Derived Growth Factor (PDGF) treatment in localized defects (Nevins et al. 2013). Additionally, Lynch et al. demonstrated the efficacy of an aqueous gel functionalized with PDGF and Insulin Growth Factor (IGF) in periodontal regeneration (Lynch et al. 1989). Other studies have exhibited the possible positive effects of other growth factors such as Fibroblast Growth Factor (FGF), PDGF, IGF, Transforming Growth Factor (TGF), Epidermal Growth Factor (EGF) in periodontal wound healing and regeneration (Caffesse and Quiñones 1993). However, the use of stem cells and growth factors in dental practice is still debated. For instance, their use is prohibited in Europe due to potential risk related to malignant transformation and/or uncontrolled differentiation emphasizing the need of cell-free therapy (Volponi et al. 2010; Grayson et al. 2015).

The potential of exosomes in the context of tissue regeneration has been tested. Exosomes are microvesicles ranging from 40 to 100 µm released by cells in both physiological and pathological conditions after fusion of the multivesicular bodies (MVBs) with the plasma membrane (Carretero-González et al. 2018; Skotland et al. 2017). Exosomes are composed of a complex lipid bilayer membrane (Carretero-González et al. 2018) formed by proteins, nucleic acids, lipids and other metabolites (Skotland et al. 2017). These vesicles contain different molecules including mRNA, miRNA and proteins, and play a role in intercellular communication (Carretero-González et al. 2018). However, they can be rendered a cellderived therapeutic carrier for efficient drug delivery as demonstrated with anti-cancerous agents (Carretero-González et al. 2018).

In a similar manner, exosomes can be used as a therapeutic tool to carry active molecule for the treatment of periodontitis, therefore, the aim of this systematic review was to identify the pro-regenerative effects of exosomes administration in several osseous lesion models.

2 Materials and Methods

2.1 Focused Question

In this systematic review, the authors addressed the following question:

 Does exosomes administration induce a pro-regenerative effect in bone and periodontal defects?

2.2 Screening and Selection Criteria

Two blinded independent reviewers performed an electronic literature search of the Pubmed and Web of Science databases up to February 2020 and reported according to the preferred items for systematic reviews (PRISMA) guidelines (PRISMA-P Group et al. 2015). Two different following search terms, filters, and combinations were used in the search using Boolean operators and an asterisk symbol (*) as truncation to identify papers using MesH, keywords and other free terms: ((exosome) AND (regeneration) AND (bone)) and also ((exosome) AND (bone regeneration OR periodontal regeneration OR periodontal healing OR bone healing) AND (in vitro OR in vivo)). The titles and abstracts of identified articles were screened by two reviewers and were categorized as suitable or not for inclusion in this review. Later, a careful assessment of the full text was performed for each study and disagreements between reviewers were resolved after discussion.

2.3 Eligibility Criteria

In this systematic review, the following criteria were used to determine the eligibility of a study for inclusion: (1) use of exosomes, (2) periodontal or bone defect, (3) *in vivo* study. Meta-analysis, reviews, and studies not focused on bone or periodontal regeneration induced by exosomes administration were excluded.

2.4 Outcomes

Quantitative and qualitative measurements relative to bone, cement and periodontal ligament regeneration were collected from the included studies.

3 Results

3.1 Study Selection

The flow diagram of the literature search has been described in Fig. 2. Briefly, following an initial

search by querying selected databases (Medline/ Pubmed and Web of Sciences), 183 articles were identified. 100 other articles were further identified after a manual search in the articles' references. After elimination of duplicates, 164 articles were screened. Based on the titles and the abstracts, 143 records were excluded. Among the 21 articles selected for the full-text screening, only 16 studies were included for the review. Three studies were excluded as they evaluated the *in vivo* effect of stem cells preconditioned by exosomes, another one for not being focused on the effect of exosomes and one due to the absence of a control group.



Fig. 2 Flow diagram of the literature search

3.2 Studies Characteristics

All the included studies were published between 2016 and 2020 and were performed in rodents. Among the 16 studies included, only one (Chew et al. 2019) focused on periodontal regeneration, while the remaining 15 focused on bone regeneration. Three studies used Wistar rats aged 10-12 weeks old (Takeuchi et al. 2019; Zhang et al. 2019, 2020) (Tables 1 and 2) and 7 studies used Sprague-Dawley rats (adults, 8 and 10 weeks old) (Chew et al. 2019; Chen et al. 2019a; Jia et al. 2019; Liang et al. 2019; Sun et al. 2019; Wu et al. 2019; Zhang et al. 2016) (Tables 1, 2, 3 and 4). One study was performed in osteopenic 12-weeks-old female Sprague-Dawley rats (Qi et al. 2016) (Table 1). Four studies were performed on mice, 1 study used 5-weeks-old male BALB/C mice (Li et al. 2018) and 2 studies used 10-weeks-old to 3-months-old C57BL/6 mice. Another study used CD9-/mice in addition to C57BL/6 mice (Furuta et al. 2016; Luo et al. 2019; Xu et al. 2019) (Tables 1 and 2). One study used 10-12-weeks-old mice without specifying the strain (Liu et al. 2020) (Table 2).

3.3 Induction of the Periodontal or Bony Defect

Several tools and techniques were used to induce a bone defect, mainly in calvaria and long bone. Calvarial defects were created with a dental bur which was used to create a critical size defect of 5 mm (Takeuchi et al. 2019; Chen et al. 2019a; Liang et al. 2019; Zhang et al. 2016; Qi et al. 2016) (Table 1) except in 2 studies where a smaller bone defect (diameter of 1.8 mm or 4 mm) was created (Li et al. 2018; Xu et al. 2019).

For long bone fracture models, fractures were created by bender devices or scissors (Furuta et al. 2016; Luo et al. 2019; Liu et al. 2020) (Table 2). One study induced a bone defect by drilling in the diaphysis (Sun et al. 2019). In the alveolar model, a defect of $4 \times 2 \times 1.5$ mm(Tonetti et al. 2017) was

created with a bur at the buccal aspect of mandibular bone in molar area (Wu et al. 2019) (Table 3). Finally, in one study, a periodontal defect was developed by drilling the bone on the mesial aspect of the first molar resulting in a periodontal defect of $2 \times 2 \times 1.5$ mm (Chew et al. 2019) (Table 4).

3.4 Exosomes Sources

Exosomes were isolated from different sources. Most of them were from stem cells, progenitor cells and stromal cells (Takeuchi et al. 2019; Zhang et al. 2019, 2020; Chen et al. 2019a; Jia et al. 2019; Liang et al. 2019; Wu et al. 2019; Zhang et al. 2016; Qi et al. 2016; Li et al. 2018; Furuta et al. 2016; Luo et al. 2019; Xu et al. 2019; Liu et al. 2020) (Tables 1, 2 and 3). However, 1 study used non-progenitor cells such as sinus mucosa-derived cells (SMCs) and periosteumderived cells (PCs) (Sun et al. 2019) (Table 2).

3.5 Mode of Exosomes Administration and Dose

Exosomes were administered directly in the defect in association with β -TCP particles in 3 studies (Wu et al. 2019; Zhang et al. 2016; Qi et al. 2016) (Tables 1 and 3), with hydrogel in 2 studies (Zhang et al. 2019; Chen et al. 2019a) (Tables 1 and 2), with collagen sponge in 2 studies (Chew et al. 2019; Takeuchi et al. 2019) (Tables 1 and 4), and with hydroxyapatite (HA), Bio-Oss® Collagen or PLGA respectively (Liang et al. 2019; Sun et al. 2019; Li et al. 2018). In 5 other studies, exosomes were directly injected in the defect without a scaffold (Zhang et al. 2020; Jia et al. 2019; Furuta et al. 2016; Xu et al. 2019; Liu et al. 2020). Lastly, one study involved aptamerfunctionalized exosomes injection in the tail vein (Luo et al. 2019). Moreover, a wide range of concentrations were used among studies (Tables 1, 2, 3 and 4).

Table 1 In	terest of exosomes in (calvarial defe	set				
Authors	Animal type	# of animals	Origin of exosomes	Exosomes dose	Extraction method	Scaffold and administration mode	Results
Takeuchi et al. (2019)	10-week-old male Wistar rats	4 groups $(n = 6/$ group)	hMSCs	30 µg on the membrane	Ultracentrifugation	Atelocollagen sponges (Terudermisl, Olympus Terumo Bio-materials Corp., Tokyo, Japan) loaded with exosomes and implanted in the defect.	Exosomes group showed statistically higher newly formed bone area (NFBA) (p < 0,01) compared to defect alone, PBS and exosomes conjugated with VEGF inhibitor.
					Characterized with: CD9, CD63, CD81		No difference between exosomes group and MSC-conditioned media (MSC-CM). Exosomes can be used as bioactive agents for bone regeneration.
Liang et al. (2019)	Adult male Sprague-Dawley rats weighing 250– 300 g	$\begin{array}{l} 3 \text{ groups} \\ (n = 10' \\ \text{group}) \end{array}$	hBSCs	100 µg in 200 µL of PBS	Ultracentrifugation	Classical porous hydroxyapatite (HA) scaffold (5 mm diameter, 2 mm depth, average pore size of 500 µm, 75% porosity) loaded with exosomes + PBS by injection on the	Bone volume/total volume (BV/TV) ratio in DMOG-MSC- Exosomes group higher than MSC-Exo ($p < 0.05$) and MSC-Exo better than control ($p < 0.05$).
					Characterized with: CD9, CD63, TSG101, GM130	HA in the defect.	DMOG-MSC- Exosomes promote neovascularization and enhance bone regeneration.
Xu et al. (2019)	10-week-old male C57BL/6 J mice	3 groups ($n = 4/$ group)	Perivascular stem cells (PSC)	PSC-extracellular vesicles (PSC-EV) 1 or 2.5 µg total dose	Ultracentrifugation	None	Bone volume was significantly higher for PSC-EV 1 μg (p < 0.05) and for PSC-EV 2.5 μg (p < 0.01) compare to control group.
						Subcutaneous injection every 3 days during	Perivascular EVs positively regulates
							(continuea)

Table 1 (cc	intinued)						
Authors	Animal type	# of animals	Origin of exosomes	Exosomes dose	Extraction method	Scaffold and administration mode	Results
					Characterized with: CD9, CD63, and CD81	4 weeks at the defect site.	bone defect repair by inducing proliferation, migration, and osteogenic differentiation of osteoprogenitor cells.
Zhang et al. (2016)	Sprague-Dawley rats weighing 250-300 g	3 groups ($n = 6/$ group) group)	Human-induced pluripotent stem cell-derived mesenchymal stem cells (hiPS-MSCs)	5×10^{11} or 1×10^{12} particles/mL of exosomes (100 µL) or an equal volume of exosome diluent (PBS) were blotted onto each β -TCP scaffold	Ultracentrifugation Characterized with: CD9, CD63, and CD81 CD81	Classical porous tricalcium phosphate (β-TCP) scaffold (5 mm diameter, 2mm depth) (Bio-lu Biomaterials Co. Ltd., Shanghai) loaded with exosomes and implanted in the defect.	Exosomes 1×10^{12} particles/mL group is significantly better compared with β -TCP group ($p < 0.05$), and better compared with the exosomes 5×10^{11} particles/mL group ($p < 0.05$) in term of BV/TV, bone mineral density (BMD) and newly formed bone area. Dose-dependent relationship. Increase in new bone formation in exosomes groups as control.
Qi et al. (2016)	Mature female Sprague Dawley rats (12-weeks-old, weighing 250– 300 g) osteopenic animals	27 total, 3 groups ($n = 9/$ group)	MSCs derived from human induced pluripotent stem cells (hiPSCs)	100 µg and 200 µg	Ultracentrifugation & ultrafiltration Characterized with: CD9, CD63, CD81	β-TCP scaffolds (5 mm diameter, 2 mm depth) 500 µm pore size and 75% porosity, loaded with exosomes and implanted in the defect.β-TCP scaffolds (5 mm diameter, 2 mm depth) 500 µm pore size and 75% porosity, loaded with exosomes	BV/TV and BMD significantly Higher ($p < 0.05$) in exosomes 200 µg compare to exosomes 100 µg and control group. Exosomes 100 µg significantly Higher ($p < 0.05$) compare to control group. Dose-effect relationship found.

74

Exosomes stimulated dramatically bone regeneration and angiogenesis.	BV/TV differed significantly ($p < 0,01$) (b lank< hydrogel< exosomes (NC) < exosomes miR-375; and exosomes miR-375 ($p < 0,05$)). BMD differed significantly ($p < 0,01$) (hydrogel< exosomes (NC) < exosomes miR-375), but no difference between blank and hydrogel.	Exosomes derived from miR-375- overexpressing hASCs promoted bone regeneration.	Compared to groups without exosomes, significant new bone volume (NBV) in PLGA/pDA-Exosomes group than PLGA/pDA group and PLGA alone group (p < 0.01). PLGA/pDA scaffolds with exosomes promotes bone
and implanted in the defect.	Hydrogel (Glycosan biosystems), loaded with exosomes and implanted in the defect.		4 mm diameter and 2 mm high cylindrical PLGA (Shandong, China) with polydopamine (pDA) coating = PLGA/pDA loaded with exosomes and implanted in the defect.
	Exosomes were extracted from supermatants of hASCs by differential centrifugation and filtration steps	Characterized with: CD9, CD63, β -tubulin and histone 1	Ultracentrifugation Characterized with: CD63, CD9
	Hydrogel loaded with negative control (NC) – exosomes (50 μg/mL) or hydrogel loaded with exosomes (miR-375) (50 μg/mL).		l µg/µL exosomes solution (250 µL/ scaffold)
	Exosomes derived from miR-375- overexpressing human adipose mesenchymal stem cells (hASCs)		Human adipose- derived stem cells (hASCs)
	36 total, 3 groups group)		3 groups ($n = 8/$ group)
	Male Sprague Dawley rats	Weighing 250– 300 g	5-weeks-old male BALB/C mice
	Chen et al. (2019a)		Li et al. (2018)

	Results	For callus volume/ total volume (CV/TV), exosomes statistically better compared to PBS ($p < 0.05$), hypo-exosomes better than exosomes ($p < 0.01$), hypo-exosomes better than than PBS ($p < 0.001$).	Increase of CV/TV for hypo-exosomes and exosomes compare to PBS.	BV/TV	Significantly better at 3 and 6 weeks for PC and SMC-exosomes groups compared to control group ($p < 0.05$). No difference between PC and SMC-exosomes.	Average period for bone union was significantly different ($p < 0.05$) with quicker healing time exosomes group and CM groups compared to CM-exosomes and control group, in CD9–/ – mice. In WT mice, bone union period was significantly shorter in CM group and exosomes group compared with the control and
	Scaffold and administration mode	None	Subcutaneous injection of exosomes right after the fracture at the fracture site.	BioOss® Collagen (Geistlich Pharmaceutical, Wolhusen, Switzerland) loaded with exosomes and implanted in the defect.		None Subcutaneous injection of exosomes at day 1 and 8 after the fracture at the fracture site.
	Extraction method	Ultracentrifugation and filtration	Characterized with: TSG101, CD9, CD63, and CD81	Ultracentrifugation	Characterized with: CD63, CD81 and anti-betatubulin	Ultracentrifugation Characterized with: CD9 and CD81
	Exosomes dose	200 µg precipited in 200 µL		200 µg of SMC-/PC- exosomes in 100 µL of PBS		100 µL of exosomes, conditioned media (CM), or exosomes-free conditioned media (CM-exosomes) injected at 1 and 8 days following fracture
model	Origin of exosomes	Hypoxic	MSCs from human umbilic cord (HucMSCs)	Sinus mucosa and periosteum- derived cells (SMC and PC)		Human bone marrow derived MSCs
omes in long bone fracture	# of animals	3 groups (n = %group)		3 groups (n = 12/group)		77
Interest of exose	Animal type	Mice		8-weeks-old male Sprague Dawley rats weighing 250 g		C57BL/6 wild-type and CD9–/– mice between 17 and 19 weeks-old
Table 2	Authors	Liu et al. (2020)		Sun et al. (2019)		Furuta et al. (2016)

76

m-HP hydrogelIncreased expression of Dg: GS315, vEGF in exosomes group compare to control ake City, UT, USA)ake City, UT, USA)group (p < 0.01). group (p < 0.01).l with exosomes and higher for exosomes tted in the defect.BV/TV statistically higher for exosomes group compare to PBS. Enhanced healing and angiogenesis in exosomes group.	At 2 and 4 weeks BV/TVtaneous injectionwas higher in exosomessomes right after(2) and EPCs groupscture at the(2) and EPCs groupscture at the(2) and EPCs groupscture at the(2) and EPCs groups(2) and EPCs(1) washigher at 2 weeks(1) washigher at 2 weeks(2 0.01) compare toPBS. Exosomes(2 0.01) compare toPBS. Exosomesaccelerate boneregeneration duringdistraction osteogenesisby stimulatingangiogenesis.	Acceleration of bone healing fracture (non-significant between PBS and STExosomes, but significantly higher for STExosomes-apt> STExosomes > PBS (p < 0.01)).	 out of exosolutes in rout out exosolutes in reginificantly higher 2 months. 2 months. 10 < 0.05) comparing (p <
D81 D81 D81 D81 D81 D82 D81 D81 D81 D81 D81 D81 D81 D81 D81 D81	Itracentrifugation None haracterized with: Subcu D9, Alix, and of exo SG101 the fra fractur	Itracentrifugation None	naacentzed whith inject D63, CD81 and the tail SG101 during during
100 µg/mL	$\begin{bmatrix} 1 \times 10^{10} \text{ EPC-exosome} & \underline{U} \\ (1) \text{ or } 1 \times 10^{11} & \underline{C} \\ \text{EPC-exosomes (2)} & \underline{C} \\ 1 \end{bmatrix}$	100 µg of DIR- labeled U STExosomes and an equal amount free STExosomes or DIR dye.	(STExosomes-Apt) T (STExosomes-Apt) T
Umbilical cord msenchymal stem cells (uMSCs)	Endothelial progenitor cells (EPC)	Bone marrow stromal cells (STs) were used to isolate their secreted exosomes (STExosomes).	of Lavosomes were conjugated with an aptamer (STExosomes- Apt)
48 total, 3 groups	68 total, 4 groups (n = 17/ group)	For osteoporosis model, females mice were divided in 4 groups (μ CT analysis ($n = 6/group$) and for quantitative analysis of the intensity for the positive staining areas ($n = 4/$ group)). For fracture model males mice were	divided in 3 groups for the $(n = 4/group)$
12-weeks-old male Wistar rats weighing 400-450 g	Sprague- Dawley rats	3-months-old C57BL/6 female mice and 3-months-old C57BL/ 6 male	
Zhang et al. (2019)	Jia et al. (2019)	Luo et al. (2019)	

	Results	Intravenous injection of the STExosomes- Aptamer complex enhances bone mass in OVX mice and accelerates bone healing in a femur fracture mouse model.	BV/TV was significantly higher in exosome group than in the control and in exosome-depleted CM (CM-exosomes) groups on week $20 (p < 0.01)$.	Fracture gaps in the control and CM-exosomes groups became clearer as bone vanished, but in the exosomes group new bone was formed (data taken at 8 weeks). I 4 weeks, 20 weeks). Exosomes accelerate proliferation and migration of endothelial cells and osteoblasts, which promotes angiogenesis and osteogenesis to enhance fracture healing.
	Scaffold and administration mode		None	Subcutaneous injection of exosomes at the fracture site every week from the 8th to the 20th week.
	Extraction method		Ultracentrifugation	Characterized with: CD9, CD63, and CD81
	Exosomes dose	100 µg were dissolved in 100 µL PBS	100 µL of each: PBS, complete medium without exosomes and exosomes (10 ¹⁰ particles)	
	Origin of exosomes		Bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells (BMMSCs) from the femurs of 3-weeks-old	Wistar rats
	# of animals		60 total, 3 groups (n = 20/ group)	
(continued)	Animal type		12-weeks-old mature male Wistar rats weighing 250-300 g	
Table 2	Authors		Zhang et al. (2020)	

Table 3	Interest of exc	somes in bo	ne alveolar regeneration				
	Animal	# of		Exosomes			
Authors	type	animals	Origin of exosomes	dose	Extraction method	Scaffold and administration mode	Results
Wu	8-weeks-	30 total,	Stem cells from human	100 µg of	Ultracentrifugation	β-TCP (Biolu Biomaterials Co.,	BV/TV ratio in the exosomes
et al.	old male	3 groups	exfoliated deciduous	exosomes		Ltd., Shanghai) less than 1 mm	group was 0.943 which was
(2019)	Sprague-	(n = 10)	teeth (SHEDs) –	combined		diameter, loaded with exosomes	larger than the β -TCP (0.768) or
	Dawley	group)	immature MSC	with 5 mg of		and implanted in the defect.	the control group (0.659).
	rats		population	β-TCP	Characterized		BV/TV: Control< β -TCP
					with: CD9, CD81,		(p < 0.05)
					TS101		β -TCP < exosomes (p < 0.01),
							control< exosomes $(p < 0.01)$.
							Exosomes associated with β -TCP
							enhance osteogenesis and
							angiogenesis which contribute to
							alveolar bone regeneration.

E C
regenerati
olar
alve
bone
Е.
exosomes
of
Interest
m
e
ā

						a	
						Scaffold and	
	Animal	# of	Origin of	Exosomes	Extraction	administration	
Authors	type	animals	exosomes	dose	method	mode	Results
Chew	10-	18 total,	MSCs	40 µg	Tangential	Collagen sponges	At 2 weeks,
et al.	weeks-old	3 groups			flow filtration	(CS) (HealiAid®,	significantly
(2019)	male	(n = 12/				Maxigen biotech	higher
	Sprague-	group				Inc. Taoyuan City,	percentage of
	Dawley	(left				Taiwan), loaded	BV/TV in the
	rats	right))				with exosomes	exosomes group
	weighing					and implanted in	compared to the
	289-413 g					the defect.	control group
							$(p = 0.025)^{1}$
					Characterized		The exosomes
					with: CD81.		group was
					ALIX.		significantly
					TSG101		higher at
							4 weeks
							compared to the
							control group
							(p = 0.010) and
							untreated group
							(0.007).
							Significant
							improvements in
							hope gap from
							2 to 4 weeks for
							exosomes group
							(n - 0.025)
							(p 0.025).
							anhanood
							nariodontal
							regeneration
							including bors
							and namia dont-1
							and periodontal
						1	ligament.

Table 4 Interest of exosomes in periodontal regeneration

3.6 Timing and Administration of Exosomes

In 2 studies, single exosomes administration was performed percutaneously after the bone defect creation (Jia et al. 2019; Liu et al. 2020) (Table 2). In 4 other studies, exosomes injection recurred with differences in timing, ranging from every 3 days to every week with a 1-week to 12-weeks duration (Zhang et al. 2020; Furuta et al. 2016; Luo et al. 2019; Xu et al. 2019) (Tables 1 and 2). In 9 studies, exosomes were implanted on a scaffold and placed into the defect (Chew et al. 2019; Takeuchi et al. 2019; Zhang et al. 2019; Chen et al. 2019a; Liang et al. 2019; Wu et al. 2019; Zhang et al. 2016; Qi et al. 2016; Li et al. 2018) (Tables 1, 2, 3 and 4). In addition to using a scaffold to deliver exosomes at the lesion site, one study injected a similar dose of exosomes every 2 weeks at the surface of the defect area (Sun et al. 2019) (Table 2).

3.7 Bone Healing

Most of the studies used micro-CT and histological analysis in order to compare and evaluate bone healing (Chew et al. 2019; Takeuchi et al. 2019; Zhang et al. 2019, 2020; Chen et al. 2019a; Jia et al. 2019; Liang et al. 2019; Sun et al. 2019; Wu et al. 2019; Zhang et al. 2016; Qi et al. 2016; Li et al. 2018; Furuta et al. 2016; Luo et al. 2019; Xu et al. 2019; Liu et al. 2020). All studies showed an improvement in terms of bone healing in the test groups (groups treated with exosomes) when compared to the control group. Interestingly, studies demonstrated the differential effect obtained according to different pretreatments or types of exosomes. Indeed, Takeuchi et al. found better results in MSCs exosomes treated groups in comparison to the angiogenesis inhibitor associated MSCs exosomes treated group (Takeuchi et al. 2019). In another study, regular MSCs exosomes were compared to MSCs exosomes preconditioned with a low dose of dimethyloxaloylglycine (DMOG) which showed that bone volume/total volume (BV/TV) was higher in the DMOG-MSC-exosomes group (Liang et al. 2019) (Table 1). Similarly, enriched exosomes with miR-375 induced a significantly improved bone regeneration compared to that in the control group (Chen et al. 2019a) (Table 1). Liu et al. compared exosomes derived from MSCs under hypoxia (Hypo-Exos) to exosomes derived from MSCs under normoxia (Exos) and demonstrated that Hypo-Exos had a greater effect on bone fracture healing than Exos (Liu et al. 2020) (Table 2). Furthermore, Luo et al. conjugated bone stromal cells (ST)-derived exosomes with a BMSC-specific aptamer to target bone and found a significant acceleration in bone healing with their use upon comparison with regular ST-exosomes (Luo et al. 2019) (Table 2). Four studies used different exosomes concentrations among study groups (Jia et al. 2019; Zhang et al. 2016; Qi et al. 2016; Xu et al. 2019) (Tables 1 and 2). Interestingly, three of them demonstrated a correlation between exosomes dose and bone healing (Jia et al. 2019; Zhang et al. 2016; Qi et al. 2016) (Tables 1 and 2).

3.8 Exosomes Role in Angiogenesis

Nine studies demonstrated a link between exosomes use and increase of angiogenesis (Takeuchi et al. 2019; Zhang et al. 2019, 2020; Jia et al. 2019; Liang et al. 2019; Wu et al. 2019; Qi et al. 2016; Furuta et al. 2016; Liu et al. 2020) (Tables 1, 2 and 3). In some studies, the exosomes were derived from human bone marrow stem cells (hBMCs) and human mesenchymal stem cells (hMSCs) (Takeuchi et al. 2019; Liang et al. 2019; Furuta et al. 2016) (Tables 1 and 2). Moreover, given their high proliferation and migration capacities, their low immunogenicity, and their easy collection, 2 studies used stem cells from human umbilical cord (Zhang et al. 2019; Liu et al. 2020), while the others used endothelial progenitor cells (EPCs), human induced pluripotent stem cells (hIPSCs), stem cells from human exfoliated deciduous teeth (SHEDs) and rat bone marrow stem cells (BMCs) respectively (Zhang et al. 2020; Jia et al. 2019; Wu et al. 2019; Qi et al. 2016) (Tables 1, 2 and 3). In order to detect the progression of angiogenesis, all of the studies used CD31 immunohistochemical marker (Takeuchi et al. 2019; Zhang et al. 2019, 2020; Jia et al. 2019; Liang et al. 2019; Wu et al. 2019; Qi et al. 2016; Liu et al. 2020) (Tables 1, 2 and 3). Furthermore, most of the studies used microcomputed tomography to detect the formation, or the volume increase of vessels (Zhang et al. 2019, 2020; Jia et al. 2019; Liang et al. 2019; Qi et al. 2016; Liu et al. 2020) (Tables 1 and 2). All the studies found either new vessels formation or an augmentation in vessels volume (Zhang et al. 2019, 2020; Jia et al. 2019; Liang et al. 2019; Qi et al. 2016; Liu et al. 2020) (Tables 1 and 2). Concerning the different markers targeted, all studies which used angiogenic markers have shown an increase in vessels in test groups (Takeuchi et al. 2019; Zhang et al. 2019, 2020; Jia et al. 2019; Liang et al. 2019; Wu et al. 2019; Qi et al. 2016; Furuta et al. 2016; Liu et al. 2020) (Tables 1, 2 and 3).

3.9 Exosomes Role in Cells Proliferation and Migration

Most of the studies demonstrated a link between exosomes use and cells migration and/or proliferation (Chew et al. 2019; Takeuchi et al. 2019; Zhang et al. 2019, 2020; Jia et al. 2019; Liang et al. 2019; Sun et al. 2019; Wu et al. 2019; Zhang et al. 2016; Qi et al. 2016; Li et al. 2018; Xu et al. 2019; Liu et al. 2020) (Tables 1, 2, 3 and 4). 5 studies demonstrated a positive effect of exosomes on migration and proliferation of human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVECs) (Zhang et al. 2019, 2020; Liang et al. 2019; Wu et al. 2019; Liu et al. 2020) (Tables 1, 2 and 3), 5 others on MSCs and BMCs (Takeuchi et al. 2019; Sun et al. 2019; Zhang et al. 2016; Qi et al. 2016; Li et al. 2018) (Tables 1 and 2), and 3 on osteoblastic cells (Xu et al. 2019) (Table 1), endothelial cells (Jia et al. 2019) (Table 2) and on periodontal ligament (PDL) cells (Chew et al. 2019) (Table 4). Analysis of cellular migration has been assessed by transwell migration assay (Chew et al. 2019; Takeuchi et al. 2019; Sun et al. 2019; Wu et al. 2019; Li et al. 2018; Liu et al. 2020) or scratch wound healing assay (Zhang et al. 2019, 2020; Jia et al. 2019; Liang et al. 2019; Zhang et al. 2016; Xu et al. 2019), and proliferation has been assessed by cell counting (Jia et al. 2019; Liang et al. 2019; Sun et al. 2019; Wu et al. 2019; Zhang et al. 2016; Qi et al. 2016; Li et al. 2018; Liu et al. 2020) and by immunofluorescence (Chew et al. 2019; Zhang et al. 2019, 2020; Xu et al. 2019) (Tables 1, 2 and 4).

4 Discussion

This systematic review demonstrated the potential interest in the utilization of exosomes in bone and periodontal regeneration. However, it has been shown that the outcomes in periodontal and bone regeneration are dose-dependent and that some exosomes pre-treatment can lead to enhanced healing outcome.

Stem cells therapy was developed to treat oral diseases especially periodontal diseases. (Mimeault and Batra 2008; Rajabzadeh et al. 2019). In 2004, Kawaguchi et al. used autologous bone marrow MSCs to treat experimental class III defects in beagle dogs. Such treatment procedure was associated with a significant increase in the percentage of new cementum length and new bone area in the test group (stem cells + atelocollagen) when compared to the control group (atelocollagen alone) (Kawaguchi et al. 2004). Such improved healing was also found in another study assessing the combination of MSCs and other scaffold such as anorganic bovine bone mineral (ABBM) in comparison with ABBM alone in a surgically and ligature-induced intrabony defects in a dog model (Paknejad et al. 2015). As mentioned previously, MSCs from the oral cavity that are easily harvested are also of great interest (Yang et al. 2020; Yu et al. 2015). Their use in association with specific scaffolds such as multi-layered PDL-derived cell sheets has been evaluated and has demonstrated positive outcomes, for instance, in 3-walls periodontal defects (Iwata et al. 2009).

Besides their strong pro-regenerative properties, MSCs display also anti-inflammatory and immunomodulatory effects through the inhibition of the secretion of cytokines such as TNF- α , IFN- γ , and IL-1 β (Du et al. 2014).

Despite such promising results, stem cell therapy presents some limitations due to the costs but also due to potential safety concerns as they may promote tumor growth and metastasis (Volarevic et al. 2018). Accordingly, alternatives have been proposed. Indeed, the use of exosomes is a newfound technique which has been already tested in early-stage lung cancer diagnosis (Shin et al. 2020) and several other diseases (Palanisamy et al. 2010) as a diagnostic tool. Shin et al. have used exosomes as tools for detecting early-stage lung cancer, with high accuracy without resorting to specific biomarkers (Shin et al. 2020). Furthermore, exosomes can also be found in the saliva, a procedure that has notable advantages such as its noninvasive nature, no risk of hemorrhage, good patient compliance, a content similar to plasma and its ease of collection (Han et al. 2018). However, only a limited amount of clinical data is available so far. In animal models, the use of exosomes was studied in organs after ischemiareperfusion injury (Huang et al. 2017), and it has been shown that exosomes provided a powerful cardio-protection partly through heat shock protein HSP-70 and toll-like receptor TLR-4 pathway. In cutaneous regeneration, exosomes have proven their efficacy during each phase of healing by delivering various molecules such as RNAs, including mRNA and miRNAs, trophic factors and functional proteins (Wu et al. 2018). Moreover, this review has indicated that exosomes are also studied in bone and periodontal regeneration (Chew et al. 2019). The improvement in bone and periodontal regeneration is partly explained by

the activation of angiogenesis/vasculogenesis through Wnt/ β -catenin pathway (Zhang et al. 2015). Furthermore, the promotion of cell migration and proliferation by exosomes has also been demonstrated, such process playing a role in the tissue regeneration (Qin et al. 2016).

Surprisingly, the effects of exosomes on inflammatory state have not been elaborated in the selected articles but some authors demonstrated that exosomes can play both positive and negative roles in the regulation of inflammatory cascade (Pivoraitė et al. 2015; Wang et al. 2019). Pivoraitė et al. demonstrated that dental pulp exosomes can exert strong anti-inflammatory effects through carrageenan-induced edema inhibition, comparable to the effects of glucocorticoids. These effects may be due to Annexin A1 and 15d-PGJ2, both of which are found on the exosomes surface (Pivoraitė et al. 2015). Moreover, Wang et al. concluded that exosomes can have either pro- or anti-inflammatory effects, depending on the carried component (Wang et al. 2019).

To enhance the utility of exosome application and optimization of the healing outcome, exosome source, condition, and concentration should be the focus of future studies. In this review, it is evident that varying exosome conditions (Takeuchi et al. 2019; Zhang et al. 2019; Chen et al. 2019a; Liang et al. 2019; Luo et al. 2019; Liu et al. 2020) and concentrations (Jia et al. 2019; Zhang et al. 2016; Qi et al. 2016; Xu et al. 2019) can have different effects on bone healing, however, significant evidence is yet to be confirmed for exosome source variations (Zhang et al. 2019; Sun et al. 2019). Furthermore, origin of exosomes is another major determinant of exosome action due to certain origin-specific proteins and markers found on the exosome surface(Luan et al. 2017; Willms et al. 2016). While surface proteins and markers help to determine the origin of an exosome, only some of them are specific to certain cell types. The list of surface proteins, markers and RNAs carried by exosomes according to species and cell origin is available on exocarta.org, a database that could help determine the optimal exosome source for different therapies.

Exosome functionalization is another interesting strategy where exosomes can be loaded with therapeutic proteins, molecules, RNA, or imaging molecules using different functionalization techniques and, therefore, act as a tool to transport therapeutic products to for tissue-targeted delivery (Luan et al. 2017). For instance, Munagala et al. used exosomes to encapsulate chemotherapeutic and chemo-preventive agents against lung cancer and demonstrated that these functionalized exosomes had an anti-tumoral effect in vivo (Munagala et al. 2016). Another study loaded curcumin inside peptide-conjugated-exosomes and showed that the conjugated-exosomes targeted desired tissues more easily and had a higher anti-inflammatory effect than conventional exosomes (Tian et al. 2018).

Exosomes demonstrate a great therapeutic potential owing to their capacity to enhance regeneration of different tissues (Chew et al. 2019; Huang et al. 2017; Wu et al. 2018). Their administration is considered a cell-free therapy which reduces the risk of malignant transformation that can be induced by stem cells or growth factors therapy (Volponi et al. 2010; Grayson et al. 2015). However, additional studies are needed to further establish the safety of such cell-free treatment application involving exosomes. In all identified studies (Chew et al. 2019; Takeuchi et al. 2019; Zhang et al. 2019, 2020; Chen et al. 2019a; Jia et al. 2019; Liang et al. 2019; Sun et al. 2019; Wu et al. 2019; Zhang et al. 2016; Qi et al. 2016; Li et al. 2018; Furuta et al. 2016; Luo et al. 2019; Xu et al. 2019; Liu et al. 2020), exosome isolation was performed after cell harvesting and culture. Some existing techniques allow exosome isolation directly from the blood of the patient or animal. These techniques open doors to new sampling techniques and allow a more convenient clinical use in the future (Shushkova et al. 2018).

In this review, we have highlighted different manners to treat bone or periodontal defects with exosomes. In addition to the several scaffolds described in this review such as β -TCP particles (Wu et al. 2019; Zhang et al. 2016; Qi et al. 2016) (Tables 1 and 3), hydrogel (Zhang et al. 2019; Chen et al. 2019a) (Tables 1 and 2), collagen sponge (Chew et al. 2019; Takeuchi et al. 2019) (Tables 1 and 4), hydroxyapatite (HA), Bio-Oss[®] Collagen or PLGA (Liang et al. 2019; Sun et al.



Fig. 3 Schematic representation of different exosomes sources and scaffolds potentially useful in periodontal regeneration

2019; Li et al. 2018), some studies also focus on other scaffolds such as titanium oxide nanotubes (Wei et al. 2019), 3D printed extracellular matrix/ gelatin methacrylate scaffolds (Chen et al. 2019b) or protein nanocages (Cho et al. 2018).

As previously mentioned, a multitude of studies demonstrated the loading of biomaterials with different exosomes concentrations, which highlights the importance of exploring further the best exosomes scaffolds and concentrations to achieve an optimal regenerative outcome (Fig. 3).

It is note-worthy that this systematic review presents certain limitations. Herein, only one publication discusses exosome interest in periodontal defect. Moreover, these studies evaluated the effect of exosomes in different animal models, at different sites and different defects, which hinder the performance of a meta-analysis.

5 Conclusion

Exosomes use appears to be an innovative cellfree therapy with potential clinical application in the future, especially, in the treatment of periodontal defects, a therapy that presents ongoing challenges. Despite the limitations of this systematic review, it has been established that exosome therapy seems to enhance significantly the bone and periodontal regeneration. A dose-related effect has also been observed, however, no study has compared the influence of the source of exosomes on promotion of tissue healing and bone/periodontal regeneration. Further studies are required to determine more precisely their therapeutic perspectives.

Conflict of Interest The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- Caffesse RG, Quiñones CR (1993, 2000) Polypeptide growth factors and attachment proteins in periodontal wound healing and regeneration. Periodontol. https:// doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0757.1993.tb00208.x
- Carretero-González A, Otero I, Carril-Ajuria L, De Velasco G, Manso L (2018) Exosomes: definition, role in tumor development and clinical implications. Cancer Microenviron. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12307-018-0211-7
- Caton JG, Armitage G, Berglundh T, Chapple ILC, Jepsen S, Kornman KS, Mealey BL, Papapanou PN, Sanz M, Tonetti MS (2018) A new classification scheme for periodontal and peri-implant diseases and conditions – introduction and key changes from the 1999 classification. J Clin Periodontol. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/jcpe.12935
- Chen S, Tang Y, Liu Y, Zhang P, Lv L, Zhang X, Jia L, Zhou Y (2019a) Exosomes derived from MiR-375overexpressing human adipose mesenchymal stem cells promote bone regeneration. Cell Prolif. https:// doi.org/10.1111/cpr.12669
- Chen P, Zheng L, Wang Y, Tao M, Xie Z, Xia C, Gu C, Chen J, Qiu P, Mei S, Ning L, Shi Y, Fang C, Fan S, Lin X (2019b) Desktop-stereolithography 3D printing of a radially oriented extracellular matrix/mesenchymal stem cell exosome bioink for osteochondral defect regeneration. Theranostics. https://doi.org/10.7150/ thno.31017
- Chew JRJ, Chuah SJ, Teo KYW, Zhang S, Lai RC, Fu JH, Lim LP, Lim SK, Toh WS (2019) Mesenchymal stem cell exosomes enhance periodontal ligament cell functions and promote periodontal regeneration. Acta Biomater. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2019.03.021
- Cho E, Nam GH, Hong Y, Kim YK, Kim DH, Yang Y, Kim IS (2018) Comparison of exosomes and ferritin protein nanocages for the delivery of membrane protein therapeutics. J Control Release. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.jconrel.2018.04.037
- Cortellini P, Tonetti MS (2015, 2000) Clinical concepts for regenerative therapy in intrabony defects. Periodontol. https://doi.org/10.1111/prd.12048
- Du J, Shan Z, Ma P, Wang S, Fan Z (2014) Allogeneic bone marrow mesenchymal stem cell transplantation for periodontal regeneration. J Dent Res. https://doi. org/10.1177/0022034513513026
- Eke PI, Dye BA, Wei L, Slade GD, Thornton-Evans GO, Borgnakke WS, Taylor GW, Page RC, Beck JD, Genco RJ (2015) Update on prevalence of periodontitis in adults in the United States: NHANES 2009 to 2012. J Periodontol. https://doi.org/10.1902/jop.2015.140520
- Furuta T, Miyaki S, Ishitobi H, Ogura T, Kato Y, Kamei N, Miyado K, Higashi Y, Ochi M (2016) Mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomes promote fracture healing in a mouse model: MSC exosomes promote fracture healing. Stem Cells Transl Med. https://doi.org/10.5966/sctm.2015-0285

- Grayson WL, Bunnell BA, Martin E, Frazier T, Hung BP, Gimble JM (2015) Stromal cells and stem cells in clinical bone regeneration. Nat Rev Endocrinol. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrendo.2014.234
- Graziani F, Karapetsa D, Alonso B, Herrera D (2017, 2000) Nonsurgical and surgical treatment of periodontitis: how many options for one disease? Periodontol. https://doi.org/10.1111/prd.12201
- Han Y, Jia L, Zheng Y, Li W (2018) Salivary exosomes: emerging roles in systemic disease. Int J Biol Sci. https://doi.org/10.7150/ijbs.25018
- Huang J, Kang B, Qu Y, Mu D (2017) Protective effect of exosome on organs after ischemia-reperfusion injury Chin. J Reparative Reconstr Surg. https://doi.org/10. 7507/1002-1892.201701104
- Iwata T, Yamato M, Tsuchioka H, Takagi R, Mukobata S, Washio K, Okano T, Ishikawa I (2009) Periodontal regeneration with multi-layered periodontal ligamentderived cell sheets in a canine model. Biomaterials. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2009.01.032
- Jia Y, Zhu Y, Qiu S, Xu J, Chai Y (2019) Exosomes secreted by endothelial progenitor cells accelerate bone regeneration during distraction osteogenesis by stimulating angiogenesis. Stem Cell Res Ther. https:// doi.org/10.1186/s13287-018-1115-7
- Kawaguchi H, Hirachi A, Hasegawa N, Iwata T, Hamaguchi H, Shiba H, Takata T, Kato Y, Kurihara H (2004) Enhancement of periodontal tissue regeneration by transplantation of bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells. J Periodontol. https://doi.org/10.1902/jop. 2004.75.9.1281
- Kinane DF, Stathopoulou PG, Papapanou PN (2017) Periodontal diseases. Nat Rev Dis Primer. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/nrdp.2017.38
- Li W, Liu Y, Zhang P, Tang Y, Zhou M, Jiang W, Zhang X, Wu G, Zhou Y (2018) Tissue-engineered bone immobilized with human adipose stem cellsderived exosomes promotes bone regeneration. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsami. 7b17620
- Liang B, Liang JM, Ding JN, Xu J, Xu JG, Chai YM (2019) Dimethyloxaloylglycine-stimulated human bone marrow mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomes enhance bone regeneration through angiogenesis by targeting the AKT/MTOR pathway. Stem Cell Res Ther. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-019-1410-y
- Liu W, Li L, Rong Y, Qian D, Chen J, Zhou Z, Luo Y, Jiang D, Cheng L, Zhao S, Kong F, Wang J, Zhou Z, Xu T, Gong F, Huang Y, Gu C, Zhao X, Bai J, Wang F, Zhao W, Zhang L, Li X, Yin G, Fan J, Cai W (2020) Hypoxic mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomes promote bone fracture healing by the transfer of MiR-126. Acta Biomater. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. actbio.2019.12.020
- Luan X, Sansanaphongpricha K, Myers I, Chen H, Yuan H, Sun D (2017) Engineering exosomes as refined biological nanoplatforms for drug delivery.

Acta Pharmacol Sin. https://doi.org/10.1038/aps. 2017.12

- Luo ZW, Li FXZ, Liu YW, Rao SS, Yin H, Huang J, Chen CY, Hu Y, Zhang Y, Tan YJ, Yuan LQ, Chen TH, Liu HM, Cao J, Liu ZZ, Wang ZX, Xie H (2019) Aptamerfunctionalized exosomes from bone marrow stromal cells target bone to promote bone regeneration. Nanoscale. https://doi.org/10.1039/C9NR02791B
- Lynch SE, Williams RC, Poison AM, Howell TH, Reddy MS, Zappa UE, Antoniades HNA (1989) Combination of platelet-derived and insulin-like growth factors enhances periodontal regeneration. J Clin Periodontol. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-051X.1989.tb02334.x
- Mimeault M, Batra SK (2008) Recent progress on tissueresident adult stem cell biology and their therapeutic implications. Stem Cell Rev. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s12015-008-9008-2
- Munagala R, Aqil F, Jeyabalan J, Gupta RC (2016) Bovine milk-derived exosomes for drug delivery. Cancer Lett. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canlet.2015.10.020
- Nevins M, Kao RT, McGuire MK, McClain PK, Hinrichs JE, McAllister BS, Reddy MS, Nevins ML, Genco RJ, Lynch SE, Giannobile WV (2013) Platelet-derived growth factor promotes periodontal regeneration in localized osseous defects: 36-month extension results from a randomized, controlled, double-masked clinical trial. J Periodontol. https://doi.org/10.1902/jop.2012. 120141
- Nygaard-Østby P, Bakke V, Nesdal O, Susin C, Wikesjö UME (2010) Periodontal healing following reconstructive surgery: effect of guided tissue regeneration using a bioresorbable barrier device when combined with autogenous bone grafting. A randomized-controlled trial 10-year follow-up. J Clin Periodontol. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1600-051X.2010.01532.x
- Paknejad M, Eslaminejad MB, Ghaedi B, Rokn AR, Khorsand A, Etemad-Moghadam S, Alaeddini M, Dehghan MM, Moslemi N, Nowzari H (2015) Isolation and assessment of mesenchymal stem cells derived from bone marrow: histologic and histomorphometric study in a canine periodontal defect. J Oral Implantol. https://doi.org/10.1563/AAID-JOI-D-13-00220
- Palanisamy V, Sharma S, Deshpande A, Zhou H, Gimzewski J, Wong DT (2010) Nanostructural and transcriptomic analyses of human saliva derived exosomes. PLoS One. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0008577
- Petit C, Schmeltz S, Burgy A, Tenenbaum H, Huck O, Davideau JL (2019) Risk factors associated with longterm outcomes after active and supporting periodontal treatments: impact of various compliance definitions on tooth loss. Clin Oral Investig. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s00784-019-02851-x
- Pivoraité U, Jarmalavičiūtė A, Tunaitis V, Ramanauskaitė G, Vaitkuvienė A, Kašėta V, Biziulevičienė G, Venalis A, Pivoriūnas A (2015) Exosomes from human dental pulp stem cells suppress carrageenan-induced acute inflammation in mice. Inflammation. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10753-015-0173-6

- Pretzl B, Kim TS, Steinbrenner H, Dörfer C, Himmer K, Eickholz P (2009) Guided tissue regeneration with bioabsorbable barriers III 10-year results in infrabony defects. J Clin Periodontol. https://doi.org/10.1111/j. 1600-051X.2009.01378.x
- PRISMA-P Group, Moher D, Shamseer L, Clarke M, Ghersi D, Liberati A, Petticrew M, Shekelle P, Stewart LA (2015) Preferred reporting items for systematic review and meta-analysis protocols (PRISMA-P) 2015 statement. Syst Rev. https://doi.org/10.1186/ 2046-4053-4-1
- Qi X, Zhang J, Yuan H, Xu Z, Li Q, Niu X, Hu B, Wang Y, Li X (2016) Exosomes secreted by humaninduced pluripotent stem cell-derived mesenchymal stem cells repair critical-sized bone defects through enhanced angiogenesis and osteogenesis in osteoporotic rats. Int J Biol Sci. https://doi.org/10.7150/ijbs. 14809
- Qin Y, Sun R, Wu C, Wang L, Zhang C (2016) Exosome: a novel approach to stimulate bone regeneration through regulation of osteogenesis and angiogenesis. Int J Mol Sci. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms17050712
- Rajabzadeh N, Fathi E, Farahzadi R (2019) Stem cellbased regenerative medicine. Stem Cell Investig. https://doi.org/10.21037/sci.2019.06.04
- Rosen PS, Reynolds MA, Bowers GM (2000, 2000) The treatment of Intrabony defects with bone grafts. Periodontol. https://doi.org/10.1034/j.1600-0757. 2000.2220107.x
- Sculean A, Schwarz F, Miliauskaite A, Kiss A, Arweiler N, Becker J, Brecx M (2006) Treatment of intrabony defects with an enamel matrix protein derivative or bioabsorbable membrane: An 8-year follow-up split-mouth study. J Periodontol. https://doi.org/10. 1902/jop.2006.060002
- Shin H, Oh S, Hong S, Kang M, Kang D, Ji Y, Choi B, Kang KW, Jeong H, Park Y, Hong S, Kim HK, Choi Y (2020) Early-stage lung cancer diagnosis by deep learning-based spectroscopic analysis of circulating exosomes. ACS Nano. https://doi.org/10.1021/ acsnano.9b09119
- Shushkova NA, Vavilov NE, Novikova SE, Farafonova TE, Tikhonova OV, Liao PC, Zgoda VG (2018) Quantitative proteomics of human blood exosomes. Biomeditsinskaya Khimiya. https://doi.org/10.18097/ PBMC20186406496
- Skotland T, Sandvig K, Llorente A (2017) Lipids in exosomes: current knowledge and the way forward. Prog Lipid Res. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plipres. 2017.03.001
- Sun R, Xu S, Wang Z (2019) Rat sinus mucosa- and periosteum-derived exosomes accelerate osteogenesis. J Cell Physiol. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcp.28758
- Takeuchi R, Katagiri W, Endo S, Kobayashi T (2019) Exosomes from conditioned media of bone marrowderived mesenchymal stem cells promote bone regeneration by enhancing angiogenesis. PLoS One. https:// doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0225472

- Tassi SA, Sergio NZ, Misawa MYO, Villar CC (2017) Efficacy of stem cells on periodontal regeneration: systematic review of pre-clinical studies. J Periodontal Res. https://doi.org/10.1111/jre.12455
- Tian T, Zhang HX, He CP, Fan S, Zhu YL, Qi C, Huang NP, Xiao ZD, Lu ZH, Tannous BA, Gao J (2018) Surface functionalized exosomes as targeted drug delivery vehicles for cerebral ischemia therapy. Biomaterials. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials. 2017.10.012
- Tonetti MS, Jepsen S, Jin L, Otomo-Corgel J (2017) Impact of the global burden of periodontal diseases on health, nutrition and wellbeing of mankind: a call for global action. J Clin Periodontol. https://doi.org/10. 1111/jcpe.12732
- Trombelli L, Farina R (2008) Clinical outcomes with bioactive agents alone or in combination with grafting or guided tissue regeneration. J Clin Periodontol. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-051X.2008.01265.x
- Tsitoura E, Tucker R, Suvan J, Laurell L, Cortellini P, Tonetti M (2004) Baseline radiographic defect angle of the intrabony defect as a prognostic indicator in regenerative periodontal surgery with enamel matrix derivative. J Clin Periodontol. https://doi.org/10.1111/j. 1600-051X.2004.00555.x
- Volarevic V, Markovic BS, Gazdic M, Volarevic A, Jovicic N, Arsenijevic N, Armstrong L, Djonov V, Lako M, Stojkovic M (2018) Ethical and safety issues of stem cell-based therapy. Int J Med Sci. https://doi. org/10.7150/ijms.21666
- Volponi AA, Pang Y, Sharpe PT (2010) Stem cell-based biological tooth repair and regeneration. Trends Cell Biol. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tcb.2010.09.012
- Wang T, Nasser MI, Shen J, Qu S, He Q, Zhao M (2019) Functions of exosomes in the triangular relationship between the tumor, inflammation, and immunity in the tumor microenvironment. J Immunol Res. https://doi. org/10.1155/2019/4197829
- Wei F, Li M, Crawford R, Zhou Y, Xiao Y (2019) Exosome-integrated titanium oxide nanotubes for targeted bone regeneration. Acta Biomater. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.actbio.2019.01.006
- Willms E, Johansson HJ, Mäger I, Lee Y, Blomberg KEM, Sadik M, Alaarg A, Smith CIE, Lehtiö J, EL Andaloussi S, Wood MJA, Vader P (2016) Cells release subpopulations of Exosomes with distinct molecular and biological properties. Sci Rep. https:// doi.org/10.1038/srep22519

- Wu P, Zhang B, Shi H, Qian H, Xu W (2018) MSC-exosome: a novel cell-free therapy for cutaneous regeneration. Cytotherapy. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jcyt.2017.11.002
- Wu J, Chen L, Wang R, Song Z, Shen Z, Zhao Y, Huang S, Lin Z (2019) Exosomes secreted by stem cells from human exfoliated deciduous teeth promote alveolar bone defect repair through the regulation of angiogenesis and osteogenesis. ACS Biomater Sci Eng. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsbiomaterials.9b00607
- Xu J, Wang Y, Hsu CY, Gao Y, Meyers CA, Chang L, Zhang L, Broderick K, Ding C, Peault B, Witwer K, James AW (2019) Human perivascular stem cellderived extracellular vesicles mediate bone repair. elife. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.48191
- Yang JW, Shin YY, Seo Y, Kim HS (2020) Therapeutic functions of stem cells from oral cavity: An update. Int J Mol Sci. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21124389
- Yu T, Volponi AA, Babb R, An Z, Sharpe PT (2015) Stem cells in tooth development, growth, repair, and regeneration. Curr Top Dev Biol Elsevier 115:187–212. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.ctdb.2015.07.010
- Zhang B, Wu X, Zhang X, Sun Y, Yan Y, Shi H, Zhu Y, Wu L, Pan Z, Zhu W, Qian H, Xu W (2015) Human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cell exosomes enhance angiogenesis through the Wnt4/β-catenin pathway: HucMSC exosomal Wnt4 promotes angiogenesis. Stem Cells Transl Med. https://doi.org/10. 5966/sctm.2014-0267
- Zhang J, Liu X, Li H, Chen C, Hu B, Niu X, Li Q, Zhao B, Xie Z, Wang Y (2016) Exosomes/tricalcium phosphate combination scaffolds can enhance bone regeneration by activating the PI3K/Akt signaling pathway. Stem Cell Res Ther. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-016-0391-3
- Zhang Y, Hao Z, Wang P, Xia Y, Wu J, Xia D, Fang S, Xu S (2019) Exosomes from human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells enhance fracture healing through HIF-1α-mediated promotion of angiogenesis in a rat model of stabilized fracture. Cell Prolif. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/cpr.12570
- Zhang L, Jiao G, Ren S, Zhang X, Li C, Wu W, Wang H, Liu H, Zhou H, Chen Y (2020) Exosomes from bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells enhance fracture healing through the promotion of osteogenesis and angiogenesis in a rat model of nonunion. Stem Cell Res Ther. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-020-1562-9



The Design and Application of an Appropriate Parkinson's Disease Animal Model in Regenerative Medicine

Bagher Larijani ⁽¹⁾, Parisa Goodarzi, Moloud Payab ⁽¹⁾, Akram Tayanloo-Beik ⁽¹⁾, Masoumeh Sarvari, Mahdi Gholami, Kambiz Gilany ⁽¹⁾, Ensieh Nasli-Esfahani, Mehrnoosh Yarahmadi, Firoozeh Ghaderi, and Babak Arjmand ⁽¹⁾

Abstract

Objectives: Aging as an inevitable and complex physiological process occurs through a progressive decrease in the potential of tissue regeneration. Given the increasing global outbreak of aging and age-related disorders, it is important to control this phenomenon. Parkinson's disease (one of the age-related neurodegenerative and progressive disorders) resulted from predominant dopaminergic neurons deficiency. Usual Parkinson's disease treatments just can lead to symptomatically relieving. Recently, cell therapy and regenerative medicine a great promise in the treatment of several types of disorders including Parkinson's disease. Herein, before starting clinical trials, preclinical studies should be performed to answer some fundamental questions about the safety and efficacy of various treatments. Additionally, developing a well-designed and approved study is required to provide an appropriate animal model with strongly reliable validation methods. Hereupon, this review will discuss about the design

B. Larijani

Endocrinology and Metabolism Research Center, Endocrinology and Metabolism Clinical Sciences Institute, Tehran University of Medical sciences, Tehran, Iran

e-mail: Larijanib@tums.ac.ir

Sciences, Tehran, Iran

P. Goodarzi and F. Ghaderi Brain and Spinal Cord Injury Research Center, Neuroscience Institute, Tehran University of Medical

M. Payab

Obesity and Eating Habits Research Center, Endocrinology and Metabolism Molecular-Cellular Sciences Institute, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

e-mail: m-payab@razi.tums.ac.ir

A. Tayanloo-Beik

Cell Therapy and Regenerative Medicine Research Center, Endocrinology and Metabolism Molecular-Cellular Sciences Institute, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

M. Sarvari

Metabolomics and Genomics Research Center, Endocrinology and Metabolism Molecular-Cellular Sciences Institute, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

e-mail: m-sarvari@student.tums.ac.ir

M. Gholami

Department of Toxicology & Pharmacology, Faculty of Pharmacy, Toxicology and Poisoning Research Center, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran and application of an appropriate Parkinson's disease animal model in regenerative medicine.

Evidence acquisition: In order to conduct the present review, numbers of Parkinson's disease preclinical studies, as well as literatures related to the animal modeling, were considered.

Results: Appropriate animal models which approved by related authorize committees should have a high similarity to humans from anatomical, physiological, behavioral, and genetic characteristics view of point.

Conclusion: It is concluded that animal studies before starting clinical trials have an important role in answering the crucial questions about the various treatments safety and efficacy. Therein, it is recommended that all of animal modeling stages be assessed by animal ethics and welfare guidelines and also evaluated by different validation tests. However, it is better to find some alternatives to replacement, refinement, and, reduction of animals. Nowadays, some novel technologies such as using imaging methods have been introduced.

Keywords

Animal welfare · Parkinson's disease · Regenerative medicine · Research design · Validation

Abbreviations

6-	6-Hydroxydopamine
OHDA	5 5 1
APDM	Mobility Lab System
BBB	Blood-Brain Barrier
CSF	Cerebrospinal Fluid
DA	Dopaminergic
DBS	Deep Brain Stimulation
dMRI	diffusion-weighted MRI
ICLAS	International Council on Laboratory
	Animal Science
L-	3, 4-Dihydroxy-L-Phenylalanine
DOPA	
ML	Magnetic Resonance Imaging
MPTP	1-Methyl-4-Phenyl-1, 2,3,6-
	Tetrahydropyridine
OIE	World Organization for Animal Health
PD	Parkinson's disease
PET	Positron Emission Tomography
PQ	Paraquat
RM	Regenerative Medicine
SAM	StepWatch3
SN	Substantia Nigra
TBM	Tensor-Based Morphometry
VBM	Voxel-Based Morphometry
WHO	World Health Organization

K. Gilany

Department of Biomedical Sciences, University of Antwerp, Antwerp, Belgium

Integrative Oncology Department, Breast Cancer Research Center, Motamed Cancer Institute, ACECR, Tehran, Iran e-mail: k.gilany@ari.ir

E. Nasli-Esfahani

M. Yarahmadi

B. Arjmand (\boxtimes)

Metabolomics and Genomics Research Center, Endocrinology and Metabolism Molecular-Cellular Sciences Institute, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

e-mail: barjmand@sina.tums.ac.ir

Diabetes Research Center, Endocrinology and Metabolism Clinical Sciences Institute, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

Endocrinology and Metabolism Research Center, Endocrinology and Metabolism Clinical Sciences Institute, Tehran University of Medical sciences, Tehran, Iran

Cell Therapy and Regenerative Medicine Research Center, Endocrinology and Metabolism Molecular-Cellular Sciences Institute, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

1 Introduction

Aging reflect growing, developing, maturing, and all changes in the period of life which reveal particular physical and mental signs (Reeve et al. 2014; Buczak-Stec et al. 2018). In the other words, aging is a normal biological process that happens inevitably and associated with gradual changing in the biochemical and physiological status of the cells, which can increase the risk of different kinds of diseases (Arking and Arking 2006; Sharma and Ebadi 2014). According to World Health Organization (WHO) estimation, between 2010 and 2050 the growth rate of the aged population will be increased especially in less developed countries. This increase will be associated with more illness and disability and it can impose a great impact on healthcare and social costs. Additionally, aged people are susceptible to multiple infections and frailty. Hence, a global effort to provide a healthy longevity is seriously needed (Reeve et al. 2014). In summary, aging can be considered as a risk factor for some disorders called age-related disease. Parkinson's disease (PD) is one of the most prevalent age-related neurodegenerative diseases (Sharma and Ebadi 2014). It is a voluntary movement disorder and comprised of complex symptoms such as tremor, bradykinesia, rigidity, and other motor and non-motor symptoms. Although, several treatment methods (such as multiple medications, deep brain stimulation, neurosurgical treatments, and etc.) have been developed, PD has been remained a progressive disorder and the advanced PD is still one of the most important challenges (Jankovic and Poewe 2012). Recently, stem cell-based therapy and regenerative medicine (RM) has been introduced as a novel and promising strategy for managing age-related disorders including PD (Goodarzi et al. 2015). However, there are multiple stages for translating basic researches and moving from bench to bedside. For instance, one of the most crucial stages in developing a safe and effective pharmaceutical or cell-based product is to design an appropriate preclinical study for demonstrating its safety and efficacy and applicability (Knoepfler 2015).

Preclinical evaluation as a powerful tool has an important role in assessing various interventions for developing a validated and less invasive technique for clinical studies. In this regard, providing an appropriate and valid animal model seems to be critical in development of novel treatments including cell-based therapies (Knoepfler 2015). This review is going to describe different animal models with several validation methods in PD. In addition, advantages and disadvantages of different models and methods will be addressed.

2 Current Treatments for Parkinson's Disease

PD is a chronic neurodegenerative disease that comprise of motor and non-motor symptoms (Group, P.M.C 2014). The diagnosis of PD usually is based-on cardinal motor symptoms. In other words, motor symptoms are most important for diagnosis of early PD (Lane 2019). PD is a progressive disease in which there is no definitive cure for it and available treatments only can improve some of its symptoms. The main characteristic of PD is progressive degeneration of dopaminergic (DA) neurons. Dopamine is a monoaminergic transmitter which its neurons project to the corpus striatum (Fig. 1). In fact, it is a neuromodulator with an important role in CNS and its deficiency affects motor function, cognition, motivation, and etc. which cause neurological disorders. There are various types of dopamine receptors (D1, D2, D3, D4, and D5). These receptors have several differences including: different sequences, receptor structures and functions. Among the mentioned receptors, D2 has a pivotal role in control of motor functions and decrease of its expression cause locomotor impairment. Therefore, any treatment strategy which compensates this deficiency could be beneficial. Accordingly, 3, 4-dihydroxy-L-phenylalanine (L-DOPA) as a dopamine precursor has been considered as a gold standard treatment for PD. It can impose an effective role in diminishing of motor symptoms in the early stages of PD. However, its long-term application could be associated with adverse side effects (Lane 2019).



Fig. 1 Affected brain areas in Parkinson's disease. SN located in the midbrain contains DA neurons which regulates different critical functions. These dopamine-containing neurons have autonomous activity in normal condition (a). Degeneration of DA neurons leads to altered dopamine neurotransmitter levels which causes both

Additionally, using of dopamine receptor agonists (e.g., pramipexole, apomorphine, piribedil) is another therapeutic tool for PD (Blandini and Armentero 2014). They stimulate dopaminergic receptors directly and can improve motor symptoms of PD. These agonists are less effective than 1-DOPA but they cause continues stimulation on receptors and fewer side effects (Katunina et al. 2015). MAO-B and COMT inhibitors, anticholinergics, and amantidine are other examples of conventional treatments. In the past decades, some new therapeutic methods such as combination therapy, application of various dosages, advancement of drug delivery, exercise, deep brain stimulation (DBS) have been progressed (Fox et al. 2011). However, the current treatment strategies which generally try to postpone the PD symptoms in its early stage and improve motor complications such as motor fluctuations and dyskinesia seem to be crucial to achieve more constant benefits (Fox et al. 2011; Pahwa and Lyons 2014). Recently, cell therapy and RM reveal a great promising horizon to

motor and non-motor symptoms of PD (**b**). SN color loss and abnormal protein aggregations are the other hallmarks of this neurodegenerative disorder (Dickson 2018; Blesa et al. 2015). (PD: Parkinson's disease. *DA* Dopaminergic, *SN* Substantia Nigra)

optimize the existing treatments through improving the DA neurons survival and providing a suitable supply of dopamine (Snyder and Olanow 2005; Goodarzi et al. 2014a). For instance, they could induce cell differentiation potency to provide specific types of dopaminergic neurons which can eliminate different side effects of the conventional treatments. In this regard, they could be considered as the appropriate alternatives, superior to current therapies (Sonntag et al. 2018).

3 Developmental Process of Regenerative Medicine

RM as a novel multidisciplinary technology deals with regenerating the damaged and dysfunctional cells, tissues, and organs to restore their normal structure and function. RM represents the new therapeutic methods which can revolutionize the treatment of incurable diseases like PD (Rahim et al. 2018a; Payab et al. 2018a; Ghodsi et al. 2012). Due to the unique regenerative properties of stem cells, they have a basic role in RM. For example cell replacement as a novel therapeutic approach in RM can be a notable achievement in RM field (Turksen 2018; Saberi et al. 2008, 2011; Ai et al. 2014; Goodarzi et al. 2014b). Fundamentally, prior to translation of basic researches to the clinic, their efficacy and safety should be evaluated according to related guidelines and regulations. In the process of RM, after scientific approaches, the hypotheses with regards to gap analysis are constructed. In the next step, these hypotheses are tested by preclinical studies (in vitro and in vivo). In vitro analyses provide evidences of efficiency and safety prior to translation into animals and humans. Moreover, In vivo investigations are the main part of preclinical studies. Animal studies can demonstrate the safety, efficacy, and potential side effects in a living organism. In the journey from bench to bedsides, general principles must be considered by scientists for instance: selection the appropriate animal model and cell type, duration of study, number of animals, the differences between animal model and human disease, animal ethics and welfare, and communication with regulatory bodies. Following this step and after appropriate toxpharmacodynamics, icology, and pharmacokinetic studies for cell-based products, the achievements in the preclinical phase can be translated to clinical trials (Okura and Matsuyama 2016). Finally, if the product or method has the overall criteria and is validated by related authorities and organizations it will be ready to use in a clinical manner (George 2011; Halme and Kessler 2006; Payab et al. 2018b).

4 Animal Study Design for Parkinson's Disease

Preclinical studies are key prerequisites of large scale clinical trials. Thus, it is important to choose the suitable animal species, considering the most anatomical, physiological, behavioral, and genetic similarities to human for *in vivo* studies (Potashkin et al. 2011). For instance, rodents and nonhuman primates (which can mimic many aspects of the pathophysiology of human neurodegenerative diseases) are used frequently in PD investigations. Due to probable breaks in model validation processes, some animal models cannot imitate the pathophysiology of PD. Accordingly, in some cases outcomes of such studies cannot be translated to the clinic (Potashkin et al. 2011). Hence, an animal model should meet a set of validation criteria to be appropriated for human pathology. On the other hand, the study design and ethics, animal selection, and model validation should be approved by related authorities and committees before starting the program. However, there are some ethical arguments against the animal experiments (Albus 2012). Herein, the '3Rs' rule (replacement, reduction, and refinement) is almost a universal and broad-acceptable tenet (Fig. 2). However, complete animal modeling replacement is still not feasible. Therefore, it is necessary to provide the appropriate and accurately validated animal models in accordance with the scientific standards and regulations. Additionally, development of fundamental infrastructures such as animal housing and husbandry to achieve standard validated animal models is important (Lahman et al. 2011; Fenwick et al. 2009; Festing and Wilkinson 2007).

5 Appropriate Animal Model

Animal modeling as a powerful tool is applied to mimic and predict the various pathophysiological human conditions to investigate multiple therapeutic approaches, especially when it is difficult to directly monitor in human. On the other hand, it also can provide some conditions of human disease processes and their pathogenesis (Xiong et al. 2017). Therefore, developing an appropriate animal model is the most important stage of designing an experimental study. According to Wessler's definition: an animal model is "a living organism with an inherited, naturally acquired, or induced pathological process that in one or more respects closely resembles the same phenomenon in man" (Ben-Hur et al. 2004; Yang et al. 2008). PD is the first neurological disorder that was modeled in an animal while it is a human specific



Careful Design and Analyzing

Better Handling

Fig. 2 The 3Rs rules. Replacement, Reduction, and Refinement are given a framework for implementing animal researches. Replacement refers to methods which replace the use of animals such as doing in vitro studies and using invertebrates, mathematical, and computational models. Reduction refers to methods which reduce the

disease (Garcia-Ruiz and Espay 2017). Therefore, some additional considerations are required than other animal modeling strategies. On the other word, animal species which have the most physio-anatomical and genetic similarities with human are acceptable choices for PD modeling (Cai et al. 2009). Nowadays, several types of animals are commonly used which has advantages and disadvantages (Table 1). They ranged from single-celled microorganisms to the highest order of animals. Experimentally, specific characteristics such as sensitivity to specific chemical compound, physiological characteristics, availability, and type of disease make an animal species suitable for PD modeling. For instance, monkeys, the gold standard model of PD, mainly used for modeling of motor symptoms and behavioral studies due to their phylogenetically proximity to human species, while mice are suitable to model the molecular and cellular mechanism of PD (Tieu 2011: Kim et al. 2009). Additionally, non-mammalian

number of animals used per experiment such as sharing and publishing results and careful design and analyzing. Refinement refers to methods which decrease animal suffering and ameliorate welfare such as better animal housing, handling, and imaging (Lahman et al. 2011; Fenwick et al. 2009)

organisms are used for investigation of gene expression pattern in PD most recent (Tansey and Goldberg 2010). Generally, an acceptable humanized animal model must be experimentally rational and cost-effective (Sonntag et al. 2007). Furthermore, the ideal model should represent DA neurons loss, Lewy body-like inclusions, and DA reduction in striatum to mimic most aspects of human PD (Halbach 2006).

6 Humanized Animal Modeling

Investigations on PD have benefited a lot from animal models. Two common approaches to provide PD animal models are toxin and geneticbased modeling (Table 2). Various known neurotoxins are used to target dopaminergic neurons either systemically or locally according to their ability to cross blood-brain barrier (BBB). ROS formation is the most common mechanism of neurotoxins. Perhaps reserpine was the first **Table 1** Commonly used animal species in modelingof Parkinson's disease. A wide range of animal speciessuch as primates, rodents, mammals, fishes, and single-celled organisms can be used as the PD animal models.Each of them are suitable for studying different aspects of

the disease. While single-celled microorganisms as well as small species usually are used for studying of molecular and cellular pathways, other animal species with more phylogenetic proximity to human are suitable choices for modeling of motor symptoms and behavioral studies

Animal Species	Advantages	Disadvantages		
Monkeys	Exhibit behavioral	Usually represent an acute model		
-	and neuroanatomical similarities to the	Difficult availability		
	human condition	Costly		
	Showing a bilateral parkinsonian syndrome	Difficult handling		
	Provide all stages of PD treatment research prior to starting clinical trials	-		
	Gold standard model			
Marmosets	Small new world primate	Difficult availability		
	Relatively ease in handling			
	High reproductive efficiency			
	Specific cognitive and behavioral characters			
Mice	Generated data has led to a better understanding of molecular mechanisms	Difficult to develop a level of impairment equal to the human condition		
	Genetically modifications			
	Useful for testing neuroprotective therapies			
	Useful to study of neuronal death process			
	Low cost			
	Common for MPTP (1-Methyl-4-Phenyl-1, 2,3,6-Tetrahydropyridine) model Readily available			
	High reproductive efficiency			
Rats	Relatively low cost	Resistant to MPTP		
	Readily available	Difficult to develop a level of		
	Genetically malleable	impairment equal to the human		
	High reproductive efficiency	condition		
Cats, Dogs, Guinea pigs	Suitable for MPTM models	Difficult availability and handling		
Sheep	Non-primate large animal model	Difficult handling		
	Physiological parallel with human			
	Suitable for modeling of rare genetic Costly disorder			
	Appropriate for trial new treatments of rare human disease in animals			
Göttingen minipigs	Large gyrencephalic brain	Difficult availability and handling		
	Suited for examination at conventional			
	clinical scanning modalities			
	Allows to apply neurosurgical techniques			
	Possibility of use DBS and electrodes			
	Relatively low cost			
Zebrafish	Highly amenable to genetic alterations	No usage in study many of the clinical manifestations of the disease		
	Small size			
	Short generation time			
	Low maintenance costs			
Goldfish	Being modeled with single dose of MPTP	No usage in study many of the		
	Relatively simple and low cost model	clinical manifestations of the disease		
	Accessible nervous system			
	Abbreviated BBB			

Animal Species	Advantages	Disadvantages	
Drosophila, Medaka fish, Caenorhabditis elegans, yeast,	Useful for studying fundamental cellular processes involved with PD ^a	No usage in study many of the clinical manifestations of the disease	
frogs	Suitable for investigation of basic mechanism of PD		
	Rapid alternatives		
	Drosophila will allow the rapid characterization of enhancer and suppressor mutation	Lack of replicate the loss of neurons in the brain	
	Drosophila is suitable for mitochondrial dysfunction model		

Table 1 (continued)

Potashkin et al. (2011), Jackson-Lewis et al. (2012), Blesa et al. (2012), Beal (2001), Okano et al. (2012) and Bretaud et al. (2004)

^aIncluding: apoptosis, autophagy, oxidative stress, protein misfolding

PD Parkinson's disease

neurotoxin used to model the PD animals by Carlsson and Hilarp in the 1950s. They demonstrated that reduced catecholamine level in the brain due to reserpine toxicity can mimic the PD phenotype and L-DOPA alleviates the related symptoms partially (Cannon and Greenamyre 2010; Carlsson 2002). Temporary cell damage is a challenge in reserpine application. α-methyl-para-tyrosine is another pharmacological agent depletes the dopamine synthesis through inhibiting tyrosine hydroxylase, an enzyme of dopamine synthesis pathway, which shares the same limitation of impermanent neurodegeneration effect with reserpine. Concomitant reserpine and a-methyl-para-tyrosine application can prolong the duration of their neurodegeneration effects (Tieu 2011). MPTP has a lipophilic structure and this property helps MPTP to cross the BBB easily. After MPTP entrance to BBB and neurons, it metabolizes to MPP+ by monoamine oxidase-B enzyme. MPP+ as a potent mitochondrial complex 1 inhibitor can destroy the DA neurons. MPTP is considered as one of the popular systemic neurotoxins. MPTPtreated monkeys are the gold standard of PD animal models, however this model like the other models has its own pros and cons. Recently, some herbicides, pesticides, and fungicides like paraquat (PQ), rotenone, maneb, and ziram are applied as neurotoxins in PD animal modeling. Due to similar molecular structure between PQ and MPP+, it has the similar MPP+'s toxic effects. In addition, the PQ's neuron loss effect

is controversial but recent researches have reported that its toxicity is dose dependent and DA neurons loss can be reached in high doses of PQ. 6-hydroxydopamine (6-OHDA), the oldest catecholamine neurotoxin, is another suitable choice for pharmacological studies. 6-OHDA cannot cross the BBB therefore it should be administered locally. Injection of 6-OHDA into the striatum, SN, or nigrostriatal tract induces DA neurons death. To avoid the severe adverse consequences of bilateral injection, 6-OHDA is injected unilaterally. In this approach the unlesioned hemisphere of animal can be left intact to serve as its own control. Recently, scientists have focused on the genetic pathogenesis of PD and novel discoveries in this area have provided an opportunity to develop genetic models. Mutations in α -syn and LRRK2 genes lead to autosomal dominant PD and mutations in PINK1/Parkin and DJ-1 genes lead to autosomal recessive PD. The noteworthy privilege of genetic models is their potential to represent the chronic nature of PD. α -syn a modulator protein in presynaptic terminals is the major protein of LBs. Some of the common applied genes in producing genetic-based PD models include SNCA, LRRK2, GBA, PRKN, PINK1, PARK7. VPS35, EIF4G1, DNAJC13, CHCHD2, UCH-L1 (Blesa et al. 2012; Cannon and Greenamyre 2010; Dauer and Przedborski 2003). Accordingly, several genetic-based studies are applied to investigating such crucial genes which can improve targeted therapies (Sardi

Table 2 Neurotoxin and genetic-based approaches in
animal modeling for Parkinson's disease: Their
methods, induced pathologies, and symptoms. Different
modeling approaches cause PD through different
mechanisms. Neurotoxin-based methods are classified

according to the mod of action and their neurotoxic effects. Using PD-causing genes, it is possible to produce geneticbased PD models with the potential to represent the chronic nature of PD

Approach	Method of	PD pathology	PD symptoms	Mode of action	Development of LBs ^a like inclusions	Additional points
Approach Neurotoxin- based	modeling F 6-OHDA N r c r	PD pathology Non-progressive nigrostriatal dopaminergic neurons death	Quantifiable motor deficit Akinesia Rigidity Tremor Rotational behavior	Mode of action Induced stress oxidative in neural cells	No	Usable in both in vitro and in vivo screenings but frequent favorite animal is rat Requirement to intracerebral injection Induction of acute effects Inducing degeneration of
						both dopaminergic and noradrenergic neurons Rare presence of
						parkinson's tremor in lesioned rodents with 6-OHDA
						validity
	МРТР	Non-progressive nigral DA neurons death	Tremor Rigidity Akinesia	Mitochondrial complex I Inhibitor-	Rare	Systemic administration
			Postural instability Less evident of models motor deficits In rodent	Reduced ATP/induced stress oxidative		Good construct validity
	Rotenone Pro (herbicide and Dz insecticide)	Progressive nigral DA neurons loss	Decreased motor activity Abnormal	Non-selective mitochondrial complex I inhibitor	Yes	Frequent animal is rat Systemic administration
			postures Slowness of movement	Penetrated cell membrane Induced oxidative stress		Low construct validity
	Paraquat (N,N -dimethyl-4-4-4 –bypiridinium/a herbicide)	Dose-dependent loss of DA neurons	Reduced motor activity	Oxidative stress	No	Systemic administration Low construct validity

(continued)

Approach	Method of modeling	PD pathology	PD symptoms	Mode of action	Development of LBs ^a like inclusions	Additional points
Genetic- based	Overexpression of α-syn	DA neurons loss	Progressive loss of motor function DA responsive locomotor deficits Some aspects of the pathology of dementia	Reduced the activity of tyrosine hydroxylase (TH) Granular intracytoplasmic inclusions	Yes, but these inclusions are generally not seen in SN nucleus	Slight DA pathology Good construct validity
	α-syn-knockout (A53T)	Low DA neuron loss	Severe motor deficits	Enhanced α-syn aggregation	Yes, level of these inclusions are high in contrast to A30P mutated form	Slight DA pathology Good construct validity
	α-syn-knockout (A30P)	Low DA neuron loss	Less motor deficits	Enhanced α-syn aggregation	Yes, level of these inclusions are low in contrast to A53T mutated form	Slight DA pathology Good construct validity
	Mutated parkin	No or low nigral cell loss	Motor impairment is obvious in most cases of exon deleted	Mitochondrial dysfunction	No or in low levels	Slight DA pathology Good construct validity
	Mutated form of LRRK2	No or low levels of DA neurons loss (age-dependent neurodegeneration)	Few behavioral deficits Different levels of motor impairment dependent on its mutation form	Autophagic and mitochondrial abnormalities Enhancing α-syn aggregation	Generally not observed	Positive relation between the levels of LRRK2 and α-syn phosphorylation and aggregation in PD brains
	Mutated form of PINK1	No or low nigral cell loss	No or low motor impairment	Mitochondrial dysfunction	No or in low levels	Slight DA pathology Good construct validity
	Mutated form of DJ-1	No or low nigral cell loss	Motor impairment is depend on the exon deleted region	DJ-1 accumulation in mitochondria/ oxidative stress	No or in low levels	Slight DA pathology Good construct validity

Table 2 (continued)

Blesa et al. (2012), Dauer and Przedborski (2003), Terzioglu and Galter (2008), Lim and Ng (2009) and Ramonet et al. (2011)

^aLewy Bodies

PD Parkinson's disease

et al. 2018). Generally, each animal model has advantages and disadvantages for example related toxin-based models are suitable options for pharmaceutical studies and toxicology, while geneticbased models are generally used to study the genetics effects on the pathogenicity of diseases. It is predicted that to achieve more appropriate animal models for PD future humanized animal models will be provided considering environmental and aging factors too.

7 Validation and Critical Evaluation of Provided Model

Laboratory animals which can provide models of different human diseases, have cause several breakthroughs in medical science. Accordingly, it reveals the importance of selecting appropriate animals and also modeling and research methods. Despite to several advantages of animal models, none of them can mimic all aspects of human diseases especially in neurodegenerative disorders with the coexistence of cognitive and motor impairment, such as PD (N Prasad 2017). Therefore, according to the main purpose of studas investigating ies such the behavioral symptoms, molecular mechanisms and pathways, the best model of disease can be selected and developed. After this stage, selected appropriate model should pass various validation stages. Based-on the standards of developing animal models, there are different evaluation criteria and processes. Generally, validation method could be categorized to five main types; (1) internal validity, (2) face validity, (3) predictive validity, (4) construct validity, and (5) external validity (van der Staay et al. 2009). Basically, a welldesigned PD animal model should possess the main pathological and behavioral hallmarks. Todays, several behavioral analysis methods are used by investigators in order to validate the induction of behavioral deficits, for example; locomotor activity test, catalepsy test, rearing test, stepping test, rotarod/accelerod test, and probabilistic learning test are commonly used. Further, some of the mentioned behavioral tests are used as the gold standard in different conditions. For example asymmetric circling

behavior is the gold standard validation for the unilateral lesions (Bezard and Przedborski 2011). Despite the existing gold standard tests which provide desirable validation aspects, they are not strongly reliable. This limitation is resulted from different validation methods using by investigators and restricted comparison opportunity. On the other word, the mentioned techniques provide subjective results. Therefore, to overcome this limitation, developing alternative objective methods for tracking the PD-related biomarkers seems to be essential. Recently, new technology-based devices have been produced to record manifestations of PD with decrease effects of confounders on data management (Garcia-Ruiz and Espay 2017). These devices can provide objective results in both basic and clinical researches (Godinho et al. 2016; Heldman et al. 2017). They are divided in wearable and non-wearable devices. Some examples of these instruments are available in the market such as; Mobility Lab System (APDM), Physilog®, StepWatch3 (SAM), TriTracRT3, WiiBalanceBoard, and GAITRite[®]. Most of them can optimize validity, reliability, and sensitivity in addition to assessing various clinical parameters (Godinho et al. 2016; Heldman et al. 2017; Lopane et al. 2018). However, the incidence of motor symptoms of PD is associated with advanced stages of disease which is hard to manage. Therein, molecular genetics with a special focused on "OMICs" technologies can provide early diagnosis of disease using validated biomarkers of PD (Gilany et al. 2018; Rahim et al. 2018b). On the other words, it would be able to distinguish "at risk" people and provide a great opportunity for monitoring of disease progression results in improving PD management. Clinically, biomarkers are characteristics which objectively reflect the normal or pathological processes and pharmaceutical responses to specific interventions. They can be assessed through blood and cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) analysis and can be easily standardized because of its objective results. Biomarkers analysis is possible with a small sample size and a reasonable repeatability (Shi et al. 2011; Miller and O'Callaghan 2015). Therefore, they are considered as valuable translators of preclinical studies to clinic as they can be used as disease stage



Fig. 3 Different validation methods in Parkinson's disease. A prepared PD model is evaluated using different validation methods such as behavioral tests, neuroimaging techniques, and biomarkers analysis. Each of them has their own advantages and disadvantages. Behavioral analysis methods present beneficial outcomes for validation of behavioral deficits; though, their results are subjective and difficult to conclude. However, some other validation

specific markers to provide the possibility of assessing various drug effects in different stages of disease (Fig. 3). Interestingly, biomarkers are powerful tools in drug development for the proof of drug mechanisms, toxicity and dosage (Miller and O'Callaghan 2015). Furthermore, biomarker studies represent a remarkable impact on RM. Through the assessment of biomarkers in different stem cells secretome profile, potency and efficiency will be predictable and leads to optimized and efficient cell-based therapies (Mimeault et al. 2007; Kim et al. 2019). Overlay, PD as a neurodegenerative disease is a progressive disorder which resulted from the dysfunction of neural networks, alteration of neurotransmitters and receptors. Substantially, all of these procedures occur gradually and need to be monitored and recorded according to their chronicity. In this regard, more attention has been drawn to some novel strategies such as "OMICs" assessments and neuroimaging techniques in clinical diagnosis and medical management of PD.

methods like evaluating the physiological biomarkers and different neuroimaging techniques are more useful in the case of early diagnosis, monitor different stages of the disease, and personalized analysis. They represent more objective results which are easy to standardize while possess rapid outcomes (Bezard and Przedborski 2011; Shi et al. 2011; Yang et al. 2018)

8 Neuroimaging and Validation of Parkinson's Disease Model

Modern techniques of imaging have been applied to diagnosis of neurodegenerative disorders such as PD (Sarkaki et al. 2008). Neuroimaging methods are widespread, non-invasive, and costefficient tools for continuous evaluation of motor and non-motor impairments of PD. They are categorized to structural and functional groups to monitor different biomarkers and demonstrate the progression and changes of disease (Yang et al. 2018; Burciu and Vaillancourt 2018; De Micco et al. 2018). For instance, magnetic resoimaging (MRInance T1-weighted and T2-weighted) as a structural technique is the most common used scan in PD. Additionally, voxel-based morphometry (VBM) is one of the widely used techniques in primates to distinguish differences between specific brain parts in different experimental groups, actually, it provides studying of focal differences in brain regions using MRI (Okano et al. 2012). However, VBM techniques are failed to identify brain regional differences in PD models. Accordingly, tensorbased morphometry (TBM) technique have been introduced to overcome major weak points of VBM (Kielar et al. 2012). As another example, diffusion-weighted MRI (dMRI) is sensitive to changes in water molecules diffusion caused by microstructural tissue alterations (Burciu and Vaillancourt 2018; Mateos-Pérez et al. 2018; Cordes et al. 2018; Guimarães et al. 2018). One of the clinical approved functional neuroimaging methods is positron emission tomography (PET), which can specify the cellular and molecular mechanisms, such as neurotransmitter and receptor changes (dopamine), protein aggregation (beta-amyloid), and etc. It will be easy to identify and predict different stages of PD using this technique (Brumberg et al. 2019; de Natale et al. 2018; Hammes et al. 2018). Recently, several supportive techniques such as machine learning (ML) algorithms have been added to the mentioned neuroimaging methods to provide a better prediction or assortment of broad-spectrum diseases using neuroimaging technique outcomes as input data (Katako et al. 2018; Aich et al. 2018; Cuadrado-Godia et al. 2018; Wan et al. 2019). Generally, deficiency of available and goldstandard method to reveal linear results is considered as a remarkable problem. Fortunately, approved guidelines and standards are available as most beneficial tools to upgrade the quality of animal study designs.

9 The Importance of Guidelines and Standards to Model Animals for Parkinson's Disease

Globally, non-human animal studies are progressively increased (Politis et al. 2010). Therefore, more concerns about ethical principles have been aroused. Interestingly, animal ethics has a long history in several cultures around the world which reveals the importance of animal rights (Szűcs et al. 2012). In different religions and cultures such as Christianity, Judaism, Islam, Hinduism, and Sikhism animal ethics and welfare has been considered. Universally, global guidelines and regulations on animal research are recommended by World Organization for Animal Health (OIE) and International Council on Laboratory Animal Science (ICLAS). Furthermore, several animal code of ethics have been established by ethical committees, for example in Iran, National Committee for Ethics in Biomedical Research authorizes ethical standards throughout the research centers, further examples are Regional Ethics Committees(Sweden), Institutional Animal Care (or Animal Care and Use) Committees(Canada, USA), and Animal Ethics Committees(Australia, New Zealand) which are consider different conditions of the animal life like; nutrition, habitat, and health. Basically, all stages of a standard experimental study should be assessed by ethics committees through the ethical and legal approved guidelines. An animal ethics committee has some mechanisms to balance cost and benefits of animal use for research. They are also trying to establish different guidelines and standards to protect laboratory animals that are used for either scientific or educational purposes and strongly restrict animal abuse and cruelty based-on 3Rs principles (Politis et al. 2010; Giles 1987; Council, N.R 2010). According to the practical guidelines; before the use of animals, all the stakeholders should be aware of the animal requirements, welfare, genetic characteristics, and breeding management to reduce the animal suffering, furthermore, they should study the research protocols carefully to diminishing unnecessary use of animals, and in the end of the study, they should euthanize animals through standard procedures (Touitou et al. 2004; Association, A. P 1986; Guillén et al. 2018; Green 2019). Since the animal models play a fundamental role in experimental biomedicine and considered as a cornerstone of biomedical researches, it is important to design and establish standard and ethical approved animal study to achieve more reliable data sources for biomedical researches (Chiorazzi et al. 2018).

10 Conclusion and Future Perspectives

Regarding to the worldwide development of aging, there is a need for the management of age-related problems and disorders such as PD (Reeve et al. 2014). Hereupon, several types of pharmacological and non- pharmacological treatments are applied for the management of PD. Recently, cellularbased therapies as a novel approach to PD can be useful through regeneration and replacement of dopaminergic neurons, and also symptomatic relieving. Therein, it is exceptionally essential to be cautious about new therapies (with different ranges from pharmacological to using cell based medicinal products) which will be brought to the bedside following safety and efficacy assessment. Accordingly, conducting toxicity, pharmacodynamic, and pharmacokinetic studies are needed as the preclinical evaluation for development of advanced therapeutic medicinal products (ATMPs) (Okura and Matsuyama 2016: Broichhausen et al. 2014). Additionally, animal models have been used for the assessment of advanced therapies and they have a fundamental role in all pathways of drug development. In the case of PD, identification of involved genes has shed light on the knowledge of the genetic pathogenesis of PD, the novel medications, and new animal modeling methods. On the other hand, the toxin-based animal modeling methods are relatively older than the genetic-based. Nowadays, due to several scientific evidences like feasibility and cost-effectiveness, the old approach is universally more acceptable. For example, MPTPtreatment is the gold standard of PD modeling. However, the future models can provide the combined properties of not only toxin and geneticbased models but also the environmental and aging factors (Dauer and Przedborski 2003; Schober 2004). Generally, finding an appropriate model with a suitable validation method is the most important stage in experimental studies. Accordingly, several validation strategies have been different manifestations provided for of PD. However, applying more reliable methods can result in perfect models. Therefore, more

applicable validation methods with objective results have to be standardized. While, animal models are essential tools for experimental studies, it has some limitations that should be considered. According to ethical and legal principles, the use of animals for different research approaches should be justified. On the other word, despite the using of several animal models, its justification still is controversial. Thus different ethical declarations, guidelines, and codes have recommended some alternatives to replace animal models (Harriss et al. 2017). For this purpose, novel technologies such as microfluidics and "OMICs" should be developed. Moreover, progression in computer simulation models and synthetic replacements could provide reasonable alternatives for animal testing. Computer-based technology can simulate animal metabolism and its interaction with the environment. Moreover, it could optimize profitability with predicting of different outcomes. In the future, more development of computer models will be required for advanced experimental studies as the substitutes for animal models (Lennernas et al. 2017). Additionally, 'OMICs' technologies have presented advances in histopathological analysis diagnosis through improving procedures, shortening the period of time, and using small samples (Bennett 2010; Grafström et al. 2015). In summary, providing appropriate animal model and performing accurate validity in preclinical study is strongly recommended.

Acknowledgement The authors would like to acknowledge Sepideh Alavi-Moghadam, Dr. Mohsen Khorshidi and Shokouh Salimi for their kind support.

Conflict of Interest The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

References

- Ai J et al (2014) Polymeric scaffolds in neural tissue engineering: a review. Arch Neurosci 1(1):15–20
- Aich S et al (2018) A validation study of freezing of gait (FoG) detection and machine-learning-based FoG prediction using estimated gait characteristics with a wearable accelerometer. Sensors 18(10):3287

- Albus U (2012) Guide for the care and use of laboratory animals, 8th edn. SAGE Publications Sage UK, London
- Arking R, Arking B (2006) Biology of aging: observations and principles. Oxford University Press, Oxford
- Association, A.P (1986) Guidelines for ethical conduct in the care and use of animals. J Exp Anal Behav 45 (2):127
- Beal MF (2001) Experimental models of Parkinson's disease. Nat Rev Neurosci 2(5):325
- Ben-Hur T et al (2004) Transplantation of human embryonic stem cell–derived neural progenitors improves behavioral deficit in parkinsonian rats. Stem Cells 22 (7):1246–1255
- Bennett A (2010) The use of human tissues and cells in biomedical research: the unusual suspects. Altern Lab Anim 38(1_suppl):5–9
- Bezard E, Przedborski S (2011) A tale on animal models of Parkinson's disease. Mov Disord 26(6):993–1002
- Blandini F, Armentero M-T (2014) Dopamine receptor agonists for Parkinson's disease. Expert Opin Investig Drugs 23(3):387–410
- Blesa J et al (2012) Classic and new animal models of Parkinson's disease. Biomed Res Int 2012:845618
- Blesa J et al (2015) Oxidative stress and Parkinson's disease. Front Neuroanat 9:91
- Bretaud S, Lee S, Guo S (2004) Sensitivity of zebrafish to environmental toxins implicated in Parkinson's disease. Neurotoxicol Teratol 26(6):857–864
- Broichhausen C et al (2014) In question: the scientific value of preclinical safety pharmacology and toxicology studies with cell-based therapies. Mol Ther Methods Clin Dev 1:14026
- Brumberg J et al (2019) PET imaging of noradrenaline transporters in Parkinson's disease: focus on scan time. Ann Nucl Med 33(2):69–77
- Buczak-Stec EW, König H-H, Hajek A (2018) Impact of incident Parkinson's disease on satisfaction with life. Front Neurol 9:589
- Burciu RG, Vaillancourt DE (2018) Imaging of motor cortex physiology in Parkinson's disease. Mov Disord 33(11):1688–1699
- Cai J et al (2009) Dopaminergic neurons derived from human induced pluripotent stem cells survive and integrate into 6-OHDA-lesioned rats. Stem Cells Dev 19 (7):1017–1023
- Cannon JR, Greenamyre JT (2010) Neurotoxic in vivo models of Parkinson's disease: recent advances. In: Progress in brain research. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp 17–33
- Carlsson A (2002) Treatment of Parkinson's with L-DOPA. The early discovery phase, and a comment on current problems. J Neural Transm 109(5):777–787
- Chiorazzi A et al (2018) Animal models & translational medicine: quality and reproducibility of experimental design. Comp Med 68(1):84–94
- Cordes D et al (2018) Advances in functional magnetic resonance imaging data analysis methods using empirical mode decomposition to investigate temporal changes in early Parkinson's disease. Alzheimers Dement Transl Res Clin Interv 4:372–386

- Council, N.R (2010) Guide for the care and use of laboratory animals. National Academies Press, Bethesda
- Cuadrado-Godia E et al (2018) Cerebral small vessel disease: a review focusing on pathophysiology, biomarkers, and machine learning strategies. J Stroke 20(3):302
- Dauer W, Przedborski S (2003) Parkinson's disease: mechanisms and models. Neuron 39(6):889–909
- De Micco R, Russo A, Tessitore A (2018) Structural MRI in idiopathic Parkinson's disease. In: Imaging in movement disorders: imaging methodology and applications in parkinson's disease, vol 141. Academic, Cambridge, MA, pp 405–438
- de Natale ER et al (2018) Molecular imaging of the dopaminergic system in idiopathic Parkinson's disease. In: Imaging in movement disorders: imaging methodology and applications in Parkinson's disease, vol 141. Academic, Cambridge, MA, pp 131–172
- Dickson DW (2018) Neuropathology of Parkinson disease. Parkinsonism Relat Disord 46:S30–S33
- Fenwick N, Griffin G, Gauthier C (2009) The welfare of animals used in science: how the "three Rs" ethic guides improvements. Can Vet J 50(5):523
- Festing S, Wilkinson R (2007) The ethics of animal research: talking point on the use of animals in scientific research. EMBO Rep 8(6):526–530
- Fox SH et al (2011) The Movement Disorder Society evidence-based medicine review update: treatments for the motor symptoms of Parkinson's disease. Mov Disord 26(S3):S2–S41
- Garcia-Ruiz PJ, Espay AJ (2017) Parkinson disease: an evolutionary perspective. Front Neurol 8:157
- George B (2011) Regulations and guidelines governing stem cell based products: clinical considerations. Perspect Clin Res 2(3):94
- Ghodsi M et al (2012) The effect of fetal liver-derived cell suspension allotransplantation on patients with diabetes: first year of follow-up. Acta Med Iran 50:541–546
- Gilany K et al (2018) Metabolic fingerprinting of seminal plasma from non-obstructive Azoospermia patients: positive versus negative sperm retrieval. J Reprod Infertil 19(2):109
- Giles AR (1987) Guidelines for the use of animals in biomedical research. Thromb Haemost 58 (04):1078–1084
- Godinho C et al (2016) A systematic review of the characteristics and validity of monitoring technologies to assess Parkinson's disease. J Neuroeng Rehabil 13 (1):24
- Goodarzi P et al (2014a) Stem cell therapy for treatment of epilepsy. Acta Med Iran 52(9):651–655
- Goodarzi P et al (2014b) Human autologous serum as a substitute for fetal bovine serum in human Schwann cell culture. Acta Med Iran 52(4):241–245
- Goodarzi P et al (2015) Stem cell-based approach for the treatment of Parkinson's disease. Med J Islam Repub Iran 29:168
- Grafström RC et al (2015) Toward the replacement of animal experiments through the bioinformatics-driven analysis of 'omics' data from human cell cultures. Altern Lab Anim 43(5):325–332

- Green RM (2019) Ethical considerations. In: Principles of regenerative medicine. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp 1331–1343
- Group, P.M.C (2014) Long-term effectiveness of dopamine agonists and monoamine oxidase B inhibitors compared with levodopa as initial treatment for Parkinson's disease (PD MED): a large, open-label, pragmatic randomised trial. Lancet 384 (9949):1196–1205
- Guillén J et al (2018) The European framework on research animal welfare regulations and guidelines. In: Laboratory animals regulations and recommendations for the care and use of animals in research, 2nd ed. Elsevier, San Diego, pp 117–202. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-849880-4.00005-2
- Guimarães RP et al (2018) Is diffusion tensor imaging a good biomarker for early Parkinson's disease? Front Neurol 9:626
- Halbach OVBU (2006) Modeling neurodegenerative diseases in vivo review. Neurodegener Dis 2(6):313
- Halme DG, Kessler DA (2006) FDA regulation of stemcell-based therapies. Massachusetts Medical Society, Waltham
- Hammes J, Drzezga A, van Eimeren T (2018) The role of tau imaging in Parkinsonian disorders. Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep 18(12):86
- Harriss D, MacSween A, Atkinson G (2017) Standards for ethics in sport and exercise science research: 2018 update. Int J Sports Med 38(14):1126–1131
- Heldman DA et al (2017) Telehealth management of Parkinson's disease using wearable sensors: an exploratory study. Digit Biomark 1(1):43–51
- Jackson-Lewis V, Blesa J, Przedborski S (2012) Animal models of Parkinson's disease. Parkinsonism Relat Disord 18:S183–S185
- Jankovic J, Poewe W (2012) Therapies in Parkinson's disease. Curr Opin Neurol 25(4):433–447
- Katako A et al (2018) Machine learning identified an Alzheimer's disease-related FDG-PET pattern which is also expressed in Lewy body dementia and Parkinson's disease dementia. Sci Rep 8(1):13236
- Katunina E et al (2015) Dopamine receptor agonists: new forms and new possibilities in the treatment of Parkinson's disease. Zh Nevrol Psikhiatr Im S S Korsakova 115(5):34–40
- Kielar C et al (2012) Tensor-based morphometry and stereology reveal brain pathology in the complexin1 knockout mouse. PLoS One 7(2):e32636
- Kim YJ et al (2009) Neuroprotective effects of human mesenchymal stem cells on dopaminergic neurons through anti-inflammatory action. Glia 57(1):13–23
- Kim HK et al (2019) A subset of paracrine factors as efficient biomarkers for predicting vascular regenerative efficacy of mesenchymal stromal/stem cells. Stem Cells 37(1):77–88
- Knoepfler PS (2015) From bench to FDA to bedside: US regulatory trends for new stem cell therapies. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 82:192–196
- Lahman MK et al (2011) Culturally responsive relational reflexive ethics in research: the three Rs. Qual Quant 45(6):1397–1414

- Lane EL (2019) L-DOPA for Parkinson's disease—a bittersweet pill. Eur J Neurosci 49(3):384–398
- Lennernas H et al (2017) In vivo predictive dissolution (IPD) and biopharmaceutical modeling and simulation: future use of modern approaches and methodologies in a regulatory context. Mol Pharm 14(4):1307–1314
- Lim K-L, Ng C-H (2009) Genetic models of Parkinson disease. Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Basis Dis 1792 (7):604–615
- Lopane G et al (2018) Supervised versus unsupervised technology-based levodopa monitoring in Parkinson's disease: an intrasubject comparison. J Neurol 265 (6):1343–1352
- Mateos-Pérez JM et al (2018) Structural neuroimaging as clinical predictor: a review of machine learning applications. NeuroImage Clin 20:506–522
- Miller DB, O'Callaghan JP (2015) Biomarkers of Parkinson's disease: present and future. Metabolism 64(3):S40–S46
- Mimeault M, Hauke R, Batra SK (2007) Stem cells: a revolution in therapeutics—recent advances in stem cell biology and their therapeutic applications in regenerative medicine and cancer therapies. Clin Pharmacol Ther 82(3):252–264
- N Prasad K (2017) Oxidative stress, pro-inflammatory cytokines, and antioxidants regulate expression levels of MicroRNAs in Parkinson's disease. Curr Aging Sci 10(3):177–184
- Okano H et al (2012) The common marmoset as a novel animal model system for biomedical and neuroscience research applications. In: Seminars in fetal and neonatal medicine 17(2012):336–340
- Okura H, Matsuyama A (2016) Regulatory aspect of pre-clinical studies for regenerative medicine. Transl Med (Sunnyvale) 6:182. https://doi.org/10.4172/2161-1025.1000182
- Pahwa R, Lyons KE (2014) Treatment of early Parkinson's disease. Curr Opin Neurol 27(4):442–449
- Payab M et al (2018a) Stem cell and obesity: current state and future perspective. In: Cell biology and translational medicine, vol 2. Springer, Cham, pp 1–22
- Payab M et al (2018b) An overview of ethical issues in tissue engineering. J Appl Tissue Eng 5(1):12–20
- Politis M et al (2010) Serotonergic neurons mediate dyskinesia side effects in Parkinson's patients with neural transplants. Sci Transl Med 2(38):38ra46–38ra46
- Potashkin J, Blume S, Runkle N (2011) Limitations of animal models of Parkinson's disease. Park Dis 2011:658083
- Rahim F et al (2018a) Stem cells treatment to combat Cancer and genetic disease: from stem cell therapy to gene-editing correction. In: Stem cells for cancer and genetic disease treatment. Springer, Cham, pp 29–59
- Rahim F et al (2018b) Stem cell therapy for patients with diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis of metabolomics-based risks and benefits. Stem Cell Invest 5:40
- Ramonet D et al (2011) Dopaminergic neuronal loss, reduced neurite complexity and autophagic abnormalities in transgenic mice expressing G2019S mutant LRRK2. PLoS One 6(4):e18568
- Reeve A, Simcox E, Turnbull D (2014) Ageing and Parkinson's disease: why is advancing age the biggest risk factor? Ageing Res Rev 14:19–30
- Saberi H et al (2008) Treatment of chronic thoracic spinal cord injury patients with autologous Schwann cell transplantation: an interim report on safety considerations and possible outcomes. Neurosci Lett 443(1):46–50
- Saberi H et al (2011) Safety of intramedullary Schwann cell transplantation for postrehabilitation spinal cord injuries: 2-year follow-up of 33 cases. J Neurosurg Spine 15(5):515–525
- Sardi SP, Cedarbaum JM, Brundin P (2018) Targeted therapies for Parkinson's disease: from genetics to the clinic. Mov Disord 33(5):684–696
- Sarkaki A et al (2008) Postmenopausal effects of intrastriatal estrogen on catalepsy and pallidal electroencephalogram in an animal model of Parkinson's disease. Neuroscience 154(3):940–945
- Schober A (2004) Classic toxin-induced animal models of Parkinson's disease: 6-OHDA and MPTP. Cell Tissue Res 318(1):215–224
- Sharma S, Ebadi M (2014) Significance of metallothioneins in aging brain. Neurochem Int 65:40–48
- Shi M et al (2011) Cerebrospinal fluid biomarkers for Parkinson disease diagnosis and progression. Ann Neurol 69(3):570–580
- Snyder BJ, Olanow CW (2005) Stem cell treatment for Parkinson's disease: an update for 2005. Curr Opin Neurol 18(4):376–385
- Sonntag KC et al (2007) Enhanced yield of neuroepithelial precursors and midbrain-like dopaminergic neurons from human embryonic stem cells using the bone morphogenic protein antagonist noggin. Stem Cells 25 (2):411–418

- Sonntag K-C et al (2018) Pluripotent stem cell-based therapy for Parkinson's disease: current status and future prospects. Prog Neurobiol 168:1–20
- Szűcs E et al (2012) Animal welfare in different human cultures, traditions and religious faiths. Asian Australas J Anim Sci 25(11):1499
- Tansey MG, Goldberg MS (2010) Neuroinflammation in Parkinson's disease: its role in neuronal death and implications for therapeutic intervention. Neurobiol Dis 37(3):510–518
- Terzioglu M, Galter D (2008) Parkinson's disease: genetic versus toxin-induced rodent models. FEBS J 275 (7):1384–1391
- Tieu K (2011) A guide to neurotoxic animal models of Parkinson's disease. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med 1 (1):a009316
- Touitou Y et al (2004) Ethical principles and standards for the conduct of human and animal biological rhythm research. Chronobiol Int 21(1):161–170
- Turksen K (2018) Cell biology and translational medicine, volume 3: stem cells, bio-materials and tissue engineering, vol 1107. Springer, Cham
- van der Staay FJ, Arndt SS, Nordquist RE (2009) Evaluation of animal models of neurobehavioral disorders. Behav Brain Funct 5(1):11
- Wan KR et al (2019) A review on microelectrode recording selection of features for machine learning in deep brain stimulation surgery for Parkinson's disease. Clin Neurophysiol 130(1):145–154
- Xiong Y, Dawson TM, Dawson VL (2017) Models of LRRK2-associated Parkinson's disease. In: Leucine-Rich repeat kinase 2 (LRRK2). Springer, Cham, pp 163–191
- Yang D et al (2008) Human embryonic stem cell-derived dopaminergic neurons reverse functional deficit in parkinsonian rats. Stem Cells 26(1):55–63
- Yang J, Burciu RG, Vaillancourt DE (2018) Longitudinal progression markers of Parkinson's disease: current view on structural imaging. Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep 18(12):83



Cell Therapy Targets for Autism Spectrum Disorders: Hopes, Challenges and Future Directions

Bagher Larijani 💿, Najmeh Foroughi Heravani, Sepideh Alavi-Moghadam, Parisa Goodarzi, Mostafa Rezaei-Tavirani 💿, Moloud Payab , Mahdi Gholami, Farideh Razi, and Babak Arimand

Abstract

Autism spectrum disorders as a group of pediatric neurodevelopmental diseases is a crucial part of the worldwide disabilities which have influence in communication skills, social interactions, and ability to understand the

B. Larijani

N. Foroughi Heravani and S. Alavi-Moghadam Cell Therapy and Regenerative Medicine Research Center, Endocrinology and Metabolism Molecular-Cellular Sciences Institute, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

e-mail: najmeh_foroughi@yahoo.com; sepidalavi@gmail.com

P. Goodarzi

Brain and Spinal Cord Injury Research Center, Neuroscience Institute, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran e-mail: pr_goodarzi@yahoo.com

M. Rezaei-Tavirani Proteomics Research Center, Shahid Beheshti University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran e-mail: Tavirany@yahoo.com

concepts. The precise pathophysiology of autism spectrum disorders due to the abundance of involved mechanisms is unknown. Some of these involved mechanisms are related to genetic factors, chronic neuro inflammation, mitochondrial dysfunction,

M. Payab

Obesity and Eating Habits Research Center, Endocrinology and Metabolism Molecular-Cellular Sciences Institute, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran e-mail: Moloudpayab@gmail.com

M. Gholami

Department of Toxicology & Pharmacology, Faculty of Pharmacy; Toxicology and Poisoning Research Center, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran e-mail: m_gholami2068@yahoo.com

F. Razi

Diabetes Research Center, Endocrinology and Metabolism Clinical Siences Institute, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran e-mail: farideh.razi@gmail.com

B. Arjmand (\boxtimes)

Cell Therapy and Regenerative Medicine Research Center, Endocrinology and Metabolism Molecular-Cellular Sciences Institute, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

Metabolomics and Genomics Research Center, Endocrinology and Metabolism Molecular-Cellular Sciences Institute, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

e-mail: barjmand@sina.tums.ac.ir

Endocrinology and Metabolism Research Center, Endocrinology and Metabolism Clinical Sciences Institute, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran e-mail: emrc@tums.ac.ir

oxidative stress, immune dysregulation, hormonal imbalance, and environmental factors. Current main treatments for autisms are behavioral, nutritional and medical therapies, however there is not definitive treatment approach. Therein, more novel therapies are still required to improve the symptoms. Several preclinical and clinical evidence were shown that stem cell therapy is a potential treatment option for autism spectrum disorders individuals. Considering the significant factors which can affect the outcome of stem cell therapeutic effects including stem cell types, route and dosage of administration, and mechanism of activity along with selecting best animal models can be very important in performing clinical trials.

Keywords		
Autism spectru	m disorders · Neuro	
inflammation · Neurological disorders ·		
Regenerative n	nedicine · Stem cell therapy	

Abbreviations

Applied Behavior Analysis
Attention Deficit Hyperactivity
Disorder
Autism spectrum disorders
Autologous Umbilical Cord Blood
Blood Brain Barrier
Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor
Bone marrow Mononuclear Stem
cells
Black and Tan, Brachyuric
Cord Blood Mononuclear Cells
Childhood Disintegrate Disorders
Clinical Global Impression
Central Nervous System
Cerebrospinal Fluid
Dopamine Transporter gene 1
Dopamine D4 Receptor gene
Diagnostic and Statistical Manual
of Mental Disorders
Embryonic Stem Cells
Functional Independence Measure

GI	Gastrointestinal		
GRM	Glutamate metabotropic receptors		
GSH	Glutathione		
HSCs	Hematopoietic Stem Cells		
ID	Intellectual Disability		
IL-1	Inteleukin-1		
IL-10	Interleukin 10		
IL-12	Interleukin-12		
IL-6	interleukin-6		
iPSCs	induced Pluripotent Stem Cells		
IQ	Intelligence Quotient		
ISAA	Indian Scale for Assessment of		
	Autism		
MD	Mitochondrial Damage		
MSCs	Mesenchymal Stem Cells		
mtDNA	Mitochondrial DNA		
NF-κB	Nuclear Factor kappa-light-chain-		
	enhancer of activated B cells		
NHIS	National Health Interview Survey		
NLGN	Neuroligin		
NRXN	Neurexin		
PCOS	Polycystic Ovary Syndrome		
PDD-	Pervasive Developmental Disorder		
NOS	Not Otherwise Specified		
PRT	Pivotal Response Treatment		
RTT	Rett syndrome		
SSRIs	Selective Serotonin Reuptake		
	Inhibitors		
UCMSCs	Umbilical Cord-derived Mesenchy-		
	mal Stem Cells		
VEGF	Vascular Endothelial Growth		
	Factor		
VPA	Valproic Acid		

1 Introduction

Autism spectrum disorders (ASDs) as a group of neurodevelopmental diseases which being more prevalent in boys than girls, affects about 14.5 per 1000 eight-year-old children over the past decades (Christensen et al. 2018; Ichim et al. 2007a). Indeed, ASD encompasses autism, Asperger's syndrome, Rett syndrome (RTT), and childhood disintegrate disorders (CDD). Problem in social interaction, repetitive or restrictive behavior and problem with speech and impairment in communication can be introduced as three main clinical conditions of ASD (Christensen et al. 2018; Ichim et al. 2007a). More associated symptoms are aggression, compulsion, irritability, gastrointestinal (GI) issues and sleep disorders (Siniscalco et al. 2018a). Additionally, some abnormalities such as synaptic connectivity problems and disorganization of white matter lead to impaired communication skills in children (Sivanesan et al. 2017). Further, neural hypoperfusion, oxidative stress, mitochondrial dysfunction and dysregulation of immune system are some other pathophysiological mechanisms, however the exact pathophysiology of it remains unclear and it needs further investigations (Siniscalco et al. 2013a; Sharma et al. 2017a). Since genetic alterations are one of the causes of ASD, it is considered to be one of the most heritable diseases. Generally, based on the genetic point of view, there are two forms of ASD: the syndromic form and the non-syndromic form (de la Torre-Ubieta et al. 2016). On the other hand, ASD can be influenced by environmental factors including pre and post-natal exposures to infections and pesticides (Yang and Shcheglovitov 2019). Diagnosis of ASD is quite difficult as it is a heterogeneous disorder and the related symptoms are seen in other neurological and/or psychiatric conditions such as epilepsy, Attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) and intellectual disability (ID) (Yang and 2019). Autism is generally Shcheglovitov diagnosed definitely around 24-36 months, but in some cases it may occur in adulthood as long as its severity varies and some children grow as independent adults (Ichim et al. 2007a). Using diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders, autism is determined and basically, it is diagnosed by observational and psychometric tests (Ichim et al. 2007a; Siniscalco et al. 2018a; Siniscalco et al. 2013a). Hence, current main treatments for autisms are behavioral (e.g. applied behavior analysis, speech therapy, social skills training), nutritional (e.g. use of

vitamins

and

supplements)

(e.g. selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors

and

medical

(SSRIs) and antipsychotic drugs) therapies, however there is no gold standard approach (Ichim et al. 2007a; Siniscalco et al. 2018a). Therefore, novel therapies are still required to improve the symptoms of ASD. One of these new potential treatments is stem cell therapy and due to stem cell regenerative capability, it is a beneficial choice for neurologic disorders (Goodarzi et al. 2014, 2015, 2019a; Arjm et al. 2013; Rahim et al. 2018; Soleimani et al. 2016; Derakhshanrad et al. 2015; Larijani et al. 2019a; Rahim and Arjmand 2017) like neurologic impairment in ASD. Therefore, many preclinical and clinical studies have tested stem cell transplantation and indicated therapeutic promises. Further, paracrine effects and immune modulatory capacity of stem cells can influence the related abnormalities in ASD. Accordingly, various types of stem cells including embryonic stem cells (ESCs), fetal stem cells (FSCs), adult stem cells, and induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) have been investigated (Siniscalco et al. 2018a; Ichim et al. 2007b).Generally this review will be focused on ASD and its known underlying mechanisms, the types and relevant investigations of stem cells and their targeted sites of action, and procedures for stem cell therapy in ASD.

2 Background and History of Autism

The term "autism" was first used at 1943, in the title of a clinical case report by Kanner: "Autistic Disturbances of Affective Contact". It was about 11 children who had similar autistic symptoms to the present form of criteria. Before that, in 1900s, there were reports of childhood schizophrenia and childhood disintegrative disorder (Heller's syndrome) and patients with similar conditions to autism (Evans 2013; Feinstein 2011). Nowadays, autism is known as one of the lifelong complex neurodevelopmental disorders and its symptoms appear in the first 3 years of life. It displays impairment in social and communication skills and cognitive functions (Siniscalco et al. 2018a; Evans 2013; Freitas et al. 2014, 2018; Eissa et al.

2018). Various etiologies can cause quite same behaviors so many disorders which show autistic features are grouped as ASD. It affects more than 1% of the general population and there are heterogeneity and variety in severity, functional disabilities and symptoms (Siniscalco et al. 2018a; Freitas et al. 2014). Classical autism, pervasive developmental disorder not otherwise specified (PDD-NOS), Asperger's syndrome, RTT and CDD are included in ASD group (Freitas et al. 2014). Not only autism causes higher mortality rate, but also most of the adults with autism have problems in personal and social life, however varying developmental processes have indicated insignificant autistic symptoms and normal social communication (Fein et al. 2013; Lai et al. 2014). Considering screening and early identification of ASD, there are different instruments to be used for children, adolescents, and adults. Although individuals with autisms were not diagnosed until 3-4 years, now toddlers are frequently identified, however it becomes hard in many cases (Lai et al. 2014). Accordingly, in order to diagnose ASD based on diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders (DSM-5) (one of the major diagnostic criteria for developmental disorders), individuals must meet following social communication/interaction criteria including deficits in reciprocating social or emotional interaction, severe problems in developing, maintaining and understanding relationship, and problem in nonverbal communication. Additionally, they must fulfill at least 2 of the 4 criteria for restricted and repetitive behaviors which include: repetitive or stereotyped speech, use of objects or motor movements, adherence to routines, resistance to change, restricted interests that have abnormal intensity of focus and hypo or hyper- reactivity to sensory input or unusual interests in sensory aspects of the environment. As it was mentioned before, some associated co -occurring conditions may be found related to ASD such as GI problems, immune dysregulation, anxiety, depression and aggressive behaviors (Evans 2013; Lai et al. 2014; DeFilippis and Wagner 2016). These conditions affect more than 70% of patients and it seems that they can persist into adolescence from childhood and the more they become, the worse the disability of patients will be (Lai et al. 2014). Despite its growing prevalence and investigations, there is no efficient therfor problems especially of social communication and repetitive/restricted behavior (Eissa et al. 2018). Current quite applicable treatments can be divided in to behavioral therapy, pharmacological intervention, and complementary alternative medicine (DeFilippis and Wagner 2016). Among many psychosocial interventions which target core and associated symptoms of ASD, applied behavior analysis (ABA) and pivotal response treatment (PRT) are known as extensively studied methods (DeFilippis and Wagner 2016; Landa 2007). ABA is based on principles of operant conditioning and theories of learning. Intensive ABA therapy can lead to positive effects on features like intelligence quotient (IQ), intellectual and social functioning, language development and daily living skills (DeFilippis and Wagner 2016; Landa 2007). However, it needs a significant length of time and it is costly. PRT requires less time and it includes methods targeting specific skills and leads to generalized gains in areas such as joint attention (DeFilippis and Wagner 2016). In the category of pharmacological intervention, variety of medications are studied and some of them are used to control associated symptoms of ASD such as hyperactivity, anxiety, insomnia, inattention, irritability, aggression, repetitive behavior and self-injury (Eissa et al. 2018; DeFilippis and Wagner 2016). Several classes of drugs are under investigation in different phases of clinical trials and so far, risperidone and aripiprazole-as atypical antipsychotics- have been approved by FDA to improve behavioral symptoms (irritability) (Eissa et al. 2018; DeFilippis and Wagner 2016). Risperidone reduces repetitive behavior, aggression, irritability, anxiety and aripiprazole is able to decrease irritability, hyperactivity and stereotypy. Other examples of the medications

that are being used including SSRIs, anti

convulsants, and psychostimulants and their

major therapeutic effects are described in

apy

Name of		
medication	Class	Effect
Risperidone	Atypical	Decrease in irritability, repetitive behavior, aggression, anxiety, depression, and
	antipsychotics	nervousness. Increase in brain antioxidant activity
Aripiprazole	Atypical antipsychotics	Decrease in irritability, hyperactivity, and stereotypy
Clozapin	Atypical antipsychotics	Improvement in aggression and hyperactivity
Fluvaximine	SSRI	Improvement in compulsive repetitive behavior and aggression
Fluoxentine	SSRI	Decrease in repetitive and stereotyped behavior
Clomipramine	Tricyclic antidepressant	Improvement in compulsive behavior and anger
Methylphenidate	Psycho- stimulant	Improvement in attention. Hyperactivity, impulsivity, and social communication
Lamotrigine	Anticonvulsant	Improvement in whole autistic symptoms
Amantadine	Glutamate	Improvement in speech disturbance and hyperactivity
	antagonist	

 Table 1
 Some of currently used medications for ASD, SSRI Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors

Table 1 (Eissa et al. 2018). In regard to complementary medicine, melatonin seems to be a safe option for sleep in children with ASD and has been studied in some trials. Omega-3 fatty acids and methyl B12 are other proposed alternative treatments (DeFilippis and Wagner 2016). After all, since the drugs and other available therapies are not adequately effective and helpful, there is still the need for finding a suitable, applicable and efficient treatment for ASD and further studies on etiology and underlying mechanisms of the disease are demanded.

3 Causes and Mechanisms of Autism

In general, the exact pathophysiology of ASD is remained unknown due to the abundance of involved mechanisms (Strunecka et al. 2018; Ansel et al. 2017). Indeed, subjects who are genetically susceptible to ASD in the face of environmental factors are more likely to develop various ASD affecting conditions such as hormonal imbalance, immune dysregulation, chronic neuroinflammation, mitochondrial dysfunction, and oxidative stress conditions (Fig. 1).

3.1 Genetic Factors

Investigations around the ASDs associated genes have shown some mutations through the common molecular pathways related to neurexin (NRXN), CACNA, glutamate metabotropic receptors (GRM), CNTN genes (Uzunova et al. 2014; Hadley et al. 2014; Almandil et al. 2019). Accordingly, it has been revealed that modifying the synaptic structure and function during the mutation of NRXN, related neuroligin (NLGN), and ProSAP/Shank gene families, can more increase the risk for ASDs. Indeed, these mutations can participate in transsynaptic pathways and excitatory synapses maturation in the central nervous system (CNS) (Almandil et al. 2019; Arons et al. 2012; Lin et al. 2016; Washbourne 2015). Moreover, alterations of genes involved in the roles of neurotransmitters such as dopamine transporter gene (DAT1) and dopamine D4 receptor gene (DRD4) may notably change the risk of autism (Almandil et al. 2019; Qian et al. 2003). On the other hand, based on different types of research studies, epigenetic variations (heritable modifications in gene expression (via molecular factors at regulatory regions of DNA) which occur without a variation of primary DNA sequence) can be considered as an essential cause of the alternations in the risk of (Wiśniowiecka-Kowalnik autism and



Fig. 1 Causes and mechanisms of autism spectrum disorders. Several basic physiological mechanisms that are related together including genetic susceptibility along with environmental factors and hormonal imbalance,

Nowakowska 2019; Tremblay and Jiang 2019; Loke et al. 2015).

3.2 Chronic Neuro Inflammation

There is a growing interest to investigate about the role of the inflammation and immune system in the development of ASD. Therein, investigation summaries are indicated that the possible maternal viral infection occurred during the first trimester of gestation, can lead to acute immune activation and finally raise the risk of ASD in children. On the other hand, maternal anti-brain autoantibodies (which found in ~20% of mothers) lead to fetal brain development can bind to embryonic proteins and alter neural development pathways (Patterson 2011; Brucato et al. 2017; Fox et al. 2012; Jones and Van de Water 2019). Consequently, the immune profile of individuals with ASD specifically pro-inflammatory markers

immune dysregulation, chronic neuroinflammation, mitochondrial dysfunction, and oxidative stress conditions can cause ASD

such as inteleukin-1(IL-1), interleukin-6 (IL-6), interleukin-8 (IL-8), and interleukin-12 (IL-12) along with nuclear factor kappa-light-chainenhancer of activated B cells (NF- κ B) expression and microglial and astrocytic activation are different from healthy people (Tonhajzerova et al. 2015; Siniscalco et al. 2018b). Generally, due to some of evidences the function of the immune system and inflammation has pathogenic effects through various mechanisms. All of these mechanisms can result in low-grade chronic inflammation as well as changes in the central nervous system and immune responses (Chen et al. 2017).

3.3 Mitochondrial Dysfunction

Mitochondrial dysfunction can be created by either primary mitochondrial damage (MD) (because of hereditary defects in 112 mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA) or deficiency of vital genes for the function of mitochondria) or secondary MD (which can be induced by genes that participate in hereditary non-mitochondrial diseases) (Nicolson 2014; Niyazov et al. 2016). A lot of studies were indicated that mitochondrial dysfunction has been tied to ASD (especially some forms of syndromic ASD) (Varga et al. 2018a; Frye and Rossignol 2011; Palmieri and Persico 2010). In general, neural tissue as one of the tissues with high-energy demands is more affected by mitochondrial dysfunction than others. Accordingly, in mitochondrial dysfunction conditions, neurodevelopmental diseases such as ASD, intellectual disability, and childhood epilepsy are more prevalent than others (Valenti et al. 2014; Patel et al. 2011). In this context, many biochemical modifications (including raised levels of lactate, carnitine, pyruvate, creatine kinase, alanine, and ammonia) detected in the serum of subjects with ASD and changed respiratory chain enzyme functions found in the autistic brain, indicating mitochondrial dysfunction (Rossignol and Frye 2012; Griffiths and Levy 2017; Varga et al. 2018b).

3.4 Oxidative Stress

According to several recent large-scale studies oxidative stress (damaging of proteins, lipids, and DNA along with variations in function of valuable enzymes in redox metabolism) is intended to be momentous in the etiology of ASD (Rose et al. 2012; Rossignol and Frye 2014; Yui et al. 2016; Mandic-Maravic et al. 2019). Herein, genetic variations in glutathione (GSH) -related pathways, a decrease in mitochondrial GSH (the important cellular antioxidant), and an increase in oxidative stress markers (specifically peripheral markers containing those found in blood and urine) have been reported in individuals with ASD. Also, more molecular evaluations have demonstrated that there is significant oxidation of protein, lipids and DNA in their brain tissue (Yui et al. 2016; Atkuri et al. 2009). On the other hand, it was shown that oxidative stress has been associated with the GI difficulties severity in ASD individuals (Dhaliwal et al. 2019).

3.5 Immune Dysregulation

Frequent immune-mediated comorbid health problems were indicated in ASD individuals. Additionally, based on National Health Interview Survey (NHIS), ASD children have a higher prevalence of most medical conditions defined in autoimmune areas than other children. Hereupon, they need higher health care use. Therein, investigations are remarked that immune dysfunction and dysregulation underlined the bulk of these comorbidities (Hughes et al. 2018a; Xu et al. 2018). Furthermore, rises in inflammatory cells and cytokines along with reduces regulatory T cells were observed in subjects with ASD (Ashwood et al. 2011; Hughes et al. 2018b).

3.6 Hormonal Imbalance

Investigating the role of endocrine factors and their effect on different stages of the neurodevelopmental process and understanding the possible importance of endocrine etiopathogenesis in ASD has shown that hormonal imbalance during pregnancy (such as polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS)) can increase the risk of having a child with autism. Additionally, it is known that women with PCOS are more susceptible to obesity than healthy women while obesity through pregnancy has been independently connected to autism (De Leo et al. 2016; Long et al. 2019; Kosidou et al. 2016; Moosa et al. 2018). Generally, chemical messengers including different hormones, hormone-like substances, and neuropeptides, accompanied by neurotransmitters can promote the social behaviors encoding in the developing brain (Kovács 2004). Hence, any imbalance in this chemical transmission can lead to incomplete encoding and abnormal social behaviors as prominent features of ASD (Kovács 2004; Tareen and Kamboj 2012).

3.7 Environmental Factors

According to recent studies, about the half percentage of causes for increased autism risk are related to the influence of environmental factors including maternal smoking, most likely assisted reproductive technologies, vaccination, birth complications (associated with trauma or ischemia and hypoxia), heavy metals as environmental toxins (most famous inorganic mercury and lead), and etc. Indeed, they can influence the pathogenesis of ASD via epigenetic effects (Karimi et al. 2017; Emberti Gialloreti et al. 2019).

4 Stem Cells and Autism Spectrum Disorders

The advent of stem cell technology has provided exciting opportunities to treat a wide range of neurodegenerative disorders such as ASD. Hereupon, multiple factors including the types of stem cells, dosage and routes of administration, and frequency of transplantation can alter the outcome of stem cell therapy (Siniscalco et al. 2018a; Sharma et al. 2017b).

4.1 The Types of Applied Stem Cells for the Autism Treatment

According to regenerative potential of stem cells, various fetal and adult tissue-derived stem cells such as mesenchymal (MSCs) and hematopoietic (HSCs) stem cells along with ESCs and iPSCs are applied in the road of ASD treatment (Siniscalco et al. 2018a; Ichim et al. 2007b; Siniscalco et al. 2014). Until now, several preclinical and clinical investigations were demonstrated that using the bone marrow mononuclear stem cells (BMMNCs) and umbilical cord-derived mesenchymal stem cells (UCMSCs) for ASD are more common than other sources (Siniscalco et al. 2018a; Sharma et al. 2017b; Liu et al. 2019a). Herein, finding and choosing an appropriate route and dosage of stem cell administration for creating best treatment outcomes is of great importance. Additionally, it is clear that different types of stem cells play their roles through various mechanisms (Siniscalco et al. 2018a; Biehl and Russell 2009). Therein, studying these functional mechanisms can be helpful in selecting the best cell type for treatment.

4.2 Appropriate Dosage and Delivery Route of Stem Cells

Like selecting the type of stem cell to be used for individuals with autism, There are three main routs including intrathecal, intracerebral and intravenous transplantations (Sharma et al. 2017a; Liem NT et al. 2018). Using lumbar puncture for delivering the cells in intrathecal route is considered a minimally invasive method (Sharma et al. 2017a; Bakshi et al. 2004). However, it is known to be efficient as the injected cells can get to the target tissue through cerebrospinal fluid (CSF). On the other hand, intravenous route is the least invasive one but since the cells need to pass the blood brain barrier (BBB) and a considerable number of them do not reach the target site, it is less efficient (Sharma et al. 2017a; Bakshi et al. 2004). Although the direct delivery of cells is the most efficient one and the intraventricular (intracerebral) injection is favorable, it is risky and invasive for clinical application (Sharma et al. 2017a; Liem NT et al. 2018; Bakshi et al. 2004). It should be mentioned that to date, the clinical trials have used intrathecal, intravenous and even both forms of injections to apply cell therapy for ASD and it is claimed that they are safe, so a more precise examination of this issue is absolutely required (Siniscalco et al. 2018a; Bradstreet et al. 2014; Lv et al. 2013; Sharma et al. 2013a). Regarding appropriate dosage, which is another important part of therapy, there is a variety of cell sources and numbers in the clinical trials which studied stem cell therapy for ASDs (Siniscalco et al. 2018a). For instance, about 8.19 * 10⁷ autologous BMMNCs were used intrathecally in an open label study while in another trial, approximately $1*10^6$ /kg UCMSCs and 2*10 6/kg cord blood mononuclear

cells (CBMNCs) were injected intravenously (Lv et al. 2013; Sharma et al. 2013a). Noticing this variety, determining the effective and optimal cell dosage is essential in order to find the best unified one for helping and treating patients (Siniscalco et al. 2018a). More examples of cell dosages and delivery routes can be found in Table 2.

4.3 Mechanism of Stem Cell Function

Since there are inflammatory abnormalities, imbalance in innate and adaptive immunity, and disruption of synapse function and plasticity in ASD subjects, stem cell therapy can be useful via some key-action mechanisms including immunomodulatory properties, paracrine effects, and differentiation ability (Siniscalco et al. 2013a; Liu et al. 2019b; Siniscalco et al. 2013b). In this context, stem cells can play their role within some potential mechanisms for synaptic function and plasticity modulation by secreting specific growth factors, maintaining synaptic plasticity, regenerating synaptic transmitter release, and combining into existing synaptic networks (Siniscalco et al. 2014; Sharma et al. 2013a). On the other hand, they can perform their act on the adaptive and innate immune system through inhibiting the maturation of dendritic cells, repressing the pro-inflammatory activities, supporting the regulatory T cells generation, polarizing macrophages towards the antiinflammatory state, decreasing the proliferation and activation of B cells, passing the BBB and and migrating to sites of inflammation, suppressing the proliferation and cytotoxicity effects of NK cells (Siniscalco et al. 2014; Joel et al. 2019). Moreover, the differentiation abilities of injected cells into neural cells may contribute to ASD treatment (Siniscalco et al. 2018a).

4.4 Scientific Evidences

Among various studies investigating properties of stem cells to find new therapeutic options for different diseases, there are many studies exploring their effects on treating autism. Accordingly, there are a growing number of animal studies and clinical trials focusing on different features of each type of stem cells related to pathophysiology of ASD (Siniscalco et al. 2013a, 2018a).

4.4.1 Preclinical Investigations

As ASDs are about human behaviors, animal models cannot reproduce this condition thoroughly, yet. They can present information on the effect of stem cells on ASD- associated phenotypes. Animal models can be divided into drug-induced and mutagenesis generated models. For instance, valproic acid (VPA) maternal challenge in rodents can produce a valid autism model and administration of Propionic acid (PPA) results in autism similar abnormalities in rats. The exact genetic basis of autism is still unclear, so, some mutant mouse models are generated to develop associated mutations in patients to investigate mutations and alterations in the proteins related to autism such as shank, NRXN, NLGN, Mecp2, Foxps, Cntnap2, Ube3a, and Tsc (Tania et al. 2014). In this context, the Mecp2-null murine model underwent a transplantation of wild- type bone marrow, resulting in positive effects and improvements in Rett syndrome which suggested the bone marrow transplantation as a potential therapy for ASD (Tania et al. 2014; Derecki et al. 2012). Notably, an emerging animal model for investigating neurodevelopmental disorders like ASDs is Zebrafish. Zebrafish models can develop ASD associated symptoms and be potential useful models to study autism (Meshalkina et al. 2018). Additionally, an animal model which is commonly used is the black and tan brachyuric (BTBR) inbred mouse strain (Segal-Gavish et al. 2016). The mice indicate behavioral deficits and brain abnormalities and when human MSCs were transplanted into them, repetitive and social behaviors were improved and cognitive rigidity and stereotyped repetitive behaviors were decreased. However, there was no difference in anxiety-related behavior and the transplantation did not have any impact on gross motor activity. The human MSCs increased brain-

Table 2 Clir	nical trials on stem cel	ll therapy in ASDs					
Authors	Trial	Tyne of transnlanted cells and number	Follow-up duration	Mode of transnlantation	Number of participants	Scales	Results
e mmr.	1 1141		mmmm	nanapitation	ha uvipanto	201102	comean
Sharma	Open-label, proof	8.19*10' autologous BMMNCs	26 months	Intrathecal	32	CGI	Safety
et al.	of concept					ISAA	Improvement in behavior pattern,
(2013a)						FIM	cognitive component, social
						Wee-FIM	relationship, emotional response,
							speech domain, balancing of brain metabolism
Lv et al.	Non-randomized.	2+10 ⁶ /kg CBMNCs	24 weeks	Intravenous	Control:14	CARS	Safety
(2013)	open-label, single	1*10 ⁶ /kg UCMSCs		and intrathecal	CBMNC:13	CGI	Improvement in behavior-body
	center, phase I/II				Cobination:9	ABC	use-visual, emotional and
							intellectual response-nonverbal
							communication-activity level
Bradstreet	Open- label pilot	$1.6 \text{ ml of} > 30*10^{6}/ \text{ mil fetal liver}$	12 months	Intravenous	45	ATEC	Safety
et la	study	derived HSCs and 2.12 \pm 0.49 ml of		and		ABC	Improvements in speech,
(2014)		>8.70*10°/ml fetal brain derived		subcutaneous			sociability, behavior, cognitive
		nucleated neuroprogenitor cells					ability and immune system
Bansal	Non-randomized	Autologous BMMNCs	24 months	Intrathecal	10	ISAA	Safety
et al.	open-label					Wee-FIM	Improvements in socializing
(2016)							ability, hyperactivity, meaningless
							play, confidence, motor skills,
							aggressive behavior
Dawson	Single-center,	Target: 1–5 *10 ⁷ /kg AUCB cells,	12 months	Intravenous	25	VABS	Safety
et al.	phase I open- label	median TNC count: 2.6*107/kg				EOWPVT-	Improvement in behavior,
(2017)						4	socialization, communication,
						CGI	nonverbal IQ
						PDDBI	
Chez et al.	Randomized,	Mean AUCB TNC dose: 16.16*10 ⁶ /	49 weeks	Intravenous	29	ROWPVT-	Safety
(2018)	double-blinded,	kg	(cross over			4	
	placebo-controlled,		at			EOWPVT-	No significant efficacy
	crossover		24 weeks)			4	
						CGI	
						VABS-II	
						SBFR	
						SBKN	

Liem NT	Open-label un	Mean autologous	6 months	Intrathecal	24	CARS	Safety
et al.	controlled	BMMNCs:19.3*106/kg					Improvements in behavior, body
(2018)							use, visual response, fear or
							nervous score, taste, smell, touch
							score
Riordan	Single-arm phase	36*106 UCMSCs (9*106 viable) each	89 weeks	Intravenous	20	CARS	Safety
et al.	II/I	infusion (Total:4 infusions)	(1 year			ATEC	Improvements in social
(2019)			after the				communication, awareness and
			last dose)				motor ability (in 8 subjects)
BMMNCs Be	one marrow-derived n	nononuclear cells, CBMNCs Cord blood r	nononuclear c	cells, UCMSCs U	mbilical cord-de	erived mesencl	aymal stem cells, AUCB Autologous

independence measure, CARS Childhood autism rating scale, ABC Aberrant behavior checklist, ATEC Autism treatment evaluation checklis, VABS Vineland adaptive behavior scales, EOWPVT-4 Expressive one-word picture vocabulary test, fourth edition, PDDBI Pervasive developmental disorder behavior inventory, ROWPVT-4 Receptive one word picture vocabulary test, fourth edition, SBFR Stanford-Binet fluid reasoning, SBKN Stanford-Binet Knowledge umbilical cord blood, HSCs Hematopoietic stem cells, TNC Total nucleated cell, CGI Clinical global impression, ISAA Indian scale for assessment of autism, FIM Functional

derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) levels and hippocampal neurogenesis (Siniscalco et al. 2018a; Segal-Gavish et al. 2016). In another study, human ASCs were transplanted into VPA-induced autism mouse model, resulting in decreased anxiety, increased social behaviors and motor coordination. They increased vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), interleukin 10 (IL-10) expression, PTEN, and p-AKT/AKT ratio in the brains of mouse models that can somehow explain the pathways and mechanisms of therapeutic effect of ASCs (Siniscalco et al. 2018a; Griffiths and Levy 2017). Studying ASDderived stem cells as they show some different properties and gene expression, makes them another area of concern especially for autologous cell transplantation. For instance, maternal immune activation mouse models exhibited changes in HSCs differentiation (Siniscalco et al. 2018a; Hsiao et al. 2012). Therefore, more investigations on both these stem cells and application of different types of them for uncovering biologic mechanisms of autism are required (Siniscalco et al. 2018a).

4.4.2 Clinical Investigations

Evaluating the safety and efficacy of cellular therapy for ASDs is a fundamental step in the road of clinical application that is carried out through performing clinical trials (Siniscalco et al. 2018a). Accordingly, there are some clinical trials on using stem cells in autism; for instance, some trials used BMMNCs in years 2013, 2015, and 2018 (Liem NT et al. 2018; Sharma et al. 2013a; Bansal et al. 2016). In an open label proof- of - concept study in 2013, autologous BMMNCs which consists of HSCs, MSCs, multipotent adult and endothelial progenitors, were separated from aspirated bone marrow of each patient and transplanted. The patients underwent other forms of therapies including occupational therapy interventions, activities of daily living training, psychological intervention, and specific speech therapy, dietary recommendations. The core symptoms of autism were reported based on Indian scale for assessment of autism (ISAA), Clinical global impression (CGI) scale (indicates the effect of treatment and severity of the disease), Functional independence measure (FIM), and Wee-FIM scales. Along with some adverse events such as nausea, vomiting, aspiration, minimal increase in hyperactivity and seizures (in 3 patients), there were improvements in social relationships, cognitive aspects, speech and language patterns and also decrease in exaggerated and inappropriate emotions. Also, CGI scale showed improvement in disease severity and considering hypo perfusion in staple brain areas in ASDs, the metabolism of hypo metabolic areas increased probably because of improved function and oxygenation of the damaged neurons. Since cell therapy has the capacity of repairing damaged neural tissue, it is hypothesized that they can restore the specialized neural system with the help of their immunomodulatory activity and paracrine effects (Ichim et al. 2007a; Siniscalco et al. 2018a; Sharma et al. 2013a). In quite same time, there was a case report of autologous BMMNCs transplantation on 14-year-old boy followed for 1 year, resulting in decreased childhood autism rating scale (CARS) score, improved behavior, social interaction, attention and emotion. Also, the PET scan showed enhanced Fluoro-deoxyglucose (FDG) uptake in brain (Siniscalco et al. 2018a; Sharma et al. 2013b). Furthermore, there was a small study of bone marrow aspirate concentrate (BMAC) stem cells transplantation in patients in addition to occupational therapy, speech therapy, and psychological intervention and it was revealed that the intervention did better in younger patients and the severity of the disease affects the outcomes (Bansal et al. 2016). In another open label uncontrolled trial in 2015, same cells (BMMNCs) were injected for 2 times at baseline and 3 months after that in autistic children. Although no severe complications were reported and the safety was supported, some cases presented transient or prolonged increased hyperactivity. Improvements were reported in 19 patients (79.2%) and their total CARS scores became considerably lower, especially in some domains including body use, intellectual response, and visual response. However, no change in three domains of relating to people, emotional response, and activity level (Liem NT et al. 2018). Surprisingly, Sharma et al. recently performed a same therapy on an a 25-year- old autistic male and injected MNCs separated from his bone marrow aspiration in lumbar region. The cell therapy was along with psychological intervention, special education occupational therapy and physiotherapy and he was followed for 6 months. There was no recording of adverse events yet his concentration, social interaction, memory, sitting tolerance, objects utilization and attention improved as well as his CARS, ISAA and FIM scores. He was developed regarding to daily activities like bathing independently. His hyperactivity decreased and as it was showed in F-FDG PET scan, the brain hypometabolism enhanced (Sharma et al. 2018).

In another phase I/II trial in 2011, the experimental group underwent CBMNC or combination of CBMNC and UCMSC transplantation and also rehabilitation therapy in order to investigate the safety and efficacy (Lv et al. 2013). The control group received only the rehabilitation therapy. Each experimental group received 4 cell transplantations as the CBMNC one had one intravenous and 3 following intrathecal transplantation and the combination group received 2 injections of each type. Interestingly, the combination group indicated better results which proposes that CBMNCs and UCMSCs act in a positive synergistic way. As it was mentioned before, two potential pathogenesis of autisms are immune dysregulation and cerebral hypoperfusion. Accordingly, MSCs have immuneregulatory properties, so based on recent investigations, UCMSCs may act as a controller in related pathologic mechanisms (Lv et al. 2013; Chen et al. 2010; Kaplan et al. 2011). Moreover, the angiogenesis capacity of CD34⁺ cells which are enriched in CBMNCs has been proved, so it can be useful for hypoxia in brains of autistic patients (Siniscalco et al. 2018a; Lv et al. 2013). In 2017, a phase I/II clinical trial of allogenic UCMSCs with repeated dose of administration was performed. In this single-arm study, autistic children received UCMSCs every 12 weeks for 4 times and followed for 1 year after the last dose. The aim of this study was to evaluate the safety and effectiveness of repeating injections and also the relations between inflammatory properties and ADS symptoms (Riordan et al. 2019). It seems that the severity of autism is connected with inflammation and increased serum levels of macrophage-derived chemokine (MDC) and thymus activation-regulated chemokine (TARC) (Riordan et al. 2019; Al-Ayadhi and Mostafa 2013). Like previous studies, it can be said that no serious adverse events were reposted and those treatments related ones were resolved without using any medication. CARS and ATEC scores of 40% of subjects were reduced and most of them, indicated a decrease in MDC and TARC level. So, there might be a potential link between the symptoms and inflammation but it does not encompass all the improvements and changes found in the subjects. There was a variability in results as some showed improvements in social communication, awareness and motor ability but also an increase in anxiety and emotional liability were seen in some subjects. Using repeated dose of UCMSCs exhibited more efficient antiinflammatory effect of them which affected TARC and MDC levels (Riordan et al. 2019). Additionally, the safety of the application of FSCs in ASD children was assessed in an open label pilot study. Two cell suspensions were used, contained **HSCs** from one fetal liver (administered intravenously) and another one neuroprogenitors of fetal brain (injected into the subcutaneous abdominal adipose tissue). After the transplantation, some positive effects such as improved appetite, eye contact, socialization, cognitive ability, and behaviors and no sideeffects were observed. FSCs caused enhanced cell- mediated immunity due their immunomodulatory functions. FSCs can migrate to the spinal cord and brain through BBB and as it appeared that the permeability of the BBB is increased in autistic patients, they may potentially have a therapeutic impact on that. Moreover, they can exert paracrine effects to influence the tissues and probably, restore the neural tissues (Siniscalco et al. 2018a; Bradstreet et al. 2014). Unfortunately, the

results of experimenting Autologous umbilical cord blood (AUCB) (rich in HSCs) on ASD children do not comply with each other as in a phase I open-label study, the safety of the transplantation was assessed for 12 months and significant improvements in behavior, communication and socialization were reported (Siniscalco et al. 2018a; Dawson et al. 2017; Chez et al. 2018). However, the results of a placebo-controlled crossover study in 2016 showed the safety of this transplantation but there seems to be a minimal clinical effectiveness. In this form of study, (one group received placebo and the other one received cord blood and at 24 weeks, the first group received cord blood and the second group, received saline injection) subject acts as their control which is an advantage in comparison to the previous study (Chez et al. 2018). Therefore, more studies including a blinded investigation and a control group are needed to find out the exact impact of AUCB transplantation on autistic patients (Chez et al. 2018). Besides, electroencephalography (EEG) is known to be useful as a biomarker of treatment efficacy, so in the openlabel study, EEG measures were explored to find whether they show any change after the transplantation. It appeared that the U-shaped power profile of autistic patients (increased power in delta, theta, and gamma and decreased power in alpha and beta) normalizes by 12-month posttransplant. In addition, EEG can be used as a predictive tool for improvement in social communication and treatment response (Murias et al. 2018). Another study was conducted as a part of the mentioned phase I trial to investigate the possible link between changes in white matter connectivity and improvements in behaviors. Differences in white matter developmental patterns are related to autism symptoms, so by using MRI and some other scales it was found that increased connectivity between the hippocampus and the left thalamus is associated with enhanced social skills. Also, it appeared that the mutual connectivity in the right hemisphere, between the frontal lobe and temporal poles increased as clinical and communication features improved. More areas of brain faced increased

B. Larijani et al.

connectivity resulting in improvements in ASDs symptoms possibly due to decrease in neural inflammation by AUCB transplantation (Carpenter et al. 2019).

Currently, the number of clinical trials on stem cell transplantation for ASDs is not considered enough and also, their different results, methods, enrolled subjects and cell types do not develop a definitive claim that which type of stem cell can be used as a new treatment. Yet, there are some ongoing trials. To date, considering the present outcomes, this field is known as a promising therapeutic approach that need more investigations and large trials (Siniscalco et al. 2018a). A more classified version of some main details of mentioned trials is described in Table 2.

5 Conclusions and Future Research Directions

Since ASD as one of the pediatric neurological disorders is a major part of the worldwide disabilities by affecting communication skills and social interactions as well as the ability to understand the concepts, from early childhood, trying to resolve this social-health problem is a very critical issue (Geschwind 2009; Magnuson and Constantino 2011). In this respect, billions of dollars are spent on ASD investigations and treatments, yearly. In recent years, there are pieces of preclinical and clinical evidence that stem cell therapy is not only safe but also improves the behavior of ASD subjects. Therefore, stem cell therapy as a potential treatment option for ASD individuals has received more support. Considering the limitations along with promising sedative effects of cellular therapies in the treatment of ASD, more comprehensive research and large trials will be demanded to claim definite results (Siniscalco et al. 2018a; Ichim et al. 2007b). Herein, analyzing the factors affecting the outcome of stem cell therapeutic functions such as stem cell types, route and dosage of administration, and mechanism of activity is of great importance in conducting clinical trials (Siniscalco et al. 2018a; Sharma et al. 2013a;

Herberts et al. 2011). Additionally, future researches should be considered to employ modern radiological tools and OMICs technology (as new biomarker discovery tools) for tracking changes occurring at the cellular and molecular level after stem cell therapy (Arjmand 2019; Larijani et al. 2019b; Goodarzi et al. 2019b) in ASD subjects.

Acknowledgements The Authors would like to thank Dr. Mohsen Khorshidi and Shokouh Salimi for their kind support.

References

- Al-Ayadhi LY, Mostafa GA (2013) Elevated serum levels of macrophage-derived chemokine and thymus and activation-regulated chemokine in autistic children. J Neuroinflammation 10:72
- Almandil NB et al (2019) Environmental and genetic factors in autism spectrum disorders: special emphasis on data from Arabian studies. Int J Environ Res Public Health 16(4):658
- Ansel A et al (2017) Variation in gene expression in autism spectrum disorders: an extensive review of transcriptomic studies. Front Neurosci 10:601–601
- Arjm B, et al (2013) Stem cell therapy for treatment of epilepsy
- Arjmand B (Ed.) (2019) Genomics, proteomics, and metabolomics
- Arons MH et al (2012) Autism-associated mutations in ProSAP2/Shank3 impair synaptic transmission and neurexin-neuroligin-mediated transsynaptic signaling. J Neurosci 32(43):14966–14978
- Ashwood P et al (2011) Altered T cell responses in children with autism. Brain Behav Immun 25(5):840–849
- Atkuri KR et al (2009) Inherited disorders affecting mitochondrial function are associated with glutathione deficiency and hypocitrullinemia. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106(10):3941–3945
- Bakshi A et al (2004) Minimally invasive delivery of stem cells for spinal cord injury: advantages of the lumbar puncture technique. J Neurosurg Spine 1(3):330–337
- Bansal H et al (2016) A short study report on bone marrow aspirate concentrate cell therapy in ten south Asian Indian patients with autism. J Stem Cells 11(1):25
- Biehl JK, Russell B (2009) Introduction to stem cell therapy. J Cardiovasc Nurs 24(2):98–105
- Bradstreet JJ et al (2014) Efficacy of fetal stem cell transplantation in autism spectrum disorders: an openlabeled pilot study. Cell Transplant 23(Suppl 1): S105–S112

- Brucato M et al (2017) Prenatal exposure to fever is associated with autism spectrum disorder in the Boston birth cohort. Autism Res 10(11):1878–1890
- Carpenter KLH et al (2019) White matter tract changes associated with clinical improvement in an open-label trial assessing autologous umbilical cord blood for treatment of young children with autism. Stem Cells Transl Med 8(2):138–147
- Chen K et al (2010) Human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells hUC-MSCs exert immunosuppressive activities through a PGE2-dependent mechanism. Clin Immunol 135(3):448–458
- Chen L et al (2017) Inflammatory responses and inflammation-associated diseases in organs. Oncotarget 9(6):7204–7218
- Chez M et al (2018) Safety and observations from a placebo-controlled, crossover study to assess use of autologous umbilical cord blood stem cells to improve symptoms in children with autism. Stem Cells Transl Med 7(4):333–341
- Christensen DL et al (2018) Prevalence and characteristics of autism spectrum disorder among children aged 8 years – autism and developmental disabilities monitoring network, 11 sites, United States, 2012. Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. Surveillance summaries (Washington, D.C. : 2002) 65(13):1–23
- Dawson G et al (2017) Autologous cord blood infusions are safe and feasible in young children with autism spectrum disorder: results of a single-Center phase I open-label trial. Stem Cells Transl Med 6 (5):1332–1339
- de la Torre-Ubieta L et al (2016) Advancing the understanding of autism disease mechanisms through genetics. Nat Med 22(4):345–361
- De Leo V et al (2016) Genetic, hormonal and metabolic aspects of PCOS: an update. Reprod Biol Endocrinol: RB&E 14(1):38–38
- DeFilippis M, Wagner KD (2016) Treatment of autism spectrum disorder in children and adolescents. Psychopharmacol Bull 46(2):18–41
- Derakhshanrad N et al (2015) Case report: combination therapy with mesenchymal stem cells and granulocytecolony stimulating factor in a case of spinal cord injury. Basic Clin Neurosci 6(4):299
- Derecki NC et al (2012) Wild-type microglia arrest pathology in a mouse model of Rett syndrome. Nature 484 (7392):105–109
- Dhaliwal KK et al (2019) Risk factors for unhealthy weight gain and obesity among children with autism spectrum disorder. Int J Mol Sci 20(13):3285
- Eissa N et al (2018) Current enlightenment about etiology and pharmacological treatment of autism spectrum disorder. Front Neurosci 12:304
- Emberti Gialloreti L et al (2019) Risk and protective environmental factors associated with autism spectrum disorder: evidence-based principles and recommendations. J Clin Med 8(2):217

- Evans B (2013) How autism became autism: the radical transformation of a central concept of child development in Britain. Hist Hum Sci 26(3):3–31
- Fein D et al (2013) Optimal outcome in individuals with a history of autism. J Child Psychol Psychiatry 54 (2):195–205
- Feinstein A (2011) A history of autism: conversations with the pioneers. Wiley
- Fox E, Amaral D, Van de Water J (2012) Maternal and fetal antibrain antibodies in development and disease. Dev Neurobiol 72(10):1327–1334
- Freitas BC et al (2014) Stem cells and modeling of autism spectrum disorders. Exp Neurol 260:33–43
- Freitas BC et al (2018) Modeling inflammation in autism spectrum disorders using stem cells. Front Pediatr 6:394–394
- Frye RE, Rossignol DA (2011) Mitochondrial dysfunction can connect the diverse medical symptoms associated with autism spectrum disorders. Pediatr Res 69(5 Pt 2):41R–47R
- Geschwind DH (2009) Advances in autism. Annu Rev Med 60:367–380
- Goodarzi P et al (2014) Stem cell therapy for treatment of epilepsy. Acta Med Iran:651–655
- Goodarzi P et al (2015) Stem cell-based approach for the treatment of Parkinson's disease. Med J Islam Repub Iran 29:168–168
- Goodarzi P et al (2019a) Development and validation of Alzheimer's disease animal model for the purpose of regenerative medicine. Cell Tissue Bank 20 (2):141–151
- Goodarzi P et al (2019b) Metabolomics analysis of mesenchymal stem cells. Int J Mol Cell Med (IJMCM) 8 (2):30–40
- Griffiths KK, Levy RJ (2017) Evidence of mitochondrial dysfunction in autism: biochemical links, geneticbased associations, and non-energy-related mechanisms. Oxidative Med Cell Longev 2017;4314025–4314025
- Hadley D et al (2014) The impact of the metabotropic glutamate receptor and other gene family interaction networks on autism. Nat Commun 5:4074–4074
- Herberts CA, Kwa MSG, Hermsen HPH (2011) Risk factors in the development of stem cell therapy. J Transl Med 9:29–29
- Hsiao EY et al (2012) Modeling an autism risk factor in mice leads to permanent immune dysregulation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 109(31):12776–12781
- Hughes HK et al (2018a) Immune dysfunction and autoimmunity as pathological mechanisms in autism spectrum disorders. Front Cell Neurosci 12:405–405
- Hughes HK et al (2018b) Immune dysfunction and autoimmunity as pathological mechanisms in autism spectrum disorders. Front Cell Neurosci 12(405)
- Ichim TE et al (2007a) Stem cell therapy for autism. J Transl Med 5:30
- Ichim TE et al (2007b) Stem cell therapy for autism. J Transl Med 5(1):30

- Joel MDM et al (2019) MSC: immunoregulatory effects, roles on neutrophils and evolving clinical potentials. Am J Transl Res 11(6):3890–3904
- Jones KL, Van de Water J (2019) Maternal autoantibody related autism: mechanisms and pathways. Mol Psychiatry 24(2):252–265
- Kaplan JM, Youd ME, Lodie TA (2011) Immunomodulatory activity of mesenchymal stem cells. Curr Stem Cell Res Ther 6(4):297–316
- Karimi P et al (2017) Environmental factors influencing the risk of autism. J Res Med Sci 22:27–27
- Kosidou K et al (2016) Maternal polycystic ovary syndrome and the risk of autism spectrum disorders in the offspring: a population-based nationwide study in Sweden. Mol Psychiatry 21(10):1441–1448
- Kovács GL (2004) The endocrine brain: pathophysiological role of neuropeptide-neurotransmitter interactions. EJIFCC 15(3):107–112
- Lai M-C, Lombardo MV, Baron-Cohen S (2014) Autism. Lancet 383(9920):896–910
- Landa R (2007) Early communication development and intervention for children with autism. Ment Retard Dev Disabil Res Rev 13(1):16–25
- Larijani B, et al (2019a) The design and application of an appropriate Parkinson's disease animal model in regenerative medicine
- Larijani B et al (2019b) Metabolomics and cell therapy in diabetes mellitus. Int J Mol Cell Med (IJMCM) 8 (2):0–0
- Liem NT et al (2018) Autologous bone marrow cell therapy for autism: an open label uncontrolled clinical trial. Annals Stem Cell Regenerat Med 1(1):1006
- Lin Y-C et al (2016) A subset of autism-associated genes regulate the structural stability of neurons. Front Cell Neurosci 10(263)
- Liu Q et al (2019a) Rational use of mesenchymal stem cells in the treatment of autism spectrum disorders. World J Stem Cells 11(2):55
- Liu Q et al (2019b) Rational use of mesenchymal stem cells in the treatment of autism spectrum disorders. World J Stem Cells 11(2):55–72
- Loke YJ, Hannan AJ, Craig JM (2015) The role of epigenetic change in autism spectrum disorders. Front Neurol 6:107
- Long M et al (2019) Autism spectrum disorders, endocrine disrupting compounds, and heavy metals in amniotic fluid: a case-control study. Mol Autism 10(1):1
- Lv YT et al (2013) Transplantation of human cord blood mononuclear cells and umbilical cord-derived mesenchymal stem cells in autism. J Transl Med 11:196
- Magnuson KM, Constantino JN (2011) Characterization of depression in children with autism spectrum disorders. J Dev Behav Pediatr: JDBP 32 (4):332–340
- Mandic-Maravic V et al (2019) Autism spectrum disorders and perinatal complications-is oxidative stress the connection? Front Psych 10:675
- Meshalkina DA et al (2018) Zebrafish models of autism spectrum disorder. Exp Neurol 299(Pt A):207–216

- Moosa A et al (2018) Are endocrine disrupting compounds environmental risk factors for autism spectrum disorder? Horm Behav 101:13–21
- Murias M et al (2018) Electrophysiological biomarkers predict clinical improvement in an open-label trial assessing efficacy of autologous umbilical cord blood for treatment of autism. Stem Cells Transl Med 7 (11):783–791
- Nicolson GL (2014) Mitochondrial dysfunction and chronic disease: treatment with natural supplements. Integr Med (Encinitas, Calif.) 13(4):35–43
- Niyazov DM, Kahler SG, Frye RE (2016) Primary mitochondrial disease and secondary mitochondrial dysfunction: importance of distinction for diagnosis and treatment. Mol Syndromol 7(3):122–137
- Palmieri L, Persico AM (2010) Mitochondrial dysfunction in autism spectrum disorders: cause or effect? Biochim Biophys Acta Bioener 1797(6–7):1130–1137
- Patel DR et al (2011) Neurodevelopmental disabilities: clinical care for children and young adults. Springer, New York
- Patterson PH (2011) Maternal infection and immune involvement in autism. Trends Mol Med 17 (7):389–394
- Qian Q et al (2003) Association studies of dopamine D4 receptor gene and dopamine transporter gene polymorphisms in Han Chinese patients with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. Beijing Da Xue Xue Bao 35(4):412–418
- Rahim F, Arjmand B (2017) Stem cell clinical trials for multiple sclerosis: the past, present and future. In: Neurological regeneration. Springer, pp 159–172
- Rahim F et al (2018) Stem cell therapy for multiple sclerosis. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2018(6):CD013049
- Riordan NH et al (2019) Allogeneic human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells for the treatment of autism spectrum disorder in children: safety profile and effect on cytokine levels. Stem Cells Transl Med 8 (10):1008–1016
- Rose S et al (2012) Evidence of oxidative damage and inflammation associated with low glutathione redox status in the autism brain. Transl Psychiatry 2(7): e134–e134
- Rossignol DA, Frye RE (2012) Mitochondrial dysfunction in autism spectrum disorders: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Mol Psychiatry 17(3):290–314
- Rossignol DA, Frye RE (2014) Evidence linking oxidative stress, mitochondrial dysfunction, and inflammation in the brain of individuals with autism. Front Physiol 5:150–150
- Segal-Gavish H et al (2016) Mesenchymal stem cell transplantation promotes neurogenesis and ameliorates autism related behaviors in BTBR mice. Autism Res 9(1):17–32
- Sharma A et al (2013a) Autologous bone marrow mononuclear cell therapy for autism: an open label proof of concept study. Stem Cells Int 2013:13
- Sharma A et al (2013b) An improved case of autism as revealed by PET CT scan in patient transplanted with autologous bone marrow derived mononuclear cells. J Stem Cell Res Ther 3(139):2

- Sharma A et al (2017a) Stem cell therapy in autism spectrum disorders. SM J 9:1–20
- Sharma A et al (2017b) Stem cell therapy in pediatric neurological disabilities. Phys Disabil Ther Implic:117
- Sharma A et al (2018) Therapeutic effects of cellular therapy in a case of adult autism spectrum of disorder. Int Biol Biomed J 4(2):98–103
- Siniscalco D et al (2013a) Perspectives on the use of stem cells for autism treatment. Stem Cells Int 2013:262438
- Siniscalco D, Bradstreet J, Antonucci N (2013b) Therapeutic role of hematopoietic stem cells in autism spectrum disorder-related inflammation. Front Immunol 4 (140)
- Siniscalco D et al (2014) Mesenchymal stem cells in treating autism: novel insights. World J Stem Cells 6 (2):173–178
- Siniscalco D et al (2018a) Stem cell therapy in autism: recent insights. Stem Cells Cloning Adv Appl 11:55–67
- Siniscalco D et al (2018b) Inflammation and neuroimmune dysregulations in autism spectrum disorders. Pharmaceuticals (Basel, Switzerland) 11(2):56
- Sivanesan S et al (2017) Pharmaceuticals and stem cells in autism spectrum disorders: wishful thinking? World Neurosurg 98:659–672
- Soleimani M et al (2016) Stem cell therapy–approach for multiple sclerosis treatment. Arch Neurosci 3(1)
- Strunecka A et al (2018) Immunoexcitotoxicity as the central mechanism of etiopathology and treatment of autism spectrum disorders: a possible role of fluoride and aluminum. Surg Neurol Int 9:74–74
- Tania M, Khan MA, Xia K (2014) Recent advances in animal model experimentation in autism research. Acta Neuropsychiatr 26(5):264–271
- Tareen RS, Kamboj MK (2012) Role of endocrine factors in autistic spectrum disorders. Pediatr Clin 59(1):75–88
- Tonhajzerova I et al (2015) Inflammatory activity in autism spectrum disorder. Adv Exp Med Biol 861:93–98
- Tremblay MW, Jiang Y-H (2019) DNA methylation and susceptibility to autism spectrum disorder. Annu Rev Med 70:151–166
- Uzunova G, Hollander E, Shepherd J (2014) The role of ionotropic glutamate receptors in childhood neurodevelopmental disorders: autism spectrum disorders and fragile x syndrome. Curr Neuropharmacol 12(1):71–98
- Valenti D et al (2014) Mitochondrial dysfunction as a central actor in intellectual disability-related diseases: an overview of down syndrome, autism, Fragile X and Rett syndrome. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 46:202–217
- Varga NÁ et al (2018a) Mitochondrial dysfunction and autism: comprehensive genetic analyses of children with autism and mtDNA deletion. Behav Brain Funct: BBF 14(1):4–4
- Varga NÁ et al (2018b) Mitochondrial dysfunction and autism: comprehensive genetic analyses of children with autism and mtDNA deletion. Behav Brain Funct 14(1):4

- Washbourne P (2015) Synapse assembly and neurodevelopmental disorders. Neuropsychopharmacology 40 (1):4–15
- Wiśniowiecka-Kowalnik B, Nowakowska BA (2019) Genetics and epigenetics of autism spectrum disorder-current evidence in the field. J Appl Genet 60(1):37–47
- Xu G et al (2018) Association of food allergy and other allergic conditions with autism spectrum disorder in children. JAMA Netw Open 1(2):e180279–e180279
- Yang G, Shcheglovitov A (2019) Probing disrupted neurodevelopment in autism using human stem cell-derived neurons and organoids: an outlook into future diagnostics and drug development. Dev Dyn 249(1):6–33
- Yui K et al (2016) Oxidative stress and nitric oxide in autism spectrum disorder and other neuropsychiatric disorders. CNS Neurol Disord Drug Targets 15(5):587–596



Regenerative Medicine Perspectives in Polycystic Ovary Syndrome

Babak Arjmand , Setareh Alaei, Najmeh Foroughi Heravani, Sepideh Alavi-Moghadam , Moloud Payab , Mahbube Ebrahimpour, Hamid Reza Aghayan , Parisa Goodarzi , and Bagher Larijani

Abstract

Polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) is the most common gynecologic endocrine disorder in women between the ages of 15 and 40, with uncertain etiology. It is mostly presented with hyperandrogenism and insulin resistance along with a variety of comorbidities that significantly reduce a patient's quality of life. Many disturbed metabolic pathways are correlated with PCOS. Moreover, it is evident

Metabolomics and Genomics Research Center, Endocrinology and Metabolism Molecular-Cellular Sciences Institute, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

e-mail: barjmand@sina.tums.ac.ir

Metabolomics and Genomics Research Center, Endocrinology and Metabolism Molecular-Cellular Sciences Institute, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

e-mail: alaei.str@gmail.com; Moloudpayab@gmail.com

that there is a strong genetic factor for PCOS. Indeed, several altered gene expressions have been found in PCOS subjects, but the exact genetic origins are still unclear. The major treatment options such as pharmacological treatments are to improve the symptoms. In addition, surgical procedures (Bariatric surgery and assisted reproductive technologies) can be used to treat some of the patient's complications and reduce their severity.

M. Ebrahimpour

P. Goodarzi

Brain and Spinal Cord Injury Research Center, Neuroscience Institute, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran e-mail: pr_goodarzi@yahoo.com

B. Larijani (🖂)

Endocrinology and Metabolism Research Center, Endocrinology and Metabolism Clinical Sciences Institute, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

e-mail: emrc@tums.ac.ir

B. Arjmand

Cell Therapy and Regenerative Medicine Research Center, Endocrinology and Metabolism Molecular-Cellular Sciences Institute, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

S. Alaei and M. Payab

N. F. Heravani, S. Alavi-Moghadam, and H. R. Aghayan Cell Therapy and Regenerative Medicine Research Center, Endocrinology and Metabolism Molecular-Cellular Sciences Institute, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

e-mail: najmeh_foroughi@yahoo.com; sepidalavi@gmail. com; hr.aghayan@gmail.com

Elderly Health Research Center, Endocrinology and Metabolism Population Sciences Institute, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran e-mail: mahbube10183@gmail.com

Generally, using pharmacological agents for a long period of time can increase the risk of adverse effects. Moreover, surgical options may have high-risk consequences. Herein, there is an undeniable need for a different multidisciplinary approach to PCOS. Regenerative medicine with the help of stem cells can develop a worthy alternative approach for the treatment of PCOS. Furthermore, animal models can provide valuable knowledge of genetic alterations and metabolic pathway disturbances in PCOS. They can also be used for testing novel treatments in pre-clinical stages. Therein, the current knowledge of PCOS and investigation about the potential role of regenerative medicine in developing new and more efficient treatments for PCOS are summarized here.

Keywords

Disease modeling · Polycystic ovary syndrome · Regenerative medicine · Stem cells transplantation

Abbreviations

ACTH	Adrenocorticotropic hormone
AE-	Androgen-excess-PCOS society
PCOS	
AMH	Antimullerian hormone
AR	Androgen receptor
ArKO	Aromatase knockout
ASCs	Adipose stem cells
BAT	Brown adipose tissue
BMI	Body mass index
BM-	Bone marrow-derived mesenchymal
MSCs	stem cells
BMSC	Bone marrow stem cell
BPA	Bisphenol A
COCP	Combined oral contraceptive pills
CRH	Corticotropin-releasing hormone
DEHP	Di-(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate
DGE	Differential gene expression
DHEA	Dehydroepiandrosterone

DHEAS	Dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate		
DHT	Dihydrotestosterone		
EB	Estradiol benzoate		
ESCs	Embryonic stem cells		
EV	Estradiol valerate		
FAH	Functional adrenal hyperandrogenism		
FSH	Follicle stimulating hormone		
GnRH	Gonadotropin-releasing hormone		
Gsdf	Gonadal soma derived factor		
HDL	High-density lipoprotein		
hESCs	Human embryonic stem cells		
HSC	Hematopoietic stem cell		
hUC-	Human umbilical cord blood mesen-		
MSCs	chymal stem cells		
ICSI	Intracytoplasmic sperm injection		
IL-6,8	Interlukin 6,8		
iPCSs	Induced pluripotent stem cells		
IUI	Artificial insemination		
IVF	In vitro fertilization		
IVM	Immature oocyte in vitro		
LDL	Low-density lipoprotein		
LH	Luteinizing hormone		
MCR	Metabolic clearance rate		
MDS	Meyelodysplastic syndrome		
NC-	Non-classical congenital adrenal		
CAH	hyperplasia		
NGF	Nerve growth factor		
NZO/	New Zealand obese mice		
HILt			
OHSS	Ovarian hypersensitivity syndrome		
PCO	Polycystic ovary syndrome		
PCOM	Polycystic ovarian morphology		
POF	Premature ovarian failure		
POI	Primary ovarian insufficiency		
PORs	Poor ovarian responders		
PPARγ	Peroxisome proliferator-activated		
	receptor gamma		
SCID	Severe combined immunodeficient		
T reg	Regulatory T cells		
TBT	Tributyltin		
TGF-β	Transforming growth factor β		
TNF-α	Tumor necrosis factor α		
UCP1	Uncoupling protein 1		
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor		
WAT	White adipose tissue		
ZFP423	Zinc finger protein 423		

PCOS is the most commonly recognized gynecologic endocrine disorder in women of reproductive age. Indeed, PCOS is considered a clinical syndrome in which several diagnostic criteria have been defined for it. In other words, based on various criteria, diagnoses can be confirmed or ruled out to select the best treatment option and the correct prevalence estimate can be reached. On the other hand, it has been suggested that PCOS is a lifelong condition presenting as early as prenatal stages, but there are no definitive statistics in younger ages as well as screening in infants (Bellver et al. 2018). PCOS presentation varies in individuals due to different extents of hormonal imbalance. It affects the patient's quality of life as it can cause obesity, insulin resistance. infertility, cardiovascular diseases, endometrial cancer, and psychological disorders. Aetiologically, a number of genes associated with PCOS have been discovered (Wolf et al. 2018). Variations in these genes mutations and epigenetics are a strong determinant in disease development. Herein, current available treatment options for PCOS are either pharmacological or surgical. Pharmacological therapies are divided into the following groups: Pharmacological treatments for ovulation induction (aromatase inhibitors, Metformin, and gonadotropins), for menstrual dysfunction (cyclic progestin or oral contraceptive), and for adrenogene-related symptoms (antiandrogens, oral contraceptive pills, and insulin sensitizer agents) which are often advised in combination. In general, all available therapies are insignificantly effective and have several adverse effects (Patel 2018). Hereupon, there is an immense need for multidisciplinary approaches to develop new and more effective treatments for PCOS. Regenerative medicine (RM) is a new field of research that can be a starting point for developing regenerative and personalized treatments for PCOS. Furthermore, it aims to replace the damaged tissues causing disease with de novo generated cells (Goodarzi et al. 2014, 2015, 2018a, b, 2019a; Larijani et al. 2015, 2019, 2020; Mao and

Mooney 2015; Arjmand et al. 2017). In this respect, human pluripotent stem cells (hPSCs) can be differentiated into any cell type and therefore offer the potential of tissue engineering (Tabar and Studer 2014). Moreover, bone marrow stem cells (BMSC) have shown promising results in treating premature ovarian failure (POF). BMSC transplantation recovers menstrual cycles and improves ovarian reserve (He et al. 2018). RM and tissue engineering also offer the potential for drug development and testing. Generally, since there is not a clear understanding of PCOS pathophysiology and available treatments have some side effects, RM can help in understanding cellular mechanisms of PCOS pathophysiology and developing cellular treatments that are more efficient and have fewer side effects than the current treatment regimen. In this context, research on the potential role of RM in creating new and more powerful treatments for PCOS is reviewed here.

2 Polycystic Ovary Syndrome and Its Pathophysiology

PCOS was first introduced by Stein and Leventhal in 1935 as a combination of oligo/ amenorrhea, polycystic ovary, hirsutism, obesity, and acne (Azziz and Adashi 2016; Rosenfield and Ehrmann 2016; Bani Mohammad and Majdi Seghinsara 2017). Later, some criteria were proposed in order like NIH criteria that include clinibiochemical evidence cal and/or of hyperandrogenism and evidence of oligo/ anovulation. After a while, Rotterdam criteria-as the broadest one- added polycystic ovarian morphology (PCOM) by using ultrasound to the two previous criteria. Finally, in 2006 androgenexcess-PCOS society (AE-PCOS) criteria proposed presence of androgen excess accompanied by PCOM, oligomenorrhea, or both. It could help diagnose women with PCOS who do not have anovulatory symptoms (ovulatory PCOS) (Rosenfield and Ehrmann 2016; Bani Mohammad and Majdi Seghinsara 2017). Also, exclusion of other hyperandrogenism disorders such as

non-classical congenital adrenal hyperplasia (NC-CAH), hyperprolactinemia, endogenous secretory-related cancers, thyroid disorders, and Cushing's syndrome should be considered (Bani Mohammad and Majdi Seghinsara 2017). In adolescence, symptoms may be overlapped with physiological changes during maturity. Hereupon, it is difficult to definitively diagnose polycystic ovaries in adolescence (Rosenfield 2015). Besides, it seems that there are no definite diagnostic criteria for post- menopausal women (Rosenfield and Ehrmann 2016). Androgens -secreted mostly by gonads and adrenal glands play an important role in physiological processes and generation of estrogen in women. They are controlled by the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal and hypothalamic-pituitary-ovary axis. In the first axis, CRH is produced by the hypothalamus and stimulates the secretion of ACTH by the pituitary and eventually, it makes adrenal glands generate androgens, glucocorticoids, and mineralocorticoids (Pasquali et al. 2011; Indran et al. 2016). On the other hand, GnRH from the hypothalamus increases secretion of LH, so the ovarian theca cells secrete androgens in response to LH. It should be noted that peripheral tissues such as adipose tissue, hair follicles, and genital skin are involved in the synthesis and circulation of androgens. For example, adipose tissue can convert androgens like testosterone and androstenedione to more potent agents (Indran et al. 2016). Among different types of androgens, androstenedione and testosterone are produced in the ovaries, adrenal glands, and peripheral tissue while DHEAS is almost just from the adrenal cortex (Pasquali et al. 2011). Under normal circumstances, the androgens production rate and their metabolic clearance rate (MCR) act in balance and have daily rhythm (Pasquali et al. 2011). In PCOS women production rate of androstenedione, and testosterone increases more than their MCR, and ovaries secrete steroids and androgens excessively as a result of gonadotropin stimulation which makes them hypersensitive to LH (Pasquali et al. 2011; Rosenfield and Ehrmann 2016). Another androgen-related dysfunction is functional adrenal hyperandrogenism (FAH) which can be seen in PCOS as a type of

adrenal abnormality that results in DHEA hyper and ACTH responsiveness hypersensitivity (Rosenfield and Ehrmann 2016). Additionally, insulin resistance and the following hyperinsulinism is a contributing factor to hyperandrogenism in PCOS. Insulin help adrenals androgen secretions, ovarian stimulation, and LH adjustment. Therefore, hyperinsulinism and resistance to insulin can be major underlying causes of PCOS. Moreover, androgen excess triggers abdominal and visceral adiposity and their dysfunction that then leads to insulin resistance (Escobar-Morreale 2018). Another associated factor with hyperandrogenism and PCOS is increased sympathetic activity. It is demonstrated that the density of catecholaminergic nerve fibers and the production of nerve growth factor (NGF) (a marker of sympathetic activity) by the ovaries are enhanced in PCOS (Pasquali et al. 2011). Interestingly, it was reported that modulating sympathetic activity by physical exercise and electro-acupuncture decreases levels of androgens, estrogens, and sex steroid precursors and also improves menstrual cycles in these patients (Jedel et al. 2011; Pasquali et al. 2011). Furthermore, granulosa cells and folliculogenesis are abnormal in PCOS. In an unusual physiologic condition, primordial follicles grow to primary follicles and then maturation arrests in the antral phase. Hence, the number of small antral follicles increases as a feature of folliculogenesis dysfunction. It is attributed to hyperandrogenism and insulin excess (Rosenfield and Ehrmann 2016). The enhanced folliculogenesis leads to increased anti-Mullerian hormone (AMH) production which is secreted by granulosa cells and has a regulatory role in follicular development (Rosenfield and Ehrmann 2016; Bani Mohammad and Majdi Seghinsara 2017). In addition, granulosa cells are luteinized prematurely in PCOS women and they are hyper responsive to LH and follicle stimulating hormone (FSH) (Rosenfield and Ehrmann 2016). It is stated that there are several disturbances in biologic mechanisms like fatty- acid metabolism, oxidative metabolism, and inflammatory responses. Accordingly, ovarian hyper vascularity is due to increased vascular endothelial growth factor

(VEGF) levels that causes the presence of inflammatory cytokines and dense cortex of ovaries (Rosenfield and Ehrmann 2016). Generally, inflammation is said to be a key underlying factor in the pathogenesis of PCOS (Kalhori et al. 2018). Besides, oocyte gene expression is affected in PCOS and may increase the risk of pregnancy loss (Rosenfield and Ehrmann 2016).

3 Hereditary and Environmental Factors

PCOS has a complex trait along which genetic, epigenetic and environmental factors affect hyperandrogenism and insulin resistance (Rosenfield and Ehrmann 2016, Escobar-Morreale 2018). Accordingly, studies on twins have revealed that familial factors are quite strong in PCOS pathogenesis and it appears to have a variable penetrance and an autosomal dominant pattern of inheritance (Rosenfield and Ehrmann 2016). However, there is still a long way to identify the exact genetic causes of PCOS (7). Several gene variants, polymorphisms, and linkages have been studied. For example, changes in fibrillin 3 have been proposed for hyperplasia of ovarian stroma as they affect transforming growth factor β (TGF- β) signaling (Hatzirodos et al. 2011; Rosenfield and Ehrmann 2016). Also, DENND1A expression is enhanced in theca cells and it has become a significant locus for PCOS etiology although it needs more investigation (McAllister et al. 2014; Rosenfield and Ehrmann 2016). Considering epigenome, environmental insults which occur during the development of the fetus or child can lead to PCOS. For instance, congenital virilization and androgenization can cause PCOS features (Barnes et al. 1994; Rosenfield and Ehrmann 2016). Besides. It is said that insufficient fetal nutrition and low birth weight are associated with PCOS (Ibanez et al. 1998; Rosenfield and Ehrmann 2016). Similarly, some harms and conditions during pregnancy such as maternal diabetes, smoking, and hypertension may cause growth retardation which can then induce resistance to insulin, overweight, and hyperandrogenism (Escobar-Morreale 2018). In addition, risk factors related to the postnatal environment including insulin resistance, androgen excess, and excessive LH stimulation at puberty can promote the manifestation of susceptible traits (Rosenfield and Ehrmann 2016). Based on what was mentioned above, it should be noted that PCOS has a variety of phenotypes and is a heterogeneous disorder. It can develop without the presence of important factors like obesity or insulin resistance or it may not occur in women with extreme obesity or hyperinsulinism. Thus, it seems that the most essential intrinsic factor is hyperandrogenism and genetic factors can trigger it to manifest (Escobar-Morreale 2018). Unfortunately, the pathogenesis of PCOS is not fully understood yet and more precise studies are required.

4 PCOS Current Treatments

Although PCOS is described as a manifestation of symptoms which vary according to different guidelines, they mostly include hypergonadism and menstrual irregularities that cannot be otherwise explained. The presence of ultrasound evidence of PCOS a diagnostic criterion along with clinical symptoms can assistance to diagnose. However, its absence does not rule out the disease in the presence of the other two symptoms (El Hayek et al. 2016). PCOS can be associated with high risk of some comorbidities which strongly affected the patient's quality of life including endometrial cancer. Since the definitive mechanism of PCOS formation is not yet known, current treatments are prescribed to reduce clinical symptoms (e.g. menstrual disorders, infertility, and the hyper-endogenous symptoms) of the disease. The recommended first line of treatment is always lifestyle interaction, restricted calorie intake, exercise, creating healthy habits, giving up smoking and drinking that can improve PCOS comorbidities such as insulin resistance, excess serum androgen levels, hirsutism, acne, etc. Herein, some trials show that lowering body mass index (BMI) with diet, exercise or a combination of both is equally effective in ameliorating

PCOS comorbidities (Thomson et al. 2008; Nybacka et al. 2011). In different studies recommended exercise varies from moderate aerobic exercise to high-intensity resistant exercise or the combination of both, while all have proven effective there is still no specific recommendation about diet or exercise plan. The 2018 EB guideline suggests 150 min per week moderateintensity exercise or 75 min of intense training per week (Teede et al. 2018). Pharmacological treatments for PCOS include combined oral contraceptive pills (COCP) (which can decrease free testosterone levels and help with symptoms associated with hormonal imbalance. However, it has been associated with insulin resistance development and adverse effects on the cardiovascular system and developing thrombosis), insulin sensitizers (such as metformin that decreases gluconeogenesis in the liver and increases glucose consumption in other tissues and inositol which can be very effective in combination with other medications to improve outcomes and ameliorate metabolic syndrome, irregular menstruation cycles, insulin resistance, and lipid profile), anti-obesity, anti-androgen agents, infertility treatments (including letrozole, Clomiphene Citrate, and Gonadotrophins) (Lidegaard et al. 2012; Ganie et al. 2013; El Hayek et al. 2016; Williams et al. 2016; Jin and Xie 2018; Teede et al. 2018). Furthermore, there are some invasive methods for PCOS treatment e.g. bariatric surgery (which can lead to lower BMI index and improve obesity in obese women who have not responded to the aforementioned therapies), assisted reproductive technics (ART) (including in vitro fertilization (IVF), immature oocyte in vitro (IVM), artificial insemination (IUI), and intracytoplasmic sperm injection (ICSI) which are costly techniques lead to ovarian hyperstimulation syndrome (OHSS)) (Mourad et al. 2017; Patel 2018; Teede et al. 2018). In general, all treatment strategies are symptom-oriented and only partially effective. Pharmacological options need to be taken for a long time and there are often multiple adverse effects. Invasive treatments are expensive and may cause serious complications. Therefore, there needs to be an effort to find treatments that can address all the pathologies of PCOS with minimum adverse and long-term therapeutic effects. Hereupon, RM and stem cell researches can be the means of developing a more effective treatment for PCOS. In this respect, also characterization of stem cells from PCOS subjects can be valuable. Indeed, the mentioned characterization can be useful in selecting the most appropriate sources for stem cell-based regeneration. Additionally, choosing the appropriate animal model to simulate PCOS and conduct preclinical studies can be very helpful in advancing regenerative medicine at the clinical level.

5 Animal Models of PCOS

In order to find an appropriate and effective treatment for any disease, some steps should be taken prior to the clinical application including in vitro and in vivo studies. Also, developing and selecting suitable animal models for in vivo studies is of great importance for preclinical evaluation of treatments and investigational products based on significant similarities between the animals and humans (Goodarzi et al. 2019b; Larijani et al. 2019). However, there are still some variations and the outcomes of animal studies do not always comply with the ones from studies on humans (Goodarzi et al. 2019b). Hence, validating the models can help reach the maximum quality of testing and as a result, there are various animal models for different kinds of diseases such as Alzheimer's disease, obesity, diabetes, ovarian failure (Steindler 2007; Gunawardana and Piston 2012; Liu et al. 2015; Sheikhansari et al. 2018; Goodarzi et al. 2019b; Larijani et al. 2019). In regard to RM, animal models are used to understand the underlying pathways of regeneration and eventually, find a new therapeutic option (Steindler 2007). For instance, mice and rats are widely used in stem cell therapy such as neural progenitor cells transplantation on NOD-severe combined immunodeficient (SCID) mice or MSC transplantation on MI rat models (Tang et al. 2005; Steindler 2007). Considering tissue transplantation, BAT was used in nude mice to treat type1 diabetes (Gunawardana and Piston 2012). Also, different kinds of stem cells have been used in mice for POF (Sheikhansari et al. 2018). Therefore, it can be said that animal models in RM can facilitate the process of translating the investigational product in to the clinical application. In this context, there is a lack of a gold standard model for PCOS, so there are a variety of species including sheep, monkeys, and rats with their different benefits and relevance to humans (Indran et al. 2016). Developing models can be done through different mechanisms and phases but the hallmark of PCOS condition is hyperandrogenism, so increasing androgens like testosterone level is considered the main factor (Divyashree et al. 2019). Also, PCOS can be induced at different developmental stages of animals including prenatal, postnatal, prepubertal, and adult. For instance, dihydrotestosterone (DHT) can be used at prenatal, prepubertal and adult stages but letrozole (an aromatase inhibitor) is not used at the prenatal phase (Divyashree et al. 2019). Further, the main mechanisms of inducing PCOS are defined as hormonal intervention, genetic manipulation, environmental factors, and lifestyle (Fig. 1) (Divyashree et al. 2019).



Fig. 1 Different mechanisms of generating animal models in PCOS. Animal models of polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) can be produced through different mechanisms including hormonal intervention (such as using androgens or progesterone receptor antagonists), genetic manipulation and mutations, environmental factors and lifestyle. In addition, the widely used models in this field are rats and mice, however, primates, sheep and recently zebrafish have been used. In this figure, some

staple mechanisms of inducing each animal model are depicted (Paixão et al. 2017; Osuka et al. 2018; Ryu et al. 2019; Stener-Victorin et al. 2020). *DHT* Dihydrotes-tosterone, *DHEA* Dehydroepiandrosterone, *EV* Estradiol valerate, *EB* Estradiol benzoate, *ARKO* Androgen receptor knock out, *ArKO* Aromatase knockout, *gsdf* Gonadal soma derived factor, *BPA* Bisphenol A, *DEHP* Di-(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate, *TBT* Tributyltin, *NZO/HILt* New Zealand obese mice

6 Characteristics of Stem Cells in PCOS Patients

Since the exact underlying pathophysiology of PCOS and its characterization such as hyperinsulinism, infertility and obesity are not fully understood, attempts to identify these mechanisms have led to analyzing features of stem cells from PCOS patients. PCOS-derived stem cells provide a medium to study disease pathogenesis, gene mapping and therapeutic options with gene or stem cell therapy. Embryonic stem cells (ESCs) from PCOS subjects present normal morphologies and have the same developmental and differentiation ability as stem cells from normal control cells. In-vitro cultures of ESCs showed normal karyotype and gene expression profiles of gene markers of the three germ layers using immunohistochemistry. Induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) derived from epithelial or endometrial cells of PCOS patients have the ability to differentiate into three germ layers and form different tissues and thus provide the opportunity to develop cell models to study PCOS and disease- specific pathogenesis. iPSCs derived from PCOS patients' epithelial stem cells have normal morphologies, characteristics, and karyotype to that of normal cells and can be induced to form adipocytes. PCOS-derived iPSCs have stronger potential and higher efficacy in differentiating into adipocytes (Yang et al. 2016). There are controversies regarding glucose consumption and insulin response in adipocytes differentiated from PCOS-derived iPSCs. One study states that adipocytes present significantly higher glucose consumption in the absence of insulin on day 27 of induction indicating higher insulin response-ability in the cells, however, another study reports no significant difference between PCOS and non-PCOS adipocytes in insulin response on day 21 of induction. In both studies, PCOS-derived adipocytes had significantly higher glucose consumption (Liu et al. 2015; Yang et al. 2016). Adipose stem cells (ASCs) of subcutaneous abdominal tissue of normal-weight PCOS patients exhibit significant differential gene expression (DGE) change in 120 genes

compared to the control group. DGE showed altered expression in genes of both functional and canonical groups and primarily included androgen receptor function, lipid metabolism, extracellular matrix, and angiogenesis. Most significant changes in functional genes were in developmental disorders, embryonic development, and cellular movement genes; and in the canonical pathway group primarily included LXR/RXR activation, notch signaling and CDK5 signaling pathway. The expression of genes in the functional group was associated with fasting insulin and serum testosterone levels (Dumesic et al. 2019). ASCs in normal-weight women also exhibit strong pre-adipocyte commitment. Increased zinc finger protein 423 (ZFP423) and peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (PPARy) protein expression showed a significant correlation with higher lipid content of adipocytes derived from ASCs, however, this gene expressions' correlation with serum testosterone levels were insignificant. Fasting plasma glucose levels exhibit a negative correlation with ZFP423, independent of serum testosterone levels (Fisch et al. 2018). A brief review of altered genomic function and characteristics in PCOSderived stem cells provided in Table 1.

6.1 Differential Expression of Genes Responsible for Insulin Resistance and Obesity in Adipocytes Derived from Human ESCs of PCOS Subjects

NR0B2 is a gene that participates in many metabolic pathways such as adipocyte differentiation, fatty acid metabolism, glycometabolism, hepatocyte, and pancreatic islet cell transcription and is associated with obesity, fasting insulin levels, diabetes and intrauterine growth of the fetus. Differential expression of the NR0B2 gene was significantly higher in embryonic stem cells drive from PCOS patients compared to the control group, although much more evidence is needed to prove the role of NR0B2 in PCOS pathogenesis (Wang et al. 2014). DNA methylation analysis

Cell type	Function	Genes
PCOS-derived iPSC	Androgen receptor function	FDX-R, CXCL2, ST3GAL5, IGFBP7
	Lipid synthesis	TAC1, BDNF, EDNRB, ST3GAL5
	Lipid accumulation	GULP1, RGS4
	Lipid metabolism	SCD, APOC1, NR0B1, PLTP, UGCG
	Extracellular matrix	CHI3L1, CRISPLD2, LM07, ITGA6
	function and formation	
	Cardiovascular development	CXCL5, TNC, ST3GAL5, CTSB
	Inflammatory response	REG3A
	Cellular growth cycle	CGA, IGFBPL1
	Organ development	HAS2, CER1,IFI16, TBX5
	Mitochondrial biogenesis	PGC1-α, TFAM, NRF1
PCOS iPSC-derived	Cell adhesion	MLCP(reg), PKC-α, α-actinin, TGF1-β, TGFβ receptor
granulosa cells	Immune response	MHC11- α and β chain, PKC- α , LY75
	Neurophysiology process	NMDA receptor, PyK2(FAK2), B-Raf, GRB2, NSF,
		Dynein1, GABA-A receptor, dynamin
	Oxidative stress	TR10, PKC-α, MEK1 and2, cPKC

 Table 1
 A brief review of differentially expressed genes in PCOS-derived stem cells (Chuang et al. 2015; Min et al. 2018, 2019; Sun and Pisarska 2019)

results on canonical pathways of iPSCs derived from granulosa cells of PCOS women compared with control group revealed altered expression of genes of CREB signaling pathway which is responsible in glucose and lipid metabolism, although it did not reach statistical significance which could be due to small sample size (Huang et al. 2019). PCOS-derived iPSCs present metabolic abnormalities and mitochondrial dysfunction compared to non-PCOS iPSCs. Gene ontology results of PCOS-derived iPSCs revealed altered expression of genes responsible for lipid and glucose metabolism along with decreased mitochondrial ability of respiration and glycolysis, although the number of mitochondrial copies and their biogenesis had increased (Min et al. 2018). Glucose metabolism-related genes was altered in favor of decreased glycolysis, glucose transportation and increased gluconeogenesis that can lead to insulin resistance and glucose intolerance.

6.2 Inflammatory and Oncogenic Potential

Endometrial mesenchymal stem cells of the obese or overweight PCOS women showed up-regulated expression of inflammatory and oncogenic genes independent of BMI in comparison to the obese or overweight control group. Interleukine-8 (IL-8) and ICAM1 up-regulation can induce a pro-inflammatory state and disrupt normal endometrial function. The most up-regulated oncogenic gene was the LCNZ gene which has a correlation with endometrial cancer, however, due to the small sample size and possible confounding factors, more studies are required to support this research (Piltonen et al. 2013).

6.3 Neuroendocrine Characteristics

Gene ontology revealed that genes associated with neurogenesis, endocrine differentiation, and low-density lipoprotein (LDL) particle binding process were down-regulated in PCOS-derived iPSCs. IPSCs derived from the endothelium of PCOS patients also revealed higher testosterone secretion than non- PCOS derived iPSCs, which is consistent with hypergonadism in PCOS. However, no significant difference was observed in estradiol secretion between the two groups. Increased GnRH and consequently LH levels in PCOS is mediated through GABAergic neurons. GABRA5 is a type of a GABA receptors that were found to have up-regulated gene expression in PCOS-derived iPSCs, possibly resulting in both psychological and endocrine presentations of PCOS (Min et al. 2019). Neural stem cells differentiated from PCOS-derived iPSCs display normal morphology, neural progenitor markers expression and normal gene expression of pluripotency, however, they display decreased mitochondrial respiratory ability compared to the control group. The maximum respiratory function of mitochondria was decreased in PCOS-derived iPSCs.

7 Challenges in iPSC-Based Models and Therapies for PCOS

Recent advances in our knowledge about stem cells can be useful for understanding biological and molecular processes which causing dysfunction in cells. In this context, using IPSCs can be helpful to develop more efficient models and methods of cellular treatments (e.g. autologous transplantation) (Kanherkar et al. 2014). Even though iPSCs are a very powerful tool in RM for disease modeling, cell therapy and drug discovery, there are challenges that need to be addressed. Studies have shown that iPSCs might still be carrying epigenetic memory from the somatic tissue they were derived from. Since dermal cells are prevalently used as the source of iPSCs, there might be many genetic mutations due to mechanisms of aging like a high rate of cell turnover and increased exposure to ultraviolet light (Lo Sardo et al. 2017). Another area of concern in iPSC-based treatments is the tumorigenicity potential of transplanted cells (contain undifferentiated iPSCs). However, there are methods that purify cells and selectively cause death in undifferentiated iPSCs. There is no evidence of tumor formation in transplantations but these outcomes are unlikely to be reported. Herein, there is still more evidence needed to see if these methods are adequate for preventing tumors after transplantation (Hunt and Lako 2016).Immune rejection concerns are another major challenge in iPSC-based treatments. Since the use of immunosuppressants can cause many complications, there have been some new

methods to escape immunity such as inactivation of both classes of MHC genes. These new methods can solve the rejection challenge of transplantation. Additionally, iPSC production is quite expensive which may not be affordable for many patients (Bravery 2015). On the other hand, the efficiency of this method for disease modeling depends on the nature of the disease. IPSC-based disease modeling is much more accurate when the disease is monogenic and has an early onset, whereas PCOS is a polygenic disorder and has an unclear onset. As the cells then spend a period of time in an in-vitro culture they are likely to develop mutations and genetic instability. The longer they are kept in culture the risk of mutation bursts increases (Doss and Sachinidis 2019). Another major challenge in iPSC-based PCOS treatment is the lack of cohort studies and clinical and pre-clinical research. Most literature in this field is based on a small sample size in a short period of time. Therein, more data is needed to make a conclusion about the use of iPSCs in PCOS disease modeling and treatment.

8 Regenerative Medicine in PCOS

Despite the advancements of current available treatments, in the attempt to find therapies that can restore the function or somehow replace the absent tissue or organ of the female reproductive system, RM has emerged as an alternative therapeutic option (Magalhaes and Atala 2019). Hence, tissue engineering, tissue and stem cell transplantation have been used in this field for different kinds of impairments in uterus, vagina, and ovaries (Magalhaes and Atala 2019). Noticing the disorders related to ovaries, several animal studies and some clinical trials have been performed to treat POF, primary ovarian insufficiency (POI) and poor ovarian responders(PORs) (Chen et al. 2018; Herraiz et al. 2019). For instance, POF induced by chemotherapy, human umbilical cord blood mesenchymal stem cells (hUC-MSCs) and bone marrow-derived mesen-(BM-MSCs) chymal stem cells were administered in rats and mice respectively, resulting in promoting folliculogenesis, improving ovarian function and endocrine system (Elfayomy et al. 2016; Song et al. 2016; Yoon 2019). Further, among clinical trials, an example is the transplantation of autologous BM-MSCs on 10 women with POF that led to resuming menstruation (in 20%) and one pregnancy following with healthy delivery (Edessy et al. 2016). About PCOS, there are a few animal studies and a case report in this context, which are summarized in this review.

8.1 Preclinical Investigations About RM in PCOS

8.1.1 Tissue Transplantation in PCOS Models

There are two main types of adipose tissue in humans and other mammals: white adipose tissue (WAT) and brown adipose tissue (BAT) (Payab et al. 2018). While the responsibility of WAT is storing energy, BAT maintains body temperature through thermogenesis and energy expenditure by uncoupling protein 1 (UCP1) and several secretory cytokines (Liu et al. 2015; Yuan et al. 2016). Also, it is revealed that increasing BAT mass or activating it can have a therapeutic effect on some metabolic disorders such as obesity and insulin resistance (diabetes) (Gunawardana and Piston 2012; Liu et al. 2015). On the other hand, as it was mentioned before, insulin resistance is a key etiological characteristic of PCOS and women with PCOS have low BAT activity, so BAT transplantation may have a beneficial role in improving related features of PCOS (Yuan et al. 2016; Shorakae et al. 2019). Accordingly, BAT was transplanted on DHEA-induced rats in a study in comparison with control, sham-operated and muscle transplanted groups. In addition to increased BAT activity and thermogenesis and improved insulin sensitivity, menstrual cyclicity and plasma LH level normalized in 70% of the BAT -transplanted group. In connection with ovarian histology and infertility, the thickness of theca cell layer was increased and corpora luteal number was decreased in sham and muscle transplanted groups while they were normal in the BAT transplanted group and the

transplantation helped eats to give birth to a litter. In addition, it is reported that sympathetic tone is increased in the ovaries in women with PCOS, which is reduced after transplantation. Since BAT transplantation increases adiponectin level (which is attenuated in patients with PCOS), in order to find out the possible role of this hormone in BAT effects, recombinant adiponectin protein was injected daily in a PCOS rat. The results showed same changes such as increased endogenous BAT activity, improved glucose homeostasis, LH/FSH ratio, acyclicity, and ovarian phenotype. Therefore, adiponectin seems to be partly in charge of some of the BAT beneficial effects. As a result, BAT transplantation or possibly, enhancing BAT activity, might be an appropriate strategy to improve PCOS phenotypes (Yuan et al. 2016). As it was said that BAT activation may be beneficial in PCOS treatment, endogenous BAT in DHEA-induced PCOS rats was treated with rutin (a flavonoid) to test this hypothesis (Hu et al. 2017). It was observed that BAT activity and related genes and also the expression of lipid metabolism - related genes were increased in comparison with the PCOS group treated with DMSO. Moreover, there were improvements in insulin sensitivity and glucose homeostasis and serum adiponectin and high-density lipoprotein (HDL) levels were increased in the rutin group. Considering PCOS phenotypes, rutin treatment had a beneficial influence on LH/FSH ratio, acyclicity, the morphology of corpus luteum, ovarian steroidogenic enzymes, and fertilization ability (Hu et al. 2017). Generally, it was demonstrated that activating endogenous BAT, whether by transplantation or rutin treatment, improves PCOS and due to limitations and risks of transplantation in clinical application, using an activating compound might be more applicable and a novel therapeutic option in the clinic. However, the effect and safety of such procedures are to be investigated in humans (Hu et al. 2017).

8.1.2 Cell-Based Approaches in PCOS Models

Based on studies on the etiology of PCOS, inflammation and oxidative stress are suggested to be involved in the pathogenesis of PCOS (Kalhori et al. 2018). Besides, obesity has inflammatory properties and inflammatory cytokines can trigger androgen production and follicle atresia (Xiong et al. 2011; Gunawardana and Piston 2012; Kalhori et al. 2018). Therefore, targeting the mentioned mechanisms can be a promising area. Accordingly, BM-MSCs have been used in the treatment of different inflammatory diseases due to their anti-oxidative, immunomodulatory and anti-apoptotic qualities (Singer and Caplan 2011; Lv et al. 2013; Kalhori et al. 2018). In addition, BM-MSCs transplantation is reported as being useful in treating damages and disorders of ovarian function (Fu et al. 2008; Kalhori et al. 2018). Hereupon, to investigate the potential beneficial effects of these cells on PCOS, BM-MSCs were injected in testosterone-induced PCOS mice (Kalhori et al. 2018). The transplanted group showed an increase in the volume of ovary and cortex and the number of corpus luteum and antral follicles to the control level when compared with the PCOS group. This result was probably because of testosterone reduction in the transplanted group. Further, hyperinsulinemia affects oocyte size and follicles and MSCs increase insulin sensitivity, so oocyte volume was increased in the BM-MSC group. Additionally, an anti-apoptotic feature of MSCs on granulosa cells caused an increase in zona pellucida thickness, which is reduced in PCOS. Similar to BAT transplantation, LH/FSH ratio decreased in the transplanted group and serum levels of inflammatory cytokines such as IL-6 and TNF- α were reduced (Kalhori et al. 2018). Referring to the inflammatory aspect of PCOS and immunomodulatory potential of MSCs, hUC-MSCs were used in DHEA- induced PCOS mice in contrast to the control and DHEA group treated with normal saline (Xie et al. 2019). Somehow similar to previous studies, MSC treatment reduced the number of cystic follicles, increased the number of corpus luteum and mature follicles and the normalized estrous cycle. Besides changes in the ovary, uterine tissue in PCOS mice was congested and full of a hydrocele that indicated an inflammatory state of the uterus. However, MSC transplantation led to the thinner endometrial epithelium and normal morphology of uterus. Accordingly, the expression of inflammatory and fibrosis factors was inhibited in ovarian tissue due to MSC transplantation. Analyzing immunity alteration has revealed that MSC could modulate macrophages decrease their infiltration into ovaries and uterus. Also, in regard to adaptive immunity MSC promotes regulatory T cells (T-reg) differentiation and inhibits B cell proliferation in contrast to the PCOS group treated with normal saline (Xie et al. 2019). In conclusion, MSC transplantation is reported to have significant curative effect on the wide range of PCOS phenotypes via its beneficial capacity (Xie et al. 2019). However, more studies on the safety and precise underlying mechanism of its therapeutic impacts are required. A simplified picture of the mentioned studies is illustrated in Fig. 2.

8.2 Clinical Advancements

Unlike POI or POF, there has been no clinical trial on using tissue or stem cell transplantation for PCOS so far. However, there is a case report of women with PCOS and myelodysplastic syndrome (MDS) in the form of refractory anemia who underwent mega chemotherapy and allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell (HSC) transplantation and delivered a full-term baby (Usnarska-Zubkiewicz et al. 2010). A 21-year-old woman was first hospitalized and PCOS (hirsutism, oligomenorrhea and irregular menstrual cycles) and refractory anemia were diagnosed in 2000. After 3 years, it was decided to perform HSC transplantation from her brother and then, she received different drugs before and after the transplantation. The patient lost 20 kg in peritransplantation period and examination in 2 years post intervention showed regular menstruation, resulting in a pregnancy with no anemia or other hematopoietic disturbances and no episode of hypertension or raised glucose level. Despite the fact that chemotherapy impairs ovarian function and production of sex hormones, the reproductive system in this patient remained quite normal. Also, 2 years after the delivery her hormonal findings exhibited normal testosterone level but



Fig. 2 Preclinical Studies on PCOS in The Field of Regenerative Medicine. In order to find new therapeutic options for polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS), brown adipose tissue (BAT) and mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) have been used in mice and rats resulting in promising outcomes. In addition, activation of endogenous BAT has been proposed as a less invasive way to control this disease. On the other hand, MSCs from different sources were used in mice and they were beneficial in

there were irregular menstrual bleeding and relapse of obesity (Usnarska-Zubkiewicz et al. 2010).

9 Conclusion

Although PCOS and its comorbidities including insulin resistance and obesity are so common in women around the world, the current existing treatments cannot cure PCOS and its long term administration only alleviate symptoms while they have substantial complications. Hereupon, RM which has been used in similar disorders such as POI and POF has recently stepped into proposing novel therapeutic options for PCOS. Herein, in the current review brief summary of

improving the PCOS-like phenotype. In this figure, some examples of these studies, control and investigational groups, and a summary of their results are depicted (Yuan et al. 2016; Hu et al. 2017; Xie et al. 2019). DHEA: Dehydroepiandrosterone, BM-MSCs: Bone marrow mesenchymal stromal cells, *hUC-MSCs* Human umbilical cord derived MSCs, *Mus* Skeletal muscle-transplanted, *NS* Normal saline, *LH* Luteinizing hormone, *FSH* Follicle – stimulating hormone

running treatments, experimental models of PCOS along with recent studies on BAT and MSC transplantation on animal models is provided. Also, a case report of pregnancy in women with MDS and PCOs following with HSC transplantation was introduced. In general, according to the bulk of studies, RM seems to be an astonishing alternative for treatment and control of PCOS phenotypes but further clinical explorations in a variety of regenerative medicine strategies for PCOS are demanded. In this context, considering that stem cells can control angiogenesis and inflammatory responses, stem cell application for PCOS individuals can be a unique approach in the road of chronic inflammation inhibition, metabolic abnormalities improvement, and ovarian androgen output reduction.

Accordingly, the well-known positive effects of MSCs, make them a potential therapeutic tool for PCOS cases. On the other hand, stem cells derived from PCOS subjects -specifically iPSCs- poses some different features with the normal ones. Therefore, this phenomenon should be noticed in order to use them either for transplantation or experimental studies on pathogenesis mechanisms. Indeed, they can be also used as a potential model to mimic the metabolic abnormalities of PCOS individuals. Therein, they can provide a suitable solution to reduce the use of animal models and related ethical concerns. In other words, they could directly or indirectly increase the animals' welfare and leading to 3R (Replacement, Reduction, and Refinement) rules enforcement.

Compliance with Ethical Statements Conflict of interest: There is no conflict of interest.

Funding: This article received no specific grant from any funding agency.

Ethical approval: This article does not contain any studies with human participants or animals performed by any of the authors.

References

- Arjmand B, Goodarzi P, Mohamadi-Jahani F, Falahzadeh K, Larijani B (2017) Personalized regenerative medicine. Acta Med Iran 55:144–149
- Azziz R, Adashi EY (2016) Stein and leventhal: 80 years on. Am J Obstet Gynecol 214(2): 247.e241–247.e211
- Bani Mohammad M, Majdi Seghinsara A (2017) Polycystic Ovary Syndrome (PCOS), diagnostic criteria, and AMH. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev 18(1):17–21
- Barnes RB, Rosenfield RL, Ehrmann DA, Cara JF, Cuttler L, Levitsky LL, Rosenthal IM (1994) Ovarian hyperandrogynism as a result of congenital adrenal virilizing disorders: evidence for perinatal masculinization of neuroendocrine function in women. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 79(5):1328–1333
- Bellver J, Rodríguez-Tabernero L, Robles A, Muñoz E, Martínez F, Landeras J, García-Velasco J, Fontes J, Álvarez M, Álvarez C, Acevedo B, S. Group of interest in Reproductive Endocrinology of the Spanish Fertility (2018) Polycystic ovary syndrome throughout a woman's life. J Assist Reprod Genet 35(1):25–39
- Bravery CA (2015) Do human leukocyte antigen-typed cellular therapeutics based on induced pluripotent stem cells make commercial sense? Stem Cells Dev 24(1):1–10

- Chen L, Guo S, Wei C, Li H, Wang H, Xu Y (2018) Effect of stem cell transplantation of premature ovarian failure in animal models and patients: a meta-analysis and case report. Exp Ther Med 15(5):4105–4118
- Chuang C-Y, Huang M-C, Chen H-F, Tseng L-H, Yu C-Y, Stone L, Huang H-P, Ho H-N, Kuo H-C (2015) Granulosa cell-derived induced pluripotent stem cells exhibit pro-trophoblastic differentiation potential. Stem Cell Res Ther 6(1):1–14
- Divyashree S, Janhavi P, Ravindra PV, Muthukumar SP (2019) Experimental models of polycystic ovary syndrome: an update. Life Sci 237:116911
- Doss MX, Sachinidis A (2019) Current challenges of iPSC-based disease modeling and therapeutic implications. Cell 8(5):403
- Dumesic DA, Phan JD, Leung KL, Grogan TR, Ding X, Li X, Hoyos LR, Abbott DH, Chazenbalk GD (2019) Adipose insulin resistance in Normal-weight women with polycystic ovary syndrome. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 104(6):2171–2183
- Edessy M, Hosni H, Shady Y, Waf Y, Bakr S, Kamel M (2016) Autologous stem cells therapy, the first baby of idiopathic premature ovarian failure. Acta Med Int 3 (1):19–23
- El Hayek S, Bitar L, Hamdar LH, Mirza FG, Daoud G (2016) Poly cystic ovarian syndrome: an updated overview. Front Physiol 7:124
- Elfayomy AK, Almasry SM, El-Tarhouny SA, Eldomiaty MA (2016) Human umbilical cord bloodmesenchymal stem cells transplantation renovates the ovarian surface epithelium in a rat model of premature ovarian failure: possible direct and indirect effects. Tissue Cell 48(4):370–382
- Escobar-Morreale HF (2018) Polycystic ovary syndrome: definition, aetiology, diagnosis and treatment. Nat Rev Endocrinol 14(5):270–284
- Fisch SC, Nikou AF, Wright EA, Phan JD, Leung KL, Grogan TR, Abbott DH, Chazenbalk GD, Dumesic DA (2018) Precocious subcutaneous abdominal stem cell development to adipocytes in normal-weight women with polycystic ovary syndrome. Fertil Steril 110 (7):1367–1376
- Fu X, He Y, Xie C, Liu W (2008) Bone marrow mesenchymal stem cell transplantation improves ovarian function and structure in rats with chemotherapy-induced ovarian damage. Cytotherapy 10(4):353–363
- Ganie MA, Khurana ML, Nisar S, Shah PA, Shah ZA, Kulshrestha B, Gupta N, Zargar MA, Wani TA, Mudasir S, Mir FA, Taing S (2013) Improved efficacy of low-dose spironolactone and metformin combination than either drug alone in the management of women with polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS): a six-month, open-label randomized study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 98(9):3599–3607
- Goodarzi P, Aghayan HR, Soleimani M, Norouzi-Javidan-A, Mohamadi-Jahani F, Jahangiri S, Emami-Razavi SH, Larijani B, Arjmand B (2014) Stem cell therapy for treatment of epilepsy. Acta Med Iran 52 (9):651–655

- Goodarzi P, Aghayan HR, Larijani B, Soleimani M, Dehpour A-R, Sahebjam M, Ghaderi F, Arjmand B (2015) Stem cell-based approach for the treatment of Parkinson's disease. Med J Islam Repub Iran 29:168
- Goodarzi P, Alavi-Moghadam S, Sarvari M, Tayanloo Beik A, Falahzadeh K, Aghayan H, Payab M, Larijani B, Gilany K, Rahim F, Adibi H, Arjmand B (2018a) Adipose tissue-derived stromal cells for wound healing. Adv Exp Med Biol 1119:133–149
- Goodarzi P, Falahzadeh K, Aghayan H, Jahani FM, Payab M, Gilany K, Rahim F, Larijani B, Beik AT, Adibi H (2018b) GMP-compliant human fetal skin fibroblasts for wound healing. Arch Neurosci 5(3); e68497
- Goodarzi P, Falahzadeh K, Aghayan H, Payab M, Larijani B, Alavi-Moghadam S, Tayanloo-Beik A, Adibi H, Gilany K, Arjmand B (2019a) Therapeutic abortion and ectopic pregnancy: alternative sources for fetal stem cell research and therapy in Iran as an Islamic country. Cell Tissue Bank 20(1):11–24
- Goodarzi P, Payab M, Alavi-Moghadam S, Larijani B, Rahim F, Bana N, Sarvari M, Adibi H, Foroughi Heravani N, Hadavandkhani M, Arjmand B (2019b) Development and validation of Alzheimer's disease animal model for the purpose of regenerative medicine. Cell Tissue Bank 20(2):141–151
- Gunawardana SC, Piston DW (2012) Reversal of type 1 diabetes in mice by brown adipose tissue transplant. Diabetes 61(3):674–682
- Hatzirodos N, Bayne RA, Irving-Rodgers HF, Hummitzsch K, Sabatier L, Lee S, Bonner W, Gibson MA, Rainey WE, Carr BR, Mason HD, Reinhardt DP, Anderson RA, Rodgers RJ (2011) Linkage of regulators of TGF-beta activity in the fetal ovary to polycystic ovary syndrome. FASEB J 25(7):2256–2265
- He Y, Chen D, Yang L, Hou Q, Ma H, Xu X (2018) The therapeutic potential of bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells in premature ovarian failure. Stem Cell Res Ther 9(1):263–263
- Herraiz S, Pellicer N, Romeu M, Pellicer A (2019) Treatment potential of bone marrow-derived stem cells in women with diminished ovarian reserves and premature ovarian failure. Curr Opin Obstet Gynecol 31 (3):156–162
- Hu T, Yuan X, Ye R, Zhou H, Lin J, Zhang C, Zhang H, Wei G, Dong M, Huang Y, Lim W, Liu Q, Lee HJ, Jin W (2017) Brown adipose tissue activation by rutin ameliorates polycystic ovary syndrome in rat. J Nutr Biochem 47:21–28
- Huang C-C, Chen M-J, Lan C-W, Wu C-E, Huang M-C, Kuo H-C, Ho H-N (2019). Hyperactive CREB signaling pathway involved in the pathogenesis of polycystic ovarian syndrome revealed by patient-specific induced pluripotent stem cell modeling. Fertil Steril 112 (3):594–607.e512
- Hunt NC, Lako M (2016) Tissue engineering using pluripotent stem cells: multidisciplinary approaches to accelerate bench-to-bedside transition. Regen Med 11 (6):495–498
- Ibanez L, Potau N, Francois I, de Zegher F (1998) Precocious pubarche, hyperinsulinism, and ovarian

hyperandrogenism in girls: relation to reduced fetal growth. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 83(10):3558–3562

- Indran IR, Lee BH, Yong EL (2016) Cellular and animal studies: insights into pathophysiology and therapy of PCOS. Best Pract Res Clin Obstet Gynaecol 37:12–24
- Jedel E, Labrie F, Oden A, Holm G, Nilsson L, Janson PO, Lind AK, Ohlsson C, Stener-Victorin E (2011) Impact of electro-acupuncture and physical exercise on hyperandrogenism and oligo/amenorrhea in women with polycystic ovary syndrome: a randomized controlled trial. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 300(1): E37–E45
- Jin P, Xie Y (2018) Treatment strategies for women with polycystic ovary syndrome. Gynecol Endocrinol 34 (4):272–277
- Kalhori Z, Azadbakht M, Soleimani Mehranjani M, Shariatzadeh MA (2018) Improvement of the folliculogenesis by transplantation of bone marrow mesenchymal stromal cells in mice with induced polycystic ovary syndrome. Cytotherapy 20 (12):1445–1458
- Kanherkar RR, Bhatia-Dey N, Makarev E, Csoka AB (2014) Cellular reprogramming for understanding and treating human disease. Front Cell Dev Biol 2:67–67
- Larijani B, Aghayan HR, Goodarzi P, Arjmand B (2015) GMP-grade human fetal liver-derived mesenchymal stem cells for clinical transplantation. Methods Mol Biol 1283:123–136
- Larijani B, Goodarzi P, Payab M (2019) The design and application of an appropriate Parkinson's disease animal model in regenerative medicine. In: Advances in experimental medicine and biology. Springer, New York
- Larijani B, Heravani NF, Alavi-Moghadam S, Goodarzi P, Rezaei-Tavirani M, Payab M, Gholami M, Razi F, Arjmand B (2020) Cell therapy targets for autism spectrum disorders: hopes, challenges and future directions. In: Advances in experimental medicine and biology. Springer, New York
- Lidegaard Ø, Løkkegaard E, Jensen A, Skovlund CW, Keiding N (2012) Thrombotic stroke and myocardial infarction with hormonal contraception. N Engl J Med 366(24):2257–2266
- Liu X, Wang S, You Y, Meng M, Zheng Z, Dong M, Lin J, Zhao Q, Zhang C, Yuan X, Hu T, Liu L, Huang Y, Zhang L, Wang D, Zhan J, Jong Lee H, Speakman JR, Jin W (2015) Brown adipose tissue transplantation reverses obesity in Ob/Ob mice. Endocrinology 156 (7):2461–2469
- Lo Sardo V, Ferguson W, Erikson GA, Topol EJ, Baldwin KK, Torkamani A (2017) Influence of donor age on induced pluripotent stem cells. Nat Biotechnol 35 (1):69–74
- Lv SS, Liu G, Wang JP, Wang WW, Cheng J, Sun AL, Liu HY, Nie HB, Su MR, Guan GJ (2013) Mesenchymal stem cells transplantation ameliorates glomerular injury in streptozotocin-induced diabetic nephropathy in rats via inhibiting macrophage infiltration. Int Immunopharmacol 17(2):275–282

- Magalhaes RS, Atala A (2019) Chapter 70 Regenerative medicine for the female reproductive system. In: Atala A, Lanza R, Mikos AG, Nerem R (eds) Principles of regenerative medicine, 3rd edn. Academic, Boston, pp 1237–1250
- Mao AS, Mooney DJ (2015) Regenerative medicine: current therapies and future directions. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 112(47):14452–14459
- McAllister JM, Modi B, Miller BA, Biegler J, Bruggeman R, Legro RS, Strauss JF 3rd (2014) Overexpression of a DENND1A isoform produces a polycystic ovary syndrome theca phenotype. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 111(15):E1519–E1527
- Min Z, Gao Q, Zhen X, Fan Y, Tan T, Li R, Zhao Y, Yu Y (2018) New insights into the genic and metabolic characteristics of induced pluripotent stem cells from polycystic ovary syndrome women. Stem Cell Res Ther 9(1):1–13
- Min Z, Zhao Y, Hang J, Ren Y, Tan T, Fan Y, Yu Y (2019) Neuroendocrine characteristics of induced pluripotent stem cells from polycystic ovary syndrome women. Protein Cell 10(7):526–532
- Mourad S, Brown J, Farquhar C (2017) Interventions for the prevention of OHSS in ART cycles: an overview of Cochrane reviews. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 1(1): CD012103
- Nybacka Å, Carlström K, Ståhle A, Nyrén S, Hellström PM, Hirschberg AL (2011) Randomized comparison of the influence of dietary management and/or physical exercise on ovarian function and metabolic parameters in overweight women with polycystic ovary syndrome. Fertil Steril 96(6):1508–1513
- Osuka S, Nakanishi N, Murase T, Nakamura T, Goto M, Iwase A, Kikkawa F (2018) Animal models of polycystic ovary syndrome: a review of hormone-induced rodent models focused on hypothalamus-pituitaryovary axis and neuropeptides. Reprod Med Biol 18 (2):151–160
- Paixão L, Ramos RB, Lavarda A, Morsh DM, Spritzer PM (2017) Animal models of hyperandrogenism and ovarian morphology changes as features of polycystic ovary syndrome: a systematic review. Reprod Biol Endocrinol 15(1):12
- Pasquali R, Stener-Victorin E, Yildiz BO, Duleba AJ, Hoeger K, Mason H, Homburg R, Hickey T, Franks S, Tapanainen JS, Balen A, Abbott DH, Diamanti-Kandarakis E, Legro RS (2011) PCOS Forum: research in polycystic ovary syndrome today and tomorrow. Clin Endocrinol 74(4):424–433
- Patel S (2018) Polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS), an inflammatory, systemic, lifestyle endocrinopathy. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 182:27–36
- Payab M, Goodarzi P, Foroughi Heravani N, Hadavandkhani M, Zarei Z, Falahzadeh K, Larijani B, Rahim F, Arjmand B (2018) Stem cell and obesity: current state and future perspective. Adv Exp Med Biol 1089:1–22
- Piltonen TT, Chen J, Erikson DW, Spitzer TLB, Barragan F, Rabban JT, Huddleston H, Irwin JC,

Giudice LC (2013) Mesenchymal stem/progenitors and other endometrial cell types from women with polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) display inflammatory and oncogenic potential. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 98(9):3765–3775

- Rosenfield RL (2015) The diagnosis of polycystic ovary syndrome in adolescents. Pediatrics 136(6):1154–1165
- Rosenfield RL, Ehrmann DA (2016) The Pathogenesis Of Polycystic Ovary Syndrome (PCOS): the hypothesis of PCOS as functional ovarian hyperandrogenism revisited. Endocr Rev 37(5):467–520
- Ryu Y, Kim SW, Kim YY, Ku S-Y (2019) Animal models for human Polycystic Ovary Syndrome (PCOS) focused on the use of indirect hormonal perturbations: a review of the literature. Int J Mol Sci 20(11):2720
- Sheikhansari G, Aghebati-Maleki L, Nouri M, Jadidi-Niaragh F, Yousefi M (2018) Current approaches for the treatment of premature ovarian failure with stem cell therapy. Biomed Pharmacother 102:254–262
- Shorakae S, Jona E, de Courten B, Lambert GW, Lambert EA, Phillips SE, Clarke IJ, Teede HJ, Henry BA (2019) Brown adipose tissue thermogenesis in polycystic ovary syndrome. Clin Endocrinol 90(3):425–432
- Singer NG, Caplan AI (2011) Mesenchymal stem cells: mechanisms of inflammation. Annu Rev Pathol 6:457–478
- Song D, Zhong Y, Qian C, Zou Q, Ou J, Shi Y, Gao L, Wang G, Liu Z, Li H, Ding H, Wu H, Wang F, Wang J, Li H (2016) Human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells therapy in cyclophosphamide-induced premature ovarian failure rat model. Biomed Res Int 2016:1–13
- Steindler DA (2007) Stem cells, regenerative medicine, and animal models of disease. ILAR J 48(4):323–338
- Stener-Victorin E, Padmanabhan V, Walters KA, Campbell RE, Benrick A, Giacobini P, Dumesic DA, Abbott DH (2020) Animal models to understand the etiology and pathophysiology of polycystic ovary syndrome. Endocr Rev 41(4):538–576
- Sun T, Pisarska MD (2019) An induced pluripotent stem cell-derived granulosa cell model revealed hyperactive CREB signaling in polycystic ovary syndrome subjects. Fertil Steril 112(3):480–481
- Tabar V, Studer L (2014) Pluripotent stem cells in regenerative medicine: challenges and recent progress. Nat Rev Genet 15(2):82–92
- Tang YL, Zhao Q, Qin X, Shen L, Cheng L, Ge J, Phillips MI (2005) Paracrine action enhances the effects of autologous mesenchymal stem cell transplantation on vascular regeneration in rat model of myocardial infarction. Ann Thorac Surg 80(1):229–236. discussion 236–227
- Teede HJ, Misso ML, Costello MF, Dokras A, Laven J, Moran L, Piltonen T, Norman RJ (2018) Recommendations from the international evidencebased guideline for the assessment and management of polycystic ovary syndrome. Fertil Steril 110 (3):364–379
- Thomson RL, Buckley JD, Noakes M, Clifton PM, Norman RJ, Brinkworth GD (2008) The effect of a

hypocaloric diet with and without exercise training on body composition, cardiometabolic risk profile, and reproductive function in overweight and obese women with polycystic ovary syndrome. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 93(9):3373–3380

- Usnarska-Zubkiewicz L, Bolanowski M, Zubkiewicz-Kucharska A, Podolak-Dawidziak M, Kuliczkowski K (2010) Pregnancy in a woman with polycystic ovary syndrome and myelodysplastic syndrome (in the form of refractory anemia) treated with allogeneic hemopoietic stem-cell transplantation (alloHSCT). Gynecol Endocrinol 26(2):135–138
- Wang F, Liu W-W, Chen X-M, Kong H-J, Li J, Sun Y-P (2014) Differential genes in adipocytes induced from polycystic and non-polycystic ovary syndrome-derived human embryonic stem cells. Syst Biol Reprod Med 60 (3):136–142
- Williams T, Mortada R, Porter S (2016) Diagnosis and treatment of polycystic ovary syndrome. Am Fam Physician 94(2):106–113
- Wolf WM, Wattick RA, Kinkade ON, Olfert MD (2018) The current description and future need for multidisciplinary PCOS clinics. J Clin Med 7(11):395

- Xie Q, Xiong X, Xiao N, He K, Chen M, Peng J, Su X, Mei H, Dai Y, Wei D, Lin G, Cheng L (2019) Mesenchymal stem cells alleviate DHEA-induced polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) by inhibiting inflammation in mice. Stem Cells Int 2019:9782373
- Xiong Y-I, Liang X-y, Yang X, Li Y, Wei L-n (2011) Low-grade chronic inflammation in the peripheral blood and ovaries of women with polycystic ovarian syndrome. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 159 (1):148–150
- Yang S, Ding S, Jiang X, Sun B, Xu Q (2016) Establishment and adipocyte differentiation of polycystic ovary syndrome-derived induced pluripotent stem cells. Cell Prolif 49(3):352–361
- Yoon SY (2019) Mesenchymal stem cells for restoration of ovarian function. Clin Exp Reprod Med 46(1):1–7
- Yuan X, Hu T, Zhao H, Huang Y, Ye R, Lin J, Zhang C, Zhang H, Wei G, Zhou H, Dong M, Zhao J, Wang H, Liu Q, Lee HJ, Jin W, Chen ZJ (2016) Brown adipose tissue transplantation ameliorates polycystic ovary syndrome. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 113(10):2708–2713
Adv Exp Med Biol - Cell Biology and Translational Medicine (2021) 13: 143–175 https://doi.org/10.1007/5584_2021_624 © Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021 Published online: 22 March 2021



Opportunities and Challenges in Stem Cell Aging

Bagher Larijani , Najmeh Foroughi-Heravani, Setareh Alaei, Mostafa Rezaei-Tavirani , Sepideh Alavi-Moghadam , Moloud Payab , Parisa Goodarzi , Akram Tayanloo-Beik , Hamid Reza Aghayan , and Babak Arjmand

Abstract

Studying aging, as a physiological process that can cause various pathological phenotypes, has attracted lots of attention due to its increasing burden and prevalence. Therefore, understanding its mechanism to find novel therapeutic alternatives for age-related disorders such as neurodegenerative and cardiovascular diseases is essential. Stem cell senescence plays an important role in aging. In the context of the underlying pathways, mitochondrial dysfunction, epigenetic and

e-mail: emrc@tums.ac.ir

N. Foroughi-Heravani and M. Payab Metabolomics and Genomics Research Center, Endocrinology and Metabolism Molecular-Cellular Sciences Institute, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran e-mail: najmeh_foroughi@yahoo.com; Moloudpayab@gmail.com

S. Alaei, S. Alavi-Moghadam, A. Tayanloo-Beik, and H. R. Aghayan

genetic alterations, and other mechanisms have been studied and as a consequence, several rejuvenation strategies targeting these mechanisms like pharmaceutical interventions, genetic modification, and cellular reprogramming have been proposed. On the other hand, since stem cells have great potential for disease modeling, they have been useful for representing aging and its associated disorders. Accordingly, the main mechanisms of senescence in stem cells and promising ways of rejuvenation, along with some

P. Goodarzi

Brain and Spinal Cord Injury Research Center, Neuroscience Institute, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran e-mail: pr_goodarzi@yahoo.com

B. Arjmand (🖂)

Metabolomics and Genomics Research Center, Endocrinology and Metabolism Molecular-Cellular Sciences Institute, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

Cell Therapy and Regenerative Medicine Research Center, Endocrinology and Metabolism Molecular-Cellular Sciences Institute, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran e-mail: barjmand@sina.tums.ac.ir

B. Larijani

Endocrinology and Metabolism Research Center, Endocrinology and Metabolism Clinical Sciences Institute, Tehran University of Medical sciences, Tehran, Iran

Cell Therapy and Regenerative Medicine Research Center, Endocrinology and Metabolism Molecular-Cellular Sciences Institute, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

e-mail: alaei.str@gmail.com; sepidalavi@gmail.com; a. tayanloo@gmail.com; hr.aghayan@gmail.com

M. Rezaei-Tavirani

Proteomics Research Center, Shahid Beheshti University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran e-mail: Tavirany@yahoo.com

examples of stem cell models for aging are introduced and discussed. This review aims to prepare a comprehensive summary of the findings by focusing on the most recent ones to shine a light on this area of research.

Keywords

 $\begin{array}{l} Aging \cdot Model \cdot Partial \ reprogramming \ \cdot \\ Rejuvenation \ \cdot \ Stem \ cell \end{array}$

Abbreviations

5, 15 DPP	5, 15-Diphenylporphirine	mT
ACC1	Acetyl-Coa Carboxylase	NA
AD	Alzheimer Disease	NO
ADSCs	Adipose Derived Mesenchymal	NR
	Stem Cells	Nrf.
Atg7	Autophagy-Related Gene	
BMMSCs	Bone Marrow-Derived Mscs	NSC
BMP5	Bone morphogenic Protein5	OC
CoPP	Cobalt Protoporphyrin	OPI
CR	Caloric Restriction	PDI
CRP	C-reactive Protein	PG
CYGB	Cytoglobulin	RB
DDR	DNA Damage Response	RO
DKK1	Dickkopf-1	sFR
DMOG	Dimethyloxalyglycine	SIR
ERCC1	Excision Repair Cross	SOI
	Complementing-Group1	SO
FAPs	Fibro-Adipogenic Progenitors	spry
FASN	Fatty Acid Synthase	SVZ
FGF	Fibroblast Growth Factor	sXE
GDF11	Growth Differentiation Factor 11	TBI
Gnrh	Gonadotropin Releasing Hormone	Ter
GPDH	Glycerol-3-Phisphate	TEI
	Dehydrogenase	Tet2
H2AX	H2A Histone Family Member X	
hCPCs	Human Cardiac Progenitor Cells	TN
HGPS	Hutchinson-Gilford Progeria	TXI
	Syndrome	Upr
HSCs	Hematopoietic Stem Cells	WIS
HSL	Hormone- Sensitive Lipase	
HSP70	Heat Shock Protein 70	β3-4
HSPCs	Hematopoietic Stem and Progenitor	
	Cells	

IGF1	Insulin-Like Growth Factor 1
IL	Interleukin
iPSCs	Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells
ISCs	Intestinal Stem Cells
JAK/	Janus Kinase and Signal Transducer
STAT	and Activator of Transcription
LVCP	Lateral Ventricle Choroid Plexus
MAPK	Mitogen-Activated Protein
	Kinase
miR	micro RNA
Mnsod	Manganese Superoxide Dismutase
MSCs	Mesenchymal Stem Cells
Mterc	Mouse Telomerase RNA
	Component
mTOR	Mammalian Target Of Rapamycin
NAC	N-acetyl-L-cysteine
NO	Nitric Oxide
NR	Nicotinamideriboside
Nrf2	Nuclear Factor Erythroid2-Related
	Factor2
NSCs	Neural Stem Cells
OCN	Osteocalcin
OPN	Osteopontin
PDIA3	Protein Disulfide-Isomerase A3
PGC1a	Pparg Coactivator 1 Alpha
RB	Retinoblastoma Protein
ROS	Reactive Oxygen Species
sFRP3	Soluble Frizzled-Related Protein3
SIRT	Sirtuin
SOD2	Superoxide Dismutase 2
SOX2	Sex Determining Region Y-Box 2
spry1	Sprouty1
SVZ	Subventricular Zone
sXBP1	Spliced X-Box Binding Protein 1
TBI	Total-Body Irradiation
Tert	Telomerase Reverse Transcriptase
TET	Ten-Eleven Translocation
Tet2	Ten Eleven Translocation
	Methylcytosine Dioxygenase2
TNFα	Tumor Necrosis Factor-α
TXNIP	Thioredoxin-Interacting Protein
Upr ^{mt}	Unfolded Protein Response
WISP1	WNT1 Inducible Signaling Pathway
	Protein 1
β3-AR	β3-Adreno Receptor

Epidemiological studies show that by 2050, 22% of the world population will be over 60 years of age (Kanasi et al. 2016). This increased life expectancy has led to aging and age-related disorders such as neurodegenerative and cardiovascular diseases, cancers, and aging frailty (López-Otín et al. 2013; Shetty et al. 2018; Goodarzi et al. 2019a; Larijani et al. 2019; Oliva et al. 2019; Baradaran-Rafii et al. 2020). Although these diseases have been treated and discussed as isolated disorders, there are recognized links between them and the aging process (Saeidimehr et al. 2016; Oliva et al. 2019). Accordingly, the field of geroscience is about finding the pathways and biology of this relationship which can contribute to preventing the development of such disorders through targeting the aging itself (Oliva et al. 2019; Picca et al. 2019). In that regard, the general cause of aging is the accumulation of cellular damage. In addition, aging is characterized by different hallmarks, including genomic instability, telomere attrition, epigenetic alterations and changes, impaired proteostasis, deregulated nutrient sensing (e.g. changes in insulin-like growth factor 1(IGF-1) signaling pathway), mitochondrial dysfunction, cellular senescence, changes in intercellular communication, stem cell exhaustion and the decline in the regenerative capacity. All of these hallmarks provoke the aging process and its phenotype (López-Otín et al. 2013; Picca et al. 2019). However, one of the most obvious ones, the stem cell aging, has become a novel theory that states aging happens partly due to the diminished regenerative potential of stem cells and impairment in their function as they grow old (Sharpless and DePinho 2007; López-Otín et al. 2013; Ahmed et al. 2017; Wang et al. 2019). On the other hand, aging impairs the therapeutic potential of stem cells (in-vitro cultured stem cells in several passages) or isolated stem cells from aged subjects exhibited diminished productivity and function (Sharpless and DePinho 2007; Ahmed et al. 2017). Therefore, in either case, the age-associated diseases may

develop as a result of the deterioration of adult stem cells, such as neural stem cells (NSCs), mesenchymal stem cells(MSCs) and hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) (Ahmed et al. 2017). Consequently, studying mechanisms and pathways involved in stem cell aging like mitochondrial dysfunction and changes in epigenetic regulation is essential in order to find new therapies for aging and aging-related diseases (Oh et al. 2014; Ahmed et al. 2017).

2 Stem Cell Aging

Stem cells are known as a population of cells characterized by their self-renewal capacity and the ability of differentiation to various cell types (Arjmand et al. 2017; Khorraminejad-Shirazi et al. 2018). Whether stem cell aging is the cause or consequence of aging is not yet fully understood, however, it has been demonstrated that stem cell exhaustion can lead to premature aging in mice. Inducing stem cell exhaustion with partial repetitive depletion of adult sex determining region Y-box 2 + (SOX2+) Cells caused more gray hair, reduced hair regrowth capacity and decreased epithelial cellularity in esophagus and trachea. The senescence associated betagalactosidase activity was significantly higher in kidney frozen sections, after stem cell exhaustion. This funding suggests a systematic response to stem cell exhaustion since SOX2 is not expressed in kidney cells. In a longer exposure to repetitive depletion of SOX2+ adult cells, mice subjected to stem cell exhaustion had a progressive decline in spontaneous activity and exploratory behavior. It is proposed that adult stem cell depletion can lead to premature tissue aging by triggering a systematic response (Vilas et al. 2018). Hence, adult stem cell dysfunction is an essential factor of aging and its associated diseases, since adult stem cells (or somatic stem cells) that are found in each tissue type and organ, have a pivotal role in the maintenance of tissue homeostasis and regeneration (Ahmed et al. 2017; Ren et al. 2017). For instance, NSCs are responsible for generating different specific cells in the CNS

like neurons, astrocytes, oligodendrocytes, and ependymal cells (Ahmed et al. 2017; Conover and Todd 2017). As the age increases, their neurogenic capacity diminishes and some cognitive deficits occur as a consequence of aging, includneurodegenerative diseases ing (notable Alzheimer's disease (AD)), olfactory dysfunction, and spatial memory deficits (Ahmed et al. 2017; Conover and Todd 2017; Hou et al. 2019). Although there are reports of the persistent neurogenesis in adults, NSC aging and the decline in the proliferation ability have been indicated in many studies on animals and human (for example by investigating the in vitro culture of NSCs) and also, it is suggested that the loss of neurogenesis might be associated with the deeper quiescent state of stem cells and their activation defects (Daniele et al. 2016; Audesse and Webb 2020; Han et al. 2021). HSCs are another group of stem cells, which are susceptible to aging (Ahmed et al. 2017; Lee et al. 2019). They reside in the red bone marrow and continuously produce blood cells, including erythrocytes, immune cells, and platelets (Ahmed et al. 2017, Lee et al. 2019). With aging, cell-intrinsic/extrinsic factors cause HSCs to have a functional decline in repopulation capacity, defects in homing and mobilization and unbalanced differentiation (lineage skewing from lymphopoiesis toward myelopoiesis), which results in several types of immune diseases such as anemia, myeloid and lymphoid leukemia, and compromised adaptive immunity (Rossi et al. 2008; Kikushige and Miyamoto 2014; Lee et al. 2019). Therefore, rejuvenating aged HSCs can improve the quality of life for the elderly patients (Lee et al. 2019). MSCs contribute to the maintenance of the organs and differentiate to mesodermal derivative including chondrocytes, osteocytes, adipocytes, and myocytes (Goodarzi et al. 2015, 2018a, b, 2019b; Ahmed et al. 2017; Arjmand et al. 2019, 2020; Fafián-Labora et al. 2019; Baradaran-Rafii et al. 2020; Parhizkar Roudsari et al. 2020). They can be isolated from different organs as well as umbilical cord tissue and blood, but the most common sources are bone marrow-derived MSCs(BMMSCs) and adipose tissue-derived MSCs(ADSCs) (Ahmed et al. 2017). Due to their beneficial properties such as

keeping tissue homeostasis and modulating inflammation, they have been used in many studies in order to find new therapeutic approaches. However, aging influences these properties and functions by senescence and its associated mechanisms such as oxidative stress (Yang 2018; Fafián-Labora et al. 2019). These changes can be divided into in-vitro and in-vivo behaviors. For instance, after in-vitro expansion, it was demonstrated that the self-renewal capacity and cell viability were decreased and immunosuppressive properties and differentiation potential (significantly in the case of chondrogenesis and osteogenesis) were reduced(Yang 2018, Fafián-Labora et al. 2019). Additionally, shifting in their morphology, genetic instability and changes in the expression of specific surface markers expression were found. In-vivo senescence of MSCs is characterized by reduced proliferative capacity, colony forming efficiency, and differentiation potential (adipogenesis, osteogenesis and chondrogenesis). Moreover, the number of isolated MSCs from the bone marrow aspiration declines with age (Yang 2018). Hence, the aging of MSCs seems to be detrimental in regard to their essential functions (Ahmed et al. 2017). Further, stem cells of skeletal muscle -called satellite cells -are responsible for sustaining the regeneration throughout life. Aging impacts the remarkable regenerative capacity of skeletal muscle as it is associated with a decline in the number and functionality of the satellite cells (García-Prat et al. 2013; Muñoz-Cánoves et al. 2020). Both environment alterations as an extrinsic factor and intrinsic changes such as genomic instability, metabolic defects, and drop in autophagy (which is important in senescence) contribute to satellite cell impairment. Therefore, old satellite cells generate insufficient progeny, which possess limited differentiation and myogenic potential, and accumulation of the altered progeny results in deterioration of the function and structure of the tissue (García-Prat et al. 2013; Fafián-Labora et al. 2019; Muñoz-Cánoves et al. 2020). Cardiovascular diseases, as one of the leading causes of mortality and morbidity, are affected by aging since intrinsic aging can cause progressive changes in the structure and functions

of the heart regardless of other risk factors like hypertension and diabetes (Dai et al. 2012). Some of the physiological changes of cardiac aging are the increase in left ventricle wall thickness, myxomatous degeneration of the valves and valvular sclerosis, which lead to increased prevalence of related diseases (Dai et al. 2012). The underlying mechanisms of these alterations include mitochondrial dysfunction, free radicals and reactive oxygen species (ROS), nutrient signaling, and cardiac stem cell aging (Sussman and Anversa 2004; Dai et al. 2012). Nowadays it is accepted that cardiac myocytes are generated after birth. One of the hypotheses of the underlying causes of the myocyte turnover is the resident stem cells. Cardiac stem cells play an important part in cardiac homeostasis and their senescence is thoroughly involved in the cardiac aging and heart failure, though its mechanisms are not fully understood (Anversa et al. 2005; Dai et al. 2012; Cesselli et al. 2018). It was found that the senescence of cardiac stem cells and the expression of some of the associated genes were increased in the aging mouse model and human hearts (as it was demonstrated in the in-vitro study of evaluating and comparing normal donor hearts and explanted hearts in end-stage heart failure) (Torella et al. 2004; Anversa et al. 2005; Cesselli et al. 2011). Also, the deletion of the pro-senescent gene p66shcin a diabetic mouse model can prevent age-related changes (Rota et al. 2006; Dai et al. 2012). Moreover, telomere shortening is another factor of senescence in cardiac progenitors and human cardiac stem cells (Cesselli et al. 2011; Dai et al. 2012). These data suggest that stimulation of cardiac stem cells can prevent the effects of aging on the heart, though more investigations are needed (Anversa et al. 2005; Dai et al. 2012).

3 Mechanisms of Aging in Stem Cells

As stem cells age, they lose their self-renewal and regenerative potential, thus contributing to agingrelated tissue dysfunction. Understanding the mechanisms underlying stem cell aging can help us in the prevention and treatment of aging related symptoms, especially in reversible mechanisms. Factors and mechanisms involved in stem cell aging can be cell-intrinsic or cell-extrinsic that are essentially inter-dependents and interacting (de Haan and Lazare 2018). We can also categorize stem cell aging mechanisms into tissue specific stem cell mechanisms of aging and common mechanisms of aging. Common mechanisms of aging include genetic damage to nuclear and mitochondrial DNA, epigenetic aging related changes, cell cycle alterations, ROS and mitochondria dysfunction, protein homeostasis disruption, signaling pathway alterations or extrinsic and systematic changes (López-Otín et al. 2013). Accumulated DNA damage is a common factor in aging and premature aging diseases (Burtner and Kennedy 2010). The DNA replication system is not error-proof and through numerous replications, repair error can cause permanent damage in the form of accumulated mutations. The number of divisions stem cells have made correlates directly with the risk of cancer in the tissue (Tomasetti and Vogelstein 2015). The stem cell's quiescent state makes them more prone to DNA damage once they enter replicative phase because double strand breaks are more likely to be repaired with non-homologous ends joining rather than homologous recombination which is used by replicative cells and is less prone to errors (Kanaar et al. 2008). Repair error is not the only source of DNA damage, chemical agents such as ROS or UV-induced photoproducts and gamma radiation can cause defects on DNA (Han et al. 2014; Robinson et al. 2018). HSCs are one type of the stem cells with the highest rate of self-renewal that makes them more susceptible to DNA damage. Double strand breaks in the DNA tend to increase with age along with accumulated mutation and telomere attrition (Rübe et al. 2011). Accumulated DNA damage results in genomic instability. These DNA damages can cause cell death or senescence. These genotoxins do not just affect the DNA, but also other nucleophiles such as RNA and phospholipid (Miquel et al. 1980; López-Otín et al. 2013). Aging-associated epigenetic changes include alterations in DNA

methylation, histone modification, non-coding RNA, transcription factor binding and nucleosome positioning. One of the most prominent characteristics of epigenetic changes in cellular senescence is DNA methylation. DNA methylation level changes are associated with a cell's biological age and are among the most accurate biological age estimators. DNA-methylation changes happen regularly throughout cell cycle as an adaptive response; however, it can act as an aging accelerator. DNA-5 methyl cytosine (5-mc) is the most common type of DNA methylation that primarily prevents the binding of transcription factor to promoter region and therefore prevents gene expression. DNA methylation induces aging by loss of proteostasis, mitochondrial dysfunction, stem cell exhaustion and immunosenescence (Jiang and Guo 2020). Alterations in DNA-methylation patterns show a generalized hypo methylation along with locus hyper methylation in tumor suppressor genes. Altered histone methylation pattern along with global heterochromatin loss and redistribution increases transcriptional noise, chromosome instability and RNA processing aberrations (Tan et al. 2017). DNA methylation in aging not only disrupts DNA degradation, it also affects protein synthesis. Hyper methylation of the promoter region of r-RNA causes replication senescence in cells (Sanokawa-Akakura et al. 2019). Aging is associated with autophagic activity. The promoter regions of Atg5 and LC3 genes are hyper methylated in aged macrophages and therefore the expression of these autophagy proteins are down regulated. DNA methylation also affects other autophagy-related genes such as FOXO3a or Beclin-1 (Khalil et al. 2016; Jiang and Guo 2020). As another example, it was indicated that the deficiency of excision repair cross complementing-group1 (ERCC1), which is an endonuclease responsible for incision of the damaged strand of DNA in some of the repair pathways, promotes cellular senescence and apoptosis. Cultured ERCC1 depleted human fibroblast shoed that the senescence is p53-dependent and $\text{Ercc1}^{-/\Delta}$ mice showed greater levels of tumor necrosis factor-a (TNFa), a senescenceassociated secretory phenotype (SASP) factor which induced apoptosis, and it is secreted by senescent cells. Also, the stem cell depletion was found via decreased expression of marker of epithelial, basal and hair follicle stem cells (p63,K14,Lgr6 respectively) that might be due to apoptosis and can be one of the main causes of premature aging in the ERCC1 deficient-mice (Kim et al. 2019). ROS production is a side effect of mitochondria's aerobic metabolism. It has been suggested that ROS production has a central role in cellular aging (Jung et al. 2016). Elevated ROS levels and irradiation in HSCs lead to P38 activation. P38 is a protein kinase that is involved in cell proliferation and differentiation, apoptosis and senescence. In bone marrow suppression disease like Myelodysplastic Syndromes, P38 activation has been reported. P38 inhibition in human umbilical cord blood can improve stem cell expansion and engraftment post transplantation (Zou et al. 2012). Moreover, it has been that mammalian demonstrated target of rapamycin complex1 (mTORC1) increases intestinal epithelial aging by enhancing p38 Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase (MAPK)s signaling via p53 and p16. These kinases are involved in cell differentiation proliferation, and survival (Wagner and Nebreda 2009). Inhibition of P38 MAPK alleviated villus aging phenotypes (He et al. 2020). The mitochondrial theory of aging suggests mitochondria's ROS production damages mitochondrial DNA and subsequently affects mitochondrial respiration, leading to more ROS production and oxidative damage and creating a vicious cycle (Miquel et al. 1980). Since the introduction of this theory core principles are still approved, however, further studies led to a better understanding of ROS and oxidative damage's role in aging. Studies have suggested that ROS production may not decrease lifespan while higher ROS production leads to longevity. These studies have shown rather a protective role against stress signals for ROS. Findings in rodents and Caenorhabditis elegans (C.elegans)can show that the former observed association between elevated ROS levels and aging were due to the role of ROS in mediating stress responses to age- related damages rather than their primary role in aging (Hekimi et al.

2011; López-Otín et al. 2013). Besides, mitochondrial dysfunction can contribute to aging not only by producing ROS but also by biogenesis impairment and it can cause premature apoptosis. Mutation accumulation and damage instability are other sources of mitochondrial DNA damage; however, we now know that ROS is not the only factor in DNA instability and mutation (Jang and Van Remmen 2009; López-Otín et al. 2013). Furthermore, studies have revealed that nuclear genome instability by itself can induce senescence and raise ROS and oxidative damage in-vivo (Robinson et al. 2018). Telomere shortening has been associated with aging, longevity and aging-related diseases. Telomeres are terminal DNA structures of eukaryotic chromosomes that protect DNA from degradation, recombination and fusion by contributing to the pairing of homologous chromosomes and distinguishing true chromosomes ends from double-stranded-break DNA. With each cell division, telomeres shorten. The amount of this shortening is variable, possibly due to individual variations of telomere length, different methods of telomere length measurements along with cell type and age difference in telomere measurement studies. When telomere reaches a critical length, chromosome fusion increases and contributes to cellular senescence (Ishikawa et al. 2016; Zhu et al. 2019b). Mechanistic target of Rapamycin (m-TOR) is a serinethreonine kinase that integrates cellular and environmental signals to control cell growth, metabolism and proliferation. M-TOR induces anabolic processes while inhibiting autophagy and subsequently cell growth and proliferation. A wide set of stimuli, including hormones, growth factors, oxygen and amino acids can affect m-TOR function. The correlation of aging processes and hallmarks with m-TOR signaling pathway is very complex and not yet fully understood. M-TOR levels during aging can decrease or increase depending on sex or tissue. M-TOR also functions as an immunosuppressant that will make its inhibition effects on aging controversial, because of aging-associated inflammation or inflammaging. Despite all controversies, it is clear that m-TOR inhibition by pharmacological means, or caloric restriction increases lifespan, however, more studies are needed to discover m-TOR are related mechanisms of cellular aging (Mannick et al. 2014; Papadopoli et al. 2019). Environmental and extrinsic aging factors have been studied by exposing young stem cells to senescent milieus. CCL11 levels in blood increase with aging; this cytokine impairs NSC function and neurogenesis via CCR3 receptors. TGF- β also inhibits the satellite cell function and repair (Mendelsohn and Larrick 2011). Other pro-inflammatory factors also increase in blood with aging. Complement component 1q (C1q) induces senescent phenotype in muscle stem cells by accelerating Wnt signaling pathway which is associated with the impaired regeneration ability and enhanced fibrogenic response (Brack et al. 2007; Villeda et al. 2011; Naito et al. 2012). Low-grade chronic inflammation, caused by age-related immunologic changes, has been recently recognized as an important contributing factor in stem cell aging. Basal levels of pro-inflammatory chemokine such as interleukin-6(IL-6), TNF- α and C-reactive protein (CRP) increase in serum with aging, they are mostly known for causing myelopoiesis in HSCs, which is a characteristic of HSC aging. Furthermore, myeloid cells produce more inflammatory cytokines and cause an even further myeloid dominance. Inflammation also induces intracellular ROS production (Kovtonyuk et al. 2016; Hormaechea-Agulla et al. 2020). However, assessing microRNAs(miRNAs) involved in controlling the inflammation revealed that both pro and anti-inflammatory miRNAs were upregulated but the pro inflammatory phenotype could prevail over the anti- inflammatory type (Alicka et al. 2020). To be mentioned, there is growing evidence that the geometry, volume and density of extracellular space regulate neural stem cell proliferation and differentiation (Syková et al. 2002). In addition to common mechanisms of aging in all cells, each line of stem cells goes through different changes in aging. More details on specific mechanisms driving aging in specific tissue stem cells are provided in Table 1. Also,

Table 1 Mechanisms of aging in different types of stem cells. There are several kinds of pathways responsible for senescence of stem cells. Some examples of each category are shown in this table. For instance, some genetic alterations in HSCs, BMMsCs, and CSCs are depicted

		Outcome	proliferation and clonal amplification ↓ activating p53 -activating p53 -inducing autophagy to elicit the age-associated change in CPC fate	Blocking cell growth	Defects in replication and chromatin structure
	csc	Changes	Telomere length ↓	p16 ^{Ink4a} expression 1	Bmi-I down regulation
		Outcome	Repressive state of chromatin, loosing overall transcription potential	-induction of the senescence- associated cell cycle inhibitor p16INK4a	Rewiring of rhythmic gene expression in of satellite cells -disruption in the daily rhythmic oscillation of autophagy genes
	MuSC	Changes	-histone markers H3K27me3, H3K9me2 ↑ -histone level ↓	High ROS levels -epigenetic derepression of the INK4A locus	Decline in autophagy
		Outcome	Cell cycle arrest, apoptosis ↑	Changes in cell cycle control and senescence regulation, telomere length, oxidative stress	Adipogenic differentiation potential (slower response to response to inducing factors) ↓
	ADSC	Changes	P53,p16,p21, Casp-3,Casp- 9 expression ↑	SIRT I, hTERT, RB1 expression \downarrow	PPAR-γ, CEBP-α, adipinectin, FABP4,LPL, GPDH, FASN, ACC1, HSL expression ↓
		Outcome	Osteogenesis ↓	-p16 ^{INK4a} expression ↑ -impaired self renewal capacity and accelerated senescence	-fibrosis of Aging renal tissues
	BMMSC	Changes	-PPAR-y expression ↑ -RUNX2 expression ↓	FOXP1 expression ↓	-the inhibitory effect of BM- MSC-MVs on TGF-β1- cell EMT cell EMT
		Outcome	-expression of acidic P-galactosidase, PAL1, PAL1, -down regulation of SOX2 (a NSC factor) -enoliferation ↓ -senescence induction	-acceleration of ageing	-age-associated chronic inflammation -miR-133b-3p and miR-294, inhibition of TGF- β 1- mediated EMT in HK2 cells in HK2 cells
	NSC	Changes	BRAF activation	Exosomal microRNAs (miRNAs) in the cerebrospinal fluid ↓	Expression of $Son2 \downarrow$
		Outcome	-susceptibility to DNA damage ↑ -self-renewal potential ↓	-proliferation -altered differentiation	-very shortened lifespan -dysfunctional mitochondrial function -dysregulated mitochondrial function -reactive oxygen species ↑ -blood phenotype ph
Type of stem cell	HSC	Changes	NER and NHEJ down regulation	Hypermethylation of DNMT1	Hematopoietic cell- targeted deletion of the STAT3
		Mechanism	Genetic and epigenetic alterations		

Telomere shortening and uncapping in WT cardiac cells	-lowered proliferation potential and shortened telomere length -up-regulation of p53 and p16				
Reduction in nuclear phospho- Akt and telomerase activity	NS expression ↓				
Losing brown-like features	Osteogenic potential ↓	Migration ability 4	Changes(defects) in stem cell homeostasis and DNA methylation	Inflammation and pro-inflammatory phenotype	Insulin resistance and reduced glucose homeostasis
PGClα, UCPI expression ↓	ALP, Runx2, BMP2, OPN, OCN expression \downarrow	CXCR4, CXCR7 expression ↓	DNMT1, TET-2, TET-3 expression ↓	-IL-8, TNF-α, IL-1β expression † -miR-203b- 3p.miR-21, miR-16-5p upregulation -TCF-β1 expression ↓	GLUT-40, INSR expression ↓
-adipogenesis and aging phenotypes ↑ -osteogenesis and stemness ↓	 inhibited osteogenic differentiation -accelerated senescence inhibited the expression of Gli2 				
microRNA-31a- 5p (miR-31a- 5p)↑	-mik.384-5p ↑				
-induces aneuploidy					
BubR1 expression ↓					
-defective HSC development -reduced Wnt/ β-catenin activity	-loss of polarity	-accelerated cell cycle exit -accumulation of DNA double strand breaks -apoptosis when cells progress to the SJC2-M stages of the cell cycle			
Cyp2aaa9 knockdown	Activity of small RhoGTPase cdc42 1	Absence of P19 (INK4d)			

ontinued)	Tvne of st
ی ت	
Table	

	Q	anges Outcome	attened Stemness prpholog potential _ and temness senescence urker LIN28 _	s silencing - cell flattening -multinucleated ceclts -decreased S-phase progression	cumulation of -modifications active oxygen of the EphA2 ecies in aged receptor -loss of migratory ability	ess of CPC -pushes the If-renewal stem cells ough toward lineage rrased commitment ammetric exhaustion vision	r_{P} and r_{P} senescent VA damage CSCs urker γ H2AX \uparrow - secretion of SASP factors \uparrow	iochondrial ROS egrity↓ production↑
	CS	Outcome Ch	Quiescence - fil to-senescence mc switch, -5 impaired self- renewal capacity	- prevents NK myofiber regeneration	호 전 · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	diyer di di di di di di di di di di di di di	Impaired and S^{A} senescentDYsatellite cellsma	Cellular M energy and int mitochondrial function J
	MuSC	Changes	G0 cell cycle arrest	Inhibition of PERK			SA-β-gal activity ↑	-ROS production 1 - concentrations of ATP and NAD+ 1
		Outcome	Decreased proliferation rate				Susceptibility to replicative senescence \uparrow	Induced cellular senescence
	ADSC	Changes	Cells in G0/G1 and G2/M phases ↑ Cells in S phase ↓ Nuclear diameter ↑				SA-β-gal activity ↑	ROS production ↑
		Outcome	Chondrogenesis ↓	Number and proliferative capacity \downarrow	Homing ability J		Senescent BMMSCs	
	BMMSC	Changes	sGAG production ↓	-CFU-F↓ - cD45lowCD271* cells↓	Surface marker VCAM-1 and CXCR4 expression ↓		SA-β-gal activity ↑	
	B	Outcome	-multibranched morphology -proliferation and division ↓ -senescent phenotype	- age-related cognitive decline -brain tumor development	-induces the conversion of α-cells into Ω-cells (much lower probability of division even pro-activation challenge)	Neural stem cell expansion and differentiation ↓	-differences in their protein homeostasis network.	-ROS production ↑ - impaired self- renewal capacity of NSCs NSCs steepletion of
	NSC	Changes	Transformatiof of α-type NSCs to Ω-type NSCs: α-Type NSCs ↓ Ω-type NSCs ↑	Defective primary cilia	Chronic inflammation	CD44 transmembrane receptor ↑	-large lysosomes ↑ - active proteasomes ↓	Disruption of mitochondrial dynamics and chronic fragmented state
		Outcome	Cell division \downarrow					Regenerative capacity of HSCs ↓
Type of stem cell	HSC	Changes	-cell cycle activity ↓ - cell in GI phase ↓					UPR™↑
		Mechanism	Cell morphology, cell marker and cell cycle				Cellular senescence biomarkers	Mitochondrial dysfunction

ultimately vvors the copagation of OS from ER the itochondria	usceptibility to ijury ↑		ntagonizing anonical Wnt gnaling	roliferation apacity 4 and witching to mescence	(continued)
ATF4, a ATF4, a factor involved p in the UPR F response, to increases the n Parkin	T levels ↑		SFRP1 A expression 1 c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c	Secretion of F SASP factors c (e.g., IL-6, IL-8, s MMP-3, and s PA11)	
Contributes to satellite cell senescence	Autophagy J Mitochondrial activity	Decline in MuSC regeneration and homeostasis with aging		-upregulation of p53 and p21 -inhibited GG MuSC proliferation -decreased myogenic differentiation	
Deregulation of the UPRmt	Atg7 ablation	Reduced amounts and/or function of β 1-integrin and fibronectin		Hypoxia	
Mitochondrial dysfunction and cellular senescence	Accumulation of damaged proteins	Impaired ER protein folding, UPR activation, promoting apoptosis	Impedes osteoporosis- ameliorating potential of ADSC		
SOD2 expression ↓	Proteosome activity ↓	sXBP1, PDIA3 expression ↑	Diminished osteogenic signal		
	-bone loss induction -mRNA expression levels of CXCL12 ↓ - expression level of CXCR4 and ACKR3 ↓ -osteogenic gene RUNX2 expression ↓		Compromised osteogenic capacity		
	-kynurenine accumulation		Downregulation of Cav 1.2 \downarrow		
	 protein accumulation 1 functional decline 	 neurogenesis (-apoptosis † -proliferation of neural stem/ progenitor cells. (Cell viability and proliferation ↓	-decline in activated NSC or neural progenitors - NSC proliferation impairment	
Conditional deletion of alpha- ketoglutarate- dehydrogenase	Lysosome function ↓	TGF-β1↑	Wnt/β-catenin signaling pathway ↑	CD8+ T-cell infiltration in NSC niches	
	Repopulating capacity of aged HSCs ↓		-Prolifeation ↓ - HSC quiescence	-impaired differentiation - increased colony- forming potential - changes in expression	
	Polycomb-group proteins manipulation (Bmi1)		TGF-β signaling ↑	Downregulation of KLF6	
	Protein homeostasis defects		Signaling pathways alterations	Extrinsic and systemic changes	

Table 1 (continued)

	Type of stem cell											
	HSC		NSC		BMMSC		ADSC		MuSC		CSC	
Mechanism	Changes	Outcome	Changes	Outcome	Changes	Outcome	Changes	Outcome	Changes	Outcome	Changes	Outcome
			IFN-Υ	- cell cycle					Increase in	-YAP/TAZ-	Reduced cardiac	Reduced
			response 1	dysfunction					muscle	mediated	growth reserve	cardiomyocyte
				- NSC					stiffness	pathogenic		turnover
				proliferation						expression of		
				impairment						matricellular		
										proteins by		
										fibroblasts		
										-disrupting		
										MuSC		
			CCL 11 and ß2-	- differentiation							Ca ²⁺ released	-increases
			microglobulin 1	into neurons (from the ER	oxidative
				- differentiation							during stress	phosphorylation
				into astrocytes [†]								-ROS
												themselves can
												alter calcium
												homeostasis by
					_							regulating IP ₃ R
												and RyR
					_							function
MSCs Mesen	-hvmal etem celle	RMMSCe BO	ab-worrow-de	rived MSCs H	rCc Hematonoi	ietic stem cells	NSCe Neural	stem cells MuS	Co Skeletal 1	nusele stem ,	celle ADSC A	dinose tissue.

Plasminogen activator inhibitor1, SFRP1 Secreted frizzled-related protein1, H2AX H2A histone family member X, ROS Reactive oxygen species, Atg7 Autophagy-related gene 7, NAD+ activated receptor, CEBPA CCAT/ enhancer-binding protein, FABP4 Fatty Acid-binding protein 4, LPL Lipoprotein lipase, GPDH Glycerol-3-phisphate dehydrogenase, FASN Fatty acid sGGG Sulfated glycosaminoglycan, FOXPI Forkhead box P1, RUNX2 Runt-related transcription factor 2, CFU-F Colony-forming unit fibroblast, VCAM Vascular cell adhesion molecule-1, 54-*B-gal* Senescence-Associated *b-* galactosidase, SASP Senescence-associated secretory phenotype, *IL* Interleukin, *MMP* Matrix metalloproteinase, *SOX2* Sex determining region Y-box 2, *PAII* somerase A3, ER Endoplasmic reticulum, UPR Unfolded protein response, miR micro RNA, TERT Telomerase reverse transcriptase, INSR Insulin receptor, PPAR Peroxisome proliferatorsynthase, ACC1 acetyl-CoA carboxylase, HSL Hormone- sensitive lipase, OCN Osteocalcin, OPN Osteopontin, ALP Alkaline phosphatase, RUNX Runt-related transcription factor, TET en-eleven translocation, PGCIa Pparg coactivator 1 alpha, SIRT Sirtuin, RB Retinoblastoma protein, CPC cardiac progenitor cell, EphA2 Ephrin A2, RyR ryanodine receptor, IP₃R inositol 1, 4,5trisphosphate receptors, ATF4 Activating transcription factor 4, UPR unfolded protein response, NER Nucleotide excision repair, NHEJ Non-homologous end joining, DNMT DNA methyltransferases, NS Nucleostemin, PERK Protein kinase RNA-like endoplasmic reticulum kinase (Barber and Wilson 1980; Harris and Cotman 1985; Bierrum and Borregaard 1989; Chambers et al. 2007; Nijnik et al. 2007; Raabe et al. 2011; Rube et al. 2011; Florian et al. 2012; Liu et al. 2012; Mantel et al. 2012; Pineda et al. 2013; Wang et al. 2013; Beane et al. 2014; Hilpert et al. 2014; Sun et al. 2014; Hariharan et al. 2015; Li et al. 2015; Nohrin et al. 2015; Nguyen and Sussman 2015; Wang et al. 2015; Chen et al. 2016; Khacho et al. 2016; Larrick et al. 2016; Oh al. 2016; Cesselli et al. 2017; Li et al. 2017; Liu et al. 2017; Nakamura et al. 2017; Zhang et al. 2017; Hwang and Brack 2018; Leeman et al. 2018; Maryanovich et al. 2018; Maryanovich et al. 2018; Maryanovich et al. 2018; Maryanovich et al. 2017; Jane et al. 2017 2018; Sousa-Victor et al. 2018; Adelman et al. 2019; Álvarez-Satta et al. 2019; Cianflone et al. 2019; Dulken et al. 2019; Fei et al. 2019; Ganguly et al. 2019; Lin et al. 2019; Lin et al. 2019; Alvarez-Satta et al. 2019; Cianflone et al. 2019; Dulken et al. 2019; Fei et al. 2019; Alvarez-Satta et al. 2019; Cianflone et al. 2019; Dulken et al. 2019; Fei et al. 2019; Alvarez-Satta et al. 2019; Cianflone et al. 2019; Dulken et al. 2019; Alvarez-Satta et al. 2019; Cianflone et al. 2019; Dulken et al. 2019; Fei et al. 2019; Alvarez-Satta et al. 2019; Cianflone et al. 2019; Dulken et al. 2019; Fei et al. 2019; Alvarez-Satta et al. 2019; Cianflone et al. 2019; Dulken et al. 2019; Fei et al. 2019; Alvarez-Satta et al. 2019; Cianflone et al. 2019; Cianflon Vicotinamide adenine dinucleotide, ATP Adenosine triphosphate, GLUT Glucose transporter, SOD2 Superoxide dismutase 2, sXBP1 Spliced X-box binding protein 1, PDIA3 Protein disulfidederived MSCs, CSCs Cardiac stem cells, DNMTI DNA methyltransferase-1, UPR^{mt} Mitochondrial unfolded protein response, TGF-\u03b2 Transforming growth factor beta, IFN-Y Interferon gamma Ukjanenko et al. 2019; Martín-Suárez et al. 2019; Alicka et al. 2020; Cianflone et al. 2020; Elmansi et al. 2020; Mejia-Ramirez et al. 2020; Zhu et al. 2020) MS

some other examples of aging pathways which have rejuvenation strategies are introduced in the next subtitle and Fig. 1.

4 Rejuvenation Strategies

Rejuvenation has been considered a fascinating topic in many cultures and human history, which has become a challenge in the modern world (Ludke et al. 2014). Accordingly, as the aging of stem cells is one of the contributing factors of aging, defining strategies which reverse the aged stem cells, and rejuvenate them is a potential therapeutic approach (Ludke et al. 2014; Ahmed et al. 2017). Some of the proposed mechanisms for treating age-related dysfunctions in stem cells are summarized briefly.

4.1 Genetic Modification and DNA Damage

Accumulation of DNA damage has a critical role in the loss of aged-stem cell function, so increasing the repair pathways can prevent related defects (Wang et al. 2019). An example of this phenomenon is the deletion of Atm (which is a sensor for the DNA damage)in HSC, leading to increased ROS and decreased repopulation capacity. Accordingly, treating $ATM^{-/-}$ mice with antioxidant N-acetyl-L-cysteine (NAC) can restore the HSC function (Ito et al. 2006; Oh et al. 2014; Wang et al. 2019). In addition, alteration in gene expression is another factor of aging in stem cells. Moreover, the regulation of autophagy and protein homeostasis is essential for maintaining quiescence. In this context, overexpression of Atg7, which is involved in autophagy and the formation of autophagosomes, in satellite cells exhibited reduced senescence and restored regenerative capacity (Oh et al. 2014; García-Prat et al. 2016; Zhu et al. 2020). Further, heat shock protein 70 (HSP70), a chaperone protein and a key regulator of cellular defense, has a pivotal role in protecting tissues such as brain and skeletal muscle from aging and improving stem cell survival(Feng et al. 2014; Oh et al. 2014). In

addition, it preserved the number of satellite cells in muscles of the transgenic mice with overexpression of HSP70 after immobilization (Miyabara et al. 2012). Besides, overexpression of Satb1, which organizes chromatin, and it was reduced in aged HSCs, can partially enhance the lymphopoietic potential (Satoh et al. 2013; Wahlestedt et al. 2015; Zhu et al. 2020). Moreover, one of the causes of genetic instability is mobile DNA elements called retro transposons. L1 retro transposons are reported to have a role in aging and their activity can be repressed by SIRT6, suggesting a therapeutic approach for slowing down the aging process (Oh et al. 2014; Van Meter et al. 2014). Also, in intestinal stem cells (ISCs) the epithelial homeostasis can be improved by the overexpression of Piwi which can reduce the expression of the related retro transposons and decrease apoptosis and DNA damage (Sousa-Victor et al. 2017; Wang et al. 2019). Further, the expression of a protein kinase named Pim-1 increases due to injury as it has antiapoptotic and pro-proliferative actions, it can have a protective effect against myocardial infarction.Pim-1 expression in human cardiac progenitor cells (hCPCs) is decreased via aging (Kaur and Cai 2018). Accordingly, overexpression of Pim-1 in engineered hCPCs obtained from patients with heart failure and injected into the hearts of mice revealed enhanced cellular differentiation and engraftment, improved vasculature, and decreased infarct size (Mohsin et al. 2012). Besides, the other markers of aging in the heart are miRNAs as a post transcriptional regulation way .After myocardial infarction, the expression of miR-34 family increases, and inhibiting them improves systolic function, angiogenesis and increased Akt activity (Bernardo et al. 2012; Kaur and Cai 2018). In of addition, downregulation miR-29c in h BMMSCs could suppress p53-p21 and p18-pRB pathways resulting in inhibition of cellular senescence (Shang et al. 2016; Kaur and Cai 2018). It was reported that increased expression of miR-195deteriorates the regenerative ability of old BMMSCs since it targets and deactivates telomerase reverse transcriptase (Tert). Therefore, abrogating miR-195 contributes to Tert



Fig. 1 Rejuvenation strategies for different types of stem cells. There are different kinds of strategies for rejuvenating adult stem cells including genetic and epigenetic modifications, targeting signaling pathways, improving mitochondrial function, and altering the extrinsic factors. For instance, overexpression of Tet2 in old NSCs, prevents regenerative decline and improves neurogenesis. Some examples of these methods are shown in this figure (Torella et al. 2004; Ito et al. 2006; Haider et al. 2008; Chakkalakal et al. 2012; Florian et al. 2012; Miyabara et al. 2012; Elabd et al. 2014; Oh et al.

2014; Price et al. 2014; Sinha et al. 2014; Baht et al. 2015; Chang et al. 2015; Wahlestedt et al. 2015; Yousef et al. 2015; Zhu et al. 2015; García-Prat et al. 2016; Khatiwala and Cai 2016; Ahmed et al. 2017; Neves et al. 2017; Grezella et al. 2018; Grigoryan et al. 2018; Kaur and Cai 2018; Egerman and Glass 2019; Fafián-Labora et al. 2019; Lin et al. 2019; Lukjanenko et al. 2019; Wang et al. 2019; Zhu et al. 2019a; Muñoz-Cánoves et al. 2020; Sarkar et al. 2020; Wu et al. 2020) *MSCs* Mesenchymal stem cells, *BMMSCs* Bone marrow-derived MSCs, *HSCs* Hematopoietic stem cells, *NSCs* Neural stem cells, reactivation and re-lengthening of the telomere. In order to examine the functional effect, old MSCs with miR-195 inhibitors were transplanted into the infarcted heart of mice and caused improved cardiac function (left ventricular function) and reduced infarction size (Okada et al. 2016). Hence, miRNAs seem to be potential therapeutic targets for preventing aging, but more research is needed to find various related mechanisms in different stem cells. As was previously mentioned, reactivating telomerase or telomere lengthening can somehow reverse the senescent phenotype (Kaur and Cai 2018). Reactivating mouse telomerase RNA component (mTERC) in mice led to reverse neurodegeneration and neural stem cells restored their proliferative and neurogenic capacity (Jaskelioff et al. 2011; Oh et al. 2014; Wang et al. 2019). The shelterin complex is involved in the regulation of telomere length and its protection. Protection of telomeres1 (POT1) is one of the six subunit proteins of this complex and Pot1a in mice prevents DNA damage response (DDR) at telomeres. Pot1a is expressed higher in young HSCs and its overexpression increases the proliferative and self-renewal capacity. In addition, treating aged HSCs with exogenous Pot1a improved their activity and engraftment ability (Hosokawa et al. 2017; Wang et al. 2019). Recently, it was reported that curcumin increased the expression of Tert gene in ADSCs of rats. It improved the lifespan of stem cells and decreased the number of senescent cells and it had some antioxidant properties that can prevent oxidative stress- induced -apoptosis (Pirmoradi et al.

2018). Although upregulation of the telomeric pathway can be used in anti-aging mechanisms, it is also used by cancer cells. Therefore, it should be taken into account that such alterations in telomerase activity may result in malignancies and they should be studied and investigated more precisely (Oh et al. 2014).

4.2 Epigenetic Modification

The different epigenetic regulatory mechanisms such as DNA methylation and histone modification can alter the function of stem cells, their senescence, and their differentiation potential (Wang et al. 2019). For example, the expression of the gene homeobox A9(Hoxa9), a member of Hox genes that regulate stem cells during embryogenesis, is increased as a result of global and locus-specific changes in the epigenetic stress response in aged satellite cells. This overexpression induces senescence signaling pathways like JAK/STAT. Hereupon, deletion or inhibition of the Hoxa9 gene enhanced the myofiber regeneration in the injured muscle of aged mice, increased the regenerative capacity of aged satellite cells (Schwörer et al. 2016; Wang et al. 2019). Also, regarding the DNA demethylation, the level of the enzyme ten eleven translocation methylcytosine dioxygenase2 (Tet2), which catalysis the 5-hydroxymethylcytosine(5hmC) generation and regulates neurogenesis in NSCs and neural progenitor cells and neurogenic niche, is decreased in the aged hippocampus of mice. Hence, overexpression and

Fig. 1 (continued) *MuSCs* Skeletal muscle stem cells, *ADSC* Adipose tissue-derived MSCs, *CSCs* Cardiac stem cells, miR:micro RNA, *DMOG* Dimethyloxalyglycine, *ALK5* Activin receptor-like kinase 5, *TGF-β* Transforming growth factor β , *iPSCs* induced pluripotent stem cells, *POT1* Protection of telomeres1, *mTOR* Mammalian target of rapamycin, β 3-*AR* β 3-adreno receptor, *IGF1* Insulinlike growth factor 1, *mTERC* Mouse telomerase RNA component, Sirt Srtunin, *Tet2* Ten eleven translocation methylcytosine dioxygenase2, *NR* Nicotinamideriboside, *UPR^{mt}* Unfolded protein response, *LVCP* Lateral ventricle

choroid plexus, *BMP5* Bone morphogenic protein5, *GnRH* Gonadotropin releasing hormone, *GDF11* Growth differentiation factor 11, *HSP70* Heat shock protein 70, *FGF* Fibroblast growth factor, *spry1* Sprouty1, *MAPK* Mitogenactivated protein kinase, *JAK/STAT* Janus kinase and signal transducer and activator of transcription, *5*, *15 DPP* 5,15-diphenylporphirine, *DKK1* Dickkopf-1, *sFRP3* Soluble frizzled-related protein3, *WISP1* WNT1 inducible signaling pathway protein 1, *Tert* Telomerase reverse transcriptase, *Nrf2*:Nuclear factor erythroid2-related factor2, *CYGB* Cytoglobulin, *CoPP* Cobalt protoporphyrin

restoring Tet2 increased neurogenesis, prevented regenerative decline during aging, improved cognitive processes, and it seemed that it could promote rejuvenation via its associated hydroxymethylation (Schwörer et al. 2016, Wang et al. 2019). Another mechanism is histone modification in which acetylating histone tails results in a more open transcriptional state. Accordingly, the level of histone H4 lysine 16 acetylation (H4K16ac) was reported to be decreased during aging in HSCs. However, treatment with Casin which is a Rho GTPase cell division cycle52(Cdc42) inhibitor and it is mentioned in targeting signaling pathways, can restore the level and spatial distribution of H4K16ac in aged HSCs similar to young ones, accompanied by other rejuvenating functions (Florian et al. 2012; Wang et al. 2019; Zhu et al. 2020). Recently, it was found that other factors are also involved in histone modification of H4K16ac including chromosome 11 architecture which is affected by the nuclear envelope protein LaminA/C. Increasing Cdc42 activity is associated with repression of LaminA/ C, deficiency of which causes premature aging in HSCs. So, it was found that Casin treatment and reducing the Cdc42 activity resulted in restoring chromosome 11 architecture and regulating nuclear volume and shape (Grigoryan et al. 2018). Besides, another approach in epigenetic modification is the application of iPSCs which are generated directly from adult somatic cells reprogrammed and reached an embryonic stem cell (ESC)-like state (Wahlestedt et al. 2013, 2015; Ahmed et al. 2017). In another study, iPSCs from fibroblasts of patients with Hutchinson-Gilford progeria syndrome (HGPS), a premature aging disorder, were so similar to the control group and their differentiated cells could recapitulate disease progression (although not entirely). (Chen et al. 2017). Also, iPSCs were used in different studies in order to model agingassociated disorders like Parkinson's and Alzheimer's diseases (Ahmed et al. 2017). Overall, this technique seems beneficial, though the efficacy of it in comparison to other strategies should be evaluated.

4.3 Repressing the Levels of Cell Cycle Inhibitors

There are several cell cycle inhibitors including p16^{Ink4a}, p53/p21,and p19^{Arf} that can promote senescence by arresting the cell division.p16^{Ink4a} is involved in stem cell self-renewal in different tissues and its expression increased in aging in stem cells like HSCs, MuSCs, and NSCs (D'Arcangelo et al. 2017; Wang et al. 2019). Aged HSCs from p16^{Ink4a} knockout mice exhibited increased number and function, lower apoptosis frequency, and enhanced repopulation ability while deletion of p16^{Ink4a} in young mice decreased the repopulation ability (Janzen et al. 2006). Furthermore, geriatric satellite cells are not able to maintain a normal quiescent state and their regenerative ability is impaired. Silencing and depression of p16^{Ink4a} in old satellite cells can make them restore their quiescence and selfrenewal capacity (Sousa-Victor et al. 2014). Moreover, old p16^{Ink4a} deficient mice improved the decline in proliferation in the subventricular zone (SVZ) (but not in the dentate gyrus and enteric nervous system), neurogenesis in the olfactory bulb, and progenitors activity (Molofsky et al. 2006; Wang et al. 2019).Furthermore, Slug is a member of the zinc-finger transcription factors, which acts as a transcriptional repressor of p16. Recently, it was reported that skeletal muscles of slug deficient mice showed impaired regenerative potential, and its forced expression in cultured satellite cells led to suppressed expression of p16 and restored regenerative potential of satellite cells (Zhu et al. 2019b). Besides, it was found that ROS regulates the gene INK4 and autophagy reduced the p16 expression. Therefore, treatment with antioxidant or stimulating autophagy can repress INK4 locus and restore the regenerative capacity of satellite cells (García-Prat et al. 2016; Wang et al. 2019).

4.4 Targeting Signaling Pathways

Various signaling pathways are involved in stem cell functions and aging, so modulation of these pathways can enhance the repair system of stem cells and tissues (Wang et al. 2019). For instance, the p38 α/β MAPK pathway plays an important role in the proliferation capacity of satellite cells, their exit from quiescence, and their self-renewal. Over-activation of p38 α/β MAPK, which is seen in aged satellite cells compared to young cells, impairs self-renewal capacity and disrupts asymmetric divisions, while inhibiting $p38\alpha/\beta$ MAPK by a specific inhibitor molecule (SB203580, SB202190) enhances the engraftment potential and self-renewal ability of aged satellite cells in culture (Bernet et al. 2014; Cosgrove et al. 2014; Neves et al. 2017; Wang et al. 2019). It has also been demonstrated that increased P38MAPK activity is associated with NSC senescence in-vitro and in-vivo. P38MAPK pharmacological inhibition resulted in NSC rejuvenation, however, the role of p38 in NSC senescence is integrated with many molecular pathways such as Wnt signaling pathway, EGF or interactions with neurogenic niches (Moreno-Cugnon et al. 2020). It is estimated that P38 α is responsible for around 50% of P38MAPK activity. Genetic deletion of P38 α seems to reduce age-associated phenotype such as neuron-loss, neuro-inflammation, cognitive decline and NSC exhaustion (Moreno-Cugnon et al. 2019). Further, inhibition of JAK/ STAT-a cytokine receptor pathway that increases with age- by knocking down Jak2 or Stat3 or pharmacological intervention improves engraftment in ex-vivo and enhances regenerative capacity after intramuscular delivery of the drugs (Price et al. 2014; Wang et al. 2019; Muñoz-Cánoves et al. 2020). On the contrary, the regeneration of aged muscle impairs as a consequence of the decrease in Delta/Notch signaling, so Notch signaling stimulation restores the proliferative ability of satellite cells (Carlson et al. 2009; Wang et al. 2019). Moreover, the activity of the mTOR pathway is found to be increased in aged HSCs. Accordingly, using its inhibitor, rapamycin, reduced HSC numbers(that were increased due to aging) and improved the reconstitution potential and self-renewal capacity (Wahlestedt et al. 2015; Wang et al. 2019). Also, inhibiting mTORC1 in MuSCs and epithelium stem cells (intestine of the fly and the trachea of the mouse) by using genetic manipulation or rapamycin can prevent the stem cell loss during aging and repeated episodes of regeneration (Haller et al. 2017; Wang et al. 2019). During aging, Wnt signaling shifts from canonical to non-canonical as the expression Wnt5a which is associated with canonical signaling increases and Wnt5a haploinsufficiency in mice reduces aging in HSCs (Florian et al. 2013). On the other hand, the activity of Cdc42 which regulates cell polarity is elevated in aged HSCs and results in loss of polarity and reduced reconstitution capacity (Florian et al. 2012, Neves, Sousa-Victor et al. 2017). It was demonstrated that Wnt5a pathway is associated with Cdc42, so the activity of Cdc42 was reduced in Wnt5a knockdown aged HSCs, which led to increased frequency of polarized cells and rejuvenated the aged HSCs. In addition, using Casin prevented the aging-related differentiation skewing (the myeloid bias) in aged HSCs treated with Wnt5a (Florian et al. 2013; Wahlestedt et al. 2015).

4.5 Improving Mitochondrial Function and Targeting Oxidative Stress

Aging of stem cells is associated with a decline in mitochondrial function, so improving its function is a potential target for rejuvenation (Oh et al. 2014; Kaur and Cai 2018). Sirt3 is responsible for regulating the acetylation of mitochondrial proteins and its expression decreases by aging, so upregulation of sirt3 could enhance the regenerative potential of HSCs (Brown et al. 2013; Zhu et al. 2020). Also, SIRT3 is demonstrated to increase cell survival, decrease cell apoptosis, and enhance the antioxidant activity of hBMMSCs by increasing the expression of manganese superoxide dismutase (MnSOD) catalase (Wang et al. 2014). Studies have shown that cytoglobulin (CYGB) is associated with nitric oxide (NO) metabolism and mitochondrial respiration. It is reported that overexpression of CYGB in human cardiac stem/progenitor cells (hCPCs) enhances cell survival, decreases apoptosis and generation of ROS by upregulating the NFkB/ iNOS pathway and NO production. So, it provides a new target for the effectiveness and efficiency of hCPCs for therapeutic use (Zhang et al. 2016; Kaur and Cai 2018). Due to the importance of oxidative stress and toxic metabolites in the process of aging, different ways of targeting them have gained attention, some of which were mentioned. Further, melatonin was reported to inhibit the senescence of canine ADSCs and improved their survival and efficacy after transplantation through activating nuclear factor erythroid2-related factor2(Nrf2), which regulates many antioxidant and detoxification enzymes and inhibiting NF-kB pathway and endoplasmic reticulum stress(ERS) (Fafián-Labora et al. 2019; Wang et al. 2019). Caloric restriction (CR) is known to have a preventive effect on the onset of aging in different species and short-term CR was able to enhance satellite cell functionality through increased mitochondrial content and oxygen consumption. CR not only influences mitochondrial function, but also has other effects on different pathways and mechanisms in stem cells like modulating DNA damage, autophagy induction, and SIRT and AMPK pathways (Oh et al. 2014; Muñoz-Cánoves et al. 2020). Besides, NAD⁺is revealed to have a pivotal role in mitochondrial activity and SIRT1 is involved in its related pathway. Moreover, increasing the amount of NAD⁺ in NSCs from aged mice by treatment with its precursor nicotinamide riboside (NR) increased proliferation and neurogenesis in the SVZ and dentate gyrus (Oh et al. 2014; Zhang et al. 2016). In addition, NR treatment in MuSCs activates unfolded protein response (UPR^{mt}) and induces prohibition proteins that resulted in an improvement in mitochondrial function, homeostasis, and also preventing senescence of MuSCs in the Mdx mice (model of Duchenne muscular dystrophy) (Zhang et al. 2016). Moreover, it was proposed that NAD precursor supplementation in HSCs could improve the function of mitochondria probably through the SIRT1 pathway (Moon et al. 2018).

4.6 Pharmaceutical Administration

As previously stated, there are different pharmacological drugs used in preventing aging and stem cell senescence. For instance, rapamycin, which inactivates m-TOR, and Resveratrol that activate AMPK and increases mitochondrial function were used on CSCs from explanted decompensated hearts (E-CSCs) of patients and this combination led to restoring the capacity of the stem cells to improve myocardial healing, increased their reparative ability in-vivo in mice and reduced their senescence. Despite the side effects of rapamycin, which need further research, it can be used in order to avoid genetic modifications, which might have detrimental effects (Avolio et al. 2014; Kaur and Cai 2018). Additionally, rapamycin re-established proliferation and enhanced autophagy in old satellite cells (García-Prat et al. 2016). Another change in signaling pathways occurred in a study increasing WNT/β-catenin pathway in MSCs. BMMSCs from cardiovascular patients were isolated and they exhibited reduced WNT/ β –catenin signaling along with decreased proliferation and myogenic differentiation. Treating aged MSCs with lithium chloride caused recovered potential for myogenic differentiation as it increases the β -catenin bioavailability (Brunt et al. 2012; Kaur and Cai 2018). Moreover, Casin was said to be an inhibitor of Cdc42, so it can rejuvenate aged HSCs. Recently, it was demonstrated that aged HSCs treated with Casin reconstituted an immune system in T- and B- cell deficient RAG^{-/-} mice similar to young animals (Leins et al. 2018; Zhu et al. 2020). In addition to rejuvenating the activity of p38 MAPK inhibitor (SB203580) in satellite cells, it can reduce the ROS levels in HSCs, so it restored the repopulation capacity and maintained quiescence of HSCs (Ito et al. 2006; Zhu et al. 2020). Similarly, a cell penetrating peptide-conjugating peptide derived from Thioredoxin-interacting protein (TXNIP) named TN13, can inhibit p38 activity and it was able to rejuvenate aged HSCs in-vitro and in-vivo as well

as increasing their homing ability (Jung et al. 2016; Zhu et al. 2020). Besides, another strategy in pharmacological intervention is clearing the senescent cells. Accumulation of senescent cells and expression of the complex SASP change the microenvironment and causes the development of aging and its related diseases (Wang et al. 2019; Zhu et al. 2020). Therefore, suppressing SASP and using senolytic drugs can be a potential therapeutic approach (Kaur and Cai 2018; Wang et al. 2019). There are different senolytics which were used in animal models and they have been found successful in reducing senescent cells and alleviating many senescence-related phenotypes (Shetty et al. 2018). Accordingly, some of these drugs are reported to be useful in the depletion of aged stem cells (Wang et al. 2019). For instance, ABT263 which induces apoptosis by inhibiting the anti-apoptotic proteins BCL-2 and BCL-xl, was able to kill aged HSCs and MuSCs after oral administration in mice. This agent acts selectively on senescent stem cells and attenuated total-body irradiation (TBI) associated premature aging of HSCs and rejuvenated them and also resulted in improved function of remaining HSCs and MuSCs. However, it has some toxic side effects, which should be taken into account in further human and animal studies (Chang et al. 2015; Wang et al. 2019; Zhu et al. 2020). Lately, ABT263 was revealed to have senolytic effects on aged human BMMSCs and decreased SA- β -gal staining but did not have a positive effect on telomere length or epigenetic rejuvenation (Grezella et al. 2018). In addition, dasatinib(D) and querectin(Q) were administered orally in old mice reduced the number of aged BMMSCs by interfering with apoptosis pathways along with improvement in cardiac function, exercise capacity, and carotid vascular reactivity.Additionally, in-vitro studies exhibited the death of senescent human preadipocytes by D (Zhu et al. 2015; Kaur and Cai 2018). Moreover, rapamycin has senolytic effects by reducing the pro inflammatory phenotype of senescent cells. This concept seems promising and various drugs have shown therapeutic effects by eliminating senescent cells(not specifically stem cells) but further research is required (Grezella et al. 2018; Wang et al. 2019).

4.7 Extrinsic Strategies

4.7.1 Modification of Stem Cell Niche

Alteration of the stem cell environment, including vasculature, innervating neural fibers, ECM, immune, somatic and stromal cells have a pivotal role in the rejuvenation of the aged stem cells (Wang et al. 2019). There are different examples of intervening approaches for rejuvenation via manipulating stem cell niches, some of which are shown in Fig. 1. For instance, the lack of Lnk, an adaptor protein and negative regulator of HSC homeostasis, which reduces signals of extrinsic cytokines, enhanced the self-renewal capacity and prevented the aging- related lineage bias in mice (Bersenev et al. 2012; Wahlestedt et al. 2015). Similarly, knocking out the inflammatory cytokine Rantes/C-C motif chemokine ligand 5(Ccl5) resulted in decreased m TOR activity, increased lymphoid lineages and engraftment potential (Ergen et al. 2012; Wang et al. 2019). Besides, the sympathetic nervous system (SNS) regulates the function of HSCs and using a sympathomimetic (β3-adreno receptor (AR) agonist, BRL37344) as a supplementation was able to rejuvenate senescent HSCs in mice (Maryanovich et al. 2018; Zhu et al. 2020). Additionally, chronic treatment of progeroid mice with this agonist decreased premature myelopoiesis and restored the megakaryocyte-HSC interaction (promoting quiescence of HSCs) (Ho et al. 2019; Zhu et al. 2020). Since vessel formation in the niche is reduced during aging, overexpression of Notch signaling by inhibiting a p16-dependent pathway can restore the endothelial cells and prolong their lifespan. It can be a new target for treating aging- associated vascular disorders (Kaur and Cai 2018, Wang et al. 2019). A circulating factor involved in cardiac disease and its recovery is IGF-1 that is responsible for stem cell mobilization and angiogenesis and its overexpression in transgenic BMMSCs caused reduced cell apoptosis and improved engraftment in the infracted hearts of rats (Haider et al. 2008; Kaur and Cai 2018). Similarly, IGF-1 transgenic mice indicated increased nuclear phospho-AKt and telomerase activity and the overexpression of IGF-1 preserved CSCs and prevented their senescence (Torella et al. 2004). Regarding MuSCs aging, FGF-2 is known to be upregulated in the niche of aged satellites causing their depletion and diminished regenerative potential. So, inhibiting FGF signaling by overexpression of Sprouty1 (spry1) or inhibitory molecule can prevent this depletion (Chakkalakal et al. 2012; Wang et al. 2019). Moreover, it was found that the lateral ventricle choroid plexus (LVCP), a component of ventricular-subventricular zone (V-SVZ) and producer of CSF, is an important niche for NSCs during aging and affects their behavior. It has a role in colony formation and proliferation and its secreted factors like BMP5 and IGF-1 can improve the function of the aged NSCs, elucidating new insights into therapeutic approaches toward NSCs behavior (Silva-Vargas et al. 2016; Wang et al. 2019). Another factor in the stem cell niche is the oxygen level. It is reported that expansion of hCSCs in hypoxia led to improved engraftment in infarcted hearts in mice and culturing MSCs under hypoxic conditions is beneficial as it is similar to the physiologic condition of the bone marrow (Hu et al. 2008; Kaur and Cai 2018).

4.7.2 Modification of Systemic Environment

Not only is the stem cell niche altered during aging, but also circulatory signals, including hormones, secreted molecules from different tissues and immune cells are changed and change the function of stem cells (Oh et al. 2014; Wang et al. 2019). In contrast to Wnt signaling in the myogenic differentiation potential of MSCs, it can induce aging in MSCs by activating ROS and in satellite cells, canonical Wnt signaling can antagonize Notch signaling (Zhang et al. 2013a; Kaur and Cai 2018; Wang et al. 2019). So, injecting and incubating Wnt inhibitors, Dickkopf-1(DKK1), and soluble frizzled-related protein (sFRP3) caused reduced fibrosis and enhanced muscle regeneration in aged mice (Brack et al. 2007; Wang et al. 2019). On the other hand, fibro-adipogenicprogenitors (FAPs), a regulatory cell in MuSC niche, is impaired during aging and the secretion of the FAP-derived matricellular protein WNT1 inducible signaling pathway protein 1(WISP1) is reduced. Recently, systemic treatment with WISP1 was able to rescue skeletal muscle regeneration and restore the myogenic potential and function of MuSCs in old mice (Lukjanenko et al. 2019; Muñoz-Cánoves et al. 2020). Additionally, IkB kinase-b (IKKb)/Nf-kB have a role in the hypothalamus- developed -aging and they inhibit gonadotropin releasing hormone (GnRH). Therefore, in order to improve neurogenesis and cognitive ability, systemic treatment with GnRH, as a potential strategy, could decelerate aging (Zhang et al. 2013b; Wang et al. 2019). Intriguingly, oxytocin was reported to be beneficial and required for regeneration and homeostasis of muscle tissue. The plasma levels of this hormone and its receptor on MuSCs decline with age that reduces muscle regeneration. Accordingly, systemic administration of oxytocin can enhance the proliferation and myogenesis of MuSCs via activating MAPK/ERK pathway and it might be a potentially safe treatment for maintaining aged muscles and prevent aging (Elabd et al. 2014; Wang et al. 2019). Moreover, there are controversial data about the effects of circulating protein growth differentiation factor 11(GDF11), one of the members of the TGF- β family, the systemic level of which declines during aging. Injecting recombinant GDF11 in aged mice could increase the number of satellite cells and their regenerative capacity in addition to enhancing autophagy and improving exercise endurance (Sinha et al. 2014; Wang et al. 2019). However, several studies have reported a negative effect of GDF11 on satellite cells and muscle regeneration including inhibited differentiation of MuSCs and their reduced population, increased fibrosis, and wasting of skeletal muscle. Also, there are similar opposite findings of the GDF11effect on bone and cardiac muscle, so more studies are needed to find out the exact role of this factor on aging and its associated complications (Egerman and Glass 2019, Wang et al. 2019). On the other hand, data on the

injection of recombinant GDF11 have shown beneficial effects on neurogenesis and angiogenesis in old mice as a rejuvenating factor (Rochette and Malka 2019; Wang et al. 2019). An interesting approach in the category of systemic modulation is parabiosis which is about the anatomical joining of two animals. Heterochronic parabiosis is an experiment in which an old tissue is exposed to a young systemic environment (for instance a young and old mice are surgically linked) through creating a conjoined and shared blood circulation (Oh et al. 2014; Sinha et al. 2014; Ahmed et al. 2017; Kaur and Cai 2018). The signals from a young circulation influence the aging tissue and example, its function. for heterochronic parabioses in mice could upregulate Notch signaling and restore satellite cell activation (Sinha et al. 2014; Kaur and Cai 2018). Conboy et al. reported that parabiotic pairing between young and old mice increases the proliferation and regeneration rate in old mice both in-vitro and in-vivo. They established parabioisis between young and old mice (heterochronic parabiosis), two young mice and tow old ones. The muscle of their hindlimbs was injured and it was revealed that in contrast to old isochronic prabiosis, heterochronic parabiosis enhanced the regeneration of muscle in aged mice which was mainly doe to the activation resident progenitor cells of the old mice. Also, in heterochronic parabiosis the Notch ligand Delta was upregulated in aged satellite cells. Similarly, the aged satellite cells cultured in the presence of young mouse serum shoed up regulated Delta expression and enhanced proliferation (Conboy et al. 2005). Further, adult stem cells in the CNS produce new myelin sheaths as a regenerative process, which declines with aging. Heterochronic parabiosis in mice indicated that the remyelination was enhanced in old mice in addition to restored neurogenesis of aged stem cells (Katsimpardi et al. 2014; Oh et al. 2014; Ahmed et al. 2017). It should be mentioned that despite the promising outcomes, due to ambiguous and indefinite known effects of some factors like GDF11, this method is not completely safe and beneficial (Ahmed et al. 2017, Kaur and Cai 2018). Besides, prolonged fasting can protect cells from toxins and toxicity in mice and humans. In addition, it was demonstrated that it can rejuvenate HSCs since it reduced the circulating level of IGF-1 and activity of protein kinase A (PKA). Hence, it could promote self-renewal and increase lymphoid-biased lineage (Cheng et al. 2014; Wahlestedt et al. 2015; Zhu et al. 2020). Preconditioning is another way to improve survival and proliferation of stem cells after transplantation (especially for myocardial repair) and to provide a basis to prevent their senescence (Khatiwala and Cai 2016). It can be induced by pharmacological intervention, using anti-aging compounds and their associated molecular modification and in-vitro hypoxic shock. As it was mentioned before, hypoxia is beneficial for cell therapy to treat infracted heart. Preconditioning MSCs with hypoxia increased the expression of anti-apoptotic (Bcl-2) and pro-survival (NF- κ B) proteins and enhanced angiogenesis after transplantation in the infarcted heart (Hu et al. 2008; Khatiwala and Cai 2016; Kaur and Cai 2018). Moreover, preconditioning of hCSCs with cobalt protoporphyrin (CoPP), which induces heme oxygenase-1(HO-1) and causes cellular protection, increased their survival, proliferation, and resistance to stress-induced apoptosis (Kaur and Cai 2018). Further, prolyl1 hydroxylase enzymes activate the pro-apoptotic pathways. Hence, using pharmacological agent Dimethyloxalyglycine (DMOG) for preconditioning BMMSCs resulted in increased cell survival, reduced infarct size, and enhanced cardiac function after transplantation into infarcted hearts of rats, mimicking the effects of hypoxia (Liu et al. 2014; Khatiwala and Cai 2016). A brief summary of these strategies and some other examples of each rejuvenation mechanism are exhibited in Fig. 1.

4.8 Cellular Reprogramming

Somatic cell nuclear transfer (SCNT) revealed that somatic cells could reacquire pluripotency and thus reverse all differentiation and age-associated characteristics. This method required somatic nucleus implantation in an enucleated oocyte. The molecular factors initiating and affecting the differentiation process in this method are not fully understood (Han et al. 2015). The recent introduction of reprogramming factors facilitated the process of dedifferentiation and led to deriving iPSC from senescent somatic cells. It was proposed that reprogramming aged somatic or stem cells into iPSCs could reset the aging- related memory (Oh et al. 2014). For instance, hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells (HSPCs) were reprogrammed into iPSCs and then redifferentiated to HSCs via blastocyst complementation. The iPCS-derived HSCs exhibited young functional characteristics and did not resemble aged HSCs (Wahlestedt et al. 2013; Wahlestedt et al. 2015). IPSCs can be re-differentiated into young somatic cells that have lost the senescent phenotype (Takahashi and Yamanaka 2006; Singh and Newman 2018). The first, introduced reprogramming factors were Yamanaka factors or OSKM (Oct4, Sox2,Klf4, c-Myc), since then, more specific reprogramming factors have been introduced like NKx3 or Gata4, Mef2c, Tbx5 (GMT) for cardiomyocytes (Mai et al. 2018; Tani et al. 2018). In these methods, both age reprogramming and developmental reprogramming occur concomitantly. Partial reprogramming is a method in which the induction stops when cells are rejuvenated while still possessing their specialized phenotype and before the expression of pluripotency associated features (point of no return). In partial reprogramming epigenetic rejuvenation is the first step, preceding dedifferentiation. The most accurate indicator of rejuvenation in partial reprogramming is called the epigenetic clock that is based on the level of cytosine methylation at 353 CpG sites. With the transient cyclic induction of reprogramming factors in partial reprogramming senescenceassociated gene expressions, DNA damage markers and ROS levels decrease without dedifferentiation, teratoma formation or iPCS detection (Mendelsohn et al. 2017). Since the introduction of partial reprogramming method, it has been implanted to rejuvenate senescent cells in-vivo, identifying stages of differentiation and directly reprogramming somatic cells into other differentiated cell types, bypassing the pluripotent stage (Tani et al. 2018; Hsu et al. 2019; Jasper

2020). Although, this method has not been as abundantly experimented in the field of senescent stem cell rejuvenation. Somatic aging stem cells can also be targeted for partial reprogramming and rejuvenation. The implantation of partial reprogramming on mouse-derived skeletal muscle stem cells improved the cells' myogenic potential and ability to differentiate into myotubes and improved single cell's ability to form colonies. Transient reprogramming also reduced the time of the first division and mitochondrial mass without any effect on the myogenic marker (MyoD) and the myogenic fate of stem cells. Rejuvenated stem cells showed higher potency to regenerate new tissue post-transplantation compared to aged stem cells and their regenerative potency was equal to young stem cells. Rejuvenated stem cells also produced a higher number of myofibers compared to aged stem cells and had higher cross-sectional area, even compared to the young untreated stem cells. No neoplastic lesions or teratomas were discovered on a three-month follow-up biopsy. On a second artificial injury, 60 days post-transplantation, rejuvenated stem cells still produced better results than both aged and young stem cells. These results revealed a new method to rejuvenate senescent stem cells and enhance their regeneration potential (Sarkar et al. 2020). Cyclic in-vivo induction of reprogramming factors can induce expansion in muscle stem cells of old mice and improve muscle regeneration after injury (Ocampo et al. 2016).

5 Stem Cells' Potential to Model and Study Aging

Whether we consider aging an independent disease per se or a risk factor for most comorbidities, in all approaches to aging, the root cause is biological and molecular mechanisms that lead to cellular dysfunction and consequently to the associated diseases. Thus modeling aging in stem cells can significantly contribute to our understanding of cellular mechanisms of aging (Stern 2012; Costantino et al. 2016; Soenen et al. 2016; Fulop et al. 2019; Hou et al. 2019; Sarbacher and Halper 2019). Different animal model organisms have been used in order to discover cellular aging mechanisms. Studies on rodent models have led to great discoveries on aging mechanism and possible preventive interventions. The effects of calorie restriction on aging and different mutations associated with longevity like the mutation in DNA helicase Wrn., that causes premature aging, have been studied on mice (Lombard et al. 2000). The relatively short lifespan of mice (compared to human), convenience of environmental control and low cost maintenance are the advantages of rodent models, however, since different strains show different prevalence of pathologies and lifespan, choosing the most suitable rodent models for each study is still a major obstacle. Furthermore, since these studies are usually conducted on a single strain, the results may not be fully representative of human population (Mitchell et al. 2015). Non-human primates have also been used to model and study aging. Their similarity to humans on many levels is an undeniable advantage; however, long lifespan, complicated and expensive maintenance, lower reproduction rate and potential of aggressive behavior are all drawbacks in using non-human primates as models to study aging (Mitchell et al. 2015). Fish, including several fish and killifish, have also been used to study aging. Short lifespan and high reproductive rate along with low cost maintenance are the advantages of using fish as animal models. Zebra fish has an exceptional regenerative potential that makes it an ideal model for regenerative experiments (Gut et al. 2017). There are also invertebrate models of aging which are mainly used in preclinical development of anti-aging drugs. C.elegans are mostly used in studying neurodegenerative and metabolic aspects of aging, since genes and pathways involved in neurological and metabolic disorders in humans have orthologues in C.elegans. The effects of anti-aging drugs such as Metformin and Rapamycin have been studied and on invertebrate animal models such as Drosophila Melanogaster (Folch et al. 2018). While studying aging in animal models provides invaluable information on systematic and cellular pathways of aging, there are still questions about molecular factors that induce aging, the relationship between systematic, cellular and nuclear aging, the rule of stem cell aging in the aging phenomenon as well as tissue specific ageing mechanisms. Answers to these questions are much easier and reliable found in using stem cells to model and study aging. Each tissue has its own reserve of stem cells, which are aging along with the rest of the cells. Since stem cell function is vital in tissue regeneration and longevity potential, discovering stem cell-specific pathways of aging can lead to preventing stem cell aging and therefore increase tissue's longevity. The study of tissue-specific aging is now possible, since the reprogramming method gives us a tool to produce tissues and model aging faster, easier and more precise than animal modeling. By using iPSCs we can simulate aging in any tissue and thus study molecular factors and biological pathways along with treatment strategies (Brunauer et al. 2017). Both neurodegenerative disorders and cognitive reserve decline are most prevalently associated with aging. With the iPSCs derived from human donors, studies so far have been able to discover numerous key features of neurodegenerative disorders, although, since iPSCs-derived neural cells have lost disease and aging-specific characteristics and need stressors to induce disease specific phenotype (Mertens et al. 2015). Direct reprogramming is a new method that facilitates studying aging on stem cell models with direct conversion of one specific cell type to another without going through the pluripotent state and thus; conserving aging characteristics such as accumulation of age-related DNA mutations, protein damage, mitochondrial nuclear and protein damage and epigenetic markers of aging (Chow and Herrup 2015; Mertens et al. 2015; Huh et al. 2016). Different methods have been experienced to induce direct reprogramming such as specific transcription factors and micro RNAs to convert the cells into any specific cell type (Yoo et al. 2011; Li et al. 2015; Mertens et al. 2018). The biggest obstacle in using stem cell direct reprogramming to model aging associated diseases is the high cost of this method (Mertens et al. 2018). Direct reprogramming of

fibroblast cells into cardiac cells have led to the discovery of many small molecules for direct cardiac reprogramming, including micro-RNAs that induce cardiac reprogramming both in-vivo and in-vitro. In this approach microRNA1, 133, 208 and 199 can induce direct reprogramming to cardiomyocytes in fibroblasts in-vitro. The significance of this method is microRNAs that administration of into ischemic cardiomyocytes leads to direct cardiac reprogramming in-vivo in mouse models (Jayawardena et al. 2012). Neurons derived from human fibroblasts with Alzheimer's show increased levels of AB 42, 38 and Tau levels, indicating that direct reprogramming can be used to generate mutation-specific neural cells for different diseases and use them to study disease mechanisms and drug discovery (Mitchell et al. 2015). Direct reprogramming has also been used to convert astrocytes and polydendrocytes into functional neurons in-vivo for brain injury with the help of retrovirus encoding Neuro-D1, a pro-neural transcription factor (Guo et al. 2014). These results elucidate the potential stem cell modeling has for modeling age-related diseases in-vitro to study their underlying mechanisms, explore reprogramming techniques and drug discovery. Afterwards, these information, techniques, specific transcription factor and small molecules can be used to treat diseases in-vivo (Traxler et al. 2019).

6 Conclusion

Aging is characterized by functional and regenerative potential decline tissue that could be partly due to stem cell aging. This phenomenon can be the underlying cause of many aging-related and degenerative disorders such as Alzheimer's. Aging and stem cell dysfunction are codependent, aging impairs stem cell's function and impaired stem cell function contributes to aging. Therefore, using stem cells to model and study aging-related disorders like Alzheimer's, can pave the way for discovering etiologies and develop more effective therapies for each etiology. Stem cells can also be used to generate cerebral organoids that mimic the brain structure and study all aspects of Alzheimer's (Machairaki 2020). Concerning cell-extrinsic and intrinsic pathways of aging, many molecular factors and genes have been identified. In addition to different animal models of aging, stem cells can be used as a helpful model per se, for instance using induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) for neurodegenerative disorders due to their replicative and therapeutic capacities and stimulating aging to study the mechanisms, have led to understanding many important features of aging and the related diseases (Oh et al. 2014; Ahmed et al. 2017; Brunauer et al. 2017; Mertens et al. 2018; Ziff and Patani 2019). Using stem cells to model aging will solve many obstacles in animal models of aging, especially the debate of whether or not these results can be generalized to humans; however, the biggest problem in developing stem cell models of aging is the cost. Besides, a new method direct called reprogramming is introduced for modeling aging in stem cells, in which cells can be converted into another cell type without passing through the pluripotent stage while the age-related characteristics are maintained (Yoo et al. 2011; Li et al. 2015; Mertens et al. 2015). Although these techniques have some disadvantages, they are considered beneficial for answering the questions of aging mechanisms and can contribute to developing rejuvenation strategies both in-vivo and in-vitro (Mertens et al. 2018). Moreover, there are several proposed approaches in order to reverse the aging process or to treat the aging of stem cells including alteration of the tissue environment, telomere lengthening, different pharmacological interventions, cellular reprogramming and an emerging of age reprogramming (partial reprogramming) which is rejuvenating the old cells without de-differentiation (Ahmed et al. 2017; Shetty et al. 2018; Singh and Newman 2018; Wang et al. 2019). In this review, several kinds of pathophysiology and mechanisms of stem cell aging, their potential for studying aging and the anti-aging approaches along with the difference between aging of stem cells in different tissues and some examples of targeting aging n novel therapies were discussed. Based on

the studies reviewed in this paper, it seems that using stem cells in modeling aging and agingrelated disease and developing mutation-based therapies holds a lot of promise for discovering new treatment strategies. Using partial reprogramming technique as a novel strategy to rejuvenate stem cells can pave the way for new aging therapies.

Conflict of Interest There is no conflict of interest.

Ethical Approval This article does not contain any studies with human participants or animals performed by any of the authors.

Author Contribution Statements Najmeh Foroughi Heravani and Setareh Alaei wrote the first draft. Mostafa Rezaei-Tavirani, Akram Tayanloo-Beik, Hamid Reza Aghayan, and Parisa Goodarzi helped to study and gather information. Moloud Payab and Sepideh Alavi-Moghadam extensively edited the manuscript. Bagher Larijani participated in a critical review. Babak Arjmand helped supervise the project and gave final approval of the version to be published.

Funding This article received no specific grant from any funding agency.

References

- Adelman ER, Huang HT, Roisman A, Olsson A, Colaprico A, Qin T, Lindsley RC, Bejar R, Salomonis N, Grimes HL, Figueroa ME (2019) Aging human hematopoietic stem cells manifest profound epigenetic reprogramming of enhancers that may predispose to leukemia. Cancer Discov 9 (8):1080–1101
- Ahmed ASI, Sheng MH, Wasnik S, Baylink DJ, Lau K-HW (2017) Effect of aging on stem cells. World J Exp Med 7(1):1–10
- Alicka M, Kornicka-Garbowska K, Kucharczyk K, Kępska M, Röcken M, Marycz K (2020) Age-dependent impairment of adipose-derived stem cells isolated from horses. Stem Cell Res Ther 11
- Álvarez-Satta M, Moreno-Cugnon L, Matheu A (2019) Primary cilium and brain aging: role in neural stem cells, neurodegenerative diseases and glioblastoma. Ageing Res Rev 52:53–63
- Anversa P, Rota M, Urbanek K, Hosoda T, Sonnenblick EH, Leri A, Kajstura J, Bolli R (2005) Myocardial aging–a stem cell problem. Basic Res Cardiol 100 (6):482–493

- Arjmand B, Goodarzi P, Mohamadi-Jahani F, Falahzadeh K, Larijani B (2017) Personalized regenerative medicine. Acta Med Iran 55(3):144–149
- Arjmand B, Goodarzi P, Aghayan HR, Payab M, Rahim F, Alavi-Moghadam S, Mohamadi-Jahani F, Larijani B (2019) Co-transplantation of human fetal mesenchymal and hematopoietic stem cells in type 1 diabetic mice model. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne) 10:761
- Arjmand B, Sarvari M, Alavi-Moghadam S, Payab M, Goodarzi P, Gilany K, Mehrdad N, Larijani B (2020) Prospect of stem cell therapy and regenerative medicine in osteoporosis. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne) 11:430
- Audesse AJ, Webb AE (2020) Mechanisms of enhanced quiescence in neural stem cell aging. Mech Ageing Dev 191:111323
- Avolio E, Gianfranceschi G, Cesselli D, Caragnano A, Athanasakis E, Katare R, Meloni M, Palma A, Barchiesi A, Vascotto C, Toffoletto B, Mazzega E, Finato N, Aresu G, Livi U, Emanueli C, Scoles G, Beltrami CA, Madeddu P, Beltrami AP (2014) Ex vivo molecular rejuvenation improves the therapeutic activity of senescent human cardiac stem cells in a mouse model of myocardial infarction. Stem Cells 32(9):2373–2385
- Baht GS, Silkstone D, Vi L, Nadesan P, Amani Y, Whetstone H, Wei Q, Alman BA (2015) Exposure to a youthful circulation rejuvenates bone repair through modulation of β-catenin. Nat Commun 6(1):7131
- Baradaran-Rafii A, Sarvari M, Alavi-Moghadam S, Payab M, Goodarzi P, Aghayan HR, Larijani B, Rezaei-Tavirani M, Biglar M, Arjmand B (2020) Cell-based approaches towards treating age-related macular degeneration. Cell Tissue Bank 21 (3):339–347
- Barber PJ, Wilson BJ (1980) Microsomal conversion of SKF 525-a and SKF 8742-a. Biochem Pharmacol 29 (19):2577–2582
- Beane OS, Fonseca VC, Cooper LL, Koren G, Darling EM (2014) Impact of aging on the regenerative properties of bone marrow-, muscle-, and adipose-derived mesenchymal stem/stromal cells. PLoS One 9(12): e115963–e115963
- Bernardo BC, Gao X-M, Winbanks CE, Boey EJH, Tham YK, Kiriazis H, Gregorevic P, Obad S, Kauppinen S, Du X-J, Lin RCY, McMullen JR (2012) Therapeutic inhibition of the miR-34 family attenuates pathological cardiac remodeling and improves heart function. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 109(43):17615–17620
- Bernet JD, Doles JD, Hall JK, Kelly Tanaka K, Carter TA, Olwin BB (2014) p38 MAPK signaling underlies a cell-autonomous loss of stem cell self-renewal in skeletal muscle of aged mice. Nat Med 20(3):265–271
- Bersenev A, Rozenova K, Balcerek J, Jiang J, Wu C, Tong W (2012) Lnk deficiency partially mitigates hematopoietic stem cell aging. Aging Cell 11 (6):949–959
- Bjerrum OW, Borregaard N (1989) Dual granule localization of the dormant NADPH oxidase and cytochrome

b559 in human neutrophils. Eur J Haematol 43 (1):67–77

- Brack AS, Conboy MJ, Roy S, Lee M, Kuo CJ, Keller C, Rando TA (2007) Increased Wnt signaling during aging alters muscle stem cell fate and increases fibrosis. Science 317(5839):807–810
- Brown K, Xie S, Qiu X, Mohrin M, Shin J, Liu Y, Zhang D, Scadden D, Chen D (2013) SIRT3 reverses aging-associated degeneration. Cell Rep
- Brunauer R, Alavez S, Kennedy BK (2017) Stem cell models: a guide to understand and mitigate aging? Gerontology 63(1):84–90
- Brunt KR, Zhang Y, Mihic A, Li M, Li S-H, Xue P, Zhang W, Basmaji S, Tsang K, Weisel RD, Yau TM, Li R-K (2012) Role of WNT/β-catenin signaling in rejuvenating myogenic differentiation of aged mesenchymal stem cells from cardiac patients. Am J Pathol 181(6):2067–2078
- Burtner CR, Kennedy BK (2010) Progeria syndromes and ageing: what is the connection? Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 11(8):567–578
- Carlson ME, Suetta C, Conboy MJ, Aagaard P, Mackey A, Kjaer M, Conboy I (2009) Molecular aging and rejuvenation of human muscle stem cells. EMBO Mol Med 1(8–9):381–391
- Cesselli D, Beltrami AP, D'Aurizio F, Marcon P, Bergamin N, Toffoletto B, Pandolfi M, Puppato E, Marino L, Signore S, Livi U, Verardo R, Piazza S, Marchionni L, Fiorini C, Schneider C, Hosoda T, Rota M, Kajstura J, Anversa P, Beltrami CA, Leri A (2011) Effects of age and heart failure on human cardiac stem cell function. Am J Pathol 179(1):349–366
- Cesselli D, Aleksova A, Sponga S, Cervellin C, Di Loreto C, Tell G, Beltrami AP (2017) Cardiac cell senescence and redox signaling. Front Cardiovasc Med 4:38
- Cesselli D, Aleksova A, Mazzega E, Caragnano A, Beltrami AP (2018) Cardiac stem cell aging and heart failure. Pharmacol Res 127:26–32
- Chakkalakal JV, Jones KM, Basson MA, Brack AS (2012) The aged niche disrupts muscle stem cell quiescence. Nature 490(7420):355–360
- Chambers SM, Shaw CA, Gatza C, Fisk CJ, Donehower LA, Goodell MA (2007) Aging hematopoietic stem cells decline in function and exhibit epigenetic dysregulation. PLoS Biol 5(8):e201
- Chang J, Wang Y, Shao L, Laberge R-M, Demaria M, Campisi J, Krishnamurthy J, Sharpless N, Ding S, Feng W, Luo Y, Wang X, Aykin-Burns N, Krager K, Ponnappan U, Hauer-Jensen M, Meng A, Zhou D (2015) Clearance of senescent cells by ABT263 rejuvenates aged hematopoietic stem cells in mice. Nat Med 22
- Chen J, He J, Li L, Yang D, Luo L (2016) Cyp2aa9 regulates haematopoietic stem cell development in zebrafish. Sci Rep 6:26608
- Chen Z, Chang WY, Etheridge A, Strickfaden H, Jin Z, Palidwor G, Cho JH, Wang K, Kwon SY, Doré C, Raymond A, Hotta A, Ellis J, Kandel RA, Dilworth

FJ, Perkins TJ, Hendzel MJ, Galas DJ, Stanford WL (2017) Reprogramming progeria fibroblasts re-establishes a normal epigenetic landscape. Aging Cell 16(4):870–887

- Cheng C-W, Adams GB, Perin L, Wei M, Zhou X, Lam BS, Da Sacco S, Mirisola M, Quinn DI, Dorff TB, Kopchick JJ, Longo VD (2014) Prolonged fasting reduces IGF-1/PKA to promote hematopoietic-stemcell-based regeneration and reverse immunosuppression. Cell Stem Cell 14(6):810–823
- Chow HM, Herrup K (2015) Genomic integrity and the ageing brain. Nat Rev Neurosci 16(11):672–684
- Cianflone E, Torella M, Chimenti C, De Angelis A, Beltrami AP, Urbanek K, Rota M, Torella D (2019) Adult cardiac stem cell aging: a reversible stochastic phenomenon? Oxidative Med Cell Longev 2019 (5813147)
- Cianflone E, Torella M, Biamonte F, De Angelis A, Urbanek K, Costanzo FS, Rota M, Ellison-Hughes GM, Torella D (2020) Targeting cardiac stem cell senescence to treat cardiac aging and disease. Cell 9 (6):1558
- Conboy IM, Conboy MJ, Wagers AJ, Girma ER, Weissman IL, Rando TA (2005) Rejuvenation of aged progenitor cells by exposure to a young systemic environment. Nature 433(7027):760–764
- Conover JC, Todd KL (2017) Development and aging of a brain neural stem cell niche. Exp Gerontol 94:9–13
- Cosgrove BD, Gilbert PM, Porpiglia E, Mourkioti F, Lee SP, Corbel SY, Llewellyn ME, Delp SL, Blau HM (2014) Rejuvenation of the muscle stem cell population restores strength to injured aged muscles. Nat Med 20(3):255–264
- Costantino S, Paneni F, Cosentino F (2016) Ageing, metabolism and cardiovascular disease. J Physiol 594 (8):2061–2073
- D'Arcangelo D, Tinaburri L, Dellambra E (2017) The role of p16(INK4a) pathway in human epidermal stem cell self-renewal, aging and Cancer. Int J Mol Sci 18(7)
- Dai D-F, Chen T, Johnson SC, Szeto H, Rabinovitch PS (2012) Cardiac aging: from molecular mechanisms to significance in human health and disease. Antioxid Redox Signal 16(12):1492–1526
- Daniele S, Da Pozzo E, Iofrida C, Martini C (2016) Human neural stem cell ageing is counteracted by α -glyceryl-phosphoryl-ethanolamine. ACS Chem Neurosci 7
- de Haan G, Lazare SS (2018) Aging of hematopoietic stem cells. Blood 131(5):479–487
- Dulken BW, Buckley MT, Navarro Negredo P, Saligrama N, Cayrol R, Leeman DS, George BM, Boutet SC, Hebestreit K, Pluvinage JV, Wyss-Coray T, Weissman IL, Vogel H, Davis MM, Brunet A (2019) Single-cell analysis reveals T cell infiltration in old neurogenic niches. Nature 571(7764):205–210
- Egerman MA, Glass DJ (2019) The role of GDF11 in aging and skeletal muscle, cardiac and bone homeostasis. Crit Rev Biochem Mol Biol 54(2):174–183

- Elabd C, Cousin W, Upadhyayula P, Chen RY, Chooljian MS, Li J, Kung S, Jiang KP, Conboy IM (2014) Oxytocin is an age-specific circulating hormone that is necessary for muscle maintenance and regeneration. Nat Commun 5(1):4082
- Elmansi AM, Hussein KA, Herrero SM, Periyasamy-Thandavan S, Aguilar-Pérez A, Kondrikova G, Kondrikov D, Eisa NH, Pierce JL, Kaiser H, Ding KH, Walker AL, Jiang X, Bollag WB, Elsalanty M, Zhong Q, Shi XM, Su Y, Johnson M, Hunter M, Reitman C, Volkman BF, Hamrick MW, Isales CM, Fulzele S, McGee-Lawrence ME, Hill WD (2020) Age-related increase of kynurenine enhances miR29b-1-5p to decrease both CXCL12 signaling and the epigenetic enzyme Hdac3 in bone marrow stromal cells. Bone Rep 12:100270
- Ergen AV, Boles NC, Goodell MA (2012) Rantes/Ccl5 influences hematopoietic stem cell subtypes and causes myeloid skewing. Blood 119(11):2500–2509
- Fafián-Labora JA, Morente-López M, Arufe MC (2019) Effect of aging on behaviour of mesenchymal stem cells. World J Stem Cells 11(6):337–346
- Fei D, Zhang Y, Wu J, Zhang H, Liu A, He X, Wang J, Li B, Wang Q, Jin Y (2019) Ca(v) 1.2 regulates osteogenesis of bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells via canonical Wnt pathway in age-related osteoporosis. Aging Cell 18(4):e12967
- Feng Y, Huang W, Meng W, Jegga AG, Wang Y, Cai W, Kim HW, Pasha Z, Wen Z, Rao F, Modi RM, Yu X, Ashraf M (2014) Heat shock improves Sca-1+ stem cell survival and directs ischemic cardiomyocytes toward a prosurvival phenotype via exosomal transfer: a critical role for HSF1/miR-34a/HSP70 pathway. Stem Cells 32(2):462–472
- Florian MC, Dörr K, Niebel A, Daria D, Schrezenmeier H, Rojewski M, Filippi MD, Hasenberg A, Gunzer M, Scharffetter-Kochanek K, Zheng Y, Geiger H (2012) Cdc42 activity regulates hematopoietic stem cell aging and rejuvenation. Cell Stem Cell 10(5):520–530
- Florian MC, Nattamai KJ, Dörr K, Marka G, Uberle B, Vas V, Eckl C, Andrä I, Schiemann M, Oostendorp RA, Scharffetter-Kochanek K, Kestler HA, Zheng Y, Geiger H (2013) A canonical to non-canonical Wnt signalling switch in haematopoietic stem-cell ageing. Nature 503(7476):392–396
- Folch J, Busquets O, Ettcheto M, Sánchez-López E, Pallàs M, Beas-Zarate C, Marin M, Casadesus G, Olloquequi J, Auladell C, Camins A (2018) Experimental models for aging and their potential for novel drug discovery. Curr Neuropharmacol 16 (10):1466–1483
- Fulop T, Larbi A, Khalil A, Cohen AA, Witkowski JM (2019) Are We Ill Because We Age? Front Physiol 10:1508
- Ganguly P, El-Jawhari JJ, Burska AN, Ponchel F, Giannoudis PV, Jones EA (2019) The analysis of in vivo aging in human bone marrow mesenchymal stromal cells using Colony-forming unit-fibroblast

assay and the CD45(low)CD271(+) phenotype. Stem Cells Int 2019(5197983)

- García-Prat L, Sousa-Victor P, Muñoz-Cánoves P (2013) Functional dysregulation of stem cells during aging: a focus on skeletal muscle stem cells. FEBS J 280 (17):4051–4062
- García-Prat L, Martinez-Vicente M, Perdiguero E, Ortet L, Rodríguez-Ubreva J, Rebollo E, Ruiz-Bonilla V, Gutarra S, Ballestar E, Serrano A, Sandri M, Muñoz-Cánoves P (2016) Autophagy maintains stemness by preventing senescence. Nature 534
- Goodarzi P, Aghayan HR, Larijani B, Soleimani M, Dehpour A-R, Sahebjam M, Ghaderi F, Arjmand B (2015) Stem cell-based approach for the treatment of Parkinson's disease. Med J Islam Repub Iran 29:168
- Goodarzi P, Alavi-Moghadam S, Sarvari M, Tayanloo Beik A, Falahzadeh K, Aghayan H, Payab M, Larijani B, Gilany K, Rahim F, Adibi H, Arjmand B (2018a) Adipose tissue-derived stromal cells for wound healing. Adv Exp Med Biol 1119:133–149
- Goodarzi P, Larijani B, Alavi-Moghadam S, Tayanloo-Beik A, Mohamadi-Jahani F, Ranjbaran N, Payab M, Falahzadeh K, Mousavi M, Arjmand B (2018b) Mesenchymal stem cells-derived exosomes for wound regeneration. Adv Exp Med Biol 1119:119–131
- Goodarzi P, Alavi-Moghadam S, Payab M, Larijani B, Rahim F, Gilany K, Bana N, Tayanloo-Beik A, Foroughi Heravani N, Hadavandkhani M, Arjmand B (2019a) Metabolomics analysis of mesenchymal stem cells. Int J Mol Cellular Med 8(Suppl1):30–40
- Goodarzi P, Payab M, Alavi-Moghadam S, Larijani B, Rahim F, Bana N, Sarvari M, Adibi H, Foroughi Heravani N, Hadavandkhani M, Arjmand B (2019b) Development and validation of Alzheimer's disease animal model for the purpose of regenerative medicine. Cell Tissue Bank 20(2):141–151
- Grezella C, Fernandez-Rebollo E, Franzen J, Ventura Ferreira M, Beier F, Wagner W (2018) Effects of senolytic drugs on human mesenchymal stromal cells. Stem Cell Res Ther 9
- Grigoryan A, Guidi N, Senger K, Liehr T, Soller K, Marka G, Vollmer A, Markaki Y, Leonhardt H, Buske C, Lipka D, Plass C, Zheng y, Mulaw M, Geiger H, Florian C (2018) LaminA/C regulates epigenetic and chromatin architecture changes upon aging of hematopoietic stem cells. Genome Biol:19
- Guo Z, Zhang L, Wu Z, Chen Y, Wang F, Chen G (2014) In vivo direct reprogramming of reactive glial cells into functional neurons after brain injury and in an Alzheimer's disease model. Cell Stem Cell 14 (2):188–202
- Gut P, Reischauer S, Stainier DYR, Arnaout R (2017) Little fish, big data: zebrafish as a model for cardiovascular and metabolic disease. Physiol Rev 97 (3):889–938
- Haider H, Jiang S, Idris NM, Ashraf M (2008) IGF-1overexpressing mesenchymal stem cells accelerate bone marrow stem cell mobilization via paracrine

activation of SDF-1alpha/CXCR4 signaling to promote myocardial repair. Circ Res 103(11):1300–1308

- Haller S, Kapuria S, Riley RR, O'Leary MN, Schreiber KH, Andersen JK, Melov S, Que J, Rando TA, Rock J, Kennedy BK, Rodgers JT, Jasper H (2017) mTORC1 activation during repeated regeneration impairs somatic stem cell maintenance. Cell Stem Cell 21 (6):806–818
- Han J, Won EJ, Lee BY, Hwang UK, Kim IC, Yim JH, Leung KM, Lee YS, Lee JS (2014) Gamma rays induce DNA damage and oxidative stress associated with impaired growth and reproduction in the copepod Tigriopus japonicus. Aquat Toxicol 152:264–272
- Han F, Li X, Song D, Jiang S, Xu Q, Zhang Y (2015) SCNT versus iPSCs: proteins and small molecules in reprogramming. Int J Dev Biol 59(4–6):179–186
- Han MJ, Lee WJ, Choi J, Hong YJ, Uhm SJ, Choi Y, Do JT (2021) Inhibition of neural stem cell aging through the transient induction of reprogramming factors. J Comp Neurol 529(3):595–604
- Hariharan N, Quijada P, Mohsin S, Joyo A, Samse K, Monsanto M, De La Torre A, Avitabile D, Ormachea L, McGregor MJ, Tsai EJ, Sussman MA (2015) Nucleostemin rejuvenates cardiac progenitor cells and antagonizes myocardial aging. J Am Coll Cardiol 65(2):133–147
- Harris EW, Cotman CW (1985) Effects of synaptic antagonists on perforant path paired-pulse plasticity: differentiation of pre- and postsynaptic antagonism. Brain Res 334(2):348–353
- He D, Wu H, Xiang J, Ruan X, Peng P, Ruan Y, Chen Y-G, Wang Y, Yu Q, Zhang H, Habib SL, De Pinho RA, Liu H, Li B (2020) Gut stem cell aging is driven by mTORC1 via a p38 MAPK-p53 pathway. Nat Commun 11(1):37–37
- Hekimi S, Lapointe J, Wen Y (2011) Taking a "good" look at free radicals in the aging process. Trends Cell Biol 21(10):569–576
- Hilpert M, Legrand C, Bluteau D, Balayn N, Betems A, Bluteau O, Villeval JL, Louache F, Gonin P, Debili N, Plo I, Vainchenker W, Gilles L, Raslova H (2014) p19 INK4d controls hematopoietic stem cells in a cellautonomous manner during genotoxic stress and through the microenvironment during aging. Stem Cell Reports 3(6):1085–1102
- Ho Y-H, del Toro R, Rivera-Torres J, Rak J, Korn C, García-García A, Macías D, González-Gómez C, del Monte A, Wittner M, Waller AK, Foster HR, López-Otín C, Johnson RS, Nerlov C, Ghevaert C, Vainchenker W, Louache F, Andrés V, Méndez-Ferrer S (2019) Remodeling of bone marrow hematopoietic stem cell niches promotes myeloid cell expansion during premature or physiological aging. Cell Stem Cell 25(3):407–418
- Hormaechea-Agulla D, Le DT, King KY (2020) Common sources of inflammation and their impact on hematopoietic stem cell biology. Curr Stem Cell Rep:1–12
- Hosokawa K, MacArthur BD, Ikushima YM, Toyama H, Masuhiro Y, Hanazawa S, Suda T, Arai F (2017) The telomere binding protein Pot1 maintains

haematopoietic stem cell activity with age. Nat Commun 8(1):804

- Hou Y, Dan X, Babbar M, Wei Y, Hasselbalch S, Croteau D, Bohr V (2019) Ageing as a risk factor for neurodegenerative disease. Nat Rev Neurol 15
- Hsu J, Reilly A, Hayes BJ, Clough CA, Konnick EQ, Torok-Storb B, Gulsuner S, Wu D, Becker PS, Keel SB, Abkowitz JL, Doulatov S (2019) Reprogramming identifies functionally distinct stages of clonal evolution in myelodysplastic syndromes. Blood 134 (2):186–198
- Hu X, Yu SP, Fraser JL, Lu Z, Ogle ME, Wang J-A, Wei L (2008) Transplantation of hypoxia-preconditioned mesenchymal stem cells improves infarcted heart function via enhanced survival of implanted cells and angiogenesis. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 135(4):799–808
- Huh CJ, Zhang B, Victor MB, Dahiya S, Batista LF, Horvath S, Yoo AS (2016) Maintenance of age in human neurons generated by microRNA-based neuronal conversion of fibroblasts. elife 5
- Hwang AB, Brack AS (2018) Muscle stem cells and aging. Curr Top Dev Biol 126:299–322
- Ishikawa N, Nakamura K, Izumiyama-Shimomura N, Aida J, Matsuda Y, Arai T, Takubo K (2016) Changes of telomere status with aging: an update. Geriatr Gerontol Int 16(Suppl 1):30–42
- Ito K, Hirao A, Arai F, Takubo K, Matsuoka S, Miyamoto K, Ohmura M, Naka K, Hosokawa K, Ikeda Y, Suda T (2006) Reactive oxygen species act through p38 MAPK to limit the lifespan of hematopoietic stem cells. Nat Med 12:446–451
- Jang YC, Van Remmen H (2009) The mitochondrial theory of aging: insight from transgenic and knockout mouse models. Exp Gerontol 44(4):256–260
- Janzen V, Forkert R, Fleming HE, Saito Y, Waring MT, Dombkowski DM, Cheng T, DePinho RA, Sharpless NE, Scadden DT (2006) Stem-cell ageing modified by the cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor p16INK4a. Nature 443(7110):421–426
- Jaskelioff M, Muller F, Paik J-H, Thomas E, Jiang S, Adams A, Sahin E, Kost-Alimova M, Protopopov A, Cadiñanos J, Horner J, Maratos-Flier E, Depinho R (2011) Telomerase reactivation reverses tissue degeneration in aged telomerase-deficient mice. Nature 469:102–106
- Jasper H (2020) Intestinal stem cell aging: origins and interventions. Annu Rev Physiol 82:203–226
- Jayawardena TM, Egemnazarov B, Finch EA, Zhang L, Payne JA, Pandya K, Zhang Z, Rosenberg P, Mirotsou M, Dzau VJ (2012) MicroRNA-mediated in vitro and in vivo direct reprogramming of cardiac fibroblasts to cardiomyocytes. Circ Res 110 (11):1465–1473
- Jiang S, Guo Y (2020) Epigenetic clock: DNA methylation in aging. Stem Cells Int 2020:1047896
- Jung H, Kim DO, Byun JE, Kim WS, Kim MJ, Song HY, Kim YK, Kang DK, Park YJ, Kim TD, Yoon SR, Lee HG, Choi EJ, Min SH, Choi I (2016) Thioredoxininteracting protein regulates haematopoietic stem cell ageing and rejuvenation by inhibiting p38 kinase activity. Nat Commun 7:13674

- Kanaar R, Wyman C, Rothstein R (2008) Quality control of DNA break metabolism: in the 'end', it's a good thing. EMBO J 27(4):581–588
- Kanasi E, Ayilavarapu S, Jones J (2016) The aging population: demographics and the biology of aging. Periodontol 72(1):13–18
- Katsimpardi L, Litterman NK, Schein PA, Miller CM, Loffredo FS, Wojtkiewicz GR, Chen JW, Lee RT, Wagers AJ, Rubin LL (2014) Vascular and neurogenic rejuvenation of the aging mouse brain by young systemic factors. Science 344(6184):630–634
- Kaur G, Cai C (2018) Current Progress in the rejuvenation of aging stem/progenitor cells for improving the therapeutic effectiveness of myocardial repair. Stem Cells Int 2018(9308301)
- Khacho M, Clark A, Svoboda DS, Azzi J, MacLaurin JG, Meghaizel C, Sesaki H, Lagace DC, Germain M, Harper M-E, Park DS, Slack RS (2016) Mitochondrial dynamics impacts stem cell identity and fate decisions by regulating a nuclear transcriptional program. Cell Stem Cell 19(2):232–247
- Khalil H, Tazi M, Caution K, Ahmed A, Kanneganti A, Assani K, Kopp B, Marsh C, Dakhlallah D, Amer AO (2016) Aging is associated with hypermethylation of autophagy genes in macrophages. Epigenetics 11 (5):381–388
- Khatiwala R, Cai C (2016) Strategies to enhance the effectiveness of adult stem cell therapy for ischemic heart diseases affecting the elderly patients. Stem Cell Rev Rep 12(2):214–223
- Khorraminejad-Shirazi M, Farahmandnia M, Kardeh B, Estedlal A, Kardeh S, Monabati A (2018) Aging and stem cell therapy: AMPK as an applicable pharmacological target for rejuvenation of aged stem cells and achieving higher efficacy in stem cell therapy. Hematol Oncol Stem Cell Ther 11(4):189–194
- Kikushige Y, Miyamoto T (2014) Hematopoietic stem cell aging and chronic lymphocytic leukemia pathogenesis. Int J Hematol 100(4):335–340
- Kim DE, Dollé M, Vermeij W, Gyenis A, Vogel K, Hoeijmakers J, Wiley C, Davalos A, Hasty P, Desprez PY, Campisi J (2019) Deficiency in the DNA repair protein ERCC1 triggers a link between senescence and apoptosis in human fibroblasts and mouse skin. Aging Cell 19
- Kovtonyuk LV, Fritsch K, Feng X, Manz MG, Takizawa H (2016) Inflamm-aging of hematopoiesis, hematopoietic stem cells, and the bone marrow microenvironment. Front Immunol 7:502
- Larijani, B., P. Goodarzi, M. Payab, A. Tayanloo-Beik, M. Sarvari, M. Gholami, K. Gilany, E. Nasli-Esfahani, M. Yarahmadi, F. Ghaderi and B. Arjmand (2019).
 "The Design and Application of an Appropriate Parkinson's Disease Animal Model in Regenerative Medicine." Adv Exp Med Biol
- Larrick JW, Larrick JW, Mendelsohn AR (2016) Reversal of aged muscle stem cell dysfunction. Rejuvenation Res 19(5):423–429

- Lee J, Yoon SR, Choi I, Jung H (2019) Causes and mechanisms of hematopoietic stem cell aging. Int J Mol Sci 20(6)
- Leeman DS, Hebestreit K, Ruetz T, Webb AE, McKay A, Pollina EA, Dulken BW, Zhao X, Yeo RW, Ho TT, Mahmoudi S, Devarajan K, Passegué E, Rando TA, Frydman J, Brunet A (2018) Lysosome activation clears aggregates and enhances quiescent neural stem cell activation during aging. Science (New York, NY) 359(6381):1277–1283
- Leins H, Mulaw M, Eiwen K, Sakk V, Liang Y, Denkinger M, Geiger H, Schirmbeck R (2018) Aged murine hematopoietic stem cells drive agingassociated immune remodeling. Blood 132 (6):565–576
- Li X, Zuo X, Jing J, Ma Y, Wang J, Liu D, Zhu J, Du X, Xiong L, Du Y, Xu J, Xiao X, Wang J, Chai Z, Zhao Y, Deng H (2015) Small-molecule-driven direct reprogramming of mouse fibroblasts into functional neurons. Cell Stem Cell 17(2):195–203
- Li H, Liu P, Xu S, Li Y, Dekker JD, Li B, Fan Y, Zhang Z, Hong Y, Yang G, Tang T, Ren Y, Tucker HO, Yao Z, Guo X (2017) FOXP1 controls mesenchymal stem cell commitment and senescence during skeletal aging. J Clin Invest 127(4):1241–1253
- Li X, Wu J, Liu S, Zhang K, Miao X, Li J, Shi Z, Gao Y (2019) miR-384-5p targets Gli2 and negatively regulates age-related osteogenic differentiation of rat bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells. Stem Cells Dev 28(12):791–798
- Lin H, Sohn J, Shen H, Langhans MT, Tuan RS (2019) Bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells: aging and tissue engineering applications to enhance bone healing. Biomaterials 203:96–110
- Liu HY, Chiou JF, Wu AT, Tsai CY, Leu JD, Ting LL, Wang MF, Chen HY, Lin CT, Williams DF, Deng WP (2012) The effect of diminished osteogenic signals on reduced osteoporosis recovery in aged mice and the potential therapeutic use of adipose-derived stem cells. Biomaterials 33(26):6105–6112
- Liu XB, Wang JA, Ji XY, Yu SP, Wei L (2014) Preconditioning of bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells by prolyl hydroxylase inhibition enhances cell survival and angiogenesis in vitro and after transplantation into the ischemic heart of rats. Stem Cell Res Ther 5(5):111
- Liu M, Lei H, Dong P, Fu X, Yang Z, Yang Y, Ma J, Liu X, Cao Y, Xiao R (2017) Adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells from the elderly exhibit decreased migration and differentiation abilities with senescent properties. Cell Transplant 26(9):1505–1519
- Lombard DB, Beard C, Johnson B, Marciniak RA, Dausman J, Bronson R, Buhlmann JE, Lipman R, Curry R, Sharpe A, Jaenisch R, Guarente L (2000) Mutations in the WRN gene in mice accelerate mortality in a p53-null background. Mol Cell Biol 20(9):3286–3291

- López-Otín C, Blasco MA, Partridge L, Serrano M, Kroemer G (2013) The hallmarks of aging. Cell 153 (6):1194–1217
- Ludke A, Li RK, Weisel RD (2014) The rejuvenation of aged stem cells for cardiac repair. Can J Cardiol 30 (11):1299–1306
- Lukjanenko L, Karaz S, Stuelsatz P, Gurriaran-Rodriguez-U, Michaud J, Dammone G, Sizzano F, Mashinchian O, Ancel S, Migliavacca E, Liot S, Jacot G, Metairon S, Raymond F, Descombes P, Palini A, Chazaud B, Rudnicki MA, Bentzinger CF, Feige JN (2019) Aging disrupts muscle stem cell function by impairing Matricellular WISP1 secretion from fibro-Adipogenic progenitors. Cell Stem Cell 24 (3):433–446
- Machairaki V (2020) Human pluripotent stem cells as in vitro models of neurodegenerative diseases. Adv Exp Med Biol 1195:93–94
- Mai T, Markov GJ, Brady JJ, Palla A, Zeng H, Sebastiano V, Blau HM (2018) NKX3-1 is required for induced pluripotent stem cell reprogramming and can replace OCT4 in mouse and human iPSC induction. Nat Cell Biol 20(8):900–908
- Mannick JB, Del Giudice G, Lattanzi M, Valiante NM, Praestgaard J, Huang B, Lonetto MA, Maecker HT, Kovarik J, Carson S, Glass DJ, Klickstein LB (2014) mTOR inhibition improves immune function in the elderly. Sci Transl Med 6(268):268ra179
- Mantel C, Messina-Graham S, Moh A, Cooper S, Hangoc G, Fu XY, Broxmeyer HE (2012) Mouse hematopoietic cell-targeted STAT3 deletion: stem/progenitor cell defects, mitochondrial dysfunction, ROS overproduction, and a rapid aging-like phenotype. Blood 120(13):2589–2599
- Martín-Suárez S, Valero J, Muro-García T, Encinas JM (2019) Phenotypical and functional heterogeneity of neural stem cells in the aged hippocampus. Aging Cell 18(4):e12958
- Maryanovich M, Zahalka AH, Pierce H, Pinho S, Nakahara F, Asada N, Wei Q, Wang X, Ciero P, Xu J, Leftin A, Frenette PS (2018) Adrenergic nerve degeneration in bone marrow drives aging of the hematopoietic stem cell niche. Nat Med 24(6):782–791
- Matsumoto C, Jiang Y, Emathinger J, Quijada P, Nguyen N, De La Torre A, Moshref M, Nguyen J, Levinson AB, Shin M, Sussman MA, Hariharan N (2018) Short telomeres induce p53 and autophagy and modulate age-associated changes in cardiac progenitor cell fate. Stem Cells 36(6):868–880
- Mejia-Ramirez E, Geiger H, Florian MC (2020) Loss of epigenetic polarity is a hallmark of hematopoietic stem cell aging. Hum Mol Genet 29(R2):R248–r254
- Mendelsohn AR, Larrick JW (2011) Overcoming the aging systemic milieu to restore neural stem cell function. Rejuvenation Res 14(6):681–684
- Mendelsohn AR, Larrick JW, Lei JL (2017) Rejuvenation by partial reprogramming of the epigenome. Rejuvenation Res 20(2):146–150
- Mertens J, Paquola ACM, Ku M, Hatch E, Böhnke L, Ladjevardi S, McGrath S, Campbell B, Lee H, Herdy JR, Gonçalves JT, Toda T, Kim Y, Winkler J, Yao J,

Hetzer MW, Gage FH (2015) Directly reprogrammed human neurons retain aging-associated transcriptomic signatures and reveal age-related nucleocytoplasmic defects. Cell Stem Cell 17(6):705–718

- Mertens J, Reid D, Lau S, Kim Y, Gage FH (2018) Aging in a dish: iPSC-derived and directly induced neurons for studying brain aging and age-related neurodegenerative diseases. Annu Rev Genet 52:271–293
- Miquel J, Economos AC, Fleming J, Johnson JE Jr (1980) Mitochondrial role in cell aging. Exp Gerontol 15 (6):575–591
- Mitchell SJ, Scheibye-Knudsen M, Longo DL, de Cabo R (2015) Animal models of aging research: implications for human aging and age-related diseases. Annu Rev Anim Biosci 3:283–303
- Miyabara EH, Nascimento TL, Rodrigues DC, Moriscot AS, Davila WF, AitMou Y, deTombe PP, Mestril R (2012) Overexpression of inducible 70-kDa heat shock protein in mouse improves structural and functional recovery of skeletal muscles from atrophy. Pflugers Arch 463(5):733–741
- Mohrin M, Shin J, Liu Y, Brown K, Luo H, Xi Y, Haynes CM, Chen D (2015) Stem cell aging. A mitochondrial UPR-mediated metabolic checkpoint regulates hematopoietic stem cell aging. Science 347 (6228):1374–1377
- Mohsin S, Khan M, Toko H, Bailey B, Cottage CT, Wallach K, Nag D, Lee A, Siddiqi S, Lan F, Fischer KM, Gude N, Quijada P, Avitabile D, Truffa S, Collins B, Dembitsky W, Wu JC, Sussman MA (2012) Human cardiac progenitor cells engineered with Pim-I kinase enhance myocardial repair. J Am Coll Cardiol 60(14):1278–1287
- Molofsky AV, Slutsky SG, Joseph NM, He S, Pardal R, Krishnamurthy J, Sharpless NE, Morrison SJ (2006) Increasing p16INK4a expression decreases forebrain progenitors and neurogenesis during ageing. Nature 443(7110):448–452
- Moon J, Kim HR, Shin MG (2018) Rejuvenating aged hematopoietic stem cells through improvement of mitochondrial function. Ann Lab Med 38 (5):395–401
- Moreno-Cugnon L, Revuelta M, Arrizabalaga O, Colie S, Moreno-Valladares M, Jimenez-Blasco D, Gil-Bea F, Llarena I, Bolaños JP, Nebreda AR, Matheu A (2019) Neuronal p38α mediates age-associated neural stem cell exhaustion and cognitive decline. Aging Cell 18 (6):e13044–e13044
- Moreno-Cugnon L, Arrizabalaga O, Llarena I, Matheu A (2020) Elevated p38MAPK activity promotes neural stem cell aging. Aging 12(7):6030–6036
- Muñoz-Cánoves P, Neves J, Sousa-Victor P (2020) Understanding muscle regenerative decline with aging: new approaches to bring back youthfulness to aged stem cells. FEBS J 287(3):406–416
- Naito AT, Sumida T, Nomura S, Liu ML, Higo T, Nakagawa A, Okada K, Sakai T, Hashimoto A, Hara Y, Shimizu I, Zhu W, Toko H, Katada A, Akazawa H, Oka T, Lee JK, Minamino T, Nagai T, Walsh K, Kikuchi A, Matsumoto M, Botto M, Shiojima I, Komuro I (2012) Complement C1q

activates canonical Wnt signaling and promotes agingrelated phenotypes. Cell 149(6):1298–1313

- Nakamura T, Hosoyama T, Murakami J, Samura M, Ueno K, Kurazumi H, Suzuki R, Mikamo A, Hamano K (2017) Age-related increase in Wnt inhibitor causes a senescence-like phenotype in human cardiac stem cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 487 (3):653–659
- Neves J, Sousa-Victor P, Jasper H (2017) Rejuvenating strategies for stem cell-based therapies in aging. Cell Stem Cell 20(2):161–175
- Nguyen N, Sussman MA (2015) Rejuvenating the senescent heart. Curr Opin Cardiol 30(3):235–239
- Nijnik A, Woodbine L, Marchetti C, Dawson S, Lambe T, Liu C, Rodrigues NP, Crockford TL, Cabuy E, Vindigni A, Enver T, Bell JI, Slijepcevic P, Goodnow CC, Jeggo PA, Cornall RJ (2007) DNA repair is limiting for haematopoietic stem cells during ageing. Nature 447(7145):686–690
- Ocampo A, Reddy P, Martinez-Redondo P, Platero-Luengo A, Hatanaka F, Hishida T, Li M, Lam D, Kurita M, Beyret E, Araoka T, Vazquez-Ferrer E, Donoso D, Roman JL, Xu J, Rodriguez Esteban C, Nuñez G, Nuñez Delicado E, Campistol JM, Guillen I, Guillen P, Belmonte JCI (2016) In vivo amelioration of age-associated hallmarks by partial reprogramming. Cell 167(7):1719–1733
- Oh J, Lee YD, Wagers AJ (2014) Stem cell aging: mechanisms, regulators and therapeutic opportunities. Nat Med 20(8):870–880
- Oh J, Sinha I, Tan KY, Rosner B, Dreyfuss JM, Gjata O, Tran P, Shoelson SE, Wagers AJ (2016) Age-associated NF-κB signaling in myofibers alters the satellite cell niche and re-strains muscle stem cell function. Aging (Albany NY) 8(11):2871–2896
- Okada M, Kim HW, Matsu-ura K, Wang YG, Xu M, Ashraf M (2016) Abrogation of age-induced MicroRNA-195 rejuvenates the senescent mesenchymal stem cells by reactivating telomerase. Stem Cells 34(1):148–159
- Oliva AA, McClain-Moss L, Pena A, Drouillard A, Hare JM (2019) Allogeneic mesenchymal stem cell therapy: a regenerative medicine approach to geroscience. Aging Medicine 2(3):142–146
- Papadopoli D, Boulay K, Kazak L, Pollak M, Mallette F, Topisirovic I, Hulea L (2019) mTOR as a central regulator of lifespan and aging. F1000Res 8
- Parhizkar Roudsari P, Alavi-Moghadam S, Payab M, Sayahpour FA, Aghayan HR, Goodarzi P, Mohamadi-Jahani F, Larijani B, Arjmand B (2020) Auxiliary role of mesenchymal stem cells as regenerative medicine soldiers to attenuate inflammatory processes of severe acute respiratory infections caused by COVID-19. Cell Tissue Bank 21(3):405–425
- Picca A, Guerra F, Calvani R, Bucci C, Lo Monaco MR, Bentivoglio AR, Coelho-Júnior HJ, Landi F, Bernabei R, Marzetti E (2019) Mitochondrial dysfunction and aging: insights from the analysis of extracellular vesicles. Int J Mol Sci 20(4):805

- Pineda JR, Daynac M, Chicheportiche A, Cebrian-Silla A, Sii Felice K, Garcia-Verdugo JM, Boussin FD, Mouthon MA (2013) Vascular-derived TGF-β increases in the stem cell niche and perturbs neurogenesis during aging and following irradiation in the adult mouse brain. EMBO Mol Med 5 (4):548–562
- Pirmoradi S, Fathi E, Farahzadi R, Pilehvar-Soltanahmadi-Y, Zarghami N (2018) Curcumin affects adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cell aging through TERT gene expression. Drug Res (Stuttg) 68 (4):213–221
- Price FD, von Maltzahn J, Bentzinger CF, Dumont NA, Yin H, Chang NC, Wilson DH, Frenette J, Rudnicki MA (2014) Inhibition of JAK-STAT signaling stimulates adult satellite cell function. Nat Med 20 (10):1174–1181
- Raabe EH, Lim KS, Kim JM, Meeker A, Mao X-G, Nikkhah G, Maciaczyk J, Kahlert U, Jain D, Bar E, Cohen KJ, Eberhart CG (2011) BRAF activation induces transformation and then senescence in human neural stem cells: a pilocytic astrocytoma model. Clin Cancer Res 17(11):3590–3599
- Ren R, Ocampo A, Liu GH, Izpisua Belmonte JC (2017) Regulation of stem cell aging by metabolism and epigenetics. Cell Metab 26(3):460–474
- Robinson AR, Yousefzadeh MJ, Rozgaja TA, Wang J, Li X, Tilstra JS, Feldman CH, Gregg SQ, Johnson CH, Skoda EM, Frantz MC, Bell-Temin H, Pope-Varsalona H, Gurkar AU, Nasto LA, Robinson RAS, Fuhrmann-Stroissnigg H, Czerwinska J, McGowan SJ, Cantu-Medellin N, Harris JB, Maniar S, Ross MA, Trussoni CE, LaRusso NF, Cifuentes-Pagano E, Pagano PJ, Tudek B, Vo NV, Rigatti LH, Opresko PL, Stolz DB, Watkins SC, Burd CE, Croix CMS, Siuzdak G, Yates NA, Robbins PD, Wang Y, Wipf P, Kelley EE, Niedernhofer LJ (2018) Spontaneous DNA damage to the nuclear genome promotes senescence, redox imbalance and aging. Redox Biol 17:259–273
- Rochette L, Malka G (2019) Neuroprotective potential of GDF11: myth or reality? Int J Mol Sci 20(14):3563
- Rossi DJ, Jamieson CH, Weissman IL (2008) Stems cells and the pathways to aging and cancer. Cell 132 (4):681–696
- Rota M, LeCapitaine N, Hosoda T, Boni A, De Angelis A, Padin-Iruegas ME, Esposito G, Vitale S, Urbanek K, Casarsa C, Giorgio M, Lüscher TF, Pelicci PG, Anversa P, Leri A, Kajstura J (2006) Diabetes promotes cardiac stem cell aging and heart failure, which are prevented by deletion of the p66shc gene. Circ Res 99(1):42–52
- Rübe CE, Fricke A, Widmann TA, Fürst T, Madry H, Pfreundschuh M, Rübe C (2011) Accumulation of DNA damage in hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells during human aging. PLoS One 6(3):e17487
- Saeidimehr S, Ebrahimi A, Saki N, Goodarzi P, Rahim F (2016) MicroRNA-based linkage between aging and Cancer: from epigenetics view point. Cell J 18(2):117–126

- Sanokawa-Akakura R, Akakura S, Ostrakhovitch EA, Tabibzadeh S (2019) Replicative senescence is distinguishable from DNA damage-induced senescence by increased methylation of promoter of rDNA and reduced expression of rRNA. Mech Ageing Dev 183:111149
- Sarbacher CA, Halper JT (2019) Connective tissue and age-related diseases. Subcell Biochem 91:281–310
- Sarkar TJ, Quarta M, Mukherjee S, Colville A, Paine P, Doan L, Tran CM, Chu CR, Horvath S, Qi LS, Bhutani N, Rando TA, Sebastiano V (2020) Transient non-integrative expression of nuclear reprogramming factors promotes multifaceted amelioration of aging in human cells. Nat Commun 11(1):1545
- Satoh Y, Yokota T, Sudo T, Kondo M, Lai A, Kincade PW, Kouro T, Iida R, Kokame K, Miyata T, Habuchi Y, Matsui K, Tanaka H, Matsumura I, Oritani K, Kohwi-Shigematsu T, Kanakura Y (2013) The Satb1 protein directs hematopoietic stem cell differentiation toward lymphoid lineages. Immunity 38 (6):1105–1115
- Schwörer S, Becker F, Feller C, Baig AH, Köber U, Henze H, Kraus JM, Xin B, Lechel A, Lipka DB, Varghese CS, Schmidt M, Rohs R, Aebersold R, Medina KL, Kestler HA, Neri F, von Maltzahn J, Tümpel S, Rudolph KL (2016) Epigenetic stress responses induce muscle stem-cell ageing by Hoxa9 developmental signals. Nature 540(7633):428–432
- Shang J, Yao Y, Fan X, Shangguan L, Li J, Liu H, Zhou Y (2016) miR-29c-3p promotes senescence of human mesenchymal stem cells by targeting CNOT6 through p53–p21 and p16–pRB pathways. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) – Mol Cell Res 1863 (4):520–532
- Sharpless NE, DePinho RA (2007) How stem cells age and why this makes us grow old. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 8 (9):703–713
- Shetty AK, Kodali M, Upadhya R, Madhu LN (2018) Emerging anti-aging strategies - scientific basis and efficacy. Aging Dis 9(6):1165–1184
- Silva-Vargas V, Maldonado-Soto A, Mizrak D, Codega P, Doetsch F (2016) Age-dependent niche signals from the choroid plexus regulate adult neural stem cells. Cell Stem Cell 19
- Singh PB, Newman AG (2018) Age reprogramming and epigenetic rejuvenation. Epigenetics Chromatin 11 (1):73
- Sinha M, Jang YC, Oh J, Khong D, Wu EY, Manohar R, Miller C, Regalado SG, Loffredo FS, Pancoast JR, Hirshman MF, Lebowitz J, Shadrach JL, Cerletti M, Kim MJ, Serwold T, Goodyear LJ, Rosner B, Lee RT, Wagers AJ (2014) Restoring systemic GDF11 levels reverses age-related dysfunction in mouse skeletal muscle. Science 344(6184):649–652
- Soenen S, Rayner CK, Jones KL, Horowitz M (2016) The ageing gastrointestinal tract. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care 19(1):12–18
- Sousa-Victor P, Gutarra S, García-Prat L, Rodriguez-Ubreva J, Ortet L, Ruiz-Bonilla V, Jardí M,

Ballestar E, González S, Serrano AL, Perdiguero E, Muñoz-Cánoves P (2014) Geriatric muscle stem cells switch reversible quiescence into senescence. Nature 506(7488):316–321

- Sousa-Victor P, Ayyaz A, Hayashi R, Qi Y, Madden DT, Lunyak VV, Jasper H (2017) Piwi is required to limit exhaustion of aging somatic stem cells. Cell Rep 20 (11):2527–2537
- Sousa-Victor P, García-Prat L, Muñoz-Cánoves P (2018) New mechanisms driving muscle stem cell regenerative decline with aging. Int J Dev Biol 62(6–7-8):583–590
- Stern Y (2012) Cognitive reserve in ageing and Alzheimer's disease. Lancet Neurol 11(11):1006–1012
- Sun D, Luo M, Jeong M, Rodriguez B, Xia Z, Hannah R, Wang H, Le T, Faull KF, Chen R, Gu H, Bock C, Meissner A, Göttgens B, Darlington GJ, Li W, Goodell MA (2014) Epigenomic profiling of young and aged HSCs reveals concerted changes during aging that reinforce self-renewal. Cell Stem Cell 14(5):673–688
- Sussman MA, Anversa P (2004) Myocardial aging and senescence: where have the stem cells gone? Annu Rev Physiol 66(1):29–48
- Syková E, Mazel T, Hasenöhrl RU, Harvey AR, Simonová Z, Mulders WH, Huston JP (2002) Learning deficits in aged rats related to decrease in extracellular volume and loss of diffusion anisotropy in hippocampus. Hippocampus 12(2):269–279
- Takahashi K, Yamanaka S (2006) Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblast cultures by defined factors. Cell 126 (4):663–676
- Tan EP, Duncan FE, Slawson C (2017) The sweet side of the cell cycle. Biochem Soc Trans 45(2):313–322
- Tani H, Sadahiro T, Ieda M (2018) Direct cardiac reprogramming: a novel approach for heart regeneration. Int J Mol Sci 19(9)
- Tomasetti C, Vogelstein B (2015) Cancer etiology. Variation in cancer risk among tissues can be explained by the number of stem cell divisions. Science 347 (6217):78–81
- Torella D, Rota M, Nurzynska D, Musso E, Monsen A, Shiraishi I, Zias E, Walsh K, Rosenzweig A, Sussman MA, Urbanek K, Nadal-Ginard B, Kajstura J, Anversa P, Leri A (2004) Cardiac stem cell and myocyte aging, heart failure, and insulin-like growth factor-1 overexpression. Circ Res 94(4):514–524
- Traxler L, Edenhofer F, Mertens J (2019) Next-generation disease modeling with direct conversion: a new path to old neurons. FEBS Lett 593(23):3316–3337
- Van Meter M, Kashyap M, Rezazadeh S, Geneva AJ, Morello TD, Seluanov A, Gorbunova V (2014) SIRT6 represses LINE1 retrotransposons by ribosylating KAP1 but this repression fails with stress and age. Nat Commun 5(1):5011
- Vilas JM, Carneiro C, Da Silva-Álvarez S, Ferreirós A, González P, Gómez M, Ortega S, Serrano M, García-Caballero T, González-Barcia M, Vidal A, Collado M (2018) Adult Sox2+ stem cell exhaustion in mice

results in cellular senescence and premature aging. Aging Cell 17(5):e12834–e12834

- Villeda SA, Luo J, Mosher KI, Zou B, Britschgi M, Bieri G, Stan TM, Fainberg N, Ding Z, Eggel A, Lucin KM, Czirr E, Park JS, Couillard-Després S, Aigner L, Li G, Peskind ER, Kaye JA, Quinn JF, Galasko DR, Xie XS, Rando TA, Wyss-Coray T (2011) The ageing systemic milieu negatively regulates neurogenesis and cognitive function. Nature 477(7362):90–94
- Wagner EF, Nebreda AR (2009) Signal integration by JNK and p38 MAPK pathways in cancer development. Nat Rev Cancer 9(8):537–549
- Wahlestedt M, Norddahl G, Sten G, Ugale A, Frisk M-A, Mattsson R, Deierborg T, Sigvardsson M, Bryder D (2013) An epigenetic component of hematopoietic stem cell aging amenable to reprogramming into a young state. Blood 121
- Wahlestedt M, Pronk CJ, Bryder D (2015) Concise review: hematopoietic stem cell aging and the prospects for rejuvenation. Stem Cells Transl Med 4(2):186–194
- Wang Y, Sharpless N, Chang S (2013) p16(INK4a) protects against dysfunctional telomere-induced ATR-dependent DNA damage responses. J Clin Invest 123(10):4489–4501
- Wang X-Q, Shao Y, Ma C-Y, Chen W, Sun L, Liu W, Zhang D-Y, Fu B-C, Liu K-Y, Jia Z-B, Xie B-D, Jiang S-L, Li R-K, Tian H (2014) Decreased SIRT3 in aged human mesenchymal stromal/stem cells increases cellular susceptibility to oxidative stress. J Cell Mol Med 18(11):2298–2310
- Wang Y, Fu B, Sun X, Li D, Huang Q, Zhao W, Chen X (2015) Differentially expressed microRNAs in bone marrow mesenchymal stem cell-derived microvesicles in young and older rats and their effect on tumor growth factor-β1-mediated epithelial-mesenchymal transition in HK2 cells. Stem Cell Res Ther 6:185
- Wang M-J, Chen J, Chen F, Liu Q, Sun Y, Yan C, Yang T, Bao Y, Hu Y-P (2019) Rejuvenating strategies of tissue-specific stem cells for healthy aging. Aging Dis 10(4):871–882
- Wu Y, Xu X, Chen Z, Duan J, Hashimoto K, Yang L, Liu C, Yang C (2020) Nervous system involvement after infection with COVID-19 and other coronaviruses. Brain Behav Immun
- Yang Y-HK (2018) Aging of mesenchymal stem cells: implication in regenerative medicine. Regenerat Therapy 9:120–122
- Yoo AS, Sun AX, Li L, Shcheglovitov A, Portmann T, Li Y, Lee-Messer C, Dolmetsch RE, Tsien RW, Crabtree GR (2011) MicroRNA-mediated conversion of human fibroblasts to neurons. Nature 476 (7359):228–231
- Yousef H, Conboy MJ, Morgenthaler A, Schlesinger C, Bugaj L, Paliwal P, Greer C, Conboy IM, Schaffer D (2015) Systemic attenuation of the TGF-β pathway by

a single drug simultaneously rejuvenates hippocampal neurogenesis and myogenesis in the same old mammal. Oncotarget 6(14):11959–11978

- Zhang DY, Pan Y, Zhang C, Yan BX, Yu SS, Wu DL, Shi MM, Shi K, Cai XX, Zhou SS, Wang JB, Pan JP, Zhang LH (2013a) Wnt/β-catenin signaling induces the aging of mesenchymal stem cells through promoting the ROS production. Mol Cell Biochem 374 (1–2):13–20
- Zhang G, Li J, Purkayastha S, Tang Y, Zhang H, Yin Y, Li B, Liu G, Cai D (2013b) Hypothalamic programming of systemic ageing involving IKK-β, NF-κB and GnRH. Nature 497(7448):211–216
- Zhang H, Ryu D, Wu Y-B, Gariani K, Wang X, Luan P, DtextquoterightAmico D, Ropelle E, Lutolf M, Aebersold R, Schoonjans K, Menzies K, Auwerx J (2016) NAD+ repletion improves mitochondrial and stem cell function and enhances life span in mice. Science 352
- Zhang S, Li X, Jourd'heuil FL, Qu S, Devejian N, Bennett E, Jourd'heuil D, Cai C (2017) Cytoglobin promotes cardiac progenitor cell survival against oxidative stress via the upregulation of the NFκB/iNOS signal pathway and nitric oxide production. Sci Rep 7 (1):10754
- Zhu Y, Tchkonia T, Pirtskhalava T, Gower AC, Ding H, Giorgadze N, Palmer AK, Ikeno Y, Hubbard GB, Lenburg M, O'Hara SP, LaRusso NF, Miller JD, Roos CM, Verzosa GC, LeBrasseur NK, Wren JD, Farr JN, Khosla S, Stout MB, McGowan SJ, Fuhrmann-Stroissnigg H, Gurkar AU, Zhao J, Colangelo D, Dorronsoro A, Ling YY, Barghouthy AS, Navarro DC, Sano T, Robbins PD, Niedernhofer LJ, Kirkland JL (2015) The Achilles' heel of senescent cells: from transcriptome to senolytic drugs. Aging Cell 14(4):644–658
- Zhu P, Zhang C, Gao Y, Wu F, Zhou Y, Wu W-S (2019a) The transcription factor slug represses p16Ink4a and regulates murine muscle stem cell aging. Nat Commun 10(1):2568
- Zhu Y, Liu X, Ding X, Wang F, Geng X (2019b) Telomere and its role in the aging pathways: telomere shortening, cell senescence and mitochondria dysfunction. Biogerontology 20(1):1–16
- Zhu LY, Yu LM, Zhang WH, Deng JJ, Liu SF, Huang W, Zhang MH, Lu YQ, Han XX, Liu YH (2020) Aging induced p53/p21 in genioglossus muscle stem cells and enhanced upper airway injury. Stem Cells Int 2020:8412598
- Ziff OJ, Patani R (2019) Harnessing cellular aging in human stem cell models of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Aging Cell 18(1):e12862
- Zou J, Zou P, Wang J, Li L, Wang Y, Zhou D, Liu L (2012) Inhibition of p38 MAPK activity promotes ex vivo expansion of human cord blood hematopoietic stem cells. Ann Hematol 91(6):813–823

Adv Exp Med Biol - Cell Biology and Translational Medicine (2021) 13: 177–192 https://doi.org/10.1007/5584_2019_355 © Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019 Published online: 11 April 2020



Role of Tumor Specific *niche* in Colon Cancer Progression and Emerging Therapies by Targeting Tumor Microenvironment

Antara Banerjee, Yashna Chabria, Rajesh Kanna N. R., Janani Gopi, Praveen Rowlo, Xiao-Feng Sun, and Surajit Pathak

Abstract

Colorectal cancer is the third most common form of cancer worldwide leading to escalating mortality rates and mainly includes hereditary, sporadic and colitis-associated cancer development. The escalated mortality rates is due to the limited treatment options as this form of cancer is usually not easy to diagnose in its early stages and are highly invasive leading to rapid metastasis of the malignant cells to the neighbouring tissue. In order to combat this limitation several chemotherapeutic regimens are now being combined with targeted therapies after the knowledge acquired on the inevitable effects of the tumor microenvironment on the colon cancer growth and progress. The colon tumor niche mainly consists of a large mass of tumor cells along with various immune cells, inflammatory cells, tumor macrophages and fibroblasts that infiltrate the tumor as it is a site of predominant inflammation. Among

A. Banerjee (\boxtimes), Y. Chabria, J. Gopi, P. Rowlo, and S. Pathak

e-mail: antarabanerjee@chettinadhealthcity.com; antara.banerjee27@gmail.com

cells of the microenvironment, mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) exhibiting ability to evolve into cancer associated fibroblasts (CAFs) have recently generated a major interest in the field. The physiological state of the tumor microenvironment is closely connected to discrete steps of tumorigenesis. The colon cancer cells elicit various factors with their direct interaction with MSCs or via paracrine fashion, which modulate these cells to promote cancer instead of performing their innate function of abating cancer progression. This review intends to highlight the necessity to exploit the cellular landscape of tumor microenvironment of colon cancer and a detailed understanding of the interactions between tumor epithelial cells and their stromal/inflammatory elements will aid in future perspectives for designing therapeutic regimens targeting tumor microenvironment to improve the clinical outcome of colon cancer.

X.-F. Sun

Faculty of Allied Health Sciences, Chettinad Academy of Research and Education (CARE) and Chettinad Hospital and Research Institute (CHRI), Kelambakkam, Tamil Nadu, India

R. Kanna N. R.

Department of Pathology, Faculty of Medicine, Chettinad Academy of Research & Education, Kelambakkam, Tamil Nadu, India

Department of Oncology and Department of Clinical and Experimental Medicine, Linköping University, Linköping, Sweden

Keywords

Colon cancer \cdot Cytokines \cdot Mesenchymal stem cells \cdot Metastasis \cdot microRNAs \cdot Targeted therapy \cdot Tumor *niche*

Abbreviations

CAFs	Cancer Associated, Fibroblasts
CC	Colon Cancer
CRC	Colo Rectal Carcinoma
ECM	Extracellular Matrix
EGF	Epidermal Growth Factor
EMT	Epithelial to Mesenchymal
	Transition
FAP	Fibroblast Activating Protein
HGF	Hepatocyte Growth Factor
MDSC	Myeloid Derived Suppressor Cells
MIF	Migration Inhibitory Factor.
MMP	Matrix Metalo Proteinases
MSCs	Mesenchymal Stem Cells
RANTES	Regulated on activation, Normal
	T-cell Expressed and Secreted
SCF	Stem Cell Factor
TAMs	Tumour Associated Macrophages
TME	Tumour Microenvironment
TNF	Tumour Necrosis Factor
VEGF	Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor

1 Introduction

Colon cancer (CC) initiates as a benign or a metastatic mass of cells at any given point in the lining of the colon or rectum which mainly includes hereditary, sporadic and colitisassociated cancer development. Adenocarcinomas accounting for 95% of the colorectal tumors usually begin as benign polyps also known as adenomas that have the potential to develop into cancerous outgrowths as a result of accumulated mutations having a profound impact on the signalling pathways involved in maintenance of cell proliferation and tumor suppression (Colangelo et al. 2017). It is the third most common form of cancer worldwide leading to escalating mortality rates. The aberrated cell

signalling pathways controlling the cell proliferation, stem cell maintenance and tumor suppression ultimately lead to the invasive forms of CC that metastasizes to distant organs wherein the tumor cells detach from the primary tumors, intravasate the vascular networks and reach the neighbouring tissues leading to rapid deaths. The late diagnosis of this form of cancer often leads to reduced treatment options as the tumor cells tend to metastasize at faster rates. The predominant cause for the progression of CC is the development of therapy refractory metastatic disease. Complex surgical resections of the tumors mostly do not completely cure the patient of cancer as there usually occurs a relapse of CC in a more invasive metastatic form as most of the tumor cells tend to metastasize even prior to the surgical removal of the tumor. Prolonged chemotherapy has also been observed to have evident effects on the patients however it did not prove to be of great use in the metastatic disease and rather lead to predominant drug resistance and tumor development (Tauriello and Batlle 2016). Several upcoming treatment options involve chemotherapy in combination with targeted therapy that targets not only the tumor cells but also its unique tumor niche that can lead to a more effective treatment of the metastatic forms of CC. Multifold studies have now highlighted that the escalation and recurrence of tumors are governed by the genetic alterations in the tumor microenvironment factors as well apart from the aberrated cancer cells (Quail and Joyce 2013). Tumor microenvironment (TME) plays a dominant role in influencing the tumor cells for their development and progression of CC. A coordinated network of interface cell types mainly include pericytes, adipocytes, immune cells, endothelial cells, fibroblasts, and mesenchymal stem cells through the extracellular matrix and soluble factors such as cytokines, chemokines, growth factors and various metabolites enhancing the tumorigenesis. Tumor assorted macrophage and myeloid suppressive cells characterize tumor-promoting immune cells enclave with their derived cytokines such as interleukin (IL-6, IL-1 β , IL-23) and tumor necrosis factor (TNF- α). VEGF stimulates vascular endothelial cells for

2

the formation of blood capillaries and is enhanced in the perivascular environment of tumor blood vessels exhibiting an abnormal physiology, due to deviant pericytes and permeable endothelial layers leads to the development of hypoxia and metastasis. It has been reported that the existence of MSCs can enhance the metastatic ability of various cancer including colon cancer.

Cancer-associated fibroblasts (CAFs) in the TME from the produce an excess of growth factors, cytokines, chemokines, structural protein components, and metabolites which are resultant of diverse precursors like mesenchymal stem cells (MSC) or endothelial cells so as to further endorse oncogenesis. An abnormal tumorassociated MSC can gain distinct functions such as secretion of TGF-B to be a factor of epithelialto-mesenchymal transition (EMT) and immunesuppressive activities following their interactions with tumor cells. Further, deviant MSC are known to secrete CXCL12 (SDF-1) and also liberate VEGF to sustain tumor cell growth and survival. MSC have the potential to either impede or elevate tumor progression within the TME by their distinctive kind of cellular interactions. MSCs can be recognized as RANTES (Regulated on Activation, Normal T cell Expressed and Secreted) which are expelled by the CC-chemokines ligand 5 (CCL-5) and further act together with suitable cytokine receptors like CCR1, CCR3 and CCR5. The adaptation of tumor growth and propagation is influenced by the extracellular matrix (ECM).

The precise contribution of the TME in promoting cancer in highlighted when only a confined success rate in met when the cancer cells are only targeted. The tumor microenvironment has therefore been considered to play an additional critical role in cancer progression as targeting only the cancer cells has led limited success rates in most of the CC patients (Ribatti et al. 2006). This review will briefly summarize the current understanding of the role of various cellular compartments of the tumor microenvironment in which CCs proliferate and metastasize and thereafter focus the discussion on the therapeutic aspect of targeting the major paracrine factors that govern the fate of colon cancer progression and metastasis.

Tumor Microenvironment (TME)

The escalating significance towards ecological therapy for various forms of cancer has given rise to extensive analysis of the cellular and non-cellular compartments of tumors which are commonly referred to as the tumor microenvironment (Wang et al. 2017). These solid tumors are predominantly a mass of several cell types providing a tumor specific niche having a profound effect on the immune status, neovascularization and establishment of an ECM that promotes the interactions among the various cells present in the TME. Tumor niche has been found to play a crucial role in the tumor growth and metastasis that was well explained by the "seed and soil" hypothesis put forward by Stephen Paget years back in 1889 (Ribatti et al. 2006). According to him the cancer cells that are represented by the "seed" can be maintained well only in its specific environment that was represented by the "soil" thereby, highlighting the importance of the TME in the maintenance and progression of cancer (O'Malley et al. 2016). The tumor microenvironment or *niche* is mainly composed of the tumor associated cells, extracellular matrix, inflammatory cytokines and matrix associated molecules that play a crucial role in the tumor cells maintenance, progression and metastasis. The tumor associated cells mainly include, immune cells such as T-cells, tumor associated macrophages, monocytes, neutrophils, natural killer cells, dendritic cells along with endothelial cells, platelets, cancer-associated fibroblasts and mesenchymal stromal cells (Peddareddigari et al. 2010). Due to excessive infiltration of the TME by the immune cells a chronic inflammatory response is elicited that plays a critical role in the neoplastic process. The essential role of inflammation in cancer progression was first described by Rudolf Virchow in 1863 (David 1988). The neoplastic process has several signaling pathways similar to those observed during an inflammatory response such as apoptosis, angiogenesis and escalated proliferation rates. The inflammatory process involved in normal tissue repair is resolved post tissue regeneration and pathogen elimination
and homeostasis is maintained. However, chronic inflammation of the tissues in some cases has been observed to give rise to malignant transformation of the normal stromal cells and inhibit the restoration of normal homeostasis thereby leading to carcinogenesis (Landskron et al. 2014). The TME enables the malignant cells to evade clearance by the immune system and promote vascularization of the tumor by the release of various cytokines and matrix molecules which ablate the efficacy of several therapeutic regimens (O'Malley et al. 2016). The chronic inflammation and release of chemokines by the tumor cells as well as the stromal cells of TME are the key factors governing the tumor niche (Melzer et al. 2016). The complex mechanisms of tumor development and progression can therefore be analysed clearly by observing the interactions between the several factors and cells residing in the tumor specific niche (Melzer et al. 2016) (Fig. 1).

2.1 Structural Scaffold for the Tumor Stroma

Fibrous protein in the tumor stroma includes elastin, collagen, fibronectin, proteoglycans like chondroitin sulphate and hyaluronic acid which are subsisted in the ECM and is also mainly enriched with collagen. Soluble factors such as growth factors, angiogenic factors, cytokines and chemokines are abundantly present in tumor stroma. Collagen involves the deposition and tight organization of matrix proteins like elastin, laminins and also the altering enzymes such as lysyl oxidase, leads to a more inflexible phenotype of complete tumor. Fibronectin is associated in tumor invasion and metastasis (Chen and Huang 2014).

2.2 Cellular Components of the TME in Colon Cancer

Tumor niche consists of a class of non-malignant cell types such as immune cells, endothelial cells, fibroblast and MSC which expand the tumorassisted functions along with the soluble factors and ECM components interconnects with the cancer cells to disseminate tumorigenesis. The tumor microenvironment in CC is comprised of multiple components such as vasculature, tumorinfiltrating cells, extracellular matrix (ECM), and other matrix-associated molecules. A detailed characterisation of the cellular landscape and their role in cancer progression has been explained in the below sections.

2.2.1 Immune Cells

Immune cells play a prominent role as gatekeepers and protectors of the body from various Cancer infections and cancers. immunesurveillance involves the role of both the innate and the adaptive immune system to eradicate the tumor from the body. However, the immunesurveillance tends to be affected due to the interactions of the immune cells with other cellular components, cytokines and ECM molecules present in the TME. Due to varied response of the immune system during cancer progression the concept of immune-editing has been introduced which includes three stages namely, elimination, equilibrium and escape. These cancer cells are either eliminated by the immune cells else they acquire adaptations making them resistant to the immune clearance and thereby maintain their pool resulting in cancer progression (Colangelo et al. 2017). The first stage mainly involves the complete clearance of the tumor cells effectively by the immune cells and various other critical signaling molecules involved in the immune clearance process. Post tumor clearance these immune cells and active molecules result in immune-editing wherein the immune cells in the equilibrium state are unable to completely eliminate the tumor from the body as the cancer cells have adapted to the immune-surveillance by establishing phenotypic alterations such as epithelial to mesenchymal transition. However, at this stage even though the immune cells are unable to completely eliminate the tumor cells they are capable to limit the tumor growth to a certain extent. Therefore, the immune microenvironment have been found to play a role in the retaining a pool of dominant cancer cells that can repopulate the tumor and maintain tumor growth.



Fig. 1 The cytokines/paracrine factors secreted by cellular components of tumor microenvironment

In the escape stage, the immune cells assist the tumor cells in effectively escaping from the body's immune clearance and promote cancer invasion by releasing anti-cancer proteins and cytokines. Therefore targeting these interactions of the cellular components of the tumor *niche* will be proving to be a more potent cancer therapeutic regimen (David 1988).

2.2.2 Tumor Associated Macrophages (TAM's)

Macrophage plasticity has been observed to massively impact the tumor growth and invasion potential. TAM's play a critical role in the regulation of the tumor niche in colon cancer. Macrophages have always been recognized as critical effector cells for the clearance of the tumors. However, recent studies have highlighted the role of macrophages as TAM's in assisting the cancer cells in altering their phenotypes as well as promoting tumor invasion. TAM's have been observed to crowd at the tumor edges and induce apoptosis of the cancer cells however; those populated near the tumor invasion sites have been found to possess reduced potential in tumor ablation (Wang et al. 2017). TAM's are main contributors in promoting tumor angiogenesis (Balkwill et al. 2012). This dual role of the macrophages can be explained by their ability to alter their phenotypes and their potent plasticity that can be attained by altering their polarization according to the current conditions. Macrophages are mainly classified into two distinct types based on their polarization states such as M1 and M2 macrophages. The M1 macrophages are the normally activated macrophages that release type I pro-inflammatory cytokines and elicit an antitumorigenic response. However, M2 the

macrophages that are alternatively activated release type II cytokines that elicit an antiinflammatory response and thereby promote tumor growth and invasion. These TAM's have been observed to enhance tumor invasiveness by intricate paracrine interactions between the cancer and the macrophages mainly including factors such as tumor-derived CSF-1 and macrophagederived EGF. Targeting this switch of macrophage toward tumor enhancing phenotype and characteristics can be useful to block tumor increase (Quail and Joyce 2013).

2.2.3 Mesenchymal Stem Cells (MSCs)

MSCs are distinctive multipotent cells which possess distinct characteristics such as self-renewal, anchorage- dependent and their differentiation potential that exist in perivascular environment of the human tissues and organs such as bone marrow, adipose tissue and fetal tissues comprising of placenta, amniotic membranes and umbilical cord. MSCs have an excellent potential to drift to the site of inflammation and to sustain tissue repair, angiogenesis, stem cell homeostasis, immune inflection and thus elevate tumor progression by liberating various endocrine and paracrine signals. Exosomes are extracellular vesicles which aid in the intercellular contact with the neighbouring tumor cells and mesenchymal stroma cells. Movement of MSCs to the site of inflammation or tumor microenvironment is facilitated by the exosomes to secrete chemokines such as CXCL1, CCL2, IL-6 and growth factors like TGF-\u03b31,VEGF and PDGF-BB (Rhee et al. 2015). Thus, the focal point of the extracellular vesicles to the tumor cells helps in their migration and paves the way to tumor malignancy. Exosomes arising from MSCs receive their stimulation from matrix metalloproteinase-2 (MMP-2) and ecto-5'-nucleotidase activity along with miRNA facilitates cancer progression.

Migration of MSC's to the TME and Their Potential Interface

The MSCs can be attracted and recruited into damaged tissues by releasing enormous amounts of inflammatory cytokines and chemokines. The malignant tissues are well known for the release of several chemokines during the tumor development. The chemokines such as CCL2, CCL15, CCL20, CCL25, CXCL1 and CXCL8 have been identified to greatly impact the homing of the MSC's to the tumor niche. The possible paracrine interactions between MSCs and CC cells in the TME during CC progression have been summarized in Fig. 2. These active factors can be secreted to implement profound effects on the cells via paracrine signaling or by releasing exosomes that are extracellular vesicles containing substantial amounts of the secreted factors. The recruitment of MSC's therefore activates these stem cells and results in spontaneous release of a set of other inflammatory cytokines that promote tumor development and maintenance of tumor niche (Ali et al. 2015a). These MSC's upon activation in the TME transform into malignant cells commonly known as the cancer associated fibroblasts (CAFs). These CAF's promote tumor progression and metastasis. These CAF's are mainly characterized by expression of α -smooth muscle actin, PDGF receptor- β . These malignant fibroblast have also been observed to induce epithelial to mesenchymal transitions in the cancer cells by the expression of proteins such as MMP, TWIST, WnT5A and TGF- β type-I receptors that in turn give rise to aggressive forms of tumors (Peddareddigari et al. 2010). Based on recent research for the underlying mechanism of interaction between MSCs and CC cells in tumor niche, some significant factors has emerged which upon targeting might lead to suppression of cancer progression (Fig. 3).

2.2.4 Cancer Associated Fibroblasts (CAF's)

The stroma is the most essential component that maintains the tissue architecture that provides a base for the residing cells. Fibroblasts are the most common cells present in almost all the tissues of the body. These spindle-shaped cells predominantly found the colon in the normal colonic mucosa are situated adjacent to the colon mucosal epithelium. They are known to play a role in the synthesis, deposition and turnover of the basement membrane components. The



Fig. 2 Paracrine interactions between the colon cancer cells and the MSCs in the tumor microenvironment



Fig. 3 Factors with therapeutic potential for targeting the cancer progression emerging from the interaction of MSCs and CC cells in TME

crosstalk between these fibroblasts and the epithelium via paracrine signaling results in the maintenance of tissue integrity (Wang et al. 2017). Therefore these fibroblasts are also found to infiltrate the tumors and play a major role in maintaining the tumor growth and TME. These fibroblasts get activated in the TME and give rise to cancer associated fibroblasts (CAF). The CAF's have been found to promote cancer cell proliferation and metastatic potential. These cells are mainly characterized by the altered expression of α -SMA, vimentin, fibroblast activating protein (FAP), platelet-derived growth factor receptors α and β , fibroblast specific protein-1 (FSP1), the chondroitin sulphate proteoglycan neuron-glial antigen-2 (NG2), and prolyl-4-hydroxylase (Colangelo et al. 2017). These cells secrete considerable amounts of stromal-cell derived factor 1 that specifically binds to the CXCR-4 expressed by the tumor cells thereby promoting tumor invasion and angiogenesis (Chen and Huang 2014). The CAF's formed from the modified fibroblasts present in the tumor niche have been observed to secret multiple factors which influences the invasive potential of the tumor, its angiogenesis as well as tumor progression. These factors mainly include miRNAs 200b and 155, angiogenesis factor VEGF, chemokines such as SDF1 also known as CXCL-12, hepatocyte growth factor (HGF), epidermal growth factor (EGF), macrophage migration inhibitory factor (MIF), and various other interleukins as well (Wang et al. 2017; Bahrami et al. 2018). TGF- β released by the fibroblasts has been known to induce epithelial to mesenchymal transition of the cancer cells thereby contributing to the immune-suppressive tumor niche. Studies have indicated that elimination of these FAP- positive cells resulted in spontaneous tumor necrosis mediated by the factors IFN- γ and TNF- α (Quail and Joyce 2013).

2.2.5 Vascular Endothelial Cells and Pericytes

Tumor cells are well known to promote the infiltration of endothelial cells into the tumor compartment in order to promote neovascularization. Several soluble factors such as VEGF, FGF, PDGF and various other chemokines play important roles in promoting tumor growth by promoting tumor vasculature. When a blood vessel ruptures in the tumor vicinity the angiogenic signals are released from the malignant cells stimulating formation of new blood vessels. The formation of these new aberrant and uneven blood vessels results in the leakiness which is one of the major reasons of excessive metastasis of the malignant cells (Chen and Huang 2014). Pericytes are cells of mesenchymal origin that form a support system for blood vessel formation and function. These mainly provide structural support and therefore depletion in their pool results in the formation of excessive aberrant and leaky blood vessels which results in a higher rate of tumor metastasis (Wang et al. 2017).

2.2.6 Myeloid Derived Suppressor Cells (MDSC)

MDSC or immature myeloid precursor cells are of immense interest as they are implicated in cancer immune suppression as well as immune suppressive states of colon cancer. These cells are broadly characterized as CD11b+, CD33+ and LIN-, HLA-DR-, cells in humans. MDSC consists of a heterogeneous set of precursor myeloid cells capable of suppressing the adaptive immune response. **MDSCs** proliferation is influenced by pro-myelopoetic factors produced by colon cancer cells which include M-CSF, IL-6, PGs, GM-CSF, VEGF and stem cell factor (SCF). As the MDSC proliferate, they induce a negative feedback inhibition on the T cell and NK cells activity thereby arresting the immune response against the colon cancer progression (Wang et al. 2017).

3 Non-cellular Components of the TME of Colon Cancer

The colon cancer TME is not only composed of several cell populations but also includes multifold active molecules and ECM components that equally contribute in maintaining the malignant microenvironment as well as promote the tumor growth and metastasis.

3.1 miRNA in Colon TME

These small non-coding RNA's have been known to play a crucial role in several physiological processes and also have conspicuous role in various pathological conditions including cancers. Interestingly this microRNA's have been observed to not only regulate the cancer cells but also have an impact on the tumor stroma which in turn gives rise to drastic progression of the cancer (Jiang et al. 2017). The alteration in the function and the stages of different tumors has been found to be associated with altered miRNA expression. The miRNA expression in colorectal cancer has been well elucidated. The miRNA's with escalated expression levels during CRC include miR-21, miR17, miR-155, miR-146, miR-31, miR-221, miR-25 and miR-196 (Strubberg and Madison 2017). Around 35 microRNAs have been observed to be either escalated or abated in CC. A detailed chart of the highly up and down regulated miRNAs, their target genes and possible signaling pathways involved are depicted in Table 1 (Inoue et al. 2012; Sansom et al. 2010; Ibrahim et al. 2011; Wang et al. 2015; Zhang et al. 2010, 2018; Xu et al. 2014; Schee et al. 2010; Mohammadi et al. 2016). These variations in the miRNA expression are found to be result of repeated chromosomal aberrations. Both normal as well as malignant cells have been found to release miRNA's into the peripheral blood that are protected from RNase degradation by protective vesicles known as exosomes. The crosstalk between the other cells of the tumor *niche* and the cancer cells via autocrine or paracrine signalling is crucial for the progression of cancer. These interactions are brought about by these exosomal miRNA that are released by the cancer cells in order to promote the neighbouring cells to maintain the required tumor niche for enhanced cancer progression and metastasis. The released exosomal miRNA's have also been observed to provide a premetastatic environment that enhances permeability and vascularization of the tumor that in turn promotes the metastasis of the malignant cells to the neighbouring organs (Strubberg and

Madison 2017). This exosomal microRNA's can be easily detected in the plasma levels thereby coming forward as an effective target for diagnosis as well as CC treatment. The microRNA's miR-17-3p and miR-92a have been observed to be drastically abated in CC patient's post-surgery thereby indicating their excessive expression during cancer progression. MiRNA-29a has been observed to help differentiate between advanced stages of CC from other bowel disorders. Colon cancer progression can be effectively regulated by directly targeting these miRNA expressions by directly blocking/inhibiting these miRNA's or by downregulating the expression of these miRNA's by antisense oligonucleotides or promoter methylation (Inoue et al. 2012). Multifold tumor suppressor miRNA's have also contributed widely to the regulation of CC progression. These beneficial miRNA's are mostly transferred by viral vectors that release these RNA's at the tumor site to achieve maximal tumor abatement. Several tumor suppressive miRNA's are now being delivered not only to the malignant cells but also the tumor stromal cells present in the immediate tumor microenvironment. The delivery of these miRNA's have been found to modulate the tumor associated dendritic cells from an immunosuppressive to an immune-stimulatory state resulting in enhanced reduction of the tumor as they are subjected to the body's immune system.

3.2 miRNA from TAMs in Colon Cancer TME

Recent studies have highlighted the role of the immune cells to also play a vital role in the initiation, progression and metastasis of various cancers. The macrophages in the tumor *niche* have been observed to be polarized from an anti-tumorigenic (M1) to a pro-tumorigenic (M2) state by alterations in their metabolic pathways. This has been analysed due to the predominant dysregulation of the miRNA expression profiles of the normal macrophages after the onset of cancer. Therefore, several

S.				Signalling	Regulation	
No	Name	Target genes	Role in colon cancer	pathway	up/down	References
1	miR- 107	HIF-1β, VEGF	Inhibit angiogenesis	HIF-1β Hypoxic signalling	Ļ	Inoue et al. (2012)
2	miR 802	AG-II,HATIR	Mediate angiogenesis	Angiotensin II, ERK pathway	Î	Sansom et al. (2010)
3	miR 145	HIF-1,VEGF	Inhibit angiogenesis	IRS I	Ļ	Ibrahim et al. (2011)
4	miR 194	THBS1,	Promote angiogenesis	MAP4K4/c- Jun/MDM2	↑	Wang et al. (2015)
5	miR 27a	GT-094	Promote angiogenesis	PINK1 regulation in mitophagy	Ļ	Zhang et al. (2010)
6	miR-7	XRCC2, PAX6, YY1	Tumor suppressor	CDK6 signalling	↑	Xu et al. (2014)
7	miR-21	PTEN, PDCD4,SPRY2	Tumor progression	Akt signalling pathway	Î	Schee et al.
8	miR-22	HIF-1a	Tumor suppressor	HIF-1α Hypoxic signalling	Ļ	(2010)
9	miR-31	SATB2	Oncogenesis	Autophagy	1	
10	miR-92a	KLF4	Proliferation and migration	MMP2 and E-Cadherin	↑	
11	miR-101	COX2	Tumor suppressor	Oxidative stress pathway	Ļ	
12	miR-155	MSH2, MSH6 AND MLH1	Tumor supressor	Cell cycle	\downarrow	
13	let-7c	AURORA KINASE A AND B	Tumor supressor	Cell cycle arrest	Ļ	
14	miR-126	CXCR4	Tumor suppressor	NF -κB pathway	Ļ	
15	miR- 130b	INTEGRIN B1	Tumor suppressor	Not reported	Î	
16	miR-132	ZEB2	Tumor suppressor	EMT	Ļ	
17	miR-139- 3p	INSULIN-LIKE GROWTH FACTOR -1 RECEPTOR	Tumor suppressor	Not reported	Ļ	
18	miR-15	BCL	Tumor suppressor	NF-κB	Ļ	
19	miR-16	KRAS	Tumor suppressor	p53	Ļ	
20	miR- 81b	PDCD4	Tumor progression	STAT3	1	
21	miR-183	ABCA1	Tumor progression	Cholesterol pathway	↑	
22	miR-195	BCOX1, BCL-2, AND CARMA3	Suppress tumor cell proliferation and metastasis	RAS	Ļ	
23	miR-196a	HOXD8	Tumor suppressor	PI3K-AKT- mTor	↑	
24	miR- 196b	GATA6	Tumor suppressor	Wnt/β-catenin	1	
25	miR-203	CDK6	Tumor progression	Not reported	1	

Table 1 A detailed table of the highly up and down regulated miRNAs, their target genes and possible signaling pathways involved in colon cancer

(continued)

S. No	Name	Target genes	Role in colon cancer	Signalling pathway	Regulation up/down	References
26	miR-215	THYMIDYLATE SYNTHASE (TS)	Tumor suppressor	Not reported	Î	
27	miR-224	KRAS,	Tumor suppressor	ERK, Akt pathway	↑	
28	miR-340	РКМ	Tumor suppressor	Glycolysis	Ļ	
29	miR-35p	NOTCH-1	Tumor suppressor	Notch	Ļ	
				signalling		
30	miR-320e	SOX4	Tumor suppressor	Wnt/β-catenin	1	
31	miR-17- 5p	E2F1	Tumor progession	Not reported	↑	
32	miR-106a	RUNX3, PRB	Tumor suppressor	pRB pathway	Ļ	
33	miR-144	NRF2	Tumor suppressor	mTor	Ļ	
34	miR-145	KRAS, C-MYC	Tumor suppressor	Not reported	Ļ	
35	miR-494	APC	Tumor progression	Wnt/β-catenin signalling	↑	Zhang et al. (2018)

Table 1 (continued)

approaches have been made to target these dysregulated miRNA profiles to revere the polarization of the TAM's to normal macrophages and bring about effective anti-tumorigenic effects. The miR-511-3p that encodes for the macrophage-mannose receptor has been found to possess altered expression in the MRC1⁺ TAM's by escalating the expression of this miRNA in the TAM's resulted in enhanced suppression of the pro-tumoral genes thereby inhibiting tumor growth and alterations in the blood supply to the tumors. The escalated release of cytokines from this TAM's resulted in aberrated cancer progression. Excessive expression of miRNA-155 has been found to attenuate the release of multifold cytokines such as IL-6, IL-10 and TNF-alpha that play a vital role in promoting malignancies. The escalated expression of miRNA-155 resulted in evident reversal of the TAM's to normal anti-tumorigenic macrophages (Sansom et al. 2010).

3.3 Extracellular Matrix (ECM)

Almost all the mammalian cells remain in close contact with their surrounding stromal matrix whose components and composition varies in different organs, cell types and medical conditions such as cancer. The extra cellular matrix is mainly composed of 5 essential components namely collagens, laminins, fibronectins, proteoglycans and hyaluronans. These ECM components bind to the integrins present on the cell surface and provide the required mechanical and physicochemical support to the cells. The ECM is also critically involved in the cell migration and bears several growth factors that play a major role in maintaining the cell pool. The stromal cells and epithelial cells in contact with each other coordinate and produce the basement membrane (BM) that has a significant role in cancer progression. The loss of the BM components or their inappropriate synthesis alters the cell physiology thereby being a key player in the onset of the disease. For instance the loss of the ECM component laminin-5 is major contributor in colon cancer progression. An altered ECM composition has been found to give rise to a switch in the role of the integrin $\alpha 6\beta 4$ that is also known as the tumor antigen. Enhanced expression of this integrin has been found to give rise to escalated aggressiveness and poor prognosis of the developing tumors. In colon carcinoma this integrin promotes cell migration on laminins-1 thereby contributing to the metastatic potential of the malignant cells. The metabolism of the ECM molecules is an essential aspect involved during tissue homeostasis and the response of cells towards acute and chronic stresses. Several types of proteinases participate in ECM turnover, however matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) are known to be the major ECM degrading enzymes along with urokinase-type plasminogen activator (Rhee et al. 2015). The ECM degradation being a common phenomenon during cancer development, these enzymes involve the interactions of the stromal and the cancer cells upon ECM loss thereby inducing a profound effect on the stromal cells via direct contact or paracrine signaling. These interactions therefore promote the metastasis of the malignant cells (Ali et al. 2015a).

3.4 Matrix Metalloproteinases

The MMP's are a group of zinc-dependant endopeptidases that play a crucial role in the hematogenous metastasis process by carrying out the degradation of the ECM. Many matrix metalloproteinases have been linked to the colon cancer progression and metastasis (Ibrahim et al. 2011) MMP-9 is a common 92-kDa proenzyme which has the potential to degrade type IV collagen post activation. MMP-2 another important matrix metalloproteinase plays a crucial role in CC progression and invasion. Elevated expression of MMP-2 has been observed in bladder cancer, lung carcinoma, colorectal cancer gastric and breast cancer. Studies working on the silencing of MMP-2 in colon cancer cell lines have indicated significant ablation of the cell proliferation, invasion and colony forming capacity (Wang et al. 2015; Zhang et al. 2010). Particularly, MMP-7 overexpression has been observed to occur during the intiation of the carcinogenic cascade post transformation of the normal mucosa into carcinogenic adenomas. Data obtained from in vitro studies have shown that MMP-7 expression is related to the invasiveness of the primary tumor cells (Xu et al. 2014) in colon cancer and overexpression of MMP-7 has also been reported in pancreatic (Schee et al. 2010) and breast (Zhang et al. 2018) carcinomas, respectively. Recent studies reported that MMP-7

appears to be an early event in the adenoma-tocarcinoma pathway (Mohammadi et al. 2016), hence multiple experiments are being carried out by utilizing MMP inhibitors for the prevention or treatment of colorectal cancer.

3.5 Cytokines

The colon cancer onset is mainly observed in patients initially afflicted by inflammatory bowel disease that occurs due to a noticeable loss of balance between the pro-inflammatory and regulatory cytokines. The malignant cells possess the ability to modulate the stroma and the immediate microenvironment by secreting multifold factors that recruit inflammatory cells and activate stroma cells in the TME. These cells in turn release several factors such as cytokines, chemokines, growth factors and proteases that promote tumor progression and metastasis. Along with these factors these cells also release several relative oxygen and nitrogen species which induce genetic alterations thereby promoting cancer. Chemokines can be directly secreted into to the extracellular space or via vesicles. Multifold cytokines such as $TNF\alpha$, IL-8, IL-6 and VEGF, have been noticed to be elevated in colorectal carcinoma (CRC) patients (Kuninty et al. 2016). Escalated levels of TNF- α and IL-6 have been observed to result in the activation of NF-kB and STAT3 pathways. Interleukin 1β a potent pro-inflammatory cytokine secreted in voluminous amounts by the macrophages in the tumor *niche* is known to promote the secretion of other inflammatory cytokines and chemokines such as TNFa, IL-6, IL8, IL-17, COX-2 and PGE2 that promote the colon cancer cell growth and progression. The colon cancer cells stimulate the macrophages present in the TME to secrete multifold amounts of IL-6 that is known to activate STAT3 in the malignant cells. This cytokine plays a crucial role in maintaining the growth of the tumor cells as the inhibition of this chemokine resulted in evident decrease in the growth potential of the malignant cells. This cytokine is also secreted in substantial quantities by various other stimulated cells residing in the tumor vicinity mainly including fibroblasts, monocytes,

endothelial cells and immune cells namely the B and T-lymphocytes. Another critical cytokine in the TME is IL-10, this cytokine has predominant inhibitory effects on the pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-1 β , TNF α and IL-6and is mainly secreted by Th2 cells, B cells, tumor cells and macrophages. Abated levels of this cytokine result in drastic progression of the tumors. Several chemokines released by the cancer cells such as CC15, CCL-2, CCL-20, CXCL-8 that promote the attraction of the MSC's towards them. The tropism of the MSC's is also affected by the release of certain active factors such as VEGF, HGF and TGF β . The MSC's upon activation by the colon cancer cells secrete detectable amounts of CXCL-1, CXCL-2, CXCL-12 and IL-6 (Zucker and Vacirca 2004). These pro-inflammatory cytokines and its associated pathways have emerged as potential targets for effective and alternative cancer therapy.

4 Future Perspectives and Therapy

4.1 Effective Molecular Interaction of MSCs with Tumor Cells

Cellular and molecular mechanisms involved when mesenchymal stem cells are co-cultured along with distinctive cancer cell types such as colon cancer, lung cancer, breast cancer, ovarian cancer cell lines exemplify an intercellular contact with tumor microenvironment evolving the expression of MSC surface markers such as CD90, CD105, and CD73 on the cell surface both in vitro by appropriate differentiating conditions (Melzer et al. 2016). For instance, when co-culturing adipose derived MSCs with colon cancer cell lines such as HCT116 cells, LoVo cells, SW480, LS174T, and CCD-18 Co, it has been recognized to explicit epithelial- mesenchymal transition (EMT) correlated genes like ZEB1, ZEB2, Slug, Snail, Twist and also stemness genes such as Oct4, Sox2, Nanog, Bmi1 which are known to be intensified in co-cultured system along with other associated cancer genes namely MMP1, IL10, TGF-(α , β), COL1A1, IFN-γ, VEGFA etc. (Dong et al. 2011).

Thus, it is proven that the MSCs enhance the tumor propagation and malignancies in conjunction with knocking down or up-regulating certain genes along with other growth factors and signaling pathways in their tumor niche (Melzer et al. 2016). In tumor malignancy, it has been identified as tumor cells along with MSCs imply certain gene transcripts and other growth factors trigger various signaling pathways. They are instigated that according to their diverse cancer cell types in the tumor niche, it is comprised of notch, Hedgehog, Wnt, PI3K, NF-kB, and STAT pathways which are specifically activated or inhibited depending on the paracrine signals in their tumor stroma. Therefore, paracrine signals are proven to enhance the MSCs residing in the tumor niche of colon cancer more precisely (Illemann et al. 2006; Gout and Huot 2008). In contrast to the tumor-enhancing ability of MSCs, different studies have shown that MSCs inhibit tumor progression and metastasis by inhibiting angiogenesis, suppressing immune responses, suppressing Wnt and Akt signaling, and inducing apoptosis or cell cycle arrest in the G0-G1 phase of the cancer (Lazennec and Lam 2016). Due to their tropism to the tumor niche, mesenchymal stem cells are considered to be a promising vector for the delivery of antitumor agents.

4.2 Targeting of TME by miRNAs

A number of malignancies have been associated with characteristic miRNA signatures (Chen et al. 2015; Lu et al. 2005; Bullock et al. 2013). Compared to normal tissues, miRNAs have been found to be dysregulated in cancers. Recent studies have highlighted the inevitable role of miRNAs in the progression of CRC. The miRNAs of the cancer cells via the non-cell autonomous mechanism have been found to elicit an impact on the TME by altering the miRNA profiles of the non aberrated neighbouring cells and resulting into their conversion into cells possessing cancer promotive effects. Many studies have highlighted the role of CAF in the initiation and progression of cancer. Changing of phenotype to CAFs is responsible for transdifferentiation properties as well as CAF associated tumorigenic actions of stromal cells in TME (Sansom et al. 2010). One of the most common miRNAs that has been reported to be predominantly present in the tumor cells as well as the CAFs of pancreatic and colorectal tumors is miRNA-21 (Lu et al. 2005; Bullock et al. 2013; Ali et al. 2015b). Hence studies that utilized antagomiR for the inhibition of miR-21 resulted in decreased migration/invasion potential of the CAFs (Chen et al. 2015; Lu et al. 2005). The CAF phenotype can be induced by both altered escalated as well as abated expression of certain miRNAs (Bullock et al. 2013; Ali et al. 2015b). Abrupt expansion of the roles of miRNAs in tumor microenvironments has come forward. For the use of miRNAs in therapeutics, it is vital to deliver miRNA mimics cells or antagomiRs directly into the target cells. However, the polyanionic nature, hydrophilicity, and high molecular weight of naked miRNAs make it impossible of them to pass through cell membranes. Rapid removal by urine has been observed when the chemically modified antimiR oligonucleotides are administered in the absence of a carrier as they exhibit limited tissue distribution. Viral and non-viral encapsulation strategies and nanoencapsulation of miRNAs to protect miRNAs from degradation by nucleases, along with improved circulating half-life had been reported earlier (Sansom et al. 2010).

5 Concluding Remarks

The progression and metastatic potential of the colon cancer cells is predominantly supported by the immediate tumor microenvironment that consist of several cellular and non-cellular components that promote the sustenance and spread of these malignant cells to other organs of the afflicted patient. The TME mainly comprising of the immune cells such as T-cells, B-cells, Tumor associated Macrophages, fibroblasts, CAF's, and acellular components mainly comprising of the ECM, cytokines and chemokines that have predominant effects on the signalling pathways involved in colon cancer progression

and metastasis. Therapeutic agents that can alter the colon cancer ecosystem may be effective in preventing or treating the metastatic diseases. Colon cancer cells rely on stromal factors to proliferate and migrate (Rhee et al. 2015; Heslin et al. 2001). Therapeutic targeting of stromal cellular components, including inflammatory cells such as CAFs, TAMs, immune cells, endothelial cells and the vasculature, ECM, and matrix-associated molecules, must therefore be considered eventually. Therapies targeting the tumor niche mainly the small molecule inhibitors, antibodies blocking the interactions between the tumor cells and the other cells of the TME will give rise to a more effective alternative therapy as the cancer progression is blocked at the molecular level by targeting the cytokines and the exosomal interactions and thereby abating the activation of signalling pathways involved in the progression and metastasis of colon cancer cells. In order to develop multifold strategies for the in-vivo delivery of miRNA the mechanisms of miRNAs have been extensively analysed. However, there are a few setbacks that are being worked on. One of the major issues is the poor cancer tissue permeability in miRNA based therapy. Heterogeneous tumor perfusion and interstitial fibrosis has resulted in the inefficiency of the penetrating miRNA-containing delivery vesicles with or without targeting moieties in the tumor microenvironment. In order to promote alternative and more effective cancer therapies the complicated nature of the cancer cell-host cell interactions and cell-ECM interactions in the tumor are to be understood.

Acknowledgement The authors are thankful to Chettinad Academy of Research and Education for providing the infrastructural support and to SERB, DST, Govt. of India for providing the financial support. The authors are thankful to Mr. Jaganth Arunachalam for technical help in formulating the table.

Funding This work was supported fully by the grants sanctioned to Dr. Antara Banerjee (PI) from the SERB-DST Govt. of India with the sanction file no ECR/2017/001066.

Disclosure of Interest The authors report no conflict of interest.

References

- Ali S, Suresh R, Banerjee S et al (2015a) Contribution of microRNAs in understanding the pancreatic tumor microenvironment involving cancer associated stellate and fibroblast cells. Am J Cancer Res 5(3):1251
- Ali S, Dubaybo H, Brand RE, Sarkar FH (2015b) Differential expression of microRNAs in tissues and plasma co-exists as a biomarker for pancreatic cancer. J Cancer Sci Ther 7(11):336
- Bahrami A, Khazaei M, Hassanian SM et al (2018) Targeting the tumor microenvironment as a potential therapeutic approach in colorectal cancer: rational and progress. J Cell Physiol 233(4):2928–2936
- Balkwill FR, Capasso M, Hagemann T (2012) The tumor microenvironment at a glance. J Cell Sci 125 (Pt 23):5591–5596
- Bullock MD, Pickard KM, Nielsen BS et al (2013) Pleiotropic actions of miR-21 highlights the critical role of deregulated stromal microRNAs during colorectal cancer progression. Cell Death Dis 4(6):e684
- Chen S, Huang EH (2014) The colon cancer stem cell microenvironment holds keys to future cancer therapy. J Gastrointest Surg 18(5):1040–1048
- Chen J, Li C, Chen L (2015) The role of microvesicles derived from mesenchymal stem cells in lung diseases. Biomed Res Int 2015:985814
- Colangelo T, Polcaro G, Muccillo L et al (2017) Friend or foe?: The tumour microenvironment dilemma in colorectal cancer. Biochim Biophys Acta Rev Cancer 1867 (1):1–8
- David H (1988) Rudolf Virchow and modern aspects of tumor pathology. Pathol Res Pract 183(3):356–364
- Dong W, Li H, Zhang Y, Yang H, Guo M, Li L, Liu T (2011) Matrix metalloproteinase 2 promotes cell growth and invasion in colorectal cancer. Acta Biochim Biophys Sin 43(11):840–848
- Gout S, Huot J (2008) Role of cancer microenvironment in metastasis: focus on colon cancer. Cancer Microenviron 1(1):69–83
- Heslin MJ, Yan J, Johnson MR, Weiss H, Diasio RB, Urist MM (2001) Role of matrix metalloproteinases in colorectal carcinogenesis. Ann Surg 233(6):786
- Ibrahim AF, Weirauch U, Thomas M, Grünweller A, Hartmann RK, Aigner A (2011) MicroRNA replacement therapy for miR-145 and miR-33a is efficacious in a model of colon carcinoma. Cancer Res 71 (15):5214–5224. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472. CAN-10-4645
- Illemann M, Bird N, Majeed A et al (2006) MMP-9 is differentially expressed in primary human colorectal adenocarcinomas and their metastases. Mol Cancer Res 4(5):293–302
- Inoue T, Iinuma H, Ogawa E, Inaba T, Fukushima R (2012) Clinicopathological and prognostic significance of microRNA-107 and its relationship to DICER1 mRNA expression in gastric cancer. Oncol Rep 27 (6):1759–1764

- Jiang X, Hu S, Liu Q, Qian C, Liu Z, Luo D (2017) Exosomal microRNA remodels the tumor microenvironment. PeerJ 5:e4196
- Kuninty PR, Schnittert J, Storm G, Prakash J (2016) MicroRNA targeting to modulate tumor microenvironment. Front Oncol 6:3
- Landskron G, De la Fuente M, Thuwajit P, Thuwajit C, Hermoso MA (2014) Chronic inflammation and cytokines in the tumor microenvironment. J Immunol Res 2014:1–19
- Lazennec G, Lam PY (2016) Recent discoveries concerning the tumor-mesenchymal stem cell interactions. Biochim Biophys Acta Rev Cancer 1866 (2):290–299
- Lu J, Getz G, Miska EA et al (2005) MicroRNA expression profiles classify human cancers. Nature 435 (7043):834
- Melzer C, Yang Y, Hass R (2016) Interaction of MSC with tumor cells. Cell Commun Signal 14(1):20
- Mohammadi A, Mansoori B, Baradaran B (2016) The role of microRNAs in colorectal cancer. Biomed Pharmacother 84:705–713
- O'Malley G, Heijltjes M, Houston AM et al (2016) Mesenchymal stromal cells (MSCs) and colorectal cancer: a troublesome twosome for the anti-tumour immune response? Oncotarget 7(37):60752
- Peddareddigari VG, Wang D, DuBois RN (2010) The tumor microenvironment in colorectal carcinogenesis. Cancer Microenviron 3(1):149–166
- Quail DF, Joyce JA (2013) Microenvironmental regulation of tumor progression and metastasis. Nat Med 19 (11):1423–1437
- Rhee KJ, Lee J, Eom Y (2015) Mesenchymal stem cellmediated effects of tumor support or suppression. Int J Mol Sci 16(12):30015–30033
- Ribatti D, Mangialardi G, Vacca A (2006) Stephen Paget and the 'seed and soil'theory of metastatic dissemination. Clin Exp Med 6(4):145–149
- Sansom SE, Nuovo GJ, Martin MM, Kotha SR, Parinandi NL, Elton TS (2010) miR-802 regulates human angiotensin II type 1 receptor expression in intestinal epithelial C2BBe1 cells. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 299(3):G632–G642
- Schee K, Fodstad Ø, Flatmark K (2010) MicroRNAs as biomarkers in colorectal cancer. Am J Pathol 177 (4):1592–1599
- Strubberg AM, Madison BB (2017) MicroRNAs in the etiology of colorectal cancer: pathways and clinical implications. Dis Model Mech 10(3):197–214
- Tauriello DV, Batlle E (2016) Targeting the microenvironment in advanced colorectal cancer. Trends Cancer 2 (9):495–494
- Wang B, Shen ZL, Gao ZD, Zhao G, Wang CY, Yang Y, Zhang JZ, Yan YC, Shen C, Jiang KW, Ye YJ (2015) MiR-194, commonly repressed in colorectal cancer, suppresses tumor growth by regulating the MAP 4K4/c-Jun/MDM2 signaling pathway. Cell Cycle 14 (7):1046–1058

- Wang M, Zhao J, Zhang L et al (2017) Role of tumor microenvironment in tumorigenesis. J Cancer 8(5):761
- Xu K, Chen Z, Qin C, Song X (2014) miR-7 inhibits colorectal cancer cell proliferation and induces apoptosis by targeting XRCC2. Onco Targets Ther 7:325
- Zhang H, Li M, Han Y, Hong L, Gong T, Sun L, Zheng X (2010) Down-regulation of miR-27a might reverse multidrug resistance of esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. Dig Dis Sci 55(9):2545–2551
- Zhang Y, Guo L, Li Y, Feng GH, Teng F, Li W, Zhou Q (2018) MicroRNA-494 promotes cancer progression and targets adenomatous polyposis coli in colorectal cancer. Mol Cancer 17(1):1
- Zucker S, Vacirca J (2004) Role of matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) in colorectal cancer. Cancer Metastasis Rev 23(1–2):101–117

Adv Exp Med Biol - Cell Biology and Translational Medicine (2021) 13: 193–194 https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-79058-5 © The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

Index

A

Adipose stem cells (ASCs), 15–22, 38, 118, 132 Aghayan, H.R., 128–138, 145–167 Aging, v, 20, 91, 99, 102, 145–167 Alaei, S., 128–138, 145–167 Alavi-Moghadam, S., 108–121, 128–138, 145–167 Animal welfare, 93, 101 Arjmand, B., 91–102, 108–121, 128–138, 145–167 Autism spectrum disorders, 108–121

B

Banerjee, A., 178–190 Bansal, H., 116 Batool, F., 68–84 Benkirane-Jessel, N., 68–84 Biobanking, 48, 57, 58 Bioink, 28, 37 Blesa, J., 98 Bone healing, 70, 77, 78, 80, 81, 83 Bowles, A.C., 16–22, 28–40 Bradstreet, J.J., 116 Bunnell, B.A., 16–22, 28–40

С

Çelebi-Saltik, B., 46–60 Cell-free, 36, 37, 54, 55, 70, 83 Chabria, Y., 178–190 Chen, S., 75 Chew, J.R.J., 80 Chez, M., 116 Colon cancer (CC), 178–190 Conventional markers, 3, 4, 6, 9 Côté, A., 16–22, 28–40 Cytokines, 3, 17, 19–21, 46, 52–54, 82, 113, 129, 135, 136, 149, 159, 161, 178–182, 187–190

D

Dauer, W., 98 Dawson, G., 116 Decellularization, 28–40 Decellularized ECM (dECM), 28–30, 33, 36–40 Devi, A., 2–10 Disease modeling, 134

Е

Ebrahimpour, M., 128–138 Emerging markers, 2–10 Epidermal SCs markers, 4, 5, 7 Exosome mimics, 56 Exosomes, v, 21, 46–60, 70–84, 182, 183, 185

F

Foroughi-Heravani, N., 108–121, 145–167 Furuta, T., 76

G

Galter, D., 98 Gegout, P.-Y., 68–84 Gene delivery, 48, 51, 60 Ghaderi, F., 91–102 Gholami, M., 91–102, 108–121 Gilany, K., 91–102 Goodarzi, P., 91–102, 108–121, 128–138, 145–167 Gopi, J., 178–190

Н

Heravani, N.F., 128–138 Huck, O., 68–84

I

Ibrahim, A.F., 186 Inoue, T., 186

J

Jia, Y., 77 Joseph, J.P., 2–10

K

Kavyasudha, C., 2–10 Küçükgüven, M.B., 46–60

L

Larijani, B., 91–102, 128–138, 145–167 Li, W., 75 Liem N.T., 117 Lim, K.-L., 98 Liu, W, 76 Luo, Z.W., 77 Lv, Y.T., 116

М

Manufacturing, 48, 55, 58–60
Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs), 2, 3, 5, 9, 33, 37, 38, 51–55, 69, 74, 76, 80–82, 115, 118, 119, 133, 134, 136–138, 146, 154, 156, 157, 160, 162, 163, 179, 182, 183, 189
Metastasis, 52, 82, 179, 180, 184–16, 188–190
microRNAs, 53, 149–151, 166, 185
Model, 17, 38, 52, 70, 91, 115, 130, 147
MSC markers, 5, 9

N

Nasli-Esfahani, E., 91–102 Neuro inflammation, 112, 159 Neurological disorders, 93, 120 Ng, C.-H., 98 N.R R. Kanna, 178–190 NSC markers, 4, 6

0

Olson, J., 68-84

Р

Parkinson's disease (PD), 20, 21, 91–102 Partial reprogramming, 164 Pashos, N., 16–22, 28–40 Pathak, S., 178–190 Payab, M., 91–102, 108–121, 128–138, 145–167 Periodontal regeneration, 68–84 Periodontitis, 39, 68–70 Petit, C., 68–84 Pillai, A.A., 2–10 Polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS), 113, 127–138 Przedborski, S., 98

Q

Qi, X., 74

R

Ramonet, B., 108–121 Ramonet, D., 98 Razi, F., 108–121 Regenerative medicine, 17, 18, 28–40, 54, 55, 91–102, 127–138 Rejuvenation, 155–164, 166 Rezaei-Tavirani, M., 108–121, 145–167 Riordan, N.H., 117 Rowlo, P., 178–190

S

Sabol, A.R., 16–22 Sadrabadi, A.E., 28–40 Sansom, S.E., 186 Sarvari, M., 91–102 Schee, K., 186 Sharma, A., 116 Stem cell markers, 3, 4, 7, 9 Stem cells, 2, 16, 32, 47, 69, 91, 109, 130, 145, 179 Stem cells transplantation, 109, 136 Stem cell therapy, 109, 114–116, 120, 121, 132 Stromal vascular fraction (SVF), 16–18, 21, 22 Stutz, C., 68–84 Sun, R., 76 Sun, X.-F., 178–190

Т

Targeted therapy, 55, 96, 178 Tayanloo-Beik, A., 91–102, 145–167 Tenenbaum, H., 68–84 Terzioglu, M., 98 Tissue engineering, v, 18, 28, 29, 31, 35, 38, 40, 127, 134 Tumor niche, 48, 178–182, 184, 185, 188–190

V

Validation, 91, 93, 99, 100, 102

W

Wang, B., 186 Wise, R., 16–22, 28–40 Wound healing, 7, 82 Wu, J., 79

Х

Xu, K., 186

Y

Yarahmadi, M., 91-102

Z

Zhang, H., 186 Zhang, J., 74 Zhang, L., 78 Zhang, Y., 77, 187